**Faculty of Business** 

## Digital Financial Services Acceptance Among Low-Income Households in Miri, Sarawak: A Perspective from the Cultural Dimensions Theory

**Christine Mening Ngau** 

0000-0002-7175-2547

This thesis is presented for the Degree of

Master of Philosophy (Economics and Finance)

of

**Curtin University** 

December 2020

#### DECLARATION

To the best of my knowledge and belief this thesis contains no material previously published by any other person except where due acknowledgment has been made. This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university.

The research presented and reported in this thesis was conducted in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007) – updated March 2014. The proposed research study received human research ethics approval from the Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee (EC00262), Approval Number HRE2019-0837.

Christine Mening Ngau

Date: 1 December 2020

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to extend my sincere and heartfelt appreciation towards those who have been instrumental during this academic journey. Without their guidance and encouragement, this thesis would have not been a reality.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my main supervisor, Dr Dhanuskodi Rengasamy for his valuable insights which have helped me to accomplish this journey. Furthermore, a big thank you to my co-supervisors, Dr. Ramez Abubakr Abdulrazzaq Ba Deeb for inspiring me to take on this academic journey and for believing in me. I would also like to thank another co-supervisor of mine, Professor Michael Dockery, for his constructive feedback throughout this journey. I wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to my thesis chair, Dr. Joseph Sia Kee Ming for his support and encouragement.

I am also deeply thankful to the Faculty of Business, Curtin University Malaysia and the Graduate School for giving me an opportunity to embark on this academic journey in Master of Philosophy. Specifically, for the financial support, excellent research environment, facilities and research trainings which have greatly helped me during this journey.

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to all my internal reviewers as well for their valuable comments which have helped me in improving the quality of my thesis. I would also like to acknowledge Dr Tiong Ying Ying for her guidance and assistance that she has kindly extended to me. I also thank all the participants of this study who have devoted their time and energy which have made this research possible.

A big thank you as well to all my research colleagues that have made this journey meaningful.

Last but not least, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my mother, Ellis Unyang Jau for believing in the value of education and for her continuous encouragement throughout this journey.

#### ABSTRACT

The emergence of digital financial services (DFS) presents a unique opportunity for the banking sector to improve the livelihoods of low-income households. Governments around the world have recognized the potential that DFS has towards bridging the financial inclusion gap. In Malaysia, the country has nearly achieved full mobile phone penetration rate and high levels of internet connectivity. Despite this, the country is still unable to reach complete financial inclusion. The inability to achieve complete financial inclusion is a global phenomenon, even in countries with developed economies. Hence, investigating the determinants of behavioral intention to accept digital financial services will provide insights to improve the level of financial inclusion. Nevertheless, limited research on technology acceptance among lowincome households has been done. Furthermore, the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services is also rarely investigated. Therefore, this research investigates DFS acceptance among low-income households in Miri, Sarawak while also considering the role of cultural dimensions. There are four main contributions of this study. Firstly, this research is the first UTAUT2 study to propose financial literacy as a new determinant in the framework. Secondly, this research is also one of the few studies to use the UTAUT2 theory which is the most comprehensive, parsimonious and predictive theory of technology acceptance. Thirdly, this research is among the few technology acceptance studies which focuses on a financially vulnerable population, which is the low-income households. Lastly, this study is among the few studies that investigates the moderating influence of cultural dimensions using the Hofstede National Culture Theory which has been shown to influence an individual's thinking pattern and behavior. This research adopts the quantitative research method using purposive and snowball sampling to address the research questions. Questionnaires were distributed throughout Miri City to low-income households, in-person. Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) was used to analyze the research data. The data collection period spanned across 7 weeks from 22 December 2019 to 6 February 2020. A total of 343 questionnaires were analyzed using Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM). From the data analysis findings, it was concluded that five out of seven of the hypotheses were supported, except for the two moderating hypotheses. Performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value and financial literacy were found to have a positive impact on behavioral intention. However, the moderating variables which are power distance and collectivism did not positively moderate the relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention. This study has theoretical and managerial implications. Firstly, the government and banks should focus on creating awareness about the practical benefits of digital financial services for low-income households based on the confirmed role of the five determinants in the study. Secondly, the government and policymakers must introduce policies that build financial literacy across all walks of life. Thirdly, financial literacy measures done by the government or non-governmental organizations need to focus on persuading individuals about the benefits of digital financial services.

Keywords: Digital Financial Services, Financial Literacy, Cultural Dimensions, UTAUT2, Hofstede National Culture Theory, Low-Income Households

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLAR	ATION	i
ACKNOV	VLEDGEMENT	ii
ABSTRA	СТ	iii
LIST OF	TABLES	viii
LIST OF	FIGURES	ix
LIST OF	ABBREVIATIONS	X
СНАРТЕ	R 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Background	1
1.2	Bank-Led Digital Financial Services and E-Banking	6
1.3	Digital Financial Services Acceptance in Malaysia	7
1.4	Defining Low-Income Households	8
1.5	Digital Financial Technology Statistics in Malaysia	. 11
1.6	Importance of Digital Financial Services for Low-Income Households	. 15
1.7	The Regional Focus on Sarawak	. 17
1.8	Statement of Problem	. 19
1.9	Research Questions	. 22
1.10	Research Objectives	. 22
1.11	Research Hypotheses	. 23
1.12	Operational Definition of Terms	. 24
1.13	Contributions of Study	. 26
1.14	Organization of Dissertation	. 29
1.15	Summary	. 30
СНАРТЕ	R 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	31
2.1	The Importance of Digital Financial Services for Low-Income Households	. 31
2.2	Studies on Digital Financial Services Acceptance in Malaysia	. 34
2.3	Theories on Technology Acceptance	. 42
2.3.1	Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2)	45
2.4	Financial Literacy	. 54
2.5	Hofstede National Culture Theory	. 61
a)	Power Distance	68
b)	Collectivism	70
2.6	Conceptual Framework	. 71
2.7	Literature Gap	. 72
2.8	Summary	. 75

СНАРТЕ	R 3: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	76
3.1	Introduction	76
3.2	Purpose of The Study	77
3.3	Research Type	78
3.4	Research Design	79
3.5	Sample Inclusion Criteria	79
3.6	Sample Size	80
3.7	Sampling Location	82
3.8	Sampling Method	84
3.9	Questionnaire Instrument	86
3.9.1	Questionnaire Design	87
3.10	Pilot Test	88
3.11	Measurement Scale	93
3.12	Instrumentation	94
3.13	Control Variables	100
3.14	Data Analysis	103
3.14.	1 Preliminary Data Analysis	103
3.14.	2 Descriptive Data Analysis	103
3.14.	3 Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM)	104
3.15	Summary	121
СНАРТЕ	R 4: DATA ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS	122
4.1	Chapter Overview	122
4.2	Questionnaire Overview	123
4.3	Preliminary Data Screening	123
a)	Missing Data	124
b)	Statistical Outliers	125
c)	Normality Check	126
d)	Common Method Bias	128
e)	Mean and Standard Deviation Analysis	133
f)	Demographic Profile	136
4.4	Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling	139
4.5	Measurement Model Assessment	139
4.5.1	Reflective Measurement Model Assessment	139
4.5.2	Formative Measurement Model Assessment	147
4.6	Structural Model Assessment	152
4.6.1	Multicollinearity Issues Assessment	153
4.6.2	Significance and Relevance of Structural Model Relationships	154

4.7	Moderator Analysis Assessment	
4.8	Results of Hypotheses Testing	
4.9	Summary	
CHAP	TER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	167
5.1	Introduction	
5.2	Summary of Research	
5.3	Findings Summary	
5.4	Discussion of Findings	
5.5	Implications of The Study	
5.5	5.1 Theoretical Implications	
5.5	5.2 Managerial Implications	
5.6	Research Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research	
5.7	Conclusions	
BIBLI	OGRAPHY	
APPEN	NDIX	
a)	Appendix 1: Ethics Approval Letter	
b)	Appendix 2: Participant Information Sheet	
c)	Appendix 3: Questionnaire	
d)	Appendix 4: Permission to Use UTAUT2 Questionnaire	
e)	Appendix 5: Path Model for PLS-SEM	
f)	Appendix 6: Pilot Study Results	
k)	Appendix 7: PLS-SEM Outputs	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. 1 Key Comparisons Between Bank-Led and Non-Bank Led DFS   Table 1. 2 Thresholds of Monthly Gross Income in Malaysia and Sarawak	4 9
Table 1. 3 Percentage of Low-Income Households in Sarawak Districts	.8
Table 2. 1 List of Digital Financial Services Acceptance Studies in Malaysia	\$7
Table 2. 2 List of Financial Literacy Studies Which Relates to Participation in	

Table 3. 1 Pilot Study Results for Reflective Measures	
Table 3. 2 Pilot Study Results for Formative Measures	
Table 3. 3 Rules of Thumb for Selecting CB-SEM or PLS-SEM	105
Table 3. 4 Differentiating Between Reflective and Formative Measurement M	Models
	108
Table 3. 5 Threshold Values for Reflective Measurement Models	112
Table 3. 6 Guide on Criteria and Threshold Values for Formative Measureme	ent
Models	115
Table 3. 7 Guide on The Criteria and Threshold Value for The Assessment o	f
Structural Models	117

Table 4. 1 Summary of Skewness and Kurtosis	127
Table 4. 2 Results for Harman's Single-Factor Test	
Table 4. 3 Outer and Inner VIF Values	
Table 4. 4 Mean and Standard Deviation Analysis	
Table 4. 5 Demographic Profile of Respondents	
Table 4. 6 Factor Loadings, Composite Reliability and Average Variance Ex	tracted
for Reflective Variables	
Table 4. 7 Cross Loadings Values	
Table 4. 8 Fornell & Larcker Criterion Results	
Table 4. 9 HTMT Results	
Table 4. 10 Confidence Interval Bias Corrected Results	147
Table 4. 11 Outer VIF values Results	
Table 4. 12 Outer Weights Summary for Formative Indicators	149
Table 4. 13 Outer Loadings Summary for Formative Indicators	
Table 4. 14 Inner VIF Values Summary	153
Table 4. 15 Summary of Hypotheses Testing Results	
Table 4. 16 F Square for Moderating Constructs	
Table 4. 17 Results of Moderator Analysis	

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. 1 Percentage of Internet Users and Non-Internet Users in Malaysia 12
Figure 1. 2 Internet Subscription at Home and Mobile Phone Ownership Among
Malaysians13
Figure 1. 3 Internet and Mobile Phone Ownership in Sarawak Across Income Groups
Figure 2. 1 Cultural Dimensions Index Score
Figure 2. 2 Conceptual Framework
Figure 3. 1 Steps in Research Methodology
Figure 3. 2 Stage 2 of The Two-Stage Approach

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AVE	Average Variance Extracted
BI	Behavioral Intention
С	Collectivism
DFS	Digital Financial Services
DTPB	Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior
FC	Facilitating Conditions
FL	Financial Literacy
HM	Hedonic Motivation
HTMT	Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations
I/C	Individualism/Collectivism
IDT	Innovation Diffusion Theory
PD	Power Distance
PE	Performance Expectancy
PLS-SEM	Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling
PV	Price Value
SEM	Structural Equation Modelling
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Science
ТАМ	Technology Acceptance Model
ТРВ	Theory of Planned Behavior
TRA	Theory of Reasoned Action
UTAUT	Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology
UTAUT2	Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

The development of the financial sector is central to the economic growth of a country (Park and Mercado 2015). A well-developed financial sector leads to financial development through increased individual saving and efficient tax collection mechanism (Akram 2016). Generally, the financial sector comprises of key stakeholders such as banks, financial institutions and insurance companies which cater to consumers and businesses (Elliott 2010). Through the years, financial sector dynamics have quickly changed to introduce more financial and technological innovations to stay ahead of emerging trends within the financial sector (Laven 2013). Due to the high level of competition within the financial sector, key stakeholders are constantly looking for ways to innovate in order to stay ahead of emerging trends within the financial sector (Radford 2003). One of the most influential technological innovations of all time is digital financial services. According to Alliance for Financial Inclusion (2016), digital financial services is defined as a range of financial services which can be accessed through digital channels such as the internet, mobile phones, electronically enabled cards, tablets, point of sale (POS) terminals, automated teller machines (ATM) or any other digital systems.

The growth of digital financial services is backed through powerful internet connectivity and high levels of automation (Kapadia and Madhav 2020). Through digital financial services, mutual integration between traditional finance and the internet is possible (Liu and Lu 2017). Consequently, this has enabled digital financial services to benefit different walks of life. For individual users, digital financial services enable them to enjoy greater control over their personal finance as financial transactions can be completed anywhere and anytime (Jahan, Ali, and Al Asheq 2020; Ozili 2018). Meanwhile, banks enjoy higher profitability and efficiency through improved automation and unprecedented data harnessing capabilities (Kalaiarasi and Srividya 2012). Hence, banks can now reach new and existing customers effectively, create new product offerings, establish new value chains through financial technology

(FinTech) collaborations, streamline operating costs and reduce operational risks (Yanagawa 2018). Some of the most valuable FinTech companies in the world are Stripe, a payment processor company and Coinbase, a cryptocurrency trading platform (Forbes 2019). Hence, a collaboration between banks and FinTech companies can benefit both parties. Also, governments can increase their tax collection revenue through an exponential increase in digital financial transactions (Manyika et al. 2016). Lastly, countries around the world reap the benefits of increased financial inclusion, as digital financial services can reach areas of the world which have been previously underserved by the banking industry (Wang and He 2020; Ozili 2018). In fact, digital financial services are key towards providing affordable financial services to the underserved community, which are low-income households.

These benefits highlight the key stakeholders in the financial sector which have greatly benefitted through the emergence of digital financial services which is, the banking industry. In the light of this, it is crucial to understand the different types of digital financial services commonly available in the market. A few key examples of digital financial services include payment systems, saving, credit, remittance, insurance and investment opportunities.

Firstly, digital financial services consist of payment systems such as electronic cards and mobile payments (Yawe and Prabhu 2015). Payment is the connective tissue of all financial transactions. In developing countries with poor infrastructure, digital financial services offer access to payment systems of financial institutions. Secondly, digital financial services also consist of saving which is the formal saving of money in financial institutions through ownership of a bank account (Dunham 2001). Households with a bank account are 1.8 times more likely to save money compared to those who do not own a bank account (Hogarth and Anguelov 2003). Thirdly, credit which is the provision of financial resources from formal institutions is also an example of digital financial services (Nguyen and Pham 2018). Through online banking, the application process is convenient. Formal financial institutions are known for their flexible and less predatory terms. Fourthly, remittance which is the transfer of money to another party is also a form of digital financial services. Today, receiving remittance through mobile phones is increasingly common (Hinson 2011). Fifthly, digital financial services also include insurance which is the guarantee of compensation in the event of loss, damage or death in return for a premium. An example of this is mobile microinsurance which provides low-income households protection against a predefined risk (Radermacher, Ralf, and Brinkmann 2011). Lastly, access to investment opportunities is also available through digital financial services with tools such as mobile trading, social trading and online trading (Gomber, Koch, and Siering 2017).

In this study, the researcher makes a clear distinction between two types of digital financial services model. From the literature, digital financial services are divided into two broad models which are bank-led and non-bank led (Gibson, Lupo-Pasini, and Buckley 2017; Staschen 2018). Aligned with its name, bank-led digital financial services are owned, operated and managed by traditional financial institutions, which are banks. Meanwhile, non-bank led digital financial services models are run by non-bank institutions such as internet service providers (ISPs), telecommunication providers and financial technology startups (Gibson, Lupo-Pasini, and Buckley 2017; Königsheim, Lukas, and Nöth 2017). The focus of this research is on bank-led digital financial services. There are several key reasonings to this. Table 1.1 illustrates the key comparisons between bank-led and non-bank led digital financial services followed by an in-depth description.

Bank-Led Model	Non-Bank Led Model
Offer greater security to the account	Charge higher cost for their services
holders (Obeidat et al. 2020)	(Ozili 2018)
Provide a stable remuneration of interest	Lack security element (Wandhöfer
to account holders (Babajic and Jukan	2017)
2016)	
Formal banking institutions are highly	No remuneration of interest to account
established (Bongomin et al. 2018)	holders
	(Marshall and Coke 2016)
	Smaller part of the financial ecosystem
	(Ghiță-Mitrescu et al. 2016)
	Early stages of development
	(Ghiță-Mitrescu et al. 2016)

Table 1. 1 Key Comparisons Between Bank-Led and Non-Bank Led DFS

This study focuses on bank-led digital financial services because it offers a high level of security to its consumers (Obeidat et al. 2020). Banking institutions are obligated to adhere to strict regulations by the government (Borgers 2009). In events where a banking institution experiences failure such as bankruptcy, the deposit provided by consumers are protected by the deposit insurance. The insurance creates a buffer against financial shocks. Consequently, this reduces the vulnerability of account holders which reduces the need to engage in coping strategies such as selling assets that can diminish the prospect of long-term income growth (Babajic and Jukan 2016). The regulation of the formal financial services (Bongomin et al. 2018). As banks need support from the government in the form of policies and regulations that promote a positive environment for financial growth, it is in their best interest to adhere to strict financial sector regulations (Babajic and Jukan 2016).

Furthermore, banks provide a stable remuneration of interest to account holders. These interests are available through saving and investment accounts which utilize legal and proven methods to provide returns to account holders. This gives an opportunity to

low-income households to save and invest in income-enhancing assets (Babajic and Jukan 2016). From a long-term perspective, ownership of formal saving accounts has been shown to lead towards an increase in investments in small businesses and creation of micro-enterprises (Babajic and Jukan 2016; Flory 2018). Additionally, formal banking institutions are also highly established. The credibility of a banking institution stems from a highly skilled workforce, up to-date technologies, and wide range of financial services they provide to consumers (Nandru, Anand, and Rentala 2015).

On the other hand, non-bank financial institutions are notorious for charging higher costs for their services compared to banking institutions (Ozili 2018). This is primarily because the customer base of the non-bank financial institutions consists of people with higher risk of defaulting on their payments. Hence, the financial institutions mitigate risks by charging higher interest rates to their customers to make up for their losses. Moreover, non-bank financial institutions often lack security which is key towards stable financial management for low-income households (Wandhöfer 2017). For instance, e-money, which is issued by a non-bank institution is exposed to risk of hackings. There are several high-risk aspects of e-money such as lack of anonymity and portability which may enable extraction of data by third parties. Lack of control over these elements may cause issues, where employees of the e-money company may obtain authentication data to steal consumers' prepaid value (Dehghan and Haghighi 2015). Additionally, the ownership of e-money does not remunerate the account holder through interest payments compared to the use of electronic commercial bank money. This is because e-money often exists as a stored value or prepaid product which is kept with online financial service providers (Marshall and Coke 2016). The non-bank financial service providers such as Paypal or Boost focus on facilitating consumers' financial transactions, with the occasional reward in the form of consumer retail vouchers. Apart from these, no tangible monetary reward is provided to consumers that benefit them in the long-term. Lastly, non-bank digital financial services only make up a smaller part of the financial ecosystem and are still in the early stages of development in comparison to banks (Ghiță-Mitrescu et al. 2016).

Considering all these key differences between bank-led and non-bank led digital financial services, the current study focuses exclusively on bank-led digital financial services as it is more suitable to the needs of low-income households which require financial services with greater security, stable remuneration of interests and a highly

established reputation. Therefore, this research seeks to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services in low-income households in Malaysia. This research is important as investigating these determinants can influence the acceptance of digital financial services and help to improve the quality of life for low-income households.

In past literature, digital financial services and e-banking have been used interchangeably. The following section clarifies whether this research distinguishes between these two terms.

#### 1.2 Bank-Led Digital Financial Services and E-Banking

In this study, the term digital financial services refer to bank-led digital financial services. In terms of definition, there is no difference between bank-led digital financial services and e-banking. Services provided by bank-led digital financial services such as payment, saving, credit, remittance, insurance and investment are all available under e-banking. However, the use of the term 'digital financial services' is retained in this study as it seeks to reflect a bigger picture in the effort towards improving the financial inclusion for low-income households. This is evident in the fact that definitions for digital financial services often include both bank-led and non-bank led digital financial services (Gomber, Koch, and Siering 2017; Manyika et al. 2016).

This study acknowledges that access to bank-led digital financial services alone is insufficient to improve the financial situation of low-income households. Aligned with this fact, non-bank digital financial services can play a key role through financial technology (FinTech) companies which are micro, small or medium-sized firms that aim to introduce innovative ways to deliver financial services in the financial market (Saksonova and Kuzmina-Merlino 2017). The presence of FinTech companies in the financial market presents a vital opportunity to improve the financial inclusion of low-income households, which strengthens the impact that bank-led digital financial services make towards financial inclusion (Mosteanu and Faccia 2020; Ozili 2018). However, the role of bank-led digital financial services is the focus in this study as the greater level of security, stability and established reputation of banks are crucial to

address the financial needs of low-income households. Considering all these, digital financial services is retained as the main technology in this study to allow future studies to expand on the use of non-bank led digital financial services as another key area to improve on the financial inclusion of low-income households. In the following sections, an in-depth description on why Malaysia is selected as the location of interest in this study is provided.

#### 1.3 Digital Financial Services Acceptance in Malaysia

Although the internet has been life-changing for humanity, many countries are still unable to achieve complete financial inclusion. According to Dancey (2013), financial inclusion is defined as providing affordable, convenient and safe financial services to the underserved population. Even with high levels of internet penetration in the developed and developing world, World Bank (2018) reported that an estimate of 1.7 billion adults globally are unbanked. According to Rhine and Greene (2013), the unbanked population does not own a checking or saving deposit account with a formal financial institution.

Through the Global Findex Database report, it was revealed that the number of lowincome households with a bank account increased from 50 to 76 percent in 2011 to 2014. As a whole, the ownership of bank accounts in Malaysia stands at a commendable rate with the country having the second highest rate of adults owning a bank account (81%), only surpassed by Singapore among all the ten members of the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) (World Bank Group 2017). The high rate of bank-account ownership in Malaysia can be attributed to one of the notable efforts that Malaysia has carried out to increase the level of financial inclusion, which is agent banking. According to Bank Negara Malaysia (2015), agent banking is defined as the provision of financial services by financial institutions to agents and third party intermediaries which consist of non-bank outlets. Some of the examples of agent banking in Malaysia include convenience stores, petrol stations, Pos Malaysia outlets, bookstores, restaurants and telecommunication agents. Through agent banking outlets, individuals can open savings account without having to go to a bank. This is highly useful especially if the individual is from an area which does not have a bank outlet. Despite the success with the high level of bank account ownership, a report by MCMC (2018) revealed that only 52.2% of Malaysians use internet banking. Furthermore, The Financial Stability and Payment Systems Report 2017 stated that two million Malaysian adults are unbanked which constitute 8.33% of the adult population (BNM 2017). The two million adults not having a bank account only accounts for Malaysian citizens. If non-Malaysians were to be accounted for in the figure, the number of unbanked adults is 3.9 million people.

A study conducted by UN Capital Development Fund (2019) detailed how low and middle-income Malaysians experience and use digital financial services. Several key findings from this report revealed that the overall awareness of digital financial services among low-income households is very low. However, the level of awareness of digital financial services is the highest among young Malaysians around the age group of 21-25 years old. Despite their high level of knowledge, they are not regular users of digital financial services. The report also revealed that low-income Malaysians are more aware of heavily advertised digital financial services, be it bank-led or non-bank led. Hence, the following section defines and justifies the selection of the target population in this study, which is low-income households.

#### **1.4 Defining Low-Income Households**

Low-income households face a multitude of challenges in managing their daily life. For this subpopulation, transferring money incur high costs, while access to credit is very expensive and emergencies can push them further into poverty (Peric 2015). Considering this difficult reality that low-income households face, financial inclusion is key towards helping this community break out of the cycle of poverty. The term financial inclusion is defined as providing the underserved population with access to affordable, convenient and safe digital financial services (Dancey 2013). However, financial inclusion can be further defined into two broad categories which are technology-based and non-technology based. Hence, this study focuses on the technology-based financial inclusion to guide the discussion on the benefits of digital financial services for low-income households. CGAP (2015) defined digital financial

inclusion as the access and use of digital financial services by the underserved population.

Low-income households are defined according to data obtained from DOSM (2017a). In Malaysia, individuals are divided into three income groups which are B40, M40 and T20. According to the national standard, B40 are individuals with a household income below RM4360. Meanwhile, M40 are individuals with a household income between RM4360 to RM9619. Those in the T20 tier have a household income above RM9620. However, the income groups differ among the states in Malaysia.

Aligned with this study, Sarawak's B40 income group is defined as households with income below RM3460. M40 households have an income from RM3460 to RM7609. Lastly, T20 is defined as households with an income equal or above RM7610. In this study, low-income households refer to the B40 income group in Sarawak. Hence, low-income households in the study are individuals in Miri, Sarawak with a household income below RM3460. Table 1.2 provides a visual detail of the income cut-off for all the income groups in Malaysia and Sarawak.

Table 1. 2 Thresholds of Monthl	y Gross Income in Mala	ysia and Sarawak
---------------------------------	------------------------	------------------

Income Cut-Off			
State	Bottom 40%	Middle 40%	Тор 20%
Malaysia	< RM4,360	RM4,360-RM9,619	≥RM9,620
Sarawak	< RM3,460	RM3,460-RM7,609	≥RM7,610

Source: Department of Statistics Malaysia (Household Income and Basic Amenities Survey Report) 2017a

Furthermore, another threshold which is the poverty income line (PLI) is also considered in defining the B40 group. According to DOSM (2017a), the poverty line income is defined as the minimum income required by a household to meet their basic needs. Relevant to the target location in this study, which is Miri City, the poverty line income threshold is a gross monthly income below RM1,070 per month. The poverty line income threshold was developed with consideration of the food PLI, non-food PLI and the location of households being investigated. For instance, the food PLI considers the daily minimum calorie requirement to stay healthy. Meanwhile, the non-food PLI considers items such as clothing, rent, fuel, transport, utilities and communication. On the other hand, the characteristics of households pertains to whether the household is located in the urban or rural area (DOSM 2017a). In view of all these descriptions,

low-income households in Miri, Sarawak are defined as households with a gross monthly household income from RM1,070 to RM3,459.

Considering this definition, the study does not include those with a household income below RM1,070 and above RM3,459. In other words, this study does not consider households living in poverty. The reason is because the solution to poverty is not in having access to digital financial services. According to the Malaysian's definition of poverty, people living in this condition have minimal standards of living. With consideration for the food and non-food PLI in the establishment of this threshold, those living in poverty are not likely to have excess money for other needs. In fact, the financial situation of those living in poverty and low-income households can be largely different. Those living in poverty also includes those living in extreme poverty. According to the The World Bank (2019), those living in extreme poverty is defined as people living with less than US\$1.90 per day. From the statistics, those living in poverty have a very different financial situation than low-income households.

Moreover, past literature has repeatedly shown that poverty is more than just a financial issue. Studies have shown that other dimensions of poverty include education, social protection and housing conditions (Oshio and Kan 2014; Liu, Guo, and Zhou 2018). To eradicate poverty, providing people access to digital financial services does not solve the issue. Hence, it is important to look at a country which has been largely successful at eradicating poverty, which is China. Between 1981 and 2013, China was able to decrease the rate of extreme poverty from 88% to 1.85% (Bikorimana and Sun 2019). In its targeted poverty alleviation (TPA) program, China's proven measures to eradicate poverty are developing industries to create more jobs, relocating poor people living in remote areas to more hospitable areas, establishing ecological compensation policies, improving education and providing social security (Liu, Guo, and Zhou 2018). From these proven steps to eradicate poverty, external support from the government plays a key role. As the role of digital financial services is not prominent for those living in poverty, people living in poverty is not considered in this study. As the definition of low-income households have been stated and justified, it is vital to detail the potential digital financial services hold for low-income households.

#### 1.5 Digital Financial Technology Statistics in Malaysia

Malaysia is a developing country located in the Southeast Asia region, with a population of 32.66 million in the first quarter of 2019 (DOSM 2019a). The following statistics provide a brief overview of the country's economic outlook. In 2018, Malaysia's gross domestic product was RM1229.8 billion, with an inflation rate of 1%. Meanwhile, the unemployment rate stood at 3.3%, with a total labor force of 15.5 million people (MIDA 2019).

Aligned with this fact, Malaysians have shown an encouraging level of internet adoption with 87.4% of the population being internet users in 2018, totaling to 28.7 million internet users. This represents a 10.5% growth rate from only 24.5 million Internet users in 2016 (MCMC 2018). The growth of the internet in Malaysia can be attributed to an upsurge in mobile devices, improved network quality and competitive data plans offered by telecommunication providers. The findings from MCMC (2018) stated that smartphone is the most popular method to access the Internet, with 93.1% of internet users using it compared to other devices such as laptop, desktop, tablet, smart TV, feature phone, TV streaming box, game console, and smart watch. The availability of many access points such as mobile phones and high-speed broadband technology, which are increasingly affordable due to the competitive nature of the market has further boosted the internet growth (Gray, Gainous, and Wagner 2017). Figure 1 illustrates the percentage of internet users and non-internet users in Malaysia, including their age groups.



Figure 1. 1 Percentage of Internet Users and Non-Internet Users in Malaysia

Source: Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission (Annual Survey Report) 2018

In Malaysia, non-internet users are primarily individuals over the age of 40 years old (MCMC 2018). The finding of older adults not adopting the internet is consistent with Van Deursen and Van Dijk (2014), whose findings contended that older people are less likely to use the internet because they lack early exposure and peer use of the internet, thus negatively affecting their familiarity with the technology.

Next, Figure 1.2 exhibits the internet subscription at home and mobile phone ownership among Malaysians. The graph compares the statistics between the year 2014 and 2016.



Figure 1. 2 Internet Subscription at Home and Mobile Phone Ownership Among Malaysians



Among all the household equipment, home internet subscription exhibited the greatest improvement with a 31.7% increase. Initially, the percentage of home internet subscription was only 44.3% in 2014. However, this quickly increased to 76% in 2016. Meanwhile, mobile phone ownership only showed a slight 0.7% increase from 97.2% to 97.9% from 2014 to 2016. From these statistics, Malaysians have a high level of mobile phone ownership compared to home internet subscription although the latter exhibited high levels of growth in the past years. Relevant to the target population and location of this study, it is imperative to take a closer look at the home internet subscription and mobile phone ownership across different income groups in Sarawak.

Hence, Figure 3 shows the internet and mobile phone ownership in Sarawak across income groups. From the state's perspective, statistics show that internet subscription in Sarawak has increased to 76% in 2016 compared to a mere 44.3% in 2014. Meanwhile, mobile phone ownership slightly increased to 97.9% in 2016 compared to 97.2% in 2014.



Figure 1. 3 Internet and Mobile Phone Ownership in Sarawak Across Income Groups

Source: Department of Statistics Malaysia (Household Income and Basic Amenities Survey Report) 2017b

From this figure, the B40 population still has an extremely low level of home internet subscription compared to the other income groups. This is a huge difference compared to the T20 income group which has achieved 100% home internet subscription rate. The lack of home internet subscription rate could point to the lack of financial resources in these households where they refrain from to the utility. From a national perspective, Sarawak has the third lowest internet subscription at home at 22.9%, trailing behind Sabah with 16.2% and Kelantan with 9.6%. The lack of home internet subscription can negatively impact the level of uptake that the B40 group in Sarawak has towards digital financial services. However, the mobile phone penetration rate does not show significant differences across all income groups although the B40 group does have the lowest rate at 92.7%. Despite the low home internet subscription rate for the B40 group, mobile phone penetration is extremely high.

This finding is resonated across different studies such as Hinson (2011) which stated that mobile penetration rate exceeds any other communication devices around the world. The huge global success with mobile phones has led to the proliferation of affordable mobile phones and low-cost telecommunication networks (Alkhaldi 2020). From the statistics, the high mobile phone ownership complemented by home internet subscription presents an opportunity for digital financial services to increase its reach to low-income households due to the affordable, ubiquitous and convenient nature of mobile phones.

## 1.6 Importance of Digital Financial Services for Low-Income Households

There are two main ways where digital financial services could provide help for lowincome households. The first way is by enabling them to fight against poverty by improving the level of efficiency for basic financial services (Ozili 2018). As lowincome households already have very limited resources to begin with, it is imperative that they manage and use their resources well. This can be done through several digital financial services.

One of the most basic financial services that form the heart of financial transactions is payments. This is key to entrepreneurial opportunities, government to citizen transfers and peer to peer transactions. Unfortunately, low-income households are stuck with traditional payment systems that are slow and costly (Peric 2015). By having access to digital financial services, low-income households can keep their money within the formal financial market with channels such as online banking, mobile wallet and electronically enabled cards. These channels can be used to conduct essential day-to-day banking services such as paying bills, making purchases, obtaining loans, saving money and transferring money (Lin, Wang, and Hung 2020; Kempson and Collard 2012). By providing low-income households with access to essential digital financial services, they can reduce their vulnerability and inequality in the marketplace (Ferrata 2019; Kamran and Uusitalo 2016). In fact, they can store and withdraw their earnings on a safe platform, or directly use debit for their purchases. More importantly, this reduces the risk of theft and robbery of their accumulated earnings.

Additionally, by having payment connectivity to the government, utility providers and peers, this enables low-income households to distribute risks across their network of peers because they can receive payments immediately during emergencies. Peric (2015) highlighted the importance of having access to basic financial services for low-income households to fight against poverty. Kamran and Uusitalo (2016) stated that the low-income households often face time wastage because they must visit bank branches and outlets to pay their bills. This is because low-income households are often deprived of access to formal financial services because they are perceived as risky clients (Babajic and Jukan 2016). Hence, being able to receive social welfare

payments on time and paying utility bills without having to travel a far distance goes a long way towards improving their life quality.

Furthermore, digital financial services provide low-income households with more opportunities to accumulate wealth by having access to advanced digital financial services. By being connected with a formal financial institution, low-income households are linked to providers of credit, insurance and investment (Ozili 2018). The provision of formal credit is highly important towards poverty reduction in developing economies (Duong and Izumida 2002). In fact, Sadoulet and Janvry (1996) posited that limited access to credit is a major obstacle for low-income households in deciding how to manage their expenses. Lack of access to short-term credit often causes the unbanked to turn to informal sources such as money lenders, relatives and friends (Kamran and Uusitalo 2016). For low-income households that are vulnerable to risks such as economic, political, natural disasters or lifecycle-related, insurance can help increase their capacity to deal with such risks (Radermacher, Ralf, and Brinkmann 2011). Furthermore, the possession of insurance is made easy with digital financial services with many banks providing different types of insurance which can be purchased online. By engaging directly in the formal financial market, these lowincome households also leave a digital footprint which helps financial institutions to customize their offerings according to their behavior and risk profile (Radcliffe and Voorhies 2012).

Therefore, the benefits of digital financial services are safe payment channels, accessible credit, insurance and investment. Although these benefits can be realized through digital financial services, the lack of financial literacy among low-income households can hinder them from reaping the full benefits of digital financial services. This is discussed in detail in later sections of this chapter. In the following section, it details the location of interest for the study.

#### 1.7 The Regional Focus on Sarawak

The area of interest in this study is Miri City, Sarawak. Sarawak is the largest state in Malaysia with a population of 2.79 million (DOSM 2018). The state's area spans over 124,450 km<sup>2</sup>. Furthermore, it is divided into 12 divisions, 40 districts, and 26 subdistricts. Hence, the area of interest is Miri City which is under the Miri Division and Miri District. The Official Portal of Sarawak Government (2010) stated that the Miri Administrative District has a population of 300,543 people. Meanwhile, Miri City's population is 40,552 households. This study focuses on Miri City for two main reasons.

Firstly, Miri City is located within Sarawak, which is a state that has a proven disadvantage in terms of resources which are impacting the financial well-being of its residents. To demonstrate the lack of resources in Sarawak, three economic indicators have been adopted from DOSM (2017a) which are median income, concentration of B40 households and level of poverty. The first economic indicator which shows the lack of resources in Sarawak is median income. In 2016, Sarawak's median income increased to RM4163 compared to RM3778 in 2014. Despite this, the state's median income was still below the national median income of RM5228. Additionally, the median income for Miri, Sarawak was RM5144 in 2016, a slight decrease from RM5208 in 2014. The low median income which is not at par with the national median income indicates that the financial situation for the average household may not be in excellent condition.

The second economic indicator is the concentration of B40 households in Sarawak. The three districts with the highest number of B40 households in Sarawak are Kuching, Sibu, and Miri. In fact, the Miri district has the third highest concentration of B40 households in Sarawak with 8% of the population being low-income households.

The following table illustrates the percentage of low-income households in the Top 10 districts with the highest number of low-income households. In Table 1.3, it is evident that Miri is among the districts which high level of low-income households in Sarawak.

District	Percentage of Low-Income Households (%)
Kuching	19.1
Sibu	11.0
Miri	8.0
Serian	4.4
Sri Aman	3.6
Betong	3.5
Samarahan	3.4
Sarikei	3.4
Marudi	3.2
Kapit	3.1

Table 1. 3 Percentage of Low-Income Households in Sarawak Districts

Source: Department of Statistics Malaysia (Household Income and Basic Amenities Survey Report) 2017b

This leads to the third economic indicator which is the high levels of poverty that the state continues to experience (White 2015). Although Sarawak is the largest state in Malaysia and is rich in resources (Aeria 2016), Sarawak continues to experience high levels of poverty (White 2015). In 2014, Sarawak tied with Kelantan as states with the third highest level of poverty at a 0.9% rate. In 2016, Sarawak managed to reduce the level of poverty down to 0.6% of the population. However, it has worsened in terms of poverty ranking as it became the state with the second highest level of poverty within the nation.

Secondly, the regional focus on Sarawak for this study also aligns with the Sarawak government's interest to digitalize the state's economy. This is evident in a recent Sarawak state policy released 'Sarawak Digital Economy Strategy 2018-2022' which outlines the areas for digital economy transformation within the next 5 years (Jabatan Ketua Menteri Sarawak 2018). The policy details the plans for transformation in 15 different areas which are digital government, tourism, manufacturing industry 4.0, agriculture, digital infrastructure, digital skills and talent management, digital inclusivity, digital and data infrastructure, digital health, e-commerce, research and development, smart city, cyber security, digital innovation and entrepreneurship and social sectors. With the emergence of new technologies such as big data, cloud computing, artificial intelligence, and blockchains, the Sarawak government believes that digital economy results in greater efficiency and bring about more economic opportunities (Sarawak Biodiversity Centre 2018). More importantly, the Miri district

is relevant to this policy because the city was among the three cities selected for the establishment of the 'Digital Innovation Hub' which aims to accelerate Sarawak's economic growth through knowledge, innovation and technology (SMA-TEGAS 2019). Additionally, this policy is also relevant to the needs of the B40 group as its mission is to reduce the socio-economic divide within the state.

#### **1.8 Statement of Problem**

Despite massive telecommunications infrastructure and high mobile phone ownership around the world, the lack of uptake of digital financial services still plagues countries, be it in developed, developing or least developed economies (World Bank 2018b). In particular, access to digital financial services (DFS) is very low, especially among lowincome households. The role of DFS is more prominent in developing and least developed economies where millions need this service but still do not have access to basic financial services. In Malaysia, the majority of low-income households are not aware of the potential that digital financial services hold (UN Capital Development Fund 2019). A closer look at the lives of low-income households revealed the challenges of living with limited access to digital financial services. There are no safe avenues to store their money. Meanwhile, access to credit is often limited with very expensive and inflexible terms (Peric 2015). Low-income households also often find themselves up against a psychological barrier which makes it hard for them to fight against poor financial decisions. Compared to the average household, low-income households often find themselves trapped in a constant cycle of poor financial decisions which can last for generations. While findings on the determinants of technology acceptance have been done in the past, studies on the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households are scarce. Hence, understanding the factors affecting behavioral intention specific to low-income households is key towards bridging the gap towards financial inclusion.

Furthermore, financial literacy among Malaysians is still very low (Loke 2016; Alekam, Salleh, and Mokhtar 2018; Sabri and Aw 2019). Consequently, low levels of financial literacy can lead to poor financial management (Cole, Sampson, and Zia 2011). The lack of financial literacy among Malaysians is evident with the increasing

numbers of bankruptcies within the country every year, while youths take on an excessive amount of debt with poor retirement planning choices (Ganesan, Pitchay, and Mohd Nasser 2020). In relation to this study, the lack of financial literacy is common among low-income households as they lack understanding of basic financial concepts (Nguyen and Doan 2020). On the most basic level of financial decision making, low-income households are challenged in the area of personal finance, which encompasses simple tasks such as saving money to more difficult tasks such as tax and retirement planning (Huston 2010). With low levels of financial literacy, low-income households are unable to make optimal financial decisions in their life. Considering this reality, providing only digital financial services to low-income households is insufficient. Previous studies have shown that financial exclusion happens because of the lack of knowledge about financial offerings that are available. Without financial literacy, low-income households are unable to make optimal decisions when selecting the most suitable digital financial services according to their needs. Given the large variety of digital financial services today, the lack of financial literacy may further confuse low-income households which may eventually cause them not to use the digital financial services at all. On the contrary, empowering the low-income households with financial literacy enables them to maximize the benefits that they receive from digital financial services (Atkinson and Messy 2013; Bongomin et al. 2017). Hence, investigating the role of financial literacy in empowering the acceptance of digital financial services is key towards achieving financial inclusion, especially among low-income households.

In addition, the acceptance of digital financial services is commonly generalized across different cultures. As technology acceptance is a culturally embedded decision, technology acceptance may differ according to different countries because members of the societies in respective nations behave according to their cultural dimensions (Deans et al. 1991). Past studies also posited that cultural dimensions influence technology acceptance (Hillier 2003; McCoy, Galletta, and King 2018; Srite 2006; Straub, Keil, and Brenner 1997; Teo and Huang 2018; Teo, Huang, and Hoi 2018). For instance, the cultural dimension of power distance, which is found to be at a high level in Malaysia, indicates that any technological changes may need to origniate from a higher authority (Hall 1989; Hofstede 2001). Hence, low-income households in Miri, Sarawak may be more inclined to rely on hierarchal structures and centralized decision

making. Therefore, this study seeks to explore whether power distance plays a moderating role in technology acceptance.

On the other hand, low-income households in Miri City, Sarawak, is part of a collectivist Malaysian society (Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov 2010) . From past literature, people from collectivist societies are likely to seek approval from their social circles when deciding to accept digital financial services (Abbasi et al. 2015; Khan, Hameed, and Khan 2017). In comparison, societies with high values for individualism make technology acceptance decisions without considering approval from the society (Baptista and Oliveira 2015). This study takes the approach to measure the moderating impact of cultural dimensions in Sarawak on an individual level, as cultural dimensions should not be generalized to an entire country's population as the impact of culture differs according to the individual. Similarly, this study seeks to explore whether collectivism plays a moderating role in technology acceptance. Hence, the findings on the moderating impact of cultural dimensions provide critical insights towards paving the path in achieving financial inclusion with strategies that is fitting to the national culture.

#### **1.9 Research Questions**

This study seeks to reframe the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2) model to predict the behavioral intention of low-income households in Miri, Sarawak towards the acceptance of digital financial services. The UTAUT2 model is the most accepted conceptual model for consumers' adoption of technology, which was developed as an integrated framework of eight technology acceptance theories. With reference to the problem statement, this study seeks to find the best possible answers for the following research questions:

**RQ 1:** What are the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?

**RQ 2:** How do cultural dimensions moderate financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?

#### 1.10 Research Objectives

The following are the two main objectives of the study:

With reference to the problem statements and research questions, the following are the two objectives of the study:

**RO 1:** To identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services

**RO 2:** To investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services

#### 1.11 Research Hypotheses

Corresponding to the research questions, the following research hypotheses have been formulated:

## **RQ 1:** What are the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept of digital financial services?

H1: There is a positive relationship between performance expectancy (PE) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

H2: There is a positive relationship between facilitating conditions (FC) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

H3: There is a positive relationship between hedonic motivation (HM) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

H4: There is a positive relationship between price value (PV) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

H5: There is a positive relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

# **RQ 2:** How do cultural dimensions moderate the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?

H6: Power Distance (PD) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

H7: Collectivism (C) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

#### 1.12 Operational Definition of Terms

The following are the key terms which are used throughout this dissertation. This section details the operational definition from literature and the operational definition in this study.

#### • Household

A household is defined as a group of related or non-related people that often live together in common living quarters and make provisions for living expenses such as food and other necessities.

#### • Low-Income Households

Low-income households are defined as individuals living in Sarawak with a total household income from RM1,070 to RM3,460.

#### • Digital Financial Services

Digital financial services are defined as bank-led digital financial services which can be accessed through digital channels such as the internet, mobile phones, electronically enabled cards, tablets, phablets, POS terminals and ATM machines. Examples of digital financial services include payments, credit, saving, remittance and insurance.

#### • Performance Expectancy

Performance expectancy refers to the extent that low-income households believe that the use of digital financial services is beneficial for their life.

#### • Facilitating Conditions

Facilitating conditions is the extent to which low-income households perceive that facilities and resources are provided to assist in digital financial services acceptance.

#### • Hedonic Motivation

Hedonic motivation is defined as the level of pleasure and fun that low-income households experience when they use digital financial services.

## • Price Value

Price value is defined as the extent to which low-income households believe that the benefits of using digital financial services overweigh the cost, in which they pay to use it.

## • Financial Literacy

Financial literacy refers to the level of basic financial knowledge and the ability to apply a combination of financial awareness, knowledge, skill, attitude and behavior in financial decision-making processes among low-income households.

#### • Power Distance

Power distance is the extent to which low-income households believe that power inequality is a norm.

### • Collectivism

Collectivism refers to the extent that low-income households are expected to look after extended families, which reciprocate loyalty in return for their care.

#### Behavioral Intention

Behavioral intention refers to the extent to which low-income households intend to use digital financial services in the future.
#### **1.13** Contributions of Study

This research contributes to the field of technology acceptance, digital financial services, financial literacy, low-income households, and cultural dimensions. Despite the high mobile penetration and increasing bank infrastructure worldwide, digital financial services have yet to achieve full acceptance, even in developed economies. As financial inclusion becomes a priority for many countries, studies on the acceptance of digital financial services are gaining momentum. This study seeks to investigate the determinants which impact the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households in Malaysia, while also analyzing the moderating role of cultural dimensions. Findings from this study is the key to developing tools, programs, and services that improve the technology acceptance level of digital financial services. Moreover, understanding the moderating role of cultural dimensions can encourage the creation of strategies and approaches for low-income households that addresses digital financial services acceptance. There are four main contributions of this study.

Firstly, this research is the first UTAUT2 study to propose financial literacy as a new determinant in the framework. Financial literacy is key towards the optimal and efficient use of financial services (Cole, Sampson, and Zia 2011). Given the proliferation of complex financial services in the market, World Bank (2009) contended that financial literacy is increasingly important for low-income households to increase financial inclusion. As financial literacy equips low-income households with basic financial knowledge and the ability to apply this knowledge in financial decision making, this can positively impact low-income households as they are able to evaluate and select the right digital financial services for their needs (Atkinson and Messy 2013). In a nutshell, equipping low-income households with financial literacy give them more control over their financial future, leading to optimal use of digital finance and avoid predatory financial service providers (Bongomin et al. 2017).

Secondly, this research is also one of the few studies to use the UTAUT2 theory which is the most comprehensive, parsimonious and predictive theory of technology acceptance (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). The strength of the UTAUT2 model is that it synthesizes all its constructs from previous competing technology acceptance models (Venkatesh et al. 2003). More importantly, the UTAUT2 is a key extension of

the original UTAUT model as it added three new determinants which are hedonic motivation, price value and habit which are suited for consumer context of technology acceptance (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In relation to digital finance, the UTAUT2 is the ideal model to measure technology acceptance as the end users are consumers in a voluntary context. The strength of the model is shown as it was able to explain 74% of behavioral intention and 52% of the use element compared to the UTAUT which only explained 56% and 40% for the same elements. Therefore, the UTAUT2 theory provides a strong conceptual foundation for this study to investigate the technology acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households.

Thirdly, this research contributes to the body of knowledge by being among the few technology acceptance studies which focuses on a financially vulnerable population, which is the low-income households. Studies on the technology acceptance of this subpopulation are scarce, despite their financial vulnerability. According to The Financial Stability and Payment Systems Report 2017, two million Malaysian adults are unbanked which makes up 8.33% of the adult population (BNM 2017). An important finding from this statistic is that 86% of them consist of individuals with low-income or no income at all. Moreover, this figure only comprises of Malaysian citizens (BNM 2017). If the figure were to consider non-Malaysians, it amounts to 3.9 million adults. From these statistics, a clear direction for Malaysia to move towards to achieve greater financial inclusion is understanding the factors which impact technology acceptance among low-income households.

There has been a number of target population being studied in UTAUT2 frameworks in the past. From a literature review of UTAUT2 researches that study financial technologies, most of them focus on technology acceptance among bank customers (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Salim, Mahmoud, and Khair 2016). Past studies have also investigated technology acceptance among a specific group of university students (Khan, Hameed, and Khan 2017). Additionally, there are also researches that studied a general population conducted by Goularte and Zilber (2019) and Kwateng, Atiemo, and Appiah (2018). More importantly, low-income households are more likely to make poor financial decisions that bear long-term impacts. Their high dependence on physical cash and using alternative financial services keep them trapped in a cycle of poverty and financial difficulties. As a whole, the importance of DFS for low-income adults has rarely been analyzed in any previous studies. Therefore, the current study is different from all previous studies in the perception of focusing on the importance of DFS for low-income households.

Lastly, this study is among the few studies that investigates the moderating influence of cultural dimensions using the Hofstede National Culture Theory which has been shown to influence an individual's thinking pattern and behavior (Hofstede 2001; Rooney 2013). From past researches, there have been scholars such as Goularte and Zilber (2019) and Khan, Hameed, and Khan (2017) that utilized the Hofstede cultural dimensions as moderating variables. However, the results from these findings have been inconsistent in determining whether cultural dimensions were significant in the context of technology acceptance. Hence, the inconsistent findings and the low number of researches using cultural moderators in UTAUT2 warrants the need for research in a different cultural context to find clarity in the relationship between cultural moderators and technology acceptance. In a nutshell, this study is crucial as it seeks to investigate the acceptance of digital financial services (DFS) among low-income household which can provide key findings for governments, policy makers, financial institutions, educators and non-profit organizations in charting the path towards greater financial inclusion.

#### **1.14 Organization of Dissertation**

This study was organized according to the Curtin University Malaysia dissertation formatting guidelines. This research is presented in five chapters.

Chapter 1 introduces the background of the study to the readers. The framework of the study is also presented through key elements which are the background of the study, statement of problem, research questions, research objectives, research hypotheses, contributions of study, operational definition of terms, limitations of study and the organization of dissertation.

Chapter 2 is an extensive review of the literature which establishes the relevance of this study in lieu of existing literature. The literature review consists of past studies on digital financial services, low-income households, technology acceptance theories and national culture theories. Towards the end of this chapter, it details the conceptual framework established from existing technology acceptance and national culture theories to support the framework. The literature gap of this study is also further refined at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 3 describes the research methodology. In this chapter, it defines how each research question is tested. Some of the key elements being detailed in this chapter are research type, research design, pilot study data analysis and ethical considerations.

Chapter 4 reports the results of the study through the data obtained from the survey instrument. In other words, this chapter reports the findings from the data collection method presented in chapter 3. This chapter also presents the results of the data analysis to test each hypothesis stated in chapter 2. Findings in this chapter are presented using two software which are Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) and SmartPLS.

Chapter 5 discusses the findings from chapter 4 in detail. Justification for the data analysis results for each hypothesis is presented. The implications of the research are presented through two perspectives which are theoretical and managerial. Research limitations and sugggestions for future research are presented. Lastly, the research is concluded with a conclusion section.

### 1.15 Summary

This chapter provides an important overview on the importance of investigating the acceptance of digital financial services in Miri, Sarawak. This was done by providing an overview of the status quo for low-income households' digital financial services acceptance in Miri, Sarawak. A contextual justification for the selection of the location of interest in this study was also detailed. From this background information, the research questions, objectives and hypotheses are laid out. An organization of dissertation is also provided to map out the flow of the thesis.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

In this study, it aims to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services in low-income households in Malaysia. Additionally, it also seeks to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Aligned with these objectives, Chapter 2 presents a synthesis of literature review which details findings on current and past literature.

Hence, Chapter 2 is divided into the following sections: (2.1) The Importance of Digital Financial Services for Low-Income Households, (2.2) Studies on Digital Financial Services Acceptance in Malaysia, (2.3) Theories on Technology Acceptance, (2.3.1) Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use 2 (UTAUT2), (2.4) Financial Literacy, (2.5) Hofstede National Culture Theory, (2.6) Conceptual Framework and (2.7) Literature Gap and (2.8) Summary.

# 2.1 The Importance of Digital Financial Services for Low-Income Households

In propagating the importance of digital financial services for low-income households, past literature has shown that it helps low-income households in several ways.

The first way is by enabling low-income households to fight against poverty (Ozili 2018; Rizwan and Catherine 2016). Through digital financial services, this improves the level of efficiency for basic financial services. Many low-income households still transact almost completely using cash, assets and informal money lenders for their financial transactions (Rana, Luthra, and Rao 2019). As majority of the global population have access to a mobile phone, this enables them to access digital financial services where these services can be delivered through devices such as electronic cards, chips, tablets or electronic systems (Alliance for Financial Inclusion 2016). This can help to reduce the dependency of low-income households on cash transactions.

The expansion of digital financial services through mobile devices also improves financial inclusion through convenient and affordable access to financial services especially to the underserved community such as low-income households due to the mobility, convenience and low cost of these channels (Ali et al. 2020; Sassi and Goaied 2013). This notion is supported by a study conducted by Kansal (2016) which found that people living in poor financial situation, which is the bottom of pyramid (BOP) adopted digital financial services because of the low cost and affordability. A key example of a digital financial service which encourage adoption among low-income households is mobile banking. The highly accessible device lowers transaction costs significantly. Hence, low-income households can benefit from increased financial inclusion.

Furthermore, Thomas (2016) stated that digital financial services can reach lowincome households more efficiently as it is affordable for them. More specifically, the author found that mobile wallets is highly efficient as the prepaid reload feature allows people to easily load money into the wallet without the need for cash or cards, which is often difficult for low-income households to access due to barriers in registration process such as lack of identification or lack of minimum funds required to own these services. Additionally, the greater reach towards low-income households is supported by the fact that it only needs to utilize current telecommunication infrastructure as there is a widespread use of mobile telecommunication networks, even among lowincome households. As there is a lack of financial infrastructure in rural areas and in the community that low-income households reside in, mobile phones can help to decrease the infrastructure gap through mobile banking, particularly in developing countries (Fall, Orozco, and Akim 2020; Mishra and Bisht 2013). High levels of convenience when using digital financial services was also found to be a main reason for the acceptance of digital financial services (Gupta 2018).

Secondly, digital financial services benefit low-income households as it provides opportunities to build wealth through access to advanced digital financial services. By being connected with a formal financial institution, low-income households are linked to credible providers of credit, insurance and investment (Ozili 2018). From literature, access to credit is vital to low-income households as a development tool which helps stabilize household income (Silong and Gadanakis 2019). Due to the lack of access to credit, low-income households are unable to optimally invest in education and other long-term income generating opportunities (Mustapa, Al Mamun, and Ibrahim 2018). In Malaysia, access to microcredit was found to be an important tool towards reducing

the economic vulnerability of low-income households. In fact, past literature has shown that access to credit results in positive financial outcomes for Malaysian households (Al-Mamun, Mazumder, and Malarvizhi 2014; Omar et al. 2012; Samer et al. 2015). Through digital financial services, low-income households can have access to safe credit. For instance, Minto et al. (2016) found that farmers often used digital financial services to obtain credit. Past literature have proven that access to credit for farmers can transform their living conditions as it increases their income and improves their self-confidence (Ogbuabor and Nwosu 2017). Apart from access to credit, lowincome households also have access to insurance through digital financial services. As low-income households are exposed to different types of risks such as economic, political or lifecycle-related, owning an insurance can help to reduce the impact of those risks to them (Radermacher and Brinkmann 2011).

Despite these evidences that show low-income households can benefit from digital financial services, there are still many challenges in encouraging the acceptance among low-income households. For instance, a study conducted by Thomas (2016) found that the level of awareness for digital financial services was high among low-income individuals. However, this did not correspond to the actual usage rate among low-income individuals. The reason for the lack of use was these low-income individuals lack confidence and knowledge on how to use mobile wallet. Although the usage rate is low, the high level of awareness is a good indication that there is interest among low-income households. To increase the level of acceptance, Minto et al. (2016) suggested that financial education programs and availability of financial institutions must be provided to low-income households.

As a summary, studies conducted on the technology acceptance of digital financial services by low-income households globally have shown that these services have a positive impact on their livelihood. In fact, the decrease in poverty levels is prominent from the findings of these studies. As the importance of digital financial services for low-income households has been covered, the next section details the studies of technology acceptance in Malaysia to provide a better context on the country that this study focuses on.

# 2.2 Studies on Digital Financial Services Acceptance in Malaysia

From a thorough literature search, there have been several digital financial services acceptance studies conducted in the context of Malaysia. From these studies, there are three key trends in the research being conducted. Firstly, these studies largely focus on one subsection of digital financial services. Secondly, the technology acceptance theories that are referred prominently use outdated theories. Lastly, these studies also commonly introduce new constructs as part of the digital financial services acceptance framework. The following sections provide more details on the trends.

The first key trend is the prominent focus on only one subsection of digital financial services. From past literature, the definitions of digital financial services expand across different types of services such as electronically enabled cards, tablets, point of sale (POS) terminals, automated teller machines (ATM) or any other digital systems (Alliance for Financial Inclusion 2016). Although so, digital financial services acceptance in Malaysia is still largely focused on one type of digital financial service. One of the highly studied digital financial service in Malaysia is mobile banking. For instance, Goh and Sun (2014) analyzed the role of gender in the technology acceptance of Islamic mobile banking. Similarly, Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim (2018), Mahad et al. (2015), and Krishanan et al. (2016) investigated the adoption of mobile banking in Malaysia. Apart from mobile banking, Chin and Ahmad (2015) investigated the technology acceptance of a single e-payment system among Malaysian consumers. The study combined the use of card payment, mobile payment and internet payment to form a single e-payment system for the banking industry. The focus on only one subsection of digital financial services in Malaysia, especially in recent studies warrants the need for a study which covers many other elements of digital financial services. More importantly, the focus on only one subsection of digital financial services does not represent the reality that most individuals face. This is because people engage with multiple digital financial services in their daily life. Considering this fact, this highlights the importance of this study as it covers the key elements of digital financial services for a financially vulnerable population in the society.

The second key trend is the use of outdated technology acceptance theories. In the field of technology acceptance, there are many theories which have been introduced over the years. Some of the examples include the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) by (Davis 1985; 1989), the innovation diffusion theory (IDT) by Rogers (1995), the innovation diffusion theory (IDT) by Rogers (1995) and theory of planned behavior (TPB) by Ajzen (1991). However, as evident by these dates when these theories were created, there are many preceding technological acceptance theories which have been created. The latest theory for technology acceptance is the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2) by Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012). However, many of the digital financial services acceptance studies in Malaysia often utilize outdated technology acceptance theories. One of the most prominent theories being used is the Technology Acceptance (TAM) model. This is evident through studies such as Goh and Sun (2014) which used a modified Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) to analyze the acceptance of Islamic mobile banking in Malaysia. Similarly, Chin and Ahmad (2015) also adopted the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), which hypothesized that convenience, design and risk affect the perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use for the e-payment system in Malaysia. Additionally, Low et al. (2017) also investigated the loyalty of consumers towards mobile banking services in Malaysia using a modified Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). Similarly, Abdullah et al. (2019) investigated the moderating role of e-strategy in internet banking adoption among Malaysians using a modified Technology Acceptance Model (TAM).

Meanwhile, other technology acceptance theories apart from TAM were also utilized. For instance, Mahad et al. (2015) used the Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior (DTPB) by Taylor and Todd (1995) to predict behavioral intention of Malaysian users in using mobile banking. Meanwhile, Yuen, Yeow, and Lim (2015) adopted the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) in a comparative technology acceptance study which investigated internet banking adoption in the United States and Malaysia. Additionally, Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim (2018) also utilized the Unified Theory of Technology Acceptance (UTAUT) developed by Venkatesh et al. (2003) to investigate the acceptance of mobile banking among users in Klang, Malaysia. From these studies, it is evident that the use of the latest technology acceptance theories such as the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2) is not as common. In fact, as many of these studies are considered recent since it was published in the past 5 years, the use of theories such as Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) is inappropriate especially in the context of digital financial services. This is because this theory has been expanded and synthesized into technology acceptance models which are far more comprehensive and has greater predictive power. Given that the UTAUT2 was synthesized from 8 past technology acceptance theories and it has been proven to produce a substantial improvement in the variance through behavioral intention (Alazzam et al. 2016), the use of previous technology acceptance models especially TAM is deemed as inappropriate. Therefore, this study is one of the few studies of technology acceptance in Malaysia which utilizes the latest technology acceptance theory, which is UTAUT2 to investigate the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households.

The third prominent trend is the addition of new constructs or determinants to predict digital financial services acceptance in Malaysia. From an analysis of past literature, these studies often introduce new determinants apart from the ones proposed in the original technology acceptance theories. For instance, Goh and Sun (2014) introduced new determinants in the modified Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), which are perceived financial cost, social norms, perceived credibility and perceived selfexpressiveness to predict the behavioral intention to use. Similarly, Chin and Ahmad (2015) also adopted the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), which hypothesized that convenience, design and risk affect the perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use for the e-payment system. In addition, Krishanan et al. (2016) used the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and introduced four new determinants which are relative advantage, perceived risk, perceived cost and perceived interactivity. In a similar vein, Mahad et al. (2015) introduced several new determinants under the Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior (DTPB) by Taylor and Todd (1995) which are perceived security, perceived privacy, financial risk, time risk and performance risk. Meanwhile, Yuen, Yeow, and Lim (2015) which utilized the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) introduced several new determinants which are attitude towards use, perceived credibility, self-efficacy and anxiety. Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim (2018) also utilized the Unified Theory of Technology Acceptance (UTAUT) and introduced a new determinant which is the credibility

factor. To the best of our knowledge, financial literacy has never been added as a determinant in any of the technology acceptance theories. This points out the novel contribution of this study. A detailed section on the literature review for literature review is provided in the upcoming sections. In the next section, more details on the theories on technology acceptance are provided. Meanwhile, the following Table 2.1 summarizes the key studies on digital financial services acceptance studies conducted in Malaysia.

Source	Technology	Purpose of study	Theory	Key findings
Goh and	Mobile	Analyze the role of	Technology	The findings
Sun (2014)	banking	gender in the	Acceptance	found that only
		technology	Model	perceived self-
		acceptance of	(TAM)	expressiveness
		Islamic mobile		affects the
		banking in		behavioral
		Malaysia		intention to use
				mobile banking
				among male
				Malay Muslims.
				Meanwhile, the
				factors which
				affect the female
				Malay Muslims
				are perceived
				usefulness and
				social norms.
Chin and	Single e-	Investigating the	Technology	Results found that
Ahmad	payment	technology	Acceptance	convenience and
(2015)	system	acceptance of a	Model	design, have
		single e-payment	(TAM)	positive
		system among		relationship with

Table 2. 1 List of Digital Financial Services Acceptance Studies in Malaysia

		Malaysian		perceived
		consumers.		usefulness and
				perceived ease of
				use. Meanwhile,
				perceived risk has
				a negative
				relationship with
				consumers
				intention to use.
Mahad et	Mobile	Assessing the	Decomposed	This study is a
al. (2015)	banking	adoption of mobile	Theory of	conceptual study,
		banking in	Planned	which only lays
		Malaysia	Behavior	the conceptual
			(DTPB)	framework as a
				practical
				guideline for
				future researchers
				to improve their
				work.
Yu, Balaji,	Internet	Examining the role	NA	Results revealed
and Khong	banking	of trust and		that competence,
(2015)		trustworthiness in		integrity and
		determining the		shared values are
		continuance of		antecedents of
		internet banking		trustworthiness
		use among		and trust.
		Malaysian users		However, the role
				of benevolence is
				not supported in
				building
				trustworthiness
				and trust to ensure

				internet banking
				continuance.
Yuen,	Internet	Comparing the	Unified	Results revealed
Yeow, and	banking	technology	Theory of	that only
Lim (2015)		acceptance of	Acceptance	performance
		internet banking	and Use of	expectancy,
		adoption in the	Technology	attitude towards
		United States and	(UTAUT)	use and perceived
		Malaysia		credibility were
				antecedents of
				intention to use
				internet banking.
Ahmed and	Internet	Investigating the	NA	Findings from
Phin	banking	technology		this study
(2016)		acceptance of		revealed that
		internet banking		usefulness, ease
				of use and risks of
				using internet
				banking all
				determine the
				adoption of
				internet banking.
Krishanan	Mobile	Investigating the	Technology	It was concluded
et al.	banking	acceptance of	Acceptance	that perceived
(2016)		mobile banking	Model	usefulness,
		among Malaysian	(TAM)	perceived ease of
		consumers		use, relative
				advantage and
				perceived
				interactivity are
				the determinants
				of the acceptance
				for mobile

				banking.
				Meanwhile,
				perceived cost
				and perceived risk
				have a negative
				influence on
				intention to adopt
				mobile banking.
Low et al.	Mobile	Investigating the	Technology	From the data
(2017)	banking	loyalty of	Acceptance	analysis, it was
		consumers towards	Model	found that the
		mobile banking	(TAM)	subjective norms,
		services in		convenience and
		Malaysia		perceived ease of
				use are all
				important factors
				which encourage
				loyalty towards
				using mobile
				banking among
				Malaysians.
Arshad,	Mobile	Investigating the	Unified	All the
Mat, and	banking	acceptance of	Theory of	determinants
Ibrahim		mobile banking	Technology	which are
(2018)		among users in	Acceptance	performance
		Klang, Malaysia.	(UTAUT)	expectancy, effort
				expectancy,
				social influence,
				facilitating
				conditions, and
				credibility factor
				were found to
				significantly

				impact adoption
				of mobile banking
				as well. However,
				it was found that
				experience does
				not moderate
				effort expectancy.
Abdullah	Internet	Investigating the	Technology	Results showed
et al.	banking	moderating role of	Acceptance	that e-strategy
(2019)		e-strategy in	Model	does positively
		internet banking	(TAM)	moderate the role
		adoption among		of perceived
		Malaysians.		usefulness
				towards
				behavioral
				intention to adopt
				internet banking.
				Furthermore, the
				role of perceived
				usefulness
				towards the
				behavioral
				intention is also
				significant.
Normalini,	Internet	Investigating the	NA	This study found
Ramayah,	banking	security factors		that perceived
and		that impact the		authentication,
Shabbir		continuous		perceived
(2019)		adoption of		confidentiality
		internet banking		and perceived
		among Malaysian		data integrity are
		employees in both		all significant
				determinants of

private and public	the behavioral
sector	intention to
	continuously use
	internet banking.
	However,
	perceived non-
	repudiation was
	found to be non-
	significant
	because
	Malaysian
	consumers may
	view the other
	determinants to
	be more
	important
	compared to non-
	repudiation
	issues.

# 2.3 Theories on Technology Acceptance

The study on technology acceptance is one of the most mature streams of research for information systems (IS) research. In fact, technology acceptance originates from the field of psychology prior to being introduced into IS research (Niehaves and Plattfaut 2014). Furthermore, Damghanian, Zarei, and Kojuri (2016) stated that understanding why people use or reject a technology is a key in information research. In the past few decades, a variety of technology acceptance models have been introduced, drawing from the fields of psychology and sociology (Kwateng, Atiemo, and Appiah 2018). In relation to digital finance acceptance, there are several technology acceptance theories which have been used in the past. One of the earliest technology acceptance theories

is the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) by Davis (1985, 1989) which has been used in multiple studies to explain the acceptance of mobile banking (Abroud et al. 2013; Kesharwani and Bisht 2012; Kleijnen, Wetzels, and de Ruyter 2004; Moshele; Koenaite, Chuchu, and Villiers 2019; Shin and Lee 2014) and internet banking (Arunkumar 2008; Pikkarainen et al. 2004; Sharma, Govindaluri, and Al Balushi 2015; Wang et al. 2003).

Additionally, the innovation diffusion theory (IDT) by Rogers (1995) was also utilized to explain internet banking (Al-Ajam and Nor 2013; Giovanis, Binioris, and Polychronopoulos 2012) and credit card use (Jamshidi and Hussin 2018). Also, the theory of reasoned action (TRA) by Ajzen and Fishbein (1980) was used to explain internet banking (Al-Ajam and Nor 2013; Juwaheer, Pudaruth, and Ramdin 2012). Moreover, the theory of planned behavior (TPB) by Ajzen (1991) has been utilized to explain the acceptance of internet banking (Lin, Wu, and Tran 2015; Rondovic, Dragasevic, and Rakocevic 2016; Yadav, Chauhan, and Pathak 2015) and mobile banking (Glavee-Geo, Shaikh, and Karjaluoto 2017). Other theories include the decomposed TPB model (DTPB) by Taylor and Todd (1995) which was used to explain internet banking (Shih and Fang 2004) and mobile banking (Yu 2014).

Given the number of technology acceptance models available, Venkatesh et al. (2003) saw an urgent need to integrate constructs from past models into a more comprehensive framework. From this, the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) was created. In fact, the UTAUT was synthesized from eight competing models of technology acceptance which are the theory of reasoned action (TRA), technology acceptance model (TAM), motivational model (MM), theory of planned behavior (TPB), combined TAM and TPB (C-TAM-TPB), model of PC utilization (MPCU), innovation diffusion theory (IDT) and social cognitive theory (SCT) (Venkatesh et al. 2003). The UTAUT has been primarily used to study technology acceptance in an organizational context using four variables which are performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence and facilitating conditions. The popularity of this model was proven by its widespread use to explain digital finance technologies such as internet banking (Abushanab and Pearson 2007; Wang, Cho, and Denton 2017; Mbrokoh 2016; Sarfaraz 2017).

However, Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012) saw an urgent need to update the UTAUT model to keep up with the rapid increase in consumer technological devices. Hence, the UTAUT2 was introduced with three new variables which are habit, hedonic motivation and price value to reflect the change from an organizational to individual context. The acceptance of various digital finance technologies has been investigated using the UTAUT2 model such as internet banking (Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Yaseen and El Qirem 2018), mobile banking (Baabdullah et al. 2019; Baptista and Oliveira 2015; 2017) and mobile wallet (Madan and Yadav 2016).

In the field of technology acceptance, there has been a recent development in the extension of the UTAUT2 theory. In a recent article, Farooq et al. (2017) extended the UTAUT2 theory by introducing a new determinant which is personal innovativeness. This newly extended theory is also known as the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 3 (UTAUT3). The new determinant being introduced is defined as a personality trait which reflects the tendency of an individual to adopt a technological innovation (Schillewaert et al. 2005). The study confirmed the role of personal innovativeness in determining the behavioral intention and use of lecture capture system among executive business graduates. Despite this study being a new development in technology acceptance, the role of the new dimension has not been largely validated in new contexts. In fact, a study conducted by Gunasinghe et al. (2019) used the UTAUT3 to investigate the adoption of academicians towards elearning. The results of this study did not support the role of personal innovativeness towards the adoption of e-learning. More importantly, adding personal innovativeness as a new determinant does not warrant the creation of a new theory. In fact, the definition of personal innovativeness as an attitude is too broad and it is better explained through the original UTAUT2 determinants that are more specific and measurable. Given these reasons, the current study does not consider the use of UTAUT3 as it is not widely validated and the addition of the new determinant, personal innovativeness does not warrant the creation of a new theory. Hence, the next section details more about the main theory used in this study which is UTAUT2.

# 2.3.1 Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2)

This study uses the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2) as the key conceptual framework to predict the behavioral intention of lowincome households in using digital financial services. The UTAUT2 is a theory which investigates the determinants of technology acceptance in a consumer's context (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In this theory, there are seven determinants that impact the behavioral intention to accept a technology. These seven determinants were synthesized from past technology acceptance theories. The determinants are performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value and habit. In this study, only four determinants from the original UTAUT2 theory were selected which are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation and price value. Subsequently, an additional determinant which is financial literacy is added into the framework. Details on this determinant are found in the later sections.

The four UTAUT2 determinants selected are aligned to the needs of the sample of the study, which are low-income households. For instance, the determinant of effort expectancy defined by Venkatesh et al. (2003) as the level of effort that an individual perceives to be required to utilize a technology is omitted. The reason for this is that the use of digital financial services includes channels such as the internet, mobile phones and POS terminals which are well known for their convenience, speed and ubiquity. Moreover, these channels used to access digital financial services are also highly user-friendly, which means that the amount of effort needed to use digital financial services is relatively minimal (Hinson 2011; Oluwatayo 2013). In fact, there have been several studies conducted in Malaysia which supported the fact that Malaysians believe that digital financial services are user friendly (Normalini 2019; Amin 2016). Additionally, there have been numerous past studies which detailed the success digital financial services have in countries with large low-income households population that do not have advanced infrastructure to support digital financial services (Mago and Chitokwindo 2014; Ouma, Odongo, and Were 2017; Siddik, Kabiraj, and Joghee 2017; Lenka and Barik 2018). Despite the barrier with the lack of instructure,

the success of digital financial services in these countries prove that digital financial services are easy to use.

Next, social influence is also not considered in this study. Venkatesh et al. (2003) stated that the impact of social influence is prominent under mandatory circumstances as there are punishment and rewards associated with compliance and non-compliance. As the use of digital financial services in this study is non-mandatory, social influence is not considered. The definition of social influence by Venkatesh et al. (2003) is the extent to which individuals believe the opinions of others are important to adopt a technology. In relation to the exclusion of social influence for low-income households, Kraus et al. (2012) posited that low-income households are largely affected by structural influences in the form of social inequality, inefficient social services or expectations of discrimination due to their social class. Hence, the concept of structural influences which largely differs from social influence is the reason for the exclusion of the construct in this study.

Additionally, habit is also another determinant not considered in this study. Habit is defined as the level to which people perform behaviors automatically which is acquired through knowledge and learning (Alalwan et al. 2015; Limayem, Hirt, and Cheung 2017). Furthermore, experience is also a prerequisite in the formation of a habit, which pertains the level of exposure that an individual has to the particular technology (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In relation to this study, low-income households lack experience with digital financial services, which disrupts the formation of habit. As low-income households are unfamiliar with digital financial services, habit as a determinant is not significant and irrelevant to the framework.

There are three key reasons why the UTAUT2 was selected as the anchor framework for this study. Firstly, UTAUT2 is the most comprehensive, parsimonious and predictive model for technology acceptance. Secondly, the UTAUT2 analyzes technology acceptance from a consumer's standpoint instead of an organizational context as seen in UTAUT (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). Thirdly, the UTAUT2 model has been proven to produce a substantial improvement in the variance through behavioral intention (Alazzam et al. 2016). Compared to UTAUT which only explained 56% and 40% in variance for behavioral intention and use, UTAUT2 was able to explain 74% and 52% for the same elements (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012).

The following section details the four determinants of the UTAUT2 model selected for this study and behavioral intention, which is the dependent variable in theory.

#### a) **Performance Expectancy**

Firstly, performance expectancy is defined as the extent that an individual believes the use of technology can enhance their performance (Tai and Ku 2013; Venkatesh et al. 2003). In digital financial services context, it reflects the degree to which an individual believes that the use of digital financial services benefit them (Venkatesh et al. 2003). Moreover, performance expectancy is the strongest determinant regardless of whether it is a voluntary or non-voluntary circumstance. From past frameworks, the root constructs of this determinant are perceived usefulness, extrinsic motivation, job-fit, relative advantage and outcome expectancy is the most important determinant in the technology acceptance of digital finance (Baptista and Oliveira 2015; Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014; Morosan and DeFranco 2016; Rahi, Abd. Ghani, and Ngah 2019; Savic and Pesterac 2019).

For instance, features in mobile banking which demonstrate performance expectancy is the flexibility to conduct digital financial transactions, anywhere, at any time (Ngugi et al. 2020; Nustini, Yuni; Fadhillah 2020; Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Williams 2016). Additionally, Zhou, Lu, and Wang (2010) stated that internet banking enable users to enjoy features such as convenient payment methods, timely response and service effectiveness. In fact, Sánchez-Torres et al. (2018) further reaffirmed that the performance expectancy features that users obtain from internet banking are the economic benefits and high level of convenience of the service. In the past, there were empirical studies proving that performance expectancy plays a key role in digital financial services adoption.

Recently, there have been many empirical studies which proved that performance expectancy has a significant positive impact on the intention to use mobile banking, which is a prime example of digital financial services (Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018; Rahi and Abd. Ghani 2018; Sarfaraz 2017). Past researches have shown that the use of mobile banking offers a wide range of advantages such as high ubiquity and high level of flexibility which make users perceive that they gain a lot of benefits from the use of the digital financial service (Tan and Lau 2016a). In relation to this study, some of the benefits of digital financial services to low-income households include promoting asset building, encouraging efficient allocation of money through savings and encouraging economic growth through timely access to flexible credit (Dancey 2013).

One of the key areas where the potential of digital financial services can be leveraged for low-income households is government social cash transfers. Dancey (2013) stated that the electronic delivery of cash through formal banking accounts increases the level of financial inclusion for low-income households. In fact, the use of formal banking accounts to channel electronic social cash transfers has been recognized as one of the most powerful tools to fight against poverty. By using digital financial technologies such as debit cards, credit cards, automated teller machines (ATM) and point of sale (POS) devices, electronic social cash transfers provide an opportunity for low-income households to participate in the formal financial system. Hence, low-income households benefit from the use of digital financial services by being able to access financial management tools that help them to become more resilient against financial shocks.

Therefore, if low-income households believes that the use of technology is advantageous to them, they are more motivated to use it (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Williams 2016; Venkatesh et al. 2003). Given these arguments, this study proposes the following hypothesis:

**H1:** There is a positive relationship between performance expectancy (PE) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

#### b) Facilitating Conditions

Facilitating conditions is defined as the extent to which an individual perceives that facilities and resources are provided to assist in technology acceptance (Venkatesh et al. 2003; Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). The root constructs of this determinant are perceived behavioral control and compatibility. Past studies have shown that facilitating conditions is a significant determinant of technology acceptance for digital finance (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Rahi, Abd. Ghani, and Ngah 2019; Savic and Pesterac 2019). The use of a digital financial service channel requires the users to possess certain level of skills, resources and technical infrastructure (Alalwan et al. 2015; Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Williams 2016). This is supported by Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič (2014) which stated that internet banking users need to know how to use computers and connect it to the internet. Furthermore, there are other costs involved such as internet bills and digital financial services transaction fees. Hence, users are more motivated to adopt digital financial services if they have support and the resources necessary to access these digital channels. For low-income households that have very limited skills, resources and technical infrastructure, it is also vital for digital financial services to be compatible to the current technologies that they possess. For instance, low-income households are more likely to use internet banking if the website or application is compatible with their technological devices such as tablets or mobile phones.

In recent studies, there has been empirical support which states that facilitating conditions impact the behavioral intention to adopt digital financial services such as mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018). In studies concerning internet banking, facilitating conditions have also been found as a key predictor for behavioral intention (Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014). However, there are also studies which disproved the role of facilitating conditions as a key predictor. For instance, Farah, Hasni, and Abbas (2018) found that facilitating conditions is insignificant in predicting the use of mobile banking. This is because facilitating conditions may be insignificant in cultures and environments where existing infrastructure are inadequate to support the widespread use of mobile banking (Mbrokoh 2016).

In Malaysia, 54.2% of its population are internet banking subscribers which means that many have the facilitating conditions required to access digital financial services (BNM 2019). By having adequate facilitating conditions, this provides people with a psychological sense of control that impacts their adoption of an existing or new technology (Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018). Therefore, if low-income households perceive that they receive adequate support through facilities and resources, they are more likely to accept digital financial services. As low-income households lack resources, the availability of facilitating conditions is key towards their acceptance of digital financial services. As stated by Oliveira et al. (2016), the availability of facilitating conditions for technology acceptance.

Hence, this study posits:

**H2:** There is a positive relationship between facilitating conditions (FC) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

# c) Hedonic Motivation

Hedonic motivation is defined as the level of pleasure and fun that an individual experience when they use technology (Venkatesh and Brown 2005). The concept of hedonic motivation highlights intrinsic utilities with features that invoke feelings of entertainment, joy, fun and playfulness (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In fact, the intrinsic utilities that hedonic motivation represent, complement extrinsic utility such as performance expectancy in the same UTAUT2 model. More importantly, hedonic motivation represents hedonic impulses which are non-functional and emotional in nature (Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018). Therefore, it is based on an individual's affective needs. In relation to digital financial services, formal financial institutions need to consider the pleasure and enjoyment that their potential users attain from the use of their services.

From past researches, individuals are more likely to adopt a technology if they enjoy using it (Alalwan et al. 2015; Curran and Meuter 2007; Holbrook and Hirschman 1982). As consumers start using new technology, they are usually attracted to its novelty which leads to increased hedonic motivation (Holbrook and Hirschman 1982).

However, as people get more accustomed to using technology, the impact of hedonic motivation starts to decrease as people focus more on the usefulness of the technology (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In this study, it has been shown that a majority of the unbanked consist of low-income households. This implies that many low-income households have not adopted digital financial services or have limited experience using the service. Additionally, both users and non-users of digital financial services can participate in this study. Considering the target sample in this study, hedonic motivation is likely to play a huge role in determining the use of digital financial services among low-income households as it represents an early use of the technology.

Recent empirical studies have shown that hedonic motivation plays a key role in determining the intention to adopt digital financial services. For instance, support for the role of hedonic motivation on behavioral intention has been established for mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018). In relation to digital financial services, the use of its channels is often done using mobile devices. According to Arcand et al. (2017), mobile devices are often related to feelings of enjoyment. Therefore, the use of digital financial services which provide applications such as mobile banking often invokes feeling of pleasure and entertainment because of the aesthetically pleasing visuals (Lee and Lee 2020). Aligned with this, a study conducted by Rahi, Ghani, and Ngah (2020) on the adoption of internet banking in Malaysia found that website design plays a role in the technology acceptance. The importance of appealing visuals in an application to invoke feelings of enjoyment is further reaffirmed by Sahoo and Pillai (2017). For instance, more financial institutions are implementing the 'gamification' of their digital financial services. According to Baptista and Oliveira (2017), 'gamification' is the act of applying game mechanics and game design techniques on systems and services. Across all walks of life, many enjoy playing games where this trend is expected to increase the capture rate and sustain the interest of digital financial services users. Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012) stated that providing a fun and enjoyable environment for technology users has been shown to establish a positive perception of the technology.

As evident from past studies, this study stipulates:

**H3:** There is a positive relationship between hedonic motivation (HM) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

#### d) Price Value

Price value is defined as the extent to which an individual believes that the benefits of using a technology overweigh the price they pay to use it (Dodds, Monroe, and Grewal 1991a). When considering the use of technology, Zeithaml (1988) posited that it is common for people to compare monetary cost with the benefits received to determine the value of the service. Additionally, price value is a new determinant added by Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012) to UTAUT2 to reflect the shift from a mandatory to the non-mandatory setting. Compared to an organizational setting where the use of a system is mandatory, and the cost is covered by the organization, consumers often must bear the cost of using technologies themselves in a consumer-use setting (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017). Hence, for a customer to adopt a technology, they must perceive that the benefits they obtain from using a technology is greater than the price they pay to use it.

Some examples of the financial costs that may be incurred from the use of digital financial services include internet bills, cost of mobile devices, initial service setup costs and transaction fees. These monetary costs of using digital financial services could hinder adoption if people perceive the benefits, that they receive are insignificant compared to the monetary costs incurred. Example of the benefits that users can obtain from the use of mobile banking include the overall perception of the functionality, enjoyment, service quality, usefulness, interactivity and accessibility (Arcand et al. 2017). Therefore, if people perceive that benefits they receive is greater than the monetary cost of using digital financial services, the price value is positive.

The relationship between price value and the behavioral intention to adopt digital financial services has been empirically proven in literature. For instance, the role of price value has been proven to lead to the behavioral intention to adopt mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Baptista and Oliveira 2017). In relation to this study, low-income households which mostly have already possessed a mobile phone can potentially benefit from the

high levels of convenience and flexibility that digital financial services provide. More importantly, the use of digital financial services such as Automated Teller Machines (ATMs) and internet banking promotes greater safety for their assets and improve their financial management skills.

Low-income households are known to be the economically and socially vulnerable group. Given the disadvantage that they experience in the society today, digital financial services are key towards improving their level of financial inclusion by being involved in the formal financial market. By having secure, timely and convenient access to financial services through digital financial services, this enables low-income households to fight against poverty, encourage entrepreneurship and be more resilient towards financial shocks (Dancey 2013).

Accordingly, this study proposes:

**H4:** There is a positive relationship between price value (PV) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

# e) Behavioral Intention

The dependent variable in this study, behavioral intention is defined as the extent that an individual intends to use technology in the future (Warshaw and Davis 1985). In fact, the behavioral intention was drawn from past theories of social psychology which utilized it as a determinant of IT use (Davis, Bagozzi, and Warshaw 1989). Additionally, Du (2011) stated that past researches have proven a correlation between attitude and intention. Over the years, behavioral intention became the dominant determinant for IT use especially for consumer use context (Venkatesh et al. 2003). This is further supported by Taylor and Todd (1995) and Venkatesh et al. (2003) which established that behavioral intention is a reliable antecedent of actual usage.

In this study, it is crucial to distinguish between acceptance and adoption. The concept of adoption is defined as an individual's intentional decision to accept a technology and use it (Haddon 2003). In contrast, technology acceptance relates to the willingness of an individual to use a technology (Teo 2014). In the context of the acceptance of digital financial services, it is not related to whether low-income households use the

technology in their daily life but rather if they accept or reject the implementation of the technologies. Hence, from an adaptation of Fishbein and Ajzen's (1975) definition of behavioral intention, this construct can be defined as the measure of the likelihood that an individual intends to adopt digital financial services.

From the original UTAUT and UTAUT2 theory, the construct of 'use behavior' has been utilized as a dependent variable which has a direct relationship with behavioral intention (Venkatesh et al. 2003; Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In the UTAUT2, the construct was measured using self-reported usage frequencies which range from "never" to "many times per day". Self-reported usage is often used as a subjective measure of use in studies about technology solutions (Hossain 2017). However, technology studies that used self-reported usage have found that respondents level of recall for usage rate is very poor (Redmayne, Smith, and Abramson 2013). In relation to this study, measuring the actual use of digital financial services is not possible from a legal perspective. Therefore, this study adopts behavioral intention as a dependent variable.

The use of this variable is supported by past studies that have analyzed the technology acceptance of digital finance and findings have shown that behavioral intention leads to actual use of the technology (Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Ali Abdallah Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Baptista and Oliveira 2017; Goularte and Zilber 2019; Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014). As past studies have primarily shown that behavioral intention leads to actual use of digital financial services, the actual use of digital financial services is not be measured as it is beyond the scope of this study.

# 2.4 Financial Literacy

In this study, financial literacy is a new determinant introduced in this research framework. Therefore, it is added as a new determinant apart from the other determinants derived from the UTAUT2 theory. To understand financial literacy better, it is important to understand the definition of this determinant. So far, there is no standardized definition of financial literacy. However, there is a consensus that it comprises of basic financial knowledge and the ability to apply this knowledge in the financial decision-making processes. Additionally, Huston (2010) stipulated that an individual who is financially literate can comprehend and apply their financial knowledge when making decisions. Similarly, OECD (2011) defined financial literacy as a combination of awareness, knowledge, skill, attitude, and behavior when making financial decisions. Relevant to this study, World Bank (2009) posited that low-income households can benefit from financial literacy as it helps them learn and utilize financial knowledge in a manner that is relevant to their life.

With low levels of financial literacy, individuals cannot use complex financial services to its full potential especially with the availability of complex financial offerings (Sharma, Khan, and Thoudam 2020). Cole, Sampson, and Zia (2011) stated that low-income households which are not familiar with financial services simply choose not to use them. In contrast, high levels of financial literacy can significantly improve the financial security and quality of life for low-income households (Bongomin et al. 2017). An important contention made by Bongomin et al. (2017) is that only providing access to financial services for low-income households is insufficient. Instead, low-income households also need good financial literacy to evaluate and use relevant financial services for their needs.

More importantly, World Bank (2008) also stated that financial literacy is key towards improving the quality of financial services. A basic level of understanding is necessary to help low-income households evaluate different financial offerings such as bank accounts, credit cards, loans, insurance and investments (Ganesan, Pitchay, and Mohd Nasser 2020; Nguyen and Doan 2020; Bongomin et al. 2017). A study conducted by Atkinson and Messy (2013) found that the lack of knowledge about the financial offerings available is one of the main reasons for financial exclusion. As people are unsure about how financial services work, Bongomin et al. (2017) further posited that this leads to poor consumption of financial offerings. As a result, these financial offerings are not used optimally. In fact, the provision of multiple financial services and products may further confuse low-income households, which contradicts the potential of digital finance to improve their livelihood.

With better financial literacy, Hauff et al. (2020) and Braunstein and Welch (2002) stated that it improves financial behaviors such as savings, retirement planning, owning a bank account, investment management and debit management. For low-

income households, higher financial literacy helps them to avoid predatory financial services, which encourages the use of mainstream financial services. Hence, lowincome households living in developing countries can benefit from financial literacy as it facilitates access, encourage the use financial services, improve savings rates, establish creditworthiness and can lead to poverty reduction (Lotto 2020; Atkinson and Messy 2013; World Bank 2009). A recent study by Matita and Chauma (2020) investigated the role of financial literacy to the use of mobile financial services. However, this study only examined non-bank mobile financial services which is different from what this study focuses on which is bank-led digital financial services. From a thorough literature review, it was found that there is a lack of studies which link financial literacy to bank-leddigital financial services or engagement in online economic activities. However, there are empirical studies which link financial literacy to participation in financial services. One of the examples of financial services which has been investigated is banking. In a study conducted by Astuti and Trinugroho (2016), it investigated the relationship between financial literacy and engagement in banking in Indonesia. The study targets poor people from the Indonesian region as they are often associated with unsatisfactory levels of financial literacy (Cameron et al. 2014). The study empirically proved that the higher the level of financial literacy in an individual, the greater the engagement of poor people with banks. Similarly, Henager and Cude (2016) examined the relationship between financial literacy and financial behavior. In fact, financial behavior was further classified into short-term and longterm financial behavior. On one hand, short-term financial behavior refers to spending and emergency saving behavior. Meanwhile, long-term financial behavior refers to retirement saving and investing behavior. From an analysis of the results, it was found that the relationship between financial literacy and short-term and long-term financial behavior was supported across different age groups.

In a similar vein, Königsheim, Lukas, and Nöth (2017) assessed the relationship between financial knowledge and risk preferences on the demand for digital financial services. According to the definition of financial literacy by OECD (2011), financial knowledge is one of the key elements which make up financial literacy. It seeks to investigate the likelihood of traditional bank customers switching to the use of digital financial services. Although the study conducted by Königsheim, Lukas, and Nöth (2017) may seemed similar to this dissertation, the provider of digital financial services that they were referring to are Financial Technology startups or better known as "FinTechs". More specifically, they were studying the switch from a traditional bank provider to FinTechs. Data analysis from the survey results revealed that financial knowledge and risk preferences are positively correlated to the demand for digital financial services. Also, results found that customers that prefer traditional banks require greater compensation to make the switch to digital financial services providers. From this analysis, it is evident that financial literacy has a positive relationship with the engagement with economic activities. In Table 2.2, it summarizes the financial literacy studies which relates to participation in financial services.

Thus, this study stipulates:

**H5:** There is a positive relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Source	Country	Purpose of Study	Key findings
Astuti and	Indonesia	Investigating the relationship	From the data
Trinugroho		between financial literacy and	obtained, it was
(2016)		engagement in banking in	empirically
		Indonesia	proven that the
			higher the level
			of financial
			literacy in a
			society, the
			greater the
			engagement of
			poor people
			with banks.

 Table 2. 2 List of Financial Literacy Studies Which Relates to Participation in

 Financial Services

Henager and	NA	Examining the relationship	From an
Cude (2016)		between financial literacy and	analysis of the
		financial behavior.	results, it was
			found that the
			relationship
			between
			financial
			literacy and
			short-term as
			well as long-
			term financial
			behavior was
			supported
			across different
			age groups. A
			key finding in
			this study was
			that as the age
			groups
			increased,
			individuals were
			more likely to
			engage in long-
			term financial
			behavior.
Königsheim,	Germany	Assessing the relationship	Data analysis
Lukas, and		between financial knowledge and	from the survey
Nöth		risk preferences on the demand for	results reveal
(2017)(Kramer		digital financial services	that financial
2016)			knowledge and
			risk preferences
			are positively
			correlated to the

			demand for
			digital financial
			services. Also,
			results found
			that customers
			that prefer
			traditional
			banks require
			greater
			compensation to
			make the switch
			to digital
			financial
			services
			providers.
Zhao et al.	United	Investigating the impact of culture	Results revealed
(2018)	States	and financial literacy on financial	that financial
		services participation	literacy and risk
			attitude have
			positive
			relationships
			with the attitude
			towards paid
			professional
			financial
			advisors. In
			regards to risk
			attitude, risk-
			seeking
			individuals
			displayed a
			positive attitude
			towards

			professional
			financial
			advisors
			compared to
			risk-averse
			individuals.
Bongomin et	Uganda	To assess the relationship between	The study
al. (2018)		financial literacy and financial	concluded that
		inclusion of the poor in rural	both financial
		Uganda	literacy and
			cognition have a
			significant and
			positive impact
			on the financial
			inclusion of the
			poor in rural
			Uganda.
Jana, Sinha,	India	To investigate the impact of	Financial
and Gupta		demographic and socio-economic	literacy, income
(2019)		variables on financial literacy and	and domicile are
		the use of financial services	proven to be
			determinants of
			the use of
			financial
			services.

# 2.5 Hofstede National Culture Theory

To fill in a gap in technology acceptance research, the Hofstede National Culture Theory was selected to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions in digital financial services acceptance. This theory stated that members of a society share a common element called cultural dimensions, which can distinguish them from members of another country (Hofstede 1980a). Furthermore, this theory comprised of five cultural dimensions which distinguish the members of a country from another. These cultural dimensions are power distance, individualism versus collectivism, masculinity, uncertainty avoidance and long-term orientation. According to Sun, Lee, and Law (2019), Hofstede's National Culture Theory by Hofstede (1980) provides the most effective guideline to measure culture. In fact, this theory is utilized in this study as it seeks to address a shortcoming in the UTAUT2 framework which is the inability to measure the impact of culture in technology acceptance.

Broadly speaking, culture is defined as the unique characteristics of a social group which is the collective programming of the minds that differentiates the members of a group from another (Hofstede 2001). The importance of culture expands across many areas of life. In fact, Hall (1976) posited that there is no area of human life that has not been affected by culture. The impact of culture can be seen in different elements of life such as personality, how people express themselves, thought process, problem solving skills, city planning, up to the organization of economic and government systems. Clearly, the impact of culture is prominent regardless if an individual is aware of it.

However, it is important to narrow down the definition of culture to relate it to economic outcomes. This because there has been criticism stating that culture is too broad for it to be related to economic outcomes (Greif 2006). Hence, Guiso, Sapienza, and Zingales (2006) defined culture as customary beliefs that are passed down by ethnic, religious and social groups which remain fairly unchanged throughout generations. In fact, Becker (1996) posited that culture bears a huge impact on people because individuals do not have control over their culture. In other words, culture is given to an individual throughout their life. This is evident through the fact that an individual cannot change their ethnicity, race or family history. Even if culture change
is possible, Botticini and Eckstein (2005) stated that culture modification only occurs over the course of centuries or millennia. Relating culture to economic outcomes, Guiso, Sapienza, and Zingales (2006) further posited that the two main ways that culture can impact economic outcomes are through beliefs and preferences. Consequently, these beliefs affect trust which is a necessary element in every economic transaction (Kassim and Haruna 2020). Past empirical studies have proven that level of trust is positively correlated to the economic performance in a community (Knack and Keefer 1997; Zak and Knack 2001).

Given these evidence, it proves that cultural hypotheses can be tested and are economically important to be tested for vital economic issues (Guiso, Sapienza, and Zingales 2006). Furthermore, a recent development in literature by Sharma, Singh, and Sharma (2020) investigated the acceptance of internet banking using the original UTAUT theory and utilized two cultural moderators which are individualism and uncertainty avoidance. Similarly, the study utilized individuals as a unit of analysis through individual's espoused national cultural values. Aligned with this study, this indicated that it is possible to test the moderating role of cultural dimensions between financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. This is because this study tests the moderating impact of cultural dimensions towards an economic outcome, which is the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services that points to the choice to engage in the banking industry. As the role of culture towards economic outcomes has been discussed, it is now vital to understand how culture relates to technology acceptance.

Deans et al. (1991) stated that culture is vital towards determining the effectiveness of information systems. Hence, the diverse cultural backgrounds that individual users come from must be assessed when investigating technology acceptance (Hillier 2003; McCoy, Galletta, and King 2018; Straub, Keil, and Brenner 1997; Teo and Huang 2018; Teo, Huang, and Hoi 2018). Moreover, culture is an important reflection of the rules and social norms within a society which further influences an individual's thinking patterns and behavior (Hofstede 2001; Rooney 2013). In fact, Nelson, Klara, and Clark (1994) defined technology as a "culturally embedded, value-laden activity". Hence, individuals view information systems from their own cultural perspective influenced by their cultural values, norms, and beliefs which also impact their reasoning to accept a technology (Alhirz and Sajeev 2015). Therefore, it is important

to study the role of cultural dimensions in the context of technology acceptance. In this study, the cultural theory being utilized is the Hofstede National Culture Theory. However, there are different cultural theories from past literature. The following discussion discusses the key cultural theories and why this study chose the Hofstede National Culture Theory as the guiding culture theory.

One of the key culture theories and is one of the most highly-cited theoretical frameworks in communication is the context theory of Hall (Hall 1976). In this theory, Hall identified fundamental differences in communication preferences, which he grouped into two categories. Cultural context is defined as the degree of sensitivity that an individual has towards communication contexts (Ma 2010). In the context theory of Hall, he stated that people are reliant on context to communicate and process information. Hence, the two categories are low context and high context cultures. The main difference between these two categories is the preference for words or contextual cues for communication. In a low context culture, verbal communication is the preferred method of communication where people highly rely on, words and us explicit and direct language to communicate. This method of communication is more prevalent in Western countries. In a low context culture, people are psychologically distant and require access to information to communicate with each other effectively. Meanwhile, people in a high context culture rely on contextual, implicit and indirect cues for communication. This method of communication is more evident in Eastern countries. In a high context culture, people have a deep mutual understanding of each other and information is conveyed through shared experiences, deep personal bonds and verbal cues (Harrell 2016).

Despite the popularity of this theory, Hall's classifications of culture have not been largely tested empirically (Hornikx and Le Pair 2017). In fact, only a limited number of studies have tested the central assumptions of the study (Van Mulken, Le Pair, and Forceville 2010). This differs greatly with Hofstede (1980), which was empirically tested on 400,000 IBM employees across 50 countries. Additionally, Abbasi et al. (2015) stated that the context theory of Hall is only suitable for technology acceptance studies when it involves a cross-cultural context. This further points to the suitability of the Hofstede's (1980) theory as it has the ability to measure culture at different levels, including at an individual level which is aligned to the objectives of this study.

Apart from the context theory of Hall, another culture theory which is also highly cited is the cultural dimensions theory by Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner (1998). This theory developed cultural dimensions to differentiate one culture from another in a business context (Woo and Hyung-Seok 2007). This theory categorizes culture into seven dimensions. The first five dimensions relate to relationship with other people. The five dimensions are universalism vs particularism, individualism vs communitarianism, neutral vs emotional, specific vs diffuse, and achievement vs ascription. Meanwhile, the two other dimensions involve orientation in time and attitude towards the environment. These two cultural dimensions are sequential time vs synchronous time, and internal direction vs external direction (Iosif and Vasilache 2013).

However, this theory was primarily developed to understand culture differences in business settings (Pagell, Katz, and Sheu 2005; Woo and Hyung-Seok 2007). Also, this theory experiences limitation because the unit of analysis is an entire society. Therefore, this assumption is flawed because it assumes that societies are homogenous entities. (Patel 2007). This assumes that everyone in the society has the same cultural dimensions which is inaccurate as individuals in the society can have different cultural dimensions.

In comparison to the Hofstede's (1980) model, the Hofstede model is capable of explaining differences at different levels such as professional, organizational and group level. Hofstede (1980) was among the first scholars to empirically demonstrate that despite the high penetration of global communications and interdependence between countries, distinctive cultural differences still exist among the countries. Hence, the Hofstede National Culture Theory is adopted as a supporting theory in this study's proposed framework because it has gained acceptance across different research contexts (Abbasi et al. 2015).

In the Hofstede National Culture Theory, Hofstede postulated that cultural differences can be assessed through several aspects of national culture (Belkhamza and Wafa 2009). The following figure shows the scores for Malaysia under each of the six dimensions of Hofstede National Culture Theory. Relevant to this study, two cultural dimensions under the Hofstede National Culture Theory, which are power distance, and collectivism are selected to understand the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services among low-income households in Miri City, Sarawak.



Figure 2. 1 Cultural Dimensions Index Score

Source: Compiled from (Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov 2010)

According to Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov (2010) the scores for Malaysia's cultural dimensions of power distance was at 104, individualism/collectivism at 26, masculinity at 50, uncertainty avoidance at 36 and long term orientation at 41. Based on these values, power distance and collectivism were selected as they displayed the most interesting results compared to the other dimensions. The other dimensions had values close to 50, which made them less important in measuring behavioral intention (Hofstede 2014). This method of selection is consistent with Khan, Hameed, and Khan (2017) as they also selected cultural dimensions with extreme values. Additionally, these cultural dimensions were chosen because they represent established human values and general beliefs which align with the conceptual framework of this study (Lin 2014). The sixth dimension reported in the index score, which is indulgence versus restraint is a new dimension that has not been reported in any literature but it deserves more study (Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov 2010).

Initially, the Hofstede Theory was developed to make a cross-cultural comparison of IBM employees in 50 countries (Vijver and Fons 2016). From these findings, it was found that the five cultural dimensions differentiated the IBM employees from employees in other countries. Aligned with the objectives of this research to study the

technology acceptance of low-income households, Hofstede National Culture Theory also has the capacity to measure technology acceptance at an individual level. This is made possible due to the development of cultural dimensions scales which measures espoused individual technology acceptance (Srite and Karahanna 2006). In this study, the unit of analysis is a household. More specifically, the respondents for this study are the head of households. However, the justification for the use of the Hofstede National Culture Theory is based on an individual's perspective. In this instance, the term 'head of households' and 'individuals' are considered the same for this section because only an individual can answer the questionnaire. The term 'head of household' is just used to signify that the opinion of the individual answering the questionnaire is related to the overall opinion of the household. The validity of selecting head of households to represent the opinion of a household will be justified in the later section for sample inclusion criteria.

In the seminal work for the espoused national culture values at an individual level by Srite and Karahanna (2006), an individual's analysis of national culture is possible while also avoiding the ecological fallacy issue. Ecological fallacy is assuming that country-level correlations will remain valid even when substituted for individual correlations. In this study, the cultural dimensions scale was developed by the original authors from an individual's perspective. In fact, the criticism that culture cannot be reduced to an individual's perspective has been refuted by (Straub et al. 2002). According to the latter, the manifestation of culture originates from an individual. Only then, can culture be aggregated to the collective. Hence, it is clear that the impact of culture is heterogenous instead of homogenous. This can be attributed to the varying level that an individual subscribes to cultural values. Therefore, assessing culture from an individual's context is valid and can provide meaningful outcomes to predict technology acceptance.

Prior to the development of the scale, the Hofstede National Culture theory has been used on an individual level to investigate consumer's perception on negotiation behavior (Volkema 2004), package design (Limon, Kahle, and Orth 2009) and leadership (Shao and Webber 2006). However, Srite and Karahanna (2006) pointed out that the Hofstede metrics have been used inaccurately because individuals have been equally assigned with Hofstede indices to measure individual acceptance. The equal assignment of Hofstede indices is only acceptable in instances where the unit of analysis is a country (Srite and Karahanna 2006). In comparison, Srite and Karahanna (2006) further posited that individuals relate to national cultural dimensions at varying degrees. Hence, for individual-level relationships, the individual cultural dimension scales allow the researcher to retain the original five dimensions of the Hofstede metric, with the original scale slightly modified to fit the individual's context. Aligned with this study, the espoused national cultural values scale developed by Srite and Karahanna (2006) is relevant to measure an individual's cultural values of low-income households in Miri, Sarawak. Moreover, the use of the Srite and Karahanna's (2006) scale is consistent with Yoon (2009) which investigated the moderating impact of Hofstede national cultural dimensions on the technology acceptance of e-commerce. This study utilized the scale only for university students in China which are believed to be of the same nationality instead of different cultures.

More importantly, this study diverges from the usual approach of many studies using the Hofstede National Culture which typically use the cross-cultural approach. In cross-cultural studies, the respondents comprise of individuals from different countries. In comparison, this study only investigates respondents which are only from one nationality, which is Malaysia. This approach is consistent with several other studies conducted in Malaysia that have utilized the Hofstede National Culture Theory to study the impact of culture only on Malaysians (Valaei et al. 2016; Mahomed, McGrath, and Yuh 2017; Thien, Thurasamy, and Razak 2014). The divergence from the usual approach to study the impact of culture is supported by Minkov and Hofstede (2012) empirical study which found that Malaysia does not have a completely homogenous national culture. Hence, this implies that there are intranational differences within the Malaysian society that can be as significant as cross-cultural differences (Tung 2008).

The discourse about the lack of meaningfulness of the use of national as a unit of analysis is echoed by other scholars such as McSweeney (2002) and Baskerville (2003). An important argument against the use of nations as a unit of analysis is the fact that nations have regional, ethnic and subcultures which are also known as intranational subcultures (Peterson and Smith 2008). In nations, there are subcultures that can be considered distinct from one another. Furthermore, the use of nations as a unit of analysis is often based on arbitrary political formations that are not based on stable cultural lines (Minkov and Hofstede 2012). The empirical findings from the

Minkov and Hofstede's (2012) study found that Malaysia is not a completely homogenous national culture. Given these arguments, it is justified for this study to use the Hofstede National Culture Theory from an individual and intranational context in Miri, Sarawak.

The following section explains the two cultural dimensions chosen for this study which are power distance and collectivism.

### a) **Power Distance**

The first cultural dimension, power distance is defined as the extent to which individuals within the nation believe that power inequality is a norm (Hofstede 2011; Johns, Murphy Smith, and Strand 2003). The construct of power distance is relevant to the acceptance of digital financial services because of the equalizing nature of the technology (Alshare et al. 2011). In high power distance societies, members of the society believe that the unequal distribution of power is normal. Hierarchies and emphasis on positions are common. In low power distance societies, members of the society seek for equal power distribution. In the case where power inequality occurs, society demands a justification (Hofstede 2011; Hofstede Insights 2019). In relation to this study, power distance is hypothesized to moderate the relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.

To understand the moderating role of power distance, it is important to understand how this construct affects the use of knowledge as this relates to the use of financial literacy knowledge among low-income households. The measure of financial literacy pertains several criteria such as knowledge of risk diversification, inflation and interest rate which are primarily developed through personal knowledge and experience (Grohmann, Klühs, and Menkhoff 2018).

In societies with high power distance, the moderating role of power distance on financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services is positive. Malaysia has the highest level of power distance in the world, with a Power Distance Index (PDI) of 104 out of 120. This data was obtained from the IBM Database in which the PDI for Malaysia was compared with 76 other countries in the world. Other countries in the world had PDI index which ranged from 11 to 95 (Hofstede,

Hofstede, and Minkov 2010). In the society today, studies have strongly shown that the level of financial literacy among low-income households is very low (Huston 2010). Given this situation, it is arguable that authoritative figures need to step in to ensure that low-income households are engaged to take up digital financial services to improve the quality of their life. Hence, individuals with high power distance values are often subjected to strong control mechanisms that dictate their knowledge sharing and exchange (Shane 1995). Under the premise of high-power distance, authoritative figures such as the government and banks should engage with low-income households to take up digital financial services.

Aligned with this, it means that low-income households in Malaysia with high power distance engage in the use of financial literacy in an effective manner as they are prompted by authoritative figures to do so. In other words, low-income households are obliged to follow instructions to show respect to the superiors (Ansari, Ahmad, and Aafaqi 2004). Additionally, past studies have also shown that people from high power distance societies are more likely to form a positive attitude towards the use of a technology regardless of the positive or negative attributes of the technology (McCoy, Galletta, and King 2007). This finding is resonated by Al-Gahtani, Hubona, and Wang (2007), which found that societies with high power distance and collectivism has a higher intention to use information technology (IT).

However, there are opposing views in literature regarding the moderating role of power distance. For instance, Mutlu and Ergeneli (2012) empirically showed that power distance does not moderate technology acceptance in the context of email usage. Similarly, Udo and Bagchi (2011) also found that power distance does not play a moderating role between ease of use and user satisfaction as well as information system quality and user satisfaction, in the acceptance of online services. Furthermore, Goularte and Zilber (2019) concluded that power distance does not play a moderating role in the acceptance of mobile banking. Similarly, Alshare et al. (2011) found that power distance does not moderate the relationship between perceived usesfulness and attitude towards computers. Considering these literatures, this study hypothesizes that the high-power distance among low-income households in Miri, Sarawak causes them to utilize their financial literacy in an effective manner to accept digital financial services.

**H6:** Power Distance (PD) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services.

### b) Collectivism

Collectivist societies are expected to look after their extended families, which reciprocate loyalty in return for their care (Hofstede 2011; Hofstede Insights 2019). In relation to this study, collectivism is hypothesized to positively moderate the relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.

To understand the moderating role of collectivism, it is vital to consider how collectivism affects the use of knowledge. This is because the use of knowledge relates to financial literacy as it impacts how low-income households use their knowledge to accept digital financial services.

In a collectivist society such as Malaysia, there is a great emphasis on close group relationships interdependence, cooperation and teamwork (Chen, Xiao-Ping, and Meindl 1998; Yoon 2009). In relation to the use of knowledge, this creates an atmosphere that encourages cooperation which leads to a greater likelihood to create and exchange knowledge (Nahapiet and Ghoshal 1998). Additionally, a collectivist society also encourages individuals to disclose their knowledge and use them creatively (Wagner III 1995).

In literature, there are also opposing views on the moderating roles of collectivism for technology acceptance. For instance, Tarhini et al. (2017) found that collectivism does not play a moderating role between perceived use and behavioral intention as well as perceived ease of use and behavioral intention, in the context of e-learning acceptance. In another study by Ganguly et al. (2010), findings indicated that collectivism negatively moderates the relationship between trust and purchase intention in an online store.

Considering these literatures, this study hypothesizes that individuals with collectivist values are more likely to utilize their financial literacy knowledge as they are encouraged to exchange and use them effectively.

Hence, this study stipulates:

**H7:** Collectivism (C) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

# 2.6 Conceptual Framework





(Hofstede 1980)

Figure 2.1 illustrates the conceptual framework which is utilized for this study. The proposed conceptual framework retains 4 original determinants from the UTAUT2 model which are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation and financial literacy. Based on past literature, a new determinant which is financial literacy is added to the conceptual framework. Drawing from the Hofstede National Culture Theory, the cultural dimensions of power distance and collectivism were hypothesized to moderate only financial literacy. The reason for this is because this study seeks to focus on the new determinant added in the framework, which is financial literacy as it is a contribution of the study. This determinant addresses a gap in previous technology acceptance studies as no study has used financial literacy as a determinant. Similarly, there has been another study by Al-Okaily et al. (2020) that proposed the use of a cultural moderator to moderate only one direct relationship in the theoretical framework. Therefore, the moderation of two cultural dimensions contributes to the body of knowledge because this moderating relationship has never been analyzed before. Hence, this study seeks to understand the relationship between the determinants, moderating variables and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.

## 2.7 Literature Gap

From a thorough analysis of past researches on the study of technology acceptance and the UTAUT2 theory, there are many areas of research that are yet to be explored. As the UTAUT2 is fairly new, established only in 2012, the conceptual framework still lacks generalizability as the original framework was biased towards a sample age, location, and technology. The original authors, Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012) stated that future researches on UTAUT2 should be tested in different countries, age groups, and technologies. More importantly, they also stated that identifying other relevant determinants can improve the applicability of the framework to other consumer technologies.

The first literature gap which has been identified is the lack of studies which utilize financial literacy as a determinant for behavioral intention with respect to digital finance. From past studies, additional determinants which have been added to the UTAUT2 theory are gamification (Baptista and Oliveira 2017), trust (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017), government support (Sánchez-Torres et al. 2018), brand name (Mahfuz, Khanam, and Hu 2017), perceived service quality (Yaseen and El Qirem 2018), self-efficacy, security (Singh and Srivastava 2018), perceived risk (Alkhaldi 2020), promotional support (Madan and Yadav 2016) and network externalities (Qasim and Abu-Shanab 2016). To the best of our knowledge, there are no UTAUT2 studies relating to digital finance that used financial literacy as a determinant. For digital finance technologies to be used optimally, Bongomin et al. (2017) stated that financial literacy is key towards helping individuals evaluate and use technologies which are relevant to their needs.

Secondly, there is a lack of studies using the UTAUT2 theory to investigate technology acceptance. The UTAUT2 theory, is one of the most comprehensive and parsimonious theory to explain technology acceptance as it synthesizes all the constructs from past technology acceptance theories (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). Despite this, there are still recent digital finance studies that use outdated theories to explain technology acceptance. For instance, there are still studies that use the UTAUT theory to explain mobile banking (Alkhaldi 2020; Sarfaraz 2017), debit cards (Kissi, Oluwatobiloba, and Berko 2017) and internet banking (Wang, Cho, and Denton 2017). Additionally, there are also digital finance studies that use the technology acceptance model (TAM) to explain internet banking (Patel and Patel 2018; Sharma, Govindaluri, and Al Balushi 2015), mobile banking (Koenaite, Chuchu, and Villiers 2019) and mobile banking applications (Muñoz-Leiva, Climent-Climent, and Liébana-Cabanillas 2017). The use of the UTAUT2 model in this study is highly suitable as it has been proven to show substantial improvement in the variance through behavioral intention (Alazzam et al. 2016).

Thirdly, there is a lack of technology acceptance studies which attempt to link digital financial services to low-income households. The lack of past technology acceptance studies for low-income households is evident on a global scale and studies on this population are non-existent in Malaysia. Most of the past literature relates technology acceptance to a common subpopulation which already has primarily utilized the technology. From research, the population of interest in UTAUT2 studies pertaining digital finance often comprises of bank customers (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Salim, Mahmoud, and Khair 2016), suburban residents (Gharaibeh and Arshad 2018),

and university students (Khan, Hameed, and Khan 2017). Additionally, there are a few UTAUT2 studies analyzing low-income households (Khan, Hameed, and Khan 2017; Goularte and Zilber 2019). Clearly, the population of interest in UTAUT2 studies has not adequately explored technology acceptance among low-income households although the literature has repeatedly reaffirmed the potential of digital financial services in transforming the lives of this vulnerable population. Hence, this research seeks to fill an important gap in research which is understanding the determinants that impact technology acceptance among low-income households.

Lastly, there is a lack of study analyzing the moderating role of cultural dimensions on technology acceptance. Drawing from suggestions by Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012), they encourage the application of the UTAUT2 model in new cultural contexts. In this regard, Park, Yang, and Lehto (2007) stated that the role of culture as a moderating construct must be analyzed for technology acceptance studies. However, very few studies have attempted to introduce culture as a determinant or moderating construct in the UTAUT2 conceptual framework. This is a shortcoming of the UTAUT2 framework as it does not directly assess the impact of culture on technology acceptance. The few studies selected that have utilized cultural moderators in the UTAUT2 study is Khan, Hameed, and Khan (2017) that applied the Hofstede Culture Theory, with the individualism/collectivism construct and uncertainty avoidance in Pakistan. To the best of our knowledge, there are no UTAUT2 studies on low-income households that have introduced cultural dimensions as a moderating construct.

There are very few studies that have attempted to study technology acceptance among low-income households, an important subpopulation which past literature has proven to be disadvantaged economically and socially. This study lays the groundwork to provide vital data to different stakeholders on how to better help low-income households.

## 2.8 Summary

Chapter 2 provides an extensive literature review on the hypothesis development of this study. This chapter largely details the hypothesis development based on two of the main theories used in this study which are UTAUT2 and Hofstede National Culture theory. Past literature on digital financial services in the context of low-income households was also reviewed in this chapter. The new determinant proposed in the study's conceptual framework which is financial literacy is also supported through literature review to provide a better understanding on the role of this construct in the proposed framework. Consequently, the thorough literature review leads to the formation of a conceptual framework which incorporates the two main theories. From the extensive literature review, this chapter ends with key literature gap that this study aims to address.

#### **CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter provides an overview on the methodology of this study. Hence, the sections of this chapter are: purpose of study, research type, research design, data analysis, ethical considerations and summary.

In conducting this study, the researcher adhered to the research methodology process shown in Figure 1. The first step in the research methodology was determining the research type. This study is defined as a quantitative, cross-sectional, prospective and non-experimental study. Next, the sampling frame was established. In this step the sample inclusion criteria, size, location and method were determined. Consequently, the researcher then developed the questionnaire instrument. The instrument was developed through previously validated instruments. For the determinant of financial literacy, the scales were developed from an established financial literacy scale, but slight modifications were made to the scale to fit the context of the study. Consequently, a pilot study was conducted to reduce ambiguity and improve the quality of the instrument. From there, amendments were made to the questionnaire if necessary, based on the statistical results of the pilot study and feedback of the pilot study respondents. The total number of low-income households in Miri City is 3,244 households. Next, the questionnaire was deployed to the target sample of 343 respondents. Then, data analysis was done using SPSS and PLS-SEM. Finally, the findings of the study were reported. Figure 3 summarizes the steps in the study research methodology.



Figure 3. 1 Steps in Research Methodology

#### **3.2** Purpose of The Study

The purpose of this study is to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services among low-income households in Miri, Sarawak. Specifically, the determinants which are investigated in this study are performance expectancy (PE), facilitating conditions (FC), hedonic motivation (HM), price value (PV), and financial literacy (FL). Furthermore, this study also seeks to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions between financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services among low-income households in Miri, Sarawak. In this chapter, it details the research methodology. The first aspect is research type.

## **3.3** Research Type

This study is a quantitative study (Bâlici 2018). According to Zyphur and Pierides (2017), quantitative studies are often related to three main elements which are sampling, measuring and methods for casual inference. Quantitative studies are known for its specificity, well-defined structure, explicit definition and can be tested for validity as well as reliability (Kumar 2011). In relation to this study, past studies using the UTAUT2 model have used the quantitative method to investigate the behavioral intention to adopt digital finance (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Khan, Hameed, and Khan 2017). Furthermore, quantitative studies can be further classified by examining these three perspectives which are the number of contacts with the study population, the reference period of the study and the nature of the investigation (Kumar 2011).

With regards to the number of contacts with the study population, this study only made contact once with the study population. Hence, it is a cross-sectional study. Levin (2006) stated that a cross-sectional study is often conducted to investigate a problem, situation or issue at any given time point. Aligned with this research, the study sample was identified and approached only once to understand the determinants of DFS acceptance and the moderating role of individual differences, as well as cultural dimensions. Next, the reference period in this study was prospective. The use of the prospective study design relates to the likelihood of a phenomenon, situation or problem happening in the future (Kumar 2011). A key factor to this study being prospective is that it seeks to study the behavioral intention, which the original author, Venkatesh et al. (2003) defined as the intention to use a system in a set number of months, in the future. Hence, a cross-sectional study is considered sufficient for this study due to the time and resource constraints the researcher faced.

Lastly, the nature of the investigation in this study is non-experimental. According to Kerlinger (1986), a non-experimental research is a systematic empirical inquiry, in which the independent variables or predictor variables cannot be directly controlled by the researcher. The inability to manipulate the variables stems from the fact that the manifestations of the variables have already occurred, or it is inherently impossible to control. This is especially true for social scientific problems that do not lend

themselves to experimentation. In relation to this study, the determinants for the behavioral intention to accept DFS seeks to investigate deeply rooted social norms and financial institution support which are not feasible for manipulation. Instead of manipulating the independent variables, Reio (2016) stated that non-experimental studies focus on finding linkages or associations between variables. Additionally, Thompson and Panacek (2007) posited that cross-sectional studies are among the common non-experimental designs used. However, non-experimental studies are most prone to bias which means that precautions must be taken to limit potential bias. Therefore, this study has a cross-sectional, prospective and non-experimental design.

### 3.4 Research Design

A research design is a plan, structure, and strategy that a researcher adopts to answer their research questions in a valid, objective, accurate and economical manner (Kerlinger 1986; Kumar 2011). It is a detailed blueprint on how the researcher plans to complete the research. Hence, the following sections include details on population, sample, data collection and data analysis.

# 3.5 Sample Inclusion Criteria

According to Asiamah, Mensah, and Oteng-Abayie (2017), a general population does not contain specific attributes that reflects a research hypothesis, context or goals. Hence, a refinement of the general population is necessary to obtain a target sample. In comparison to the general population, a target sample is defined as a group of people which are drawn through inclusion criteria that reflect the study hypothesis, context and goals. Consequently, the target population are low-income households in Miri City, a region under the Miri Administrative District located in Sarawak. The target population is also obtained through a set of inclusion criteria.

In this study, only the head of household is permitted to complete the survey to avoid multiple members in a household participating in the study. Studies have shown that head of households are representative of the overall well-being of their household instead of their own individual satisfaction (Bookwalter, Fuller, and Dalenberg 2006). A study conducted on urban households in Malaysia found that the head of households are often people who are the main income earner in the family (Yusof, Rokis, and Jusoh 2015). In a separate study by Posel (2001), the author posited that head of households are not defined by an objective criteria but is often self-identified by the respondents. To guide the discussion on head of households in this study, it considers the definition of head of households from IRS (2019) which stated that the head of household can be defined as an individual who is married or unmarried, employed with income from labor or self-employment and pays for more than 50% of the costs of maintaining a home for him or herself and other dependents (IRS 2019).

Hence, the inclusion criteria for this study are individuals of age 18 years old or older, married or unmarried, main income earner in the family, employed with income from labor or self-employment, lives in Miri City and has a household income from RM1,070 to RM3,459 per month. In this study, individuals below the age of 18 are not considered. Under the Malaysian law, the Age of Majority Act 1971 stated that adults are those aged 18 years old and above (Attorney General Chamber 1971). Therefore, individuals below 18 are considered minors and do not have the legal capacity to make decisions that determine the welfare of a household. The exclusion of minors from this study also ensures the reliability and validity of the data collected.

### 3.6 Sample Size

The selection of the sample size in quantitative studies has been thoroughly discussed in past literature. However, selecting the correct sample size is still a challenge for many researchers (Hair 2007). More importantly, it is vital for researchers to carefully consider their sample size. This is because statistical techniques such as structural equation modelling are greatly affected by sample size (Hair 2007; Collis and Hussey 2013). For instance, Krejcie and Morgan (1970) stated that the optimal sample size for a total population of 1 million and above is 384. In comparison, Hair (2007) suggested a sample size of 200 for researchers using structural equation modelling. In light of these differing suggestions, this study uses the Krejcie and Morgan (1970) table to determine the sample size. The following details how this study deduced the estimated population size.

The state of Sarawak is the largest state in Malaysia. It spans across 124,450km<sup>2</sup>. In 2016, DOSM (2017b) reported that the Sarawak state has a total of 603,600 households. The state is divided into 12 divisions, 40 districts, and 26 sub-districts. In the Miri district, there is a total of 77,864 households (DOSM 2017b). According to DOSM (2017), the percentage of low-income households in the Miri District is 8%. As the number of B40 households in Miri City is unknown, an estimated number is deduced through the percentage of B40 households in Miri District. The total number of households in Miri City is 40,552 households (DOSM 2010). As the number of B40 households in Miri City is unknown, an estimated number is deduced through percentage of B40 households in Miri District, which is 8%. In this study, B40 is a classification given by the Malaysian government for low-income households. According to DOSM (2017a), B40 households in Miri District is defined as households with a total household income of below RM3,459. Additionally, this study also excludes those living in poverty. Therefore, the national poverty income line is also taken into consideration to determine the total household income. Hence, B40 households in this study refer to those with household income from RM1,070 to RM3,459.

In reference to the sample size, from 8.0% of 40,552 households in Miri City, there is a total of 3,244 B40 households in Miri City. Next, the total number of samples is drawn from this figure. In research, it is impractical and unimportant to approach every single person that fits a research design (Mangal 2002). Instead, a sample is drawn from the population. As the number of B40 households in Miri City is 3,244, Krejcie and Morgan (1970) stated that 343 households is the optimal sample size.

# **Calculation:**

Number of households in Miri City: 40,552 households

Percentage of low-income households in Miri District: 8.0%

Estimated number of low-income households in Miri City: 8.0% x 40,552 households = 3,244 households

Number of samples obtained from Krejcie and Morgan (1970) table: 343 households

Moreover, past technology acceptance studies in Malaysia have sample sizes from between 120 to 666. For instance, the following Malaysian studies sample size are 120 (Ahmed and Phin 2016), 666 (Yuen, Yeow, and Lim 2015), 105 (Goh and Sun 2014), 114 (Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018), 638 (Chin and Ahmad 2015), 389 (Krishanan et al. 2016), 183 (Low et al. 2017) and 239 (Yu, Balaji, and Khong 2015). The average sample size for these studies is around 300. Therefore, the selection of 343 households as a sample size for this study is reasonable. Based on the suggestion given by Krejcie and Morgan (1970), the confidence interval is set at 95% with a 5% margin of error.

# 3.7 Sampling Location

The sampling location of interest in this study is Miri, Sarawak. There are a few key reasons that Miri, Sarawak was chosen for this study. First and foremost, Miri has a good representation of low-income households in Sarawak. The Miri District has the third highest level of low-income households in Sarawak (DOSM 2017b). The percentage of low-income households in Miri is at 8% compared to other districts which have about 1-2% low-income households on average. This aligns with the interest of the study to target low-income households which are both users and non-users of digital financial services. Additionally, data collected from the Miri District yield valuable insights because it also has a high percentage of high-income households, with 16.8% of its population being high-income households.

Secondly, the selection of Miri, Sarawak aligns with the interest of the state government to drive the digital economy within the state. This is evident through the release of the recent Sarawak Digital Economy Strategy 2018-2022. This state-level strategy outlines the plans for the developments of digital economy in the next five years. More importantly, this strategy penetrates through multiple industries. As this study focuses on bank-led digital financial services, there are many industries outlined in the strategy which are relevant to the technology being investigated. For instance, the industries in the strategy which are relevant are e-commerce, cyber security, digital government, and digital infrastructure. The strategy is also relevant to low-income households because it seeks to use knowledge, innovation and digital technology to reduce the widening socio-economic gap in Sarawak (Sarawak Biodiversity Centre 2018). As digital financial services are a key tool towards personal financial management, findings from this study can provide valuable insights to the government on how to improve the level of accessibility to this vulnerable group.

Thirdly, there is enough broadband coverage within Miri to understand the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households. This is evident through the 78% broadband coverage for 3G connection within Sarawak. In 2018, the Chief Minister of Sarawak announced a RM1 billion investment for the provision of digital infrastructure within the state (Borneo Post 2018a). Additionally, Maxis Sendirian Berhad, a major telecommunication company in Malaysia stated that the mobile data usage in Sarawak is one the highest in the country (Borneo Post 2018b). However, the high level of mobile data usage points to the lack of fixed internet penetration within the state. Given this fact, this provides a great opportunity for this study to understand the determinants which impact the adoption of digital financial services.

Therefore, the selection of sample from Miri, Sarawak is justified to study the behavioral intention to adopt digital financial services among low-income households.

To conduct the study, the researcher prepared paper-based questionnaires which were distributed to common areas where there are a high number of people. This includes areas such as open-air markets and public community areas such as public parks. Additionally, the selection of these areas also provides a good representation of the demographic variables as the researcher is able to approach low-income households from different age groups, ethnicity and backgrounds. This increases the likelihood of the data being representative of the target population.

## 3.8 Sampling Method

According to Kumar (2011), there are two types of sampling methods which are probability sampling and non-probability sampling. In probability sampling, all the samples have an equal and independent chance of being chosen. This means that the selection of these samples is not affected by other factors such as personal preference. To ensure a fair selection of sample in probability sampling, a sampling frame must be available to the researcher. Some of the common types of probability sampling are simple random sampling, stratified random sampling and cluster sampling.

Meanwhile, non-probability sampling is used when a sampling frame is not available to the researcher. In other words, the total population is either not known or the individuals cannot be individually identified. Therefore, the selection of sample under non-probability sampling utilizes other considerations such as referrals and personal preference. Examples of non-probability sampling types are quota sampling, accidental sampling, purposive sampling, expert sampling and snowball sampling.

In this study, the sampling frame for low-income households for Miri City is not available. In the event where there is no sampling frame or when the elements in the population cannot be individually identified, Kumar (2011) stated that non-probability sampling designs must be utilized. Hence, this study utilizes purposive sampling and snowball sampling. According to Valerio et al. (2016), purposive sampling is a non-probability sampling method that relies on the judgment of the researcher to select the respondents for the study based on who they think may fit the inclusion criteria. In fact, purposive sampling is also known as judgmental, selective or subjective sampling. The selection of purposive sampling is highly useful as this study has specific inclusion criteria which may cause high numbers of unusable responses if other methods of sampling are used. In fact, the use of purposive sampling is common to reach hard-to-find target samples.

Purposive sampling was first used to initiate the data collection process. To conduct purposive sampling, the researcher approached friends and peers which she believes fit the inclusion criteria of the study. All potential respondents were briefed about the title of the research and the inclusion criteria for respondents. Consequently, potential respondents were also informed that their participation is completely voluntary and anonymous. Then, potential respondents were given the questionnaire where they can mark the box which indicates their consent.

There are several advantages of using purposive sampling. It enables the researcher to identify a sampling frame based on the inclusion criteria set (Valerio et al. 2016). Other advantages of deploying purposive sampling are the low cost it incurs, high number of response rates and faster data collection. These advantages are possible as purposive sampling enables the researcher to target specific and predefined individuals as the study sample (Pettus-Davis et al. 2011).

Meanwhile, the second sampling method in this study which is snowball sampling is defined as a method of recruiting study respondents by using networks or referrals (Kumar 2011). The researcher of this study recruited initial respondents using purposive sampling and then asked for the initial respondents to identify other target respondents based on their knowledge. This process increased the number of study respondents especially as this study has strict inclusion criteria. According to Valerio et al. (2016), the use of snowball sampling can increase the credibility of a research as the recruitment of the respondents are based on networks and relationships of the participants. Despite this, this method of sampling has also been criticized as it often results in the lack of respondents' diversity as the referral may only result in study is that it may take up more time as it requires the collaboration of others to identify potential participants that matc the inclusion criteria.

Following the purposive sampling which was done to initiate data collection, the researcher then proceeded to conduct snowball sampling. This was done by obtaining recommendations from the respondents who were recruited through purposive sampling. These initial respondents referred the researcher to other respondents who they believe fit the inclusion criteria of the study. Hence, the researcher met up with the referred respondents to obtain their responses. By utilizing the purposive and snowball sampling method, the researcher was able to obtain sufficient responses which resulted in 343 valid responses.

Given these arguments, the use of purposive and snowball sampling is justified as this study is highly specific in the selection of respondents as evident in the inclusion criteria. The use of purposive sampling is also appropriate for studies that aim to develop hypotheses instead of generalization of a large population (Saranya 2014). The use of purposive sampling has been utilized by Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo (2015) which also investigated the digital financial services among the elderly.

The questionnaires were distributed over the course of 7 weeks. The period of data collection was from 22 December 2019 to 6 January 2020. The researcher distributed approximately 380 questionnaires to the respondents. This is to make up for unavoidable sampling errors such as unusable responses, non-response and insufficient response. During the process of data collection, the researcher reassured respondents that their participation is completely voluntary and confidential. This means that individuals being approached have a right to choose not to answer. Privacy concerns were also addressed when approaching respondents as the researcher stated that data collected is non-identifiable to any individual. Participants were given the opportunity to read the participants information sheet and proceed to tick a box implying consent at the beginning of the questionnaire. The process of answering the questionnaire took approximately 10 minutes and the questionnaires was returned to the researcher on the spot. The researcher also answered any questions or concerns that respondents have about the questionnaire.

### **3.9** Questionnaire Instrument

There are two types of data sources available during data collection which are primary and secondary sources. The use of primary sources relates to gathering information through observation, interview and questionnaire. Meanwhile, secondary sources relate to the use of documents to collect data. Examples of these documents are government publications, census, client histories and service records (Kumar 2011). It is important to note that there are no data sources which provide 100% accurate data.

To assist with data collection, paper-based questionnaires were utilized by the researcher. A questionnaire is a written list of questions or statements prepared by the researcher. A questionnaire is commonly used when the researcher wants to profile the sample in terms of frequency for elements such as opinions, beliefs, behaviors or experience (Rowley 2014).

The use of a questionnaire as a method of data collection in this study is also supported by Pinsonneault and Kraemer (1993) which stated that there are three main instances where this tool should be utilized. Firstly, a survey is suitable when the study utilizes a quantitative method. Secondly, questionnaire instruments must be pre-defined from an established conceptual framework. Lastly, the research must study a sample from a target population. Given these arguments, the use of a questionnaire is justified for this study.

### 3.9.1 Questionnaire Design

According to Zikmund (2000), the content of a questionnaire should be simple and easy for the respondents to understand. A questionnaire should have brief contents and have positive questions (Ghani et al. 2017). All of these are done to ensure that respondents complete a questionnaire with ease (Rahi, Ghani, and Muhamad 2017; Rowley 2014). Additionally, the questionnaire's wording should be easy and simple as well. Formatting of the questionnaire also matters to reduce respondent's bias and measurement error (Rahi and Ghani 2017). The language of the questionnaire should also be made in a language that is most understandable to the respondents.

Although English is the main language utilized by banks in Malaysia and used as the main language on their websites and applications, this study uses Bahasa Malaysia, which is the national language of the country. This is done in consideration of the target respondents which are from low-income households. It is highly likely that this subpopulation does not have high levels of literacy and are not proficient in understanding English. Therefore, the questionnaires were translated to Malaysia's national language, Bahasa Malaysia prior to distribution.

The questionnaire is seven pages long and may take approximately 10 minutes to complete. It is divided into four main sections. It contains 44 items which are utilized to investigate the independent, dependent and moderating variables in the study. Prior to answer the questionnaire, a participant information sheet was provided which details the title of the research, the investigators, and their participation in the research. More importantly, respondents were reassured that their participation in the project is completely voluntary and details they provide are only strictly used for academic

purposes only. Participants were also provided with contact information if they have any questions or concerns about the questionnaire.

There are four main sections in the questionnaire. Section A contains 5 questions about the demographic profile of the participants. Section B asks 3 questions about the digital financial services experience of the respondents. Section C investigates the determinants of the behavioral intention to adopt digital financial services. In this section, all the independent variables and dependent variables were measured. The variables being investigated are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value, financial literacy and behavioral intention. Lastly, section D investigates the cultural dimensions of the respondents. This section investigates the moderating variables which are power distance and collectivism.

### 3.10 Pilot Test

A pilot study is a small-scale experiment which is undertaken prior to launching a fullscale project (Eldridge et al. 2016). In other words, a pilot study is conducted with a subset of the target sample size. In fact, Fraser et al. (2018) viewed pilot studies as a strategy that researchers utilize to reduce the risk of failing the full-scale project. More specifically, pilot studies enable researchers to test the feasibility of their study designs, instruments, procedures, inclusion criteria and operational strategies which are planned for deployment in the full-scale study (Moore et al. 2011). From the findings of pilot studies, researchers can address possible issues that may arise prior to the full-scale study. Despite arguments that pilot study adds to the amount of work required for the researcher, the benefits obtained from the execution of a pilot study increases the success rate for a full-scale study (Cope 2015).

From pilot studies, researchers can use the findings to make amendments to different elements of the study. For instance, the researcher can refine the data collection recruitment process, inclusion criteria, improve questionnaire formatting, change particular wordings in a questionnaire and obtain direct feedback for the questionnaire from participants of the study (Beebe 2007). The findings of the pilot study can also be key towards understanding possible ethical and practical issues that may arise during the execution of the full-scale study (Doody and Doody 2015). Moreover, there

are numerous literature support that has shown that other digital finance acceptance studies also conducted a pilot study prior to the full-scale study (Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018; Baptista and Oliveira 2017; Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014; Yuen, Yeow, and Lim 2015).

Based on the recommendation of previous literature, this study conducted a pilot study with 25 participants. The selection of the number of people for this pilot study is in line with Malhotra (2007) which stated that 15 to 30 people are recommended for a pilot study. In fact, the selection of the sample size for a pilot study should be sufficient to account for the variation in the actual study that the researcher believes to affect the responses (Saunders, Lewis, and Thornhill 2016). The respondents for the pilot study were selected based on the inclusion criteria of the study for low-income households. Then, the findings of the pilot study are used to conduct assess reliability of the questionnaire.

According to Pallant (2013), reliability is the aspect of the instrument which measures whether the scale is measuring the same underlying construct. The software used to run this test is the SmartPLS 3.0 software. This software was chosen to measure the reliability because the construct of financial literacy was developed from an established scale, but several modifications were made to the scale, based on literature support to add several statements that more comprehensively reflect the elements of financial literacy. As the established scale has been modified, measuring only Cronbach alpha through the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) tool will yield inaccurate results. In comparison, the use of the SmartPLS is suitable for this pilot study because it can accommodate small sample sizes and suits exploratory studies (Ramayah et al. 2018). Table 3.1 summarizes the findings for the reliability of the instrument.

			Average	
			Variance	Composite
		Loadings	Extracted	Reliability
Threshold Value		> 0.40	> 0.50	0.7 - 0.9
Constructs	Items			
<b>Behavioral Intention to</b>				
Accept Digital				
Financial Services (BI)	BI1	0.924	0.753	0.900
	BI2	0.934		
	BI3	0.731		
Facilitating Conditions				
(FC)	FC1	0.774	0.473	0.767
	FC2	0.892		
	FC3	0.615		
	FC4	0.350		
Hedonic Motivation				
(HM)	HM1	0.824	0.647	0.846
	HM2	0.787		
	HM3	0.802		
Collectivism (I/C)	IC1	0.548	0.426	0.801
	IC2	0.876		
	IC3	0.802		
	IC4	0.744		
	IC5	0.316		
	IC6	0.437		
Power Distance (PD)	PD1	0.637	0.512	0.803
	PD2	0.802		
	PD3	0.836		
	PD4	0.547		

Performance				
Expectancy (PE)	PE1	0.931	0.645	0.876
	PE2	0.689		
	PE3	0.914		
	PE4	0.636		
Price Value (PV)	PV1	0.860	0.701	0.876
	PV2	0.787		
	PV3	0.864		

During the data analysis, it was found that all the composite reliability ranged from 0.767 to 0.900. This meets the threshold value of 0.7 to 0.9 recommended by (Ramayah et al. 2018). However, the Average Variance Extracted (AVE) values for two variables did not meet the threshold value of 0.5 (Bagozzi and Yi 1988; Fornell and Larcker 1981; Hair et al. 2017). These variables are facilitating conditions and collectivism with AVE values of 0.473 and 0.426 respectively. The decision to retain the indicators despite the AVE being below the threshold value is supported by Fornell and Larcker (1981) which stated that a researcher can use composite reliability alone to determine the validity of a measurement model. This is because the AVE is a more conservative measure of the validity of a measurement model. As there is empirical evidence that all the composite reliability meets the threshold value of above 0.7, the internal reliability of the items in the questionnaire is acceptable.

Hence, the next step was to assess the outer loadings of the reflective latent variables. The threshold value for outer loadings is above 0.4 (Hulland 1999). Upon assessment of the outer loading values, it was found that one item for facilitating conditions which is FC4 had a loading of 0.350. Despite this, the item was retained as the construct still demonstrated acceptable composite reliability.

On the other hand, an assessment was done on the formative construct of the study which is financial literacy. The index being reported for this construct is the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) which assesses the level of collinearity between formative indicators (Ramayah et al. 2018). High correlations are not expected between formative indicators as it can impact the outer weights and statistical significance. Table 3.2 summarizes the reliability findings for the formative construct in this study.

			Outer Variance Inflation
		Weights	Factor
Threshold Value		> 0.40	< 5
Construct	Items		
Financial Literacy (FL)	FL1	-0.133	1.357
	FL2	0.473	1.777
	FL3	0.202	1.784
	FL4	-0.539	3.265
	FL5	0.431	2.574
	FL6	0.138	3.277
	FL7	-0.138	1.393
	FL8	0.483	1.420
	FL9	0.168	2.131

Table 3. 2 Pilot Study Results for Formative Measures

Upon assessment of the formative indicators of financial literacy, it was found that all the indicators had values ranging from 1.357 to 3.277 which meets the threshold value stated by Diamantopoulos and Siguaw (2006) in which VIF 3.3 or higher is not desirable because it indicates a potential collinearity issue. The next index being reported for formative measures is outer weights. From the data analysis, it was found that only four indicators met the threshold value of above 0.4 which are FL2, FL5 and FL8. All the other indicators did not meet the threshold value. However, these indicators were retained as these are theory-driven conceptualizations (Ramayah et al. 2018). Furthermore, these indicators are the newly developed items for this study which require a greater sample size to truly validate the items. Given these results, all the variables are reliable and valid to proceed for actual data collection.

Hence, no amendments were made to the English version of the questionnaire. No deletion or addition of items were made. The participants of the pilot study also provided feedback to improve the level of ease to answer the questionnaire. The translated version of the questionnaire was amended in terms of formatting and some wordings to improve the quality of translation. Responses obtained from the pilot study

were not utilized in the full-scale study. The following table outlines the item loadings, composite reliability and Average Variance Extracted (AVE), item weights and Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). The following section details the measurement scale used in this study.

#### 3.11 Measurement Scale

This study utilizes a Likert scale to measure the responses in the questionnaire. The Likert scale is an attitude measurement scale developed as part of a doctoral dissertation in 1932 (Likert 1932). This approach enables questionnaire respondents to indicate the extent to which they agree or disagree on statements. The total number of categories in the scale usually range from three to seven. They are usually numbered from (1) to (7). Each category is usually labeled "Strongly Agree" to "Strongly Disagree". Consequently, the individual's responses to a series of statements are tabulated to obtain a composite value which indicates the respondents attitude towards the area of study (Willits, Theodori, and Luloff 2016). It is recommended for researchers to use multiple statements instead of one to yield reliable and valid data. More importantly, the use of multiple items under a single variable assists with the explanation of complex theoretical concepts or attribute (McIver and Carmines 1981).

In this study, a 5-point Likert scale is utilized to measure the attitudinal responses to the statements. The scale is labelled according to the following: (1) Strongly Disagree, (2) Disagree, (3) Neutral, (4) Agree and (5) Strongly Agree. Although it is possible for the researcher to extend the categories of the Likert scale to 7 categories, choosing to use a 5-point Likert scale increases the simplicity of the questionnaire. Moreover, there is evidence that the Cronbach Alpha reliability increased until five-point Likert scales but became stagnant once the number of categories increased (Lissitz and Green 1975). More importantly, the selection of the number of categories to include in a Likert scale relates to the willingness of the participants to accurately distinguish between their preference of categories such as "Strongly Agree" and "Agree". In line with this study, expecting low-income households to differentiate between several levels of "agree" may be unreasonable. Due to the low literacy among low-income households, it is

highly likely that they lack the depth and capacity to differentiate more complex Likert scales.

Variables using Likert scale in this study were adapted from pre-defined instruments. For instance, the independent variables from the UTAUT2 theory were measured using items utilized in the original survey done by Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012). Meanwhile, the items utilized for the cultural dimensions were adapted from Hofstede (1980) and Srite and Karahanna (2006). A copy of the questionnaire has been included in Appendix C. Accordingly, the following section provides detailed explanation on the development of each variable in the conceptual framework of this study.

#### 3.12 Instrumentation

In this study, there are three types of variables utilized in the conceptual framework: independent variables, moderating variables and dependent variable. The independent variables are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value and financial literacy. Meanwhile, the moderating variables are power distance and collectivism. Consequently, the dependent variable is behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. All the items under the independent variable and dependent variable, with the exception for financial literacy were adapted from the original items developed by Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012). In both the UTAUT and UTAUT2 model, all of the constructs adopted from these theories demonstrated reliable internal validity with internal consistency values (ICRs) greater than 0.70 (Venkatesh et al. 2003) and 0.75 (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012) respectively.

Permission has been obtained from the original authors to utilize the scale instruments together with proper citations. For the use of the UTAUT2 scale, permission was obtained through email from Venkatesh et al. (2016). Meanwhile, the use of other scales was permitted by all the other original authors under the premise of educational use and proper citations provided. As financial literacy is a contribution to this study, the items for this variable were developed from definitions obtained from past literature. Meanwhile, items for cultural dimensions were adapted from Hofstede (1980) and Srite and Karahanna (2006). The researcher modified the questionnaire

items to reflect use of digital financial services as the main technology. The modification of the questionnaire items was supported by Venkatesh et al. (2003) which encourages the modification of the original items to fit the context of a different study.

The following section details the development of questionnaire items for each variable and its measurement.

## • Performance Expectancy

Performance expectancy can be defined as the extent that an individual believes that the use of digital financial services can benefit them (Venkatesh et al. 2003). The construct of performance expectancy was derived from variables in competing models such as perceived usefulness, extrinsic motivation, job fit, relative advantage and job expectations. From past studies, the variable of performance expectancy has also been empirically used to measure the amount of convenience that a consumer enjoys from the flexibility of use wherever and whenever (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017). In another study pertaining internet banking, performance expectancy relates to the perception for convenience in making payments, timely response and service efficiency (Zhou, Lu, and Wang 2010). Hence, this variable was measured using four items adopted from Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012).

### • Facilitating Conditions

Facilitating conditions is defined as the extent that an individual believes that necessary infrastructure are available to assist with the adoption of digital financial services (Venkatesh et al. 2003). This determinant was derived from three variables of competing models which are perceived behavioral control, facilitating conditions and compatibility. This construct is key because the use of digital financial services requires specific set of skills and resources for optimal use (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Williams 2016; Zhou, Lu, and Wang 2010). In past empirical studies, this construct was related to the perceived infrastructure support available, level of customer service support and resource available (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017). Therefore, four

items to measure facilitating conditions were adopted from the original scale developed by Venkatesh et al. (2003).

#### • Hedonic motivation

Hedonic motivation is defined as the extent that an individual derives fun and pleasure from the use of digital financial services (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). In other words, it measures the perceived level of enjoyment for both users and non-users of digital financial services. This variable has been empirically tested in mobile banking to measure the level of interactivity and uniqueness of the digital financial service (Püschel, Mazzon, and Hernandez 2010). Hence, this study adopted three items for this construct from Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012). However, the researcher made modifications to the meaning of the three items as the items utilized in the original scale are very similar to each other which can lead to multicollinearity. To increase the quality of the item scales, this study investigated specific traits of digital financial services that can invoke hedonic motivation. The three specific traits for hedonic motivation adopted for this study are the interactive features, personalized user experience and the overall user experience.

### • Price Value

Price value is defined as the extent to which individuals believe that perceived benefits obtained outweigh the monetary cost of accepting digital financial services (Dodds, Monroe, and Grewal 1991b). Past studies have empirically measured this variable by relating it to the cost of facilities such as 4G services, purchase cost of a mobile phone and wireless connection (Wi-Fi) bills (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017). Meanwhile, Baptista and Oliveira (2017) related price value to elements such as initial setup costs, cost of transaction and mobile internet costs. Hence, this study adopted three items from the original scale by (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). However, the items were modified as the original scale items were very closely related to each other that it could result in multicollinearity. To improve the meaning of each scale, wordings of each item were modified to make it simpler for respondents to distinguish the implied meaning of each item.

#### • Financial Literacy

According to OECD's (2011) definition, financial literacy is defined as a combination of awareness, knowledge, skill, attitude, and behavior when making financial decisions. Aligned with the context of this study, this construct relates to the basic financial knowledge and decision-making skills of low-income households in accepting digital financial services. Due to the similarities in the elements stated in the OECD's (2011) definition, three main elements were adopted in this survey which are financial knowledge, financial behavior and financial attitudes. These elements were selected to measure financial literacy because they represent a comprehensive way to measure financial literacy. This determinant was measured using items adopted from the Big Three questions developed by Mitchell and Lusardi (2015b). Three main financial aspects assessed through this method were the understanding of interest rate, inflation and risk diversification. These aspects were assessed through three multiple choice questions. The development of these questions do not require complicated calculations but simply evaluate if people can engage in elementary calculations (Lusardi and Mitchell 2011). Despite this, the researcher found that these three questions were insufficient to understand the depth of financial literacy that lowincome households possess. In fact, these questions only measure one element, which is financial knowledge.

Therefore, the researcher also complemented the use of the Big Three questions with the definition from OECD (2011), which resulted in 9 items being developed to measure financial literacy. Statements FL1 to FL3 test financial knowledge through concepts such as awareness of transaction fees, investment risk and inflation rate. These concepts were adopted from Mitchell and Lusardi (2015) through the Big Three questions. Meanwhile, FL4 to FL6 test financial behavior through price comparison, credit card interest rate selection and risk diversification. These represent examples of simple to complex financial behavior that low-income households engage in.

In FL7 to FL9, financial attitudes were tested through current savings level, debt reduction and sufficiency of household income in the past 1 year. The development of these items was based on the findings of the Financial Capability and Inclusion Demand Side Survey conducted by Bank Negara Malaysia in 2015. Key findings indicated that Malaysians often have a short-term view of financial planning because
of the need for instant gratification. Additionally, more than 75% of Malaysians are unable to come up with RM1,000 in the case of an emergency (Ministry of Finance 2017). Hence, a total of 9 items were adopted to measure financial literacy through consideration of definitions and behavior of low-income households.

## • Behavioral Intention

Behavioral intention is defined as the overall attitude towards the use of digital financial services (Venkatesh et al. 2003). Although it is widely known that predicting behavior is a complex process, there is empirical support that behavior is a reliable predictor of how people generally act (Ajzen and Fishbein 1980). Past constructs from competing model which were synthesized to develop behavioral intention were attitude toward behavior and intrinsic motivation. The development of this construct relates to the level of liking, enjoyment and pleasure associated with the use of digital financial services. This study posits that the actual use of digital financial services can be predicted through the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Support has been established that behavioral intention is a reliable predictor for actual use of technologies (Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014;Yu 2012). Therefore, three items were adopted from the scale developed by Venkatesh et al. (2003) with slight modifications to reflect both users and non-users of digital financial services.

## Power Distance

Power distance is defined as the extent that lower-ranked individuals in the society perceive that power inequality is a norm (Srite and Karahanna 2006). In a high-power distance society such as Malaysia, lower-rank individuals are highly compliant of instructions from higher rank individuals. The scale was adopted from Srite and Karahanna (2006). The original scale items displayed good composite reliability as all the values were found to be above the recommended value of 0.70 (Fornell and Larcker 1981). However, it was slightly modified to fit the context of low-income households. Therefore, the scale was modified from an organizational context to a household context. In a similar study, Yoon (2009) utilized the original scale items to measure the moderating impact of power distance between trust and the use of e-commerce.

The responses for this construct were categorized using the 5-point Likert Scale which range from 1 to 5. These responses begin from Strongly Disagree to Strongly Agree. Therefore, if a respondent primarily answers from 1 to 3 which are Strongly Disagree to Neutral, this will result in a low average mean score for this construct. Hence, this indicates that the respondent has high power distance because they prefer making decisions independently instead of considering opinions from family members.

From the opposing perspective, if a respondent primarily answers from 4 to 5 which are Agree and Strongly Agree, this results in a high average mean score for this construct. Consequently, this indicates that the respondent has a low power distance as it indicates that the individual believes that consulting with family members is important compared to making autonomous decisions.

Therefore, four items were adopted and modified to measure the moderating impact of power distance.

#### • Collectivism

Collectivism is the extent that an individual prioritizes the welfare of a group instead of their individual welfare (Zhang, Weng, and Zhu 2018). Similarly, the scale for these moderating variables were adopted from Srite and Karahanna (2006) and were modified to fit the context of low-income households. In another study, Khan, Hameed, and Khan (2017) utilized the original items for individualism/collectivism to investigate the moderating impact of behavioral intention on the use behavior of online banking. Yoon (2009) also utilized the original scale items to measure the moderating impact of individualism/collectivism on the relationship between trust and intention to use e-commerce. The use of the scale was empirically validated in the study as it had a Cronbach Alpha value of 0.761 which was above the recommended 0.70 value. In a recent study, Sharma, Singh, and Sharma (2020) utilized the original items from Srite and Karahanna (2006)to investigate the moderating impact of individualism/collectivism on internet banking in Fiji.

The responses for this construct were categorized using the 5-point Likert Scale which range from 1 to 5. These responses begin from Strongly Disagree to Strongly Agree. Therefore, if a respondent primarily answers from 1 to 3 which are Strongly Disagree

to Neutral, this will result in a low average mean score for this construct. Hence, this indicates that the respondent has individualistic values because they do not agree that being accepted as a family member is more important than having independence.

On the other hand, if a respondent primarily answers from 4 to 5 which are Agree and Strongly Agree, this results in a high average mean score for this construct. These respondents indicate that they possess collectivistic values because they believe in the importance of being accepted as a family member.

Hence, 6 items were adopted and modified to measure the moderating impact of collectivism.

## 3.13 Control Variables

In this study, five control variables are adopted. Control variables are independent variables which have been established as key predictors in the past. From the original UTAUT theory, the standard control variables are age, gender, experience and voluntariness of use (Venkatesh et al. 2003). However, voluntariness of use was consequently dropped as a control variable in UTAUT2 as the extended theory has shifted to a non-mandatory use context instead of a mandatory use in the UTAUT theory. Standard control variables from the UTAUT2 theory are age, gender and experience. In fact, these variables were collectively known as individual differences in the UTAUT2 theory. However, UTAUT2 encourages researchers to add more control variables which are found to potentially impact findings of the study (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012).

With consideration from past literature, the following are control variables that this study adopts:

#### a) Age

At different stages of age, changing cognitive capabilities changes an individual's technology acceptance. There are studies that have shown that age impacts the way that people accept change. People who are older are less likely to adopt a technology

as their lack of cognitive capabilities may hinder them from processing new or complex information (Morris, Venkatesh, and Ackerman 2005; Pierce et al. 2014). Moreover, age also impacts the level of consumer innovativeness an individual possesses (Lee et al. 2010).

#### b) Gender

Between men and women, gender roles are distinct. In fact, gender roles change throughout different stages of life. For instance, men are more willing to undergo challenges to achieve their goals. In comparison, women are more likely to minimize the amount of effort required to achieve their goals (Venkatesh and Morris 2000). There are also past empirical studies that have shown distinct gender roles as people age which causes older women to focus on facilitating conditions during technology acceptance. Additionally, women are more likely to be price sensitive when adopting technology acceptance compared to men. This is because women are often the people who manage the finances in a family while men are more willing to spend more money on technologies because they have a greater preference for technologies (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012).

#### c) Experience

Experience is the opportunity to use a technology and is usually conceptualized through a passage of time from the initial to post use of the technology (Kim and Malhotra 2005). In fact, experience is often related to habit. However, an important distinction between these two concepts is that experience is a requirement to form a habit but is not sufficient to form a habit on its own (Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu 2012). With experience, this encourages familiarity with the technology which leads to improved user learning. Hence, increased experience also forms greater association between cues and behavioral intention to accept a technology (Ouellette and Wood 1998).

#### d) Ethnicity

The role of ethnicity in technology acceptance is an important variable to be considered in technology acceptance because there are different cultural norms, values and rules which can considerably impact the type of upbringing that an individual experience. As this study relates to the likelihood of adopting digital financial services, an important area to consider is the financial habits of Malaysians. According to The Star (2018), Malaysians have the poorest level of household savings, which makes Malaysians among the poorest savers in Asia. Furthermore, the classification of Malaysians in the form of ethnicity through natives and non-natives also reveal distinct financial habits. In Malaysia, natives are those classified as Bumiputera. Meanwhile, non-natives are the non-Bumiputera such as Chinese, Indian and others. In a study conducted by Goi et al. (2019), Malays, which are natives, were found to be less likely to save money compared to other races in Malaysia. Additionally, Malays are more likely to incur more expenses than their income, take up credit card and lack financial assets (Loke 2016). In comparison, non-natives such as the Chinese are more financially savvy which leads to greater financial achievements and knowledge about financial offerings (Ismail and Awang 2008).

#### e) Highest level of education

With a higher level of education, this can lead to a greater likelihood of technology acceptance. An improved level of education can also lead to increased financial literacy through formal education. Financial literacy interventions in educational institutions have been shown to improve the propensity to budget, save and save appropriately (Worthington 2016). In Malaysia, financial education has been incorporated into the school curriculum for students in Standard 3 until high school levels (Murugiah 2016). More importantly, it has been shown that level of financial literacy differs across different education levels. In a study conducted in Malaysia, it was shown that the level of financial literacy is the highest among Bachelor Degree holders (Murugiah 2016). From past studies, it has been shown that education bears a positive and significant impact on financial literacy (Joo and Grable 2004; Taft, Hosein, and Mehrizi 2013). An increased level of financial knowledge and the ability

to apply this in financial decision making can significantly impact technology acceptance as they are more likely to engage in good financial habits.

#### 3.14 Data Analysis

This study adopts two types of statistical techniques for data analysis. Firstly, this study utilized Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) to provide the preliminary and descriptive data analysis. Next, this study used the Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) to evaluate the relationship between the variables in the conceptual framework in this study.

#### 3.14.1 Preliminary Data Analysis

Preliminary data analysis is a key process for studies that utilize multivariate data analysis. As this study utilizes structural equation modeling (SEM), preliminary data analysis ensures that the key assumptions in the multivariate analysis of SEM are all fulfilled and no violations occurred (AlAnazi, Mohd. Shamsudin, and Johari 2016). In fact, the validity of inferences made through statistical test results rely on whether the key assumptions have been fulfilled. Therefore, the data collected in this study were subjected to six preliminary analyses which are missing values, statistical outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity. All these tests are conducted using SPSS.

#### 3.14.2 Descriptive Data Analysis

The purpose of descriptive statistics is to describe the characteristics of the sample accurately. This process is conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software. Furthermore, descriptive statistics enable the summary of the data to be available in a useful and informative manner. In descriptive statistics, the mean, median, standard deviation, range of scores, skewness and kurtosis of the

relevant background information are analyzed. This includes the number of participants in the sample, range and mean of the age, education level as well as any other relevant background information. Additionally, the normality of the distribution is also assessed using skewness and kurtosis values. For the field of social science, the data distribution is often non-normal (Bono et al. 2017).

In this study, the descriptive data analysis is divided into several sections. Firstly, the researcher conducted a demographic analysis to identify the frequency and percentage of elements such as gender, age, state of origin, ethnicity, highest educational qualification, types of digital financial services used, frequency of use for digital financial services and period of use for digital financial services. Secondly, the mean and standard deviation of all the variables in the conceptual framework were tabulated. These variables are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value, financial literacy, behavioral intention, power distance, and collectivism.

# 3.14.3 Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM)

This study adopts structural equation modeling (SEM) as a method for data analysis. SEM is defined as the second generation multivariate data analysis method which is used to test hypotheses in fields such as social science and research (Risher and Hair 2017). In fact, SEM is a combination of path modeling and factor analysis (Ramayah et al. 2018). In recent years, the popularity of SEM as a statistical tool has increased greatly (Hair et al. 2017). The success that SEM has experienced can be attributed to its ability to explain a great amount of variance in dependent variables. Consequently, this means that SEM is statistically more powerful compared to multiple regression (Hair et al. 2017). Furthermore, researchers increasingly use SEM because it can assess latent variables at an observational and theoretical level. This is because SEM classifies a framework into inner and outer models which are known as measurement model and structural model respectively (Hair et al. 2012). When choosing to apply SEM, researchers have two variations for SEM analysis which are covariance-based SEM (CB-SEM) and variance-based partial least squares SEM (PLS-SEM).

Hence, this study utilizes the partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM) approach to analyze the hypothesized relationships between five potential determinants and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Additionally, two moderating variables are also investigated in this research which are power distance and collectivism. PLS-SEM is a second-generation multivariate data analysis method which can be used to estimate structural equation models (Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2012). It also aims to maximize the explained variance of the latent constructs within a theoretical framework (Ramayah et al. 2018). PLS-SEM also provides an alternative to CB-SEM for research models that do not meet the criteria set for the maximum likelihood methods (Hair et al. 2012). Much of PLS-SEM success can be attributed to the method's ability to deal with modeling issues such as non-normal data, small sample sizes and complex models (Hair et al. 2014).

The use of PLS-SEM is justified for this study based on the guidelines set by Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2011). Table 3.3 outlines the rule of thumb which can be used to select CB-SEM or PLS-SEM.

Criteria	PLS-SEM	CB-SEM
1. Research goals	<ul> <li>To predict key target constructs or determinants</li> <li>Exploratory research</li> <li>Extension of an existing theory</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>To test a theory</li> <li>To confirm a theory</li> <li>To compare alternative theories</li> </ul>
2. Measurement model specification	Structural model consists of formative constructs	<ul> <li>In the case where error terms require additional specification, such as co-variation</li> </ul>
3. Structural model	<ul> <li>Complex model</li> <li>Contains many items and indicators</li> </ul>	Non-recursive model
<ol> <li>Data characteristics and algorithm</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Data does not meet CB-SEM assumptions</li> <li>Small sample size</li> <li>Non-normal data</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Large data sets</li> <li>Large sample size</li> <li>Normal data</li> </ul>
5. Model evaluation	If latent variable scores are necessary for subsequent analyses	<ul> <li>Global goodness-of-fit criterion is necessary</li> <li>Measurement model invariance needs to be tested</li> </ul>

Table 3. 3 Rules of Thumb for Selecting CB-SEM or PLS-SEM

Source: Compiled from Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2011)

Firstly, PLS-SEM was selected for this study because the research goals of this study seeks to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. This aligns with the selection criteria of PLS-SEM, which is to predict key target constructs or determinants. Moreover, this study also seeks to extend the existing UTAUT2 theory by adding a new construct to the framework, which is financial literacy. The construct of financial literacy has never been empirically tested in literature using the UTAUT2 framework. The moderating cultural dimensions variables which are power distance and collectivism, also extend the theory of UTAUT2 as a technology acceptance theory as they combine this framework with the Hofstede National Culture Theory.

Secondly, another key reason that PLS-SEM was selected for this study is because the framework of this study contains formative constructs. In a SEM model, constructs can be classified into reflective and formative constructs. The classification of these constructs depends on the direction that the causal arrow is pointing. In the case of a formative construct, the arrow points from a lower order construct to a higher order construct (Hair et al. 2014). Although both CB-SEM and PLS-SEM can handle formative constructs, PLS-SEM is the recommended method to deal with formative constructs. Although CB-SEM can handle structural models with formative constructs, the process is complex and it has limited specification rules (Diamantopoulos and Riefler 2011; Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2011). Moreover, the use of CB-SEM to deal with formative constructs has also been proven to lead to identification issues (Jarvis, MacKenzie, and Podsakoff 2003).

Thirdly, PLS-SEM was selected as it has the capacity to deal with a complex structural model. In fact, the theoretical framework of this study contains more than ten items including all the indicators in the measurement model. Fourthly, the use of PLS-SEM supports both small and large sample size. Although PLS-SEM is suitable to deal with small sample sizes (Henseler 2010; Reinartz, Haenlein, and Henseler 2009), it also has the capacity to deal with large sizes as stated by Ramayah et al. (2018), where the results yielded using both methods are similar. CB-SEM is equipped to deal with large sample size, but results yielded are similar to PLS-SEM. Moreover, this study fulfills the requirement to use PLS-SEM based on the data characteristics as the sample size

is larger than 'ten times the largest number of formative indicators used to measure one construct. The largest number of formative indicators in this study is 9, which is used for financial literacy. As the sample size for this study is 343, it exceeds 10 times the number of the indicators to use PLS-SEM which is 90. As results yielded using both PLS-SEM and CB-SEM are similar when dealing with large sample sizes, other factors must be taken into consideration when selecting PLS-SEM, such as the normality of the data.

Hence, PLS-SEM is also utilized for this study because it can analyze non-normal data. As data collected for social science research is often classified as non-normal data, PLS-SEM is the recommended method to analyze non-normal data (Hair et al. 2014). Data analysis using SPSS through the skewness and kurtosis method proves that data for this research is non-normal. This is because the skewness and kurtosis values are outside the range of -1 to +1. The use of PLS-SEM is suitable for this research because it is less stringent when dealing with non-normal data and has the ability to transform non-normal data according to the central limit theorem (Beebee, Pell, and Seasholtz 1998; Cassel, Hackl, and Westlund 1999). Therefore, all these characteristics point to the use of PLS-SEM as the approach to analyze the research data in this study.

The use of PLS-SEM is also consistent with the approach taken by other studies which aim to predict technology acceptance using the UTAUT2 framework (Abrahão, Moriguchi, and Andrade 2016; Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Goularte and Zilber 2019; Khatimah, Susanto, and Abdullah 2019; Kwateng, Atiemo, and Appiah 2018; Raza, Shah, and Ali 2019).

## 3.14.4 Reflective vs Formative Models

To distinguish between a reflective and formative model, it is important to understand the nature of the indicators. Table 3.4 outlines the guide in differentiating between a reflective and formative measurement model by Coltman et al. (2008).

Criteria	Reflective	Formative
1. Direction of causality	<ul> <li>Causal arrows point from higher order construct to lower order construct</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Causal arrows point from lower order construct to higher order construct</li> </ul>
2. Nature of the construct	<ul> <li>Independent of the measures</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Combination of the measures</li> </ul>
3. Indicator characteristics	<ul> <li>Highly correlated</li> <li>Highly interchangeable</li> <li>Changes in latent variable impact measures</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Indicators do not need to have a similar theme</li> <li>Changes in measures does not impact the latent variable</li> </ul>

Table 3. 4 Differentiating Between Reflective and Formative Measurement Models

Source: Compiled from Coltman et al. (2008)

A reflective construct is formed when the causal arrows point from the latent variable to the measured indicators. In simpler words, a model is reflective when a higher order construct has causal arrows which point to a lower order construct. Secondly, a key characteristic of a reflective model is that the construct is independent of the indicators. Removal of any indicators does not impact the latent variable (Haenlein and Kaplan 2004; Hulland 1999). However, changes to the latent variable cause changes to the indicators (Ramayah et al. 2018).

Meanwhile, a formative construct is formed when the causal arrows point from the indicators to the measured latent variable. In simpler words, a model is formative when the causal arrows point from a lower-order construct to a higher-order construct. As for the nature of the construct, it is a combination of all the indicators. Additionally, the indicators for a formative model do not need to share a common theme. Any changes in the indicators can cause an impact on the measured latent variable. In other words, the indicators are not interchangeable.

In this study, almost all the variables are reflective measurement models except for financial literacy. The modelling of the original UTAUT2 variables which are performance expectancy (PE), facilitating conditions (FC), hedonic motivation (HM), price value (PV) and behavioral intention (BI) as reflective constructs was done because Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu (2012), which are the original authors of the theory stated that the independent variables of the theory are all measured using reflective indicators. This is further supported by other technology acceptance studies that also modelled these independent variables as reflective measurement models (Arenas-

Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Baptista and Oliveira 2017).

Meanwhile, financial literacy is also modeled as a formative measurement model similar to the work on financial literacy done by Lajuni et al. (2018). Lastly, the modelling of the moderating variables in this study which are power distance (PD) and collectivism (C) as reflective measurement models is similar to another UTAUT2 technology acceptance study using Hofstede national cultural dimensions (Baptista and Oliveira 2015). Other studies which used the Hofstede national culture dimensions have also modelled these variables as reflective measurement models (Choi et al. 2014; Isaacson, Jordaan, and van Heerden 2018; Tehseen et al. 2017).

Hence, this study utilizes the two-step procedure recommended by Anderson and Gerbing (1988) for SEM. Using this method, the measurement model is the first test for validity and reliability. Then, the structural model and hypotheses were tested.

#### 3.14.5 Measurement Model

According to Hair et al. (2014), a measurement model is known as an outer model where the relationship between a construct and its indicator variables are shown. The assessment of the measurement models forms a foundational construct for structural model testing (Hair et al. 2014). More importantly, the assessment of a measurement model begins by first distinguishing between a reflective and formative model (Ringle, Sarstedt, and Zimmermann 2011; Sarstedt and Schloderer 2009). Depending on the construct, there are different evaluative measures that the researcher needs to take.

# I. Reflective Measurement Model a) Internal Consistency Reliability

For a reflective measurement model, there are three steps to assess the model. Firstly, internal consistency reliability is examined. The method used to examine internal consistency reliability is through composite reliability. The PLS-SEM method utilizes composite reliability because it considers the indicator loadings (Ramayah et al. 2018). This differs from the traditional way of measuring internal consistency reliability,

which is Cronbach alpha (Cronbach and Meehl 1955) because the previous method assumes that every indicator produce the same loadings (Werts, Linn, and Jöreskog 1974). As this assumption is inappropriate and the use of Cronbach alpha has resulted in many methodological issues, using composite reliability as an alternative is highly recommended. Moreover, the use of the Cronbach alpha is also flawed because it is sensitive to the number of items in the scale. This results in the underestimation of the internal consistency reliability (Hair et al. 2014). There are two acceptable threshold values for composite reliability which are values above 0.60 for exploratory research and 0.70 to 0.90 for non-exploratory research. Hence, values above 0.90 are not accepted because it indicates that all the indicators measure the same phenomenon.

## b) Indicator Reliability

The next method is through indicator reliability through outer loadings. The purpose of this method is assess whether the indicators of a variable truly measure what it is meant to measure (Urbach and Ahlemann 2010). There are several acceptable threshold values from past literature for indicator reliability which are equal to or greater than 0.4 (Hulland 1999), 0.5 (Byrne 2016), 0.6 (Byrne 2016), 0.7 (Hair et al. 2010) and 0.708 (Hair et al. 2010). If there are indicators that do not fulfill these threshold values, Henseler, Ringle, and Sinkovics (2009) cautioned researchers to only eliminate indicators if the indicator's reliability is low. The elimination of an indicator subsequently increases the Average Variance Extracted (AVE) and composite reliability (CR).

#### c) Convergent Validity

The second step in measuring a reflective measurement model is convergent validity. This method investigates the extent of individual indicators reflecting a construct compared to the indicators of other constructs (Urbach and Ahlemann 2010). The unit of measurement utilized is the Average Variance Extracted (AVE). The AVE assesses the extent to which a latent construct explains the variance for its indicators (Ramayah et al. 2018). The acceptable threshold value for convergent validity is that the AVE must be equal to or greater than 0.50 (Bagozzi and Yi 1988). For instance, an AVE value of 0.50 indicates the construct can explain more than half of the variance for its indicators (Hair et al. 2014).

#### d) Discriminant Validity

The final step is to measure discriminant validity. According to Hair et al. (2014), discriminant validity is defined as the extent that a construct is empirically different from the other constructs. Hence, discriminant validity can be measured using three methods which are cross-loadings, Fornell and Larcker criterion, and Heterotrait-Monotrait ratio of correlations (HTMT). For the cross-loadings criterion, the threshold value is the difference between loadings across latent variables in which it must not be less than 0.1 (Chin 1998a; Snell and Dean 1992). Next, the Fornell and Larcker criterion states that the AVE of a latent variable should be higher than the squared correlation of other variables. Lastly, the HTMT is a method introduced by Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2014) which estimates the extent of the true correlation between two constructs in the instance where they are perfectly measured. Moreover, the use of HTMT as a method complements the use of cross-loadings and the Fornell and Larcker criterion as it has been empirically proven to possess higher specificity and sensitivity rates compared to the other methods (Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2015). There are two acceptable threshold values for the HTMT method. If the HTMT value is close to 1, it indicates a lack of discriminant validity. Next, a HTMT value close to 0.85 (Kline 2011) to 0.90 (Gold, Malhotra, and Segars 2001) indicates that there are issues with discriminant validity. In the case where indicators do not meet the HTMT criteria, the indicators should be eliminated to be reassigned to other constructs if this is theoretically possible. As for the confidence interval bias corrected, both the lower and upper confidence intervals should not have the value of 1.

Table 3.5 summarizes all the details concerning reflective measurement model and the threshold values for each step.

Maaaaaa	T. J	Thursheld Values
Measurements	Index	Inresnoid values
1. Internal consistency	Composite reliability	<ul> <li>Greater than 0.60 (exploratory research)</li> <li>0.70-0.90 is satisfactory</li> </ul>
2. Indicator reliability	Loading values	<ul> <li>Equal to or greater than 0.4</li> <li>Equal to or greater than 0.5</li> <li>Equal to or greater than 0.6</li> <li>Equal to or greater than 0.7</li> <li>Equal to or greater than 0.708</li> </ul>
3. Convergent validity	Average Variance Extracted (AVE)	• Greater than or equal to 0.50
	Cross loading criterion	Difference between loadings across latent variables must not be less than 0.1
4. Discriminant validity	Fornell and Larcker criterion	<ul> <li>The AVE of the latent variable should be higher than the squared correlation of all other variables</li> </ul>
	Heterotrait-Monotrait ratio of correlations (HTMT)	<ul> <li>Values close to 1 indicate a lack of discriminant validity</li> <li>Values from 0.85 to 0.90 indicate a problem with discriminant validity</li> </ul>

Table 3. 5 Threshold Values for Reflective Measurement Models

Source: Compiled from Ramayah et al. (2018)

#### II. Formative Measurement Model

As the details on how to assess the reflective measurement model have been completed, this section details on methods how to assess the formative measurement model. It is important that researchers distinguish between both formative and reflective measurement models as the principle underlying each of these models are fundamentally distinct (Hair et al. 2014). There are three steps in empirically measuring a formative measurement model: convergent validity, collinearity and significance and relevance of formative indicators.

#### a) Convergent Validity

According to Ramayah et al. (2018), convergent validity can be defined as the extent to which the formative measures of a latent variable highly correlates with reflective measures of the same latent variable. The type of analysis used to assess convergent validity is redundancy analysis (Chin 1998a, 1998b). The threshold value for this analysis is where the correlation path coefficients for both constructs should be above 0.7 (Hair et al. 2017).

#### b) Collinearity

The next step is to assess the formative measures of the latent variable for collinearity issues. As the aim of formative measures is to minimize the overlap between the measures, high correlations between the indicators measuring the same latent variable is not desired. Collinearity occurs when a high correlation is found between two formative measures. In research, collinearity is not desirable because it bears a significant impact on the weights and statistical significance of the formative measures (Ramayah et al. 2018). In fact, collinearity can cause the results of a study to be biased (Mooi and Sarstedt 2011). Specifically, the weights which represent the contribution of the measures to the construct can be reversed which cause an underestimation in the level of significance (Hair et al. 2014).

This issue becomes more prominent in studies that have small sample sizes because the standard errors are further exemplified. The index utilized to assess collinearity issues is Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). From past literature, there are two widely accepted threshold values for VIF which are equal to or greater than 3.3 (Diamantopoulos and Siguaw 2006) or 5 (Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2011) indicates potential collinearity issues.

#### c)

# Significance and Relevance of Formative Indicators

The last step in the assessment of formative measurement models is analyzing the significance and relevance of formative indicators. The method of analysis for this method is outer weights. According to Hair et al. (2017), outer weights are obtained through a multiple regression analysis where the latent variable is the dependent variable and the formative measures are the independent variables. The technique which is utilized to obtain the outer weights is called bootstrapping. As PLS-SEM

assumes a non-normal distribution, bootstrapping determines the level of significance for every indicators in the model through the outer weights (Hair et al. 2014). During bootstrapping, a large number of subsamples of 5,000 or more are obtained from the original data through replacement. This results in a computation of standard error for each model parameter. Consequently, the significance for each parameter can be determined using *t*-values.

Once the outer weights values have been obtained, researchers are cautioned not to simply remove formative measures that have low outer weights. Instead, researchers should consider the absolute contribution of the formative measure towards the measured latent variable. In this step, it is important to compare between the values of the outer weights from the formative measures and the outer loadings from the reflective measures. Consequently, there are two acceptable threshold values for this step. First, in the case where the outer weights for the measure is non-significant but the outer loadings are high, above 0.50, the researcher should retain the measure. Secondly, if the outer weight for the measure is non-significant and the outer loading is also non-significant, where the value is below 0.50, the researcher should consider deleting the measure.

It is recommended for researchers to consider the theoretical contribution when making the decision whether to delete formative measures or not. In other words, the statistical outcomes should not be the main factor leading to the deletion of formative measures. Moreover, the deletion of formative measures has almost no effect on the parameter estimates when the model is re-estimated (Hair et al. 2017). Table 3.6 summarizes all the details on the index and threshold values for formative measurement models.

Criteria	Index	Threshold Values
1. Convergent validity	Redundancy analysis	<ul> <li>Above 0.7 to demonstrate satisfactory level</li> </ul>
2. Collinearity	Variance Inflation Factor (VIF)	<ul> <li>Values equal to or greater than 3.3 indicates potential collinearity problems</li> <li>Values equal to or greater than 5 indicates potential collinearity problems</li> </ul>
3. Significance and relevance of formative measures	Outer weights and outer loadings	<ul> <li>If outer weight is non- significant and outer loading is also non- significant (below 0.50), the formative measure should be <u>deleted</u> with consideration for theoretical and statistical significance</li> </ul>

Table 3. 6 Guide on Criteria and Threshold Values for Formative Measurement Models

Source: Compiled from Ramayah et al. (2018)

## III. STRUCTURAL MODEL

After the reliability and validity of the measurement model has been assessed, the next step is to assess the inner model, also known as the structural model. This process is also known as an inner model evaluation. This step involves the testing of hypothesized relationships in the framework of this study. As PLS-SEM does not have a standard goodness-of-fit statistic, Hair et al. (2017) recommended five steps to measure the structural model.

First, the structural model is assessed for lateral collinearity issues. This process is instrumental especially in models with formative constructs because the estimated values and significance of a structural model can be subjected to bias if the constructs are highly correlated (Hair et al. 2014). If a structural model is not assessed for lateral collinearity issues, this can lead to inaccurate findings because it can mask the causal effect in a model (Kock and Lynn 2012). The index utilized to assess lateral collinearity is Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). Hence, the threshold value where VIF is equal to or greater than 3.3 or 5 indicates that there may be a lateral collinearity issue (Diamantopoulos and Siguaw 2006).

The second step is to assess the significance and relevance of the structural model relationships. Under the PLS-SEM technique, there are no assumptions made about the distribution of the data. This can lead to issues because the t-values can be inflated or deflated if data for the study is non-normal. To solve this issue, researchers are recommended to do bootstrapping (Ramayah et al. 2018). This technique can estimate the normality of the data and obtain the t-values to evaluate the significance of the structural paths in this study (Wong 2013). In this step, the path coefficient is also assessed to investigate the significance of the hypotheses in this study. For path coefficients, the standard range of values are from -1 to +1 (Hair et al. 2014). The threshold value for this step is values close to +1, representing strong positive relationships. Meanwhile, values closer to -1 represent strong negative relationships. Although values close to +1 or -1 are almost always statistically significant, researchers must perform the bootstrapping method to obtain a standard error which assesses the significance level (Hair et al. 2014).

In the third step, researchers must assess the predictive accuracy of the model through  $R^2$ , also known as the coefficient of determination. In simpler words,  $R^2$  represents the effect exogenous variables have on the variance of endogenous variables. The range of value for this step is 0 to 1. The higher the value, the higher the predictive accuracy. There are different threshold values recommended to assess  $R^2$ . Threshold values are classified as substantial, moderate and weak. The different threshold values are 0.26, 0.13, 0.02 (Cohen J. 1988), 0.67, 0.33, 0.19 (Chin 1998b) and 0.75, 0.50, 0.25 (Hair et al. 2017).

The fourth step is to assess the level of effect size,  $f^2$ . According to Cohen (1988),  $f^2$  explains the impact of an exogenous construct on an endogenous construct. The threshold values for this step are 0.35, 0.15 and 0.02 which represents large, medium and small effect sizes. The last step in assessing the structural model is predictive relevance,  $Q^2$ . This method examines the predictive relevance of the inner model. In this step, it utilizes a sample re-use technique which omits a part of the data set, leading to an estimation of the model's parameters and the prediction of the omitted part using the estimates (Hair et al. 2014). This method of analysis is done using the blindfolding procedure. According to Ramayah et al. (2018), the blindfolding procedure is a resampling technique which deletes and predicts reflective measures of an endogenous construct. The threshold value of this model is any value above 0 indicating that

exogenous constructs exhibit predictive relevance for endogenous constructs (Hair et al. 2017; Geisser 1974; Stone 1974). Researchers are cautioned that although this method can indicate that an endogenous construct can be predicted, it is not an indication of the quality of the prediction (Rigdon 2014; Sarstedt et al. 2014).

Criteria	Index	Threshold Values
1. Lateral collinearity	Variance Inflation Factor (VIF)	<ul> <li>3.3 or 5 indicates possible lateral collinearity issue</li> </ul>
2. Significance and relevance of the structural model relationships	Path coefficient	<ul> <li>Values close to +1 represent strong positive relationships</li> <li>Values closer to -1 represent strong negative relationships</li> </ul>
3. Predictive accuracy of the model	Coefficient of determination, R <sup>2</sup>	<ul> <li>Threshold values are classified as substantial, moderate and weak</li> <li>The different threshold values are 0.26, 0.13, 0.02 (Cohen 1988)</li> <li>0.67, 0.33, 0.19 (Chin 1998b)</li> <li>0.75, 0.50, 0.25 (Hair et al 2017)</li> </ul>
4. Level of effect size	$f^2$	<ul> <li>0.35, 0.15 and 0.02 which represents large, medium and small effect sizes</li> </ul>
<ol> <li>Predictive relevance, Q<sup>2</sup></li> </ol>	<i>Q</i> <sup>2</sup>	<ul> <li>Any value above 0 indicates that exogenous constructs exhibit predictive relevance for endogenous constructs</li> </ul>

 Table 3. 7 Guide on The Criteria and Threshold Value for The Assessment of

 Structural Models

Source: Compiled from Ramayah et al. (2018)

## IV. Moderator Analysis

Another crucial step in the assessment of the model using PLS-SEM is the moderator analysis. In this research, there are two moderating variables incorporated: power distance and collectivism. A moderating variable is defined as a third variable that changes the hypothesized relationship between an independent and dependent variable (Ramayah et al. 2018). A moderating variable is also known as a contingent variable. In fact, a moderating variable can change the impact of the relationship an independent variable has on a dependent variable depending on the value of the moderator (Holmbeck 1997). Moderators are usually introduced in studies if there is a weak or inconsistent relationship between the independent and dependent variable.

In the process of developing hypotheses which involves moderators, it is important to explain the condition for the formation of the moderating interaction. For instance, researchers should specify if the relationship between the independent and dependent variable becomes stronger or weaker with the presence of the moderator (Dawson 2014). To measure moderating effects, there are three recommended approaches which are the Product-Indicator Approach (Chin, Marcolin, and Newsted 2003), Two-Stage Approach (Chin, Marcolin, and Newsted 2003) and Orthogonalizing Approach (Henseler and Chin 2010). Hence, this study utilizes the two-stage approach to measure the moderating effect of the cultural dimensions.

The two-stage approach was initially created by Chin, Marcolin, and Newsted (2003). The use of this method is most suitable when any of the constructs in the theoretical framework is a formative construct (Henseler and Chin 2010). Additionally, this approach is more accurate as it has a higher statistical power (Ramayah et al. 2018). Researchers are advised to select this approach when there are formative measures present in the theoretical framework (Henseler and Chin 2010). Regardless whether the formative construct is an exogenous or moderating variable, the two-stage approach is still the recommended method. Moreover, this approach can also be used to examine relationships between reflective measures (Ramayah et al. 2018). In other words, it is not necessary for formative measures to be present to use this approach. As this conceptual framework has a formative measure which is financial literacy, the two-stage approach is utilized. Next, the selection of this method should also be based on the aim of the analysis. If the aim of the research is to investigate whether the moderator plays a significant role on the relationship, the two-stage approach should be selected. This method yields high statistical accuracy and estimate compared to the other two methods. However, one key disadvantage of this model is that it does not take into consideration the moderating effect when computing the latent variable scores.

To begin measuring the moderating effects using the two-stage approach, there are two main steps. To begin, the main effect in the PLS path model is established. During this step, the latent variable scores for the exogenous, moderator and endogenous variable are calculated. Therefore, the normal procedures for PLS-SEM are conducted according to the classification of reflective or formative constructs.

Then, the latent variable scores of the exogenous and moderator variable are utilized as independent variables in a multiple linear regression on the latent variable scores of Y. The following diagram illustrates the relationship between all the variables in the second stage of the two-stage approach.





Source: Compiled from Ramayah et al. (2018)

From the figure above, "a" represents the main effect when the moderating effect is not taken into account. Meanwhile, "b" represents the effect when the moderating effect is included. Lastly, "c" represents the variation in the endogenous variable explained by the moderating variable. In the second stage, there are several important indexes. The first is the coefficient of determination, also known as the  $R^2$ . Specifically, the change between the main effect model  $R^2$  and the interaction effect model  $R^2$  should be compared. The second index is effect size, known as the  $f^2$ . The threshold values for  $f^2$  are classified into small, medium and large which are 0.005, 0.01 and 0.025 respectively (Kenny 2016). This criterion should only be utilized if the study fails to adhere to the minimum effect size threshold suggested by Cohen (1988). The next index is the t-values obtained through the bootstrapping process. From the bootstrapping results, the interaction effect can be interpreted.

## 3.14.6 Ethical Considerations

Throughout the process of conducting this research, several ethical considerations were taken as this study deals with human subjects. Firstly, this study adheres to the principle of respect for individuals. Only individuals of age 18 and above were targeted in this study. Participants were required to read the participants information sheet which details key information about the research. Consequently, participants were required to tick a box prior to answering the questionnaire to imply consent. Additionally, participants were reassured that their participation in the research is completely voluntary.

Secondly, this study also adheres to the principle of beneficence. The welfare of the participants is the main goal of the research study. Hence, the study does not pose any risk to the participants. Lastly, this study upholds the anonymity and the confidentiality of data. Participation in the study by answering the questionnaire is completely anonymous and cannot be individually identified to them. There are no known conflicts of interest in this study.

This researcher also completed the research integrity training on Blackboard prepared by Curtin University. Prior to conducting any data collection, the researcher went through the process of ethical application to ensure that the researcher possess the qualification and necessary documents to conduct the research. Then, these documents were examined by Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC). The researcher also made amendments requested by HREC. The ethical application was approved with the approval number HRE2019-0837. The letter indicating ethical application approval is attached in Appendix A.

## 3.15 Summary

As a conclusion, the methodology section has covered many different elements of the methodology such as the sample inclusion criteria, size, location, method, the use of questionnaires, questionnaire design, pilot testing, measurement scale, instrumentation, control variables, data analysis, preliminary data analysis, descriptive data analysis, PLS-SEM, reflective and formative models, measurement model, structural model and ethical considerations. In the next chapter, Chapter 4 details the data analysis process and results.

### **CHAPTER 4: DATA ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS**

#### 4.1 Chapter Overview

This purpose of this chapter is to present the data analysis findings obtained from the large-scale data collection. Throughout this chapter, several statistical tests were run. This chapter is divided into several subsequent sections. Firstly, 4.1 presents the overview of this chapter. 4.2 includes details of all the sections in the questionnaire. 4.3 provides the preliminary data screening with subsections which are missing values, outliers, normality check and common method bias. Subsequently, section 4.4 presents the demographic profile analysis conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software. Section 4.5 details the data analysis for reflective measurement model assessment. done using Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling. In the subsequent sections, 4.6 describes the details of the formative measurement model assessment using the SmartPLS 3.0 software. 4.7 covers the structural model assessment. Section 4.8 details the moderator analysis assessment. Subsequently, section 4.9 provides the results of the hypotheses testing. The following summarizes the title of each section.

- 4.1: Chapter Overview
- 4.2: Questionnaire Overview
- 4.3: Preliminary Data Screening
- 4.4: Demographic Profile
- 4.5: Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling
- 4.6: Formative Measurement Model Assessment
- 4.7: Structural Model Assessment
- 4.8: Moderator Analysis Assessment
- 4.9 Results of Hypotheses Testing

## 4.2 Questionnaire Overview

In this section, data analysis findings were done through questionnaires which were distributed to respondents in Miri City, Sarawak. These questionnaires were distributed by the researcher through purposive sampling, which is a non-probability sampling design. During the process of questionnaire distribution, the researcher provided a participant information sheet which includes key details of the study such as the purpose of the study, benefits of participating in the study, confidentiality and researcher contact information. Once the participant has read the participant information sheet, the researcher provided the questionnaire for them to answer. The questionnaire consists of four sections. In Section A, it investigates the demographic profile of respondents through items such as gender, age, state of origin, ethnicity and highest educational qualification. Meanwhile, Section B gauges the digital financial services experience of respondents by investigating the types of digital financial services they currently use, frequency of use and history of use. Consequently, Section C analyzes the determinants of behavioral intention to accept digital financial services by using the predictors proposed in the UTAUT2 model and the financial literacy construct. Lastly, Section D examines the cultural dimensions of respondents through two constructs which are power distance and collectivism.

#### 4.3 Preliminary Data Screening

Before the main data analysis is conducted, the data obtained from the questionnaires are subjected to several preliminary analyses. The purpose of these preliminary data analyses is to ensure that the data meets the statistical assumptions required to carry out the multivariate analysis. According to AlAnazi, Shamsudin, and Johari (2016), conducting a preliminary data analysis is important as it ensures the validity of inferences made from statistical results. Conducting preliminary data analysis ensures that no key assumptions of the multivariate analysis are violated. Furthermore, Broeck et al. (2005) has also stated that conducting preliminary data analysis can identify and minimize the impact of methodological errors on a study.

Once data collection was completed, data obtained was coded into the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software. Consequently, the researcher then conducted preliminary data analysis on this data. Hence, the following section provides details the process and results of the preliminary data analyses which are missing data, statistical outliers, normality check and common method bias.

#### a) Missing Data

Missing data is one of the most pervasive issues concerning data analysis (Tabachnick and Fidell 2007). It is an issue that is seen across different research disciplines. However, the use of questionnaires is particularly vulnerable to this issue as researchers do not have much control over the respondents choice to not answer certain questions (Schafer and Olsen 1998). Dealing with human subjects further exemplifies the issue of missing data because Pallant (2013) posited that it is a rare occurrence to obtain complete data for every case involving human subject.

Missing data is an issue for researchers as there are statistical techniques that only includes complete observations in its calculations (Stavseth, Clausen, and Røislien 2019). In fact, an example of this software is the SmartPLS software that this study utilizes as it does not work even with a single missing data (AlAnazi, Shamsudin, and Johari 2016). More importantly, missing data can potentially indicate the loss of important information that can reduce the accuracy of the statistical power and increase standard errors (Peng et al. 2006). Historically, it is common for researchers to completely exclude cases with missing data from data analysis (Schafer and Graham 2002).

As this research utilizes offline questionnaires for data collection, it is highly likely that there is missing data due to the lack of supervision during the process. Hence, this study excludes any questionnaires with missing data because the SmartPLS software cannot utilize them in the calculations. In this research, a total of 380 questionnaires were distributed to low-income households in Miri City, Sarawak. From these questionnaires, a total of 37 questionnaires were found to contain missing data and were subsequently removed as they are considered as invalid data. From the 380 questionnaires being distributed, 37 questionnaires had invalid data. Therefore, the remaining 343 questionnaires were utilized for data analysis.

#### b) Statistical Outliers

Once the missing data have been identified and removed, the next step in preliminary data analysis is to check for statistical outliers. According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2007), statistical outliers can be defined as cases with extreme values on a single variable (univariate outlier) or extreme values on two or more variables (multivariate outlier). It is important to acknowledge that there is no standardized definition for outliers from past literature. In fact, there are different definitions of outliers which can be applied to the context of a study. For instance, Atkinson and Hawkins (1980) stated that outliers are values which lie outside a set of clusters. This study adopts the definition of outliers from Aggarwal (2013) which stated that outliers are values which has a set of the data, to the point that it raises the suspicion that it may have been generated by another mechanism.

However, the researcher decided to retain all the items in the constructs after considering the measurement instrument used in this research which is the Likert scale. As the outlier has been defined as a value which exhibits extreme deviation from the rest of the data, the use of the Likert scale supports the retaining of these outliers due to the nature of the measurement scale. This is because a Likert scale consists of a minimum and a maximum value. In the case of this study, the minimum value is 1 and the maximum value is 5. If a respondent answer on the extreme ends such as 1 or 5, this is not a representative of outlier behavior. More importantly, this study targets low-income households. Given that the poor acceptance of low-income households towards digital financial services is the main problem highlighted in this study, the lack of positive responses towards the questions should be expected. In fact, the different types of responses obtained through the Likert scale help investigate the important determinants of digital financial services acceptance which boost the level of acceptance among low-income households. If outliers are removed because the answers are inconsistent to the norm, this would be counterproductive for the objectives of this study.

Therefore, no cases were removed on the basis that all the values on the Likert scale are considered as realistic and plausible answers for the respondents. As a result, the sample size of 343 respondents was retained for further data analysis

#### c) Normality Check

The next step in preliminary data analysis is to conduct the normality check. According to Pallant (2013), normal data can be visualized through a symmetrical and bell-shaped curve. Assessing normality is important because the classification of data can lead to the use of different statistical techniques depending on the assumptions. Furthermore, non-normal data can inflate standard errors which leads to less accurate structural model relationships in the PLS-SEM analysis that this study adopts (Hair et al. 2017). Based on the recommendation by Pallant (2013), normality is first assessed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software by obtaining the skewness and kurtosis values. Skewness refers to the symmetry of the data distribution. Meanwhile, kurtosis reflects the 'peakedness' of data distribution. If the data is perfectly normal, the skewness and kurtosis value is 0. However, this value is uncommon for social science research. The widely-used method to test for normality such as the Kolmogorov-Smirnov method has been found to be less precise when testing large data sample where the sample size is greater than 50 (Mishra et al. 2019). Hence, skewness and kurtosis values are utilized in this study to test for normality as it is more precise when testing for sample size greater than 300 (P. Mishra et al. 2019). As this study has 343 respondents, therefore the skewness and kurtosis method was utilized.

Table 4.1 details the skewness and kurtosis values for each variable in the conceptual framework. Items such as Performance Expectancy 1, 2, 3 and 4 refer to each statement in the questionnaire. These statements are usually denoted as PE1, PE2, PE3, PE4 and so on in the questionnaire. The threshold values for skewness and kurtosis are obtained from Hair et al. (2017) which stated that if skewness and kurtosis values are outside the range of -1 to +1, the distribution is considered to be non-normal.

	Skewness		Kurtosis	
		Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
PE1	-0.840	0.132	0.834	0.263
PE2	-0.862	0.132	1.650	0.263
PE3	-0.900	0.132	0.346	0.263
PE4	-0.712	0.132	0.384	0.263
FC1	-0.261	0.132	-0.053	0.263
FC2	-0.356	0.132	0.246	0.263
FC3	-0.413	0.132	0.543	0.263
FC4	-0.753	0.132	1.069	0.263
HM1	-0.380	0.132	0.116	0.263
HM2	-0.576	0.132	1.052	0.263
HM3	-0.446	0.132	0.110	0.263
PV1	-0.599	0.132	0.897	0.263
PV2	-0.325	0.132	0.501	0.263
PV3	-0.212	0.132	-0.024	0.263
FL1	-0.433	0.132	-0.113	0.263
FL2	-0.397	0.132	-0.024	0.263
FL3	-0.536	0.132	0.213	0.263
FL4	-0.456	0.132	-0.658	0.263
FL5	-0.718	0.132	0.461	0.263
FL6	-0.382	0.132	-0.840	0.263
FL7	-0.366	0.132	0.089	0.263
FL8	-0.677	0.132	0.484	0.263
FL9	-0.318	0.132	-0.155	0.263
BI1	-0.289	0.132	-0.572	0.263
BI2	-0.536	0.132	0.379	0.263
BI3	-0.491	0.132	0.236	0.263
PD1	-0.520	0.132	-0.246	0.263
PD2	-0.624	0.132	-0.133	0.263

Table 4. 1 Summary of Skewness and Kurtosis

PD3	-0.616	0.132	0.391	0.263
PD4	-0.698	0.132	0.809	0.263
IC1	-0.667	0.132	0.790	0.263
IC2	-0.502	0.132	-0.078	0.263
IC3	-0.382	0.132	-0.190	0.263
IC4	-0.214	0.132	-0.598	0.263
IC5	-0.314	0.132	-0.233	0.263
IC6	-0.389	0.132	-0.223	0.263

From Table 4.1, the values for skewness range from -0.212 to -0.900. Meanwhile, the range of values for kurtosis range is from -0.024 to 1.650. These values clearly show that they exceed the threshold values of -1 to +1. From this, it can be concluded that the distribution is non-normal. Therefore, this justifies the use of PLS-SEM as a statistical method for data analysis as it fulfills the non-normal data assumption required by the method.

## d) Common Method Bias

The last aspect for the preliminary data analysis is assessing common method bias. According to Podsakoff et al. (2003), common method bias is a common type of measurement error which originates from the measurement method instead of the constructs in a study. The presence of common method bias can negatively impact the validity of inferences yielded from statistical tests (Bagozzi and Yi 1991). In a thorough analysis of common method bias, Podsakoff et al. (2003) revealed many causes for common method bias. In relation to the method of collecting data in this study, which is questionnaire, there are several potential causes for common method bias.

The first cause is a factor called the consistency motif. This is a situation in which respondents try to match their cognition with their attitudes. Respondents try to appear consistent as well as rational in their responses, but it does not align with their actions in real-life situations. As a result, respondents answer similar questions in a consistent manner which is problematic especially when the researcher is trying to understand

their behavior (Johns 1994; Podsakoff and Organ 1986; Schmitt 1994). Secondly, respondents may experience social desirability bias in which they respond to questions in a way that they believe could increase their social acceptance. The third potential cause for common method bias is a common scale format such as the Likert Scale. Although the use of a common scale format does improves the ease to answer questionnaires, it has been shown to systematically influence the answers which subsequently leads to common method bias (Tourangeau, Rips, and Rasinski 2000).

Considering these causes for common method bias, there are two ways to deal with common method bias. The first method is the procedural remedy which is the recommendation that researchers typically use during the process of designing and developing a questionnaire prior to data collection. Podsakoff et al. (2003) outlined five main procedural remedies researchers can adopt to reduce common method bias. These remedies are:

- Adopting or adapting measures for the independent and dependent variables from different sources
- Using temporal, proximal, psychological, or methodological separation of measurement
- Ensuring respondents of their anonymity in answering questions
- Counterbalancing order of questions
- Being thorough in the development of scale items

In this study, the researcher adopted several of these remedies which are temporal, proximal, psychological, or methodological separation of measurement, ensuring respondents anonymity and being thorough in the development of scale items. Once the questionnaire has been distributed and data has been collected, the statistical remedies to test for common method bias can be utilized by the researcher. Therefore, researchers should test for common method bias using a statistical technique before actual data analysis is done.

One of the most common statistical procedures to test for common method bias is the Harman's single-factor test (Podsakoff et al. 2003). Using this test, common method bias is present if a single factor can explain for majority of the covariance among the measures. More specifically, Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Podsakoff (2012) stated that common method bias exists if one factor can explain more than 50% of the variance

among the measures. Hence, Table 4.2 details the results obtained from the Harman's single-factor test.

Total Variance Explained						
			Extrac	ction Sums	of Squared	
	I	Initial Eigenvalues			Loading	gs
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative
Factor	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%
1	9.077	25.214	25.214	8.394	23.318	23.318
2	3.270	9.083	34.297			
3	2.011	5.586	39.883			
4	1.937	5.379	45.262			
5	1.704	4.734	49.997			
6	1.415	3.929	53.926			
7	1.220	3.389	57.315			
8	1.170	3.251	60.565			
9	1.053	2.926	63.491			
10	0.934	2.594	66.086			
11	0.851	2.364	68.450			
12	0.837	2.325	70.774			
13	0.771	2.142	72.916			
14	0.724	2.012	74.928			
15	0.676	1.878	76.806			
16	0.645	1.793	78.599			
17	0.609	1.692	80.291			
18	0.568	1.577	81.868			
19	0.547	1.519	83.387			
20	0.531	1.474	84.861			
21	0.510	1.416	86.277			
22	0.496	1.379	87.656			
23	0.447	1.243	88.899			
24	0.437	1.214	90.113			

Table 4. 2 Results for Harman's Single-Factor Test

25	0.407	1.129	91.242			
26	0.389	1.079	92.322			
27	0.358	0.996	93.317			
28	0.343	0.953	94.271			
29	0.336	0.934	95.205			
30	0.312	0.866	96.070			
31	0.287	0.797	96.867			
32	0.254	0.707	97.574			
33	0.252	0.700	98.275			
34	0.233	0.647	98.921			
35	0.215	0.598	99.520			
36	0.173	0.480	100.000			
Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.						

From Table 4.2, most of the co-variance is explained by the factor performance expectancy 1, at a cumulative percentage of 23.318%. This value is less than the threshold value of 50%. Therefore, it can be verified that common method bias does not exist.

To complement the use of the Harman's single-factor test, another test for common method is conducted which is the full multicollinearity test. According to Kock and Lynn (2012), this full multicollinearity test is a statistical procedure which assesses two elements which are vertical and lateral multicollinearity. Vertical multicollinearity is a common test that assesses predictor to predictor phenomenon, where two or more predictors are tested for redundancy. On the other hand, lateral multicollinearity is a predictor to criterion test, which assesses a hypothesized causal relationship for redundancy. In comparison to the Harman's Single Factor test, the full multicollinearity test assesses both aspects of multicollinearity in which lateral multicollinearity is almost never tested in multivariate analyses.

This test is run in the SmartPLS software. Hence, the index for the test is Variance Inflation Factors (VIF). The threshold value is VIF greater than 3.3, indicating common method bias (Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2011). Consequently, VIF value below 3.3 indicates that the model does not have any common method bias. Hence, Table 4.3 details the outer VIF values for all the constructs.

Variable	Itoms	Outer VIF	Inner VIF
v ai lable	Items	Values	Values
	FC1	1.674	
Facilitating Conditions	FC2	1.642	2 461
r acintating Conditions	FC3	1.561	2.401
	FC4	1.221	
	FL1	1.205	
	FL2	1.526	
	FL3	1.471	
	FL4	1.308	
<b>Financial Literacy</b>	FL5	1.373	1.373
	FL6	1.275	
	FL7	1.361	
	FL8	1.455	
	FL9	1.257	
	HM1	1.570	
Hedonic Motivation	HM2	1.874	1.847
	HM3	1.573	
	IC1	1.750	
	IC2	1.867	
Collectivism	IC3	1.740	1 214
Concentrism	IC4	1.980	1.217
	IC5	1.444	
	IC6	1.407	
	PD1	1.550	
Power Distance	PD2	1.317	1 287
i over Distance	PD3	1.783	1.207
	PD4	1.617	

Table 4. 3 Outer and Inner VIF Values

	PE1	1.998	
Performance Expectancy	PE2	1.843	2 075
	PE3	1.950	2.075
	PE4	2.301	
Price Value	PV1	2.023	
	PV2	2.204	1.409
	PV3	1.476	
	BI1	2.665	
<b>Behavioural Intention</b>	BI2	2.787	NA
	BI3	1.754	

Table 4.3 clearly indicates that all the outer and inner VIF values are below the standard value of 3.3. The highest inner VIF value belongs to facilitating conditions with 2.461, while the lowest inner VIF value belongs to collectivism with 1.214. Overall, all the VIF values are below 3.3. Therefore, there are no multicollinearity issues among the constructs.

#### e) Mean and Standard Deviation Analysis

Descriptive statistics is used to describe the characteristics of the respondents in a study. Marshall and Jonker (2010) further supported this by stating that descriptive statistics enables the characterization of raw data obtained by analyzing the average measurement for the data. It is important to note that descriptive statistics are not able to determine causality like inferential statistics. However, descriptive statistics is an important step prior to carrying out inferential statistics through methods such as partial least equation structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM).

Determining the types of measures to conduct with descriptive statistics relies on the level of measurement for the constructs. There are three levels of measurement for a construct: nominal, ordinal and continuous. As this study utilizes Likert Scale for the measurement of the independent, dependent and moderating constructs, it is classified as a continuous variable. This is because the Likert scale indicates that there is rank
ordering with equal intervals (Marshall and Jonker 2010). Accordingly, mean and standard deviation are selected as the measure of central tendency and measure of dispersion respectively.

Mean is a powerful measure because it considers the score of each variable in the estimation of central tendency (McHugh 2003). In the Likert scale, respondents are required to select one answer ranging from 1 which indicates Strongly Disagree to 5 which indicates Strongly Agree. The greater the value of the mean, the more positive the perception of the questionnaire respondents have towards the construct. As the maximum value is 5, the midpoint value for mean is 2.5. Values above 2.5 indicates that respondents have a positive perception of the variable.

On the other hand, standard deviation represents the measure of dispersion. In simpler words, it investigates the variability of scores among the respondents, which illustrates how different cases are dispersed across all the constructs. It also measures the degree of variation from the mean. The lower the value of standard deviation, the closer the distance to the mean. Conversely, the higher the value of standard deviation, the further is the distance to the mean (Hair et al. 2010). Table 4.4 displays the mean and standard deviation of items for every construct.

Descriptive Statistics						
	N Mean		Std. Deviation			
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic			
PE1	343	4.318	0.706			
PE2	343	4.032	0.796			
PE3	343	4.385	0.699			
PE4	343	4.181	0.766			
FC1	343	3.988	0.684			
FC2	343	3.959	0.724			
FC3	343	4.032	0.694			
FC4	343	3.927	0.793			
HM1	343	3.656	0.874			
HM2	343	3.895	0.726			

Table 4. 4 Mean and Standard Deviation Analysis

HM3	343	4.023	0.757
PV1	343	3.729	0.823
PV2	343	3.767	0.732
PV3	343	3.773	0.792
FL1	343	3.420	0.936
FL2	343	3.904	0.820
FL3	343	4.079	0.759
FL4	343	4.090	0.820
FL5	343	4.090	0.835
FL6	343	4.152	0.765
FL7	343	3.612	0.923
FL8	343	4.102	0.771
FL9	343	3.566	0.921
BI1	343	4.181	0.673
BI2	343	4.134	0.721
BI3	343	3.930	0.828
PD1	343	4.239	0.698
PD2	343	3.851	0.957
PD3	343	4.207	0.718
PD4	343	3.994	0.806
IC1	343	3.971	0.802
IC2	343	3.883	0.867
IC3	343	3.907	0.815
IC4	343	3.904	0.794
IC5	343	3.434	0.965
IC6	343	3.915	0.788

From Table 4.4, the mean value ranges from 3.420 to 4.385. The highest mean value is 4.385 which belongs to Performance Expectancy 3. Meanwhile, the lowest mean value is 3.420 which belongs to Financial Literacy 1. As all the mean values are above the midpoint of 2.5, this indicates that respondents have a positive perception towards digital financial services.

Meanwhile, the standard deviation values range from 0.673 to 0.965. The highest standard deviation value is 0.965 which belongs to Collectivism 5. The lowest value is 0.673 which belongs to Behavioral Intention 1. From the values in the table, it shows that standard deviation values are low. This indicates that the scores are closer to the average mean. Hence, this indicates that most of the respondents have a positive perception towards digital financial services.

#### f) Demographic Profile

During this research, a total of 343 valid responses were utilized for data analysis. The respondents of these questionnaires consist of low-income households with different demographic profile. In the following section, details on the demographic profile and digital financial services experience are discussed. Consequently, the descriptive statistics for each construct in the conceptual framework of this study are provided.

Table 4.5 presents the details of the demographic profile for the questionnaire's respondents.

Variable		Frequency	Percentage
		(N)	(%)
Gender	Male	118	34.4
	Female	225	65.6
Age	18-25 years old	69	20.1
	26-33 years old	151	44
	34-41 years old	70	20.4
	42-49 years old	31	9
	50 years old and above	22	6.4
State of origin	Sarawak	333	97.1
	Other than Sarawak	10	2.9
Ethnicity of	Bumiputera	294	85.7
respondents	Non-Bumiputera	49	14.3
Highest	Primary school education	12	3.5
educational	Secondary school education	103	30
qualification	Diploma	111	32.4
	Undergraduate	102	29.7
	Postgraduate and above	15	4.4
Types of	Mobile banking	219	63.8
digital	Internet banking	246	71.7
financial	Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)	247	72
services used	Point of sale (POS terminals)	54	15.7
	Electronically enabled cards (Debit/Credit Cards)	215	62.7
	Others	0	100
	I do not use digital financial services	7	2
Frequency of	Once daily	48	14
financial	2-5 times daily	92	26.8
services	6-10 times daily	19	5.5
	More than 10 times daily	5	1.5
	Once in a week	112	32.7
	Once in a month	60	17.5
	I do not use digital financial services	7	2
Period of use	Less than 1 year	20	5.8
for digital	1 to 2 years	43	12.5
services	3 to 4 years	88	25.7
361 11063	5 to 6 years	55	16
	More than 6 years	130	37.9
	I do not use digital financial services	7	2

Table 4. 5 Demographic Profile of Respondents

In Table 4.5, majority of the respondents are females as 225 respondents make up 65.6% of the sample size. Meanwhile, the majority age group for the respondents are 26-33 years old which consists of 44% of the sample size. In this study, 333 respondents are from Sarawak. This makes up 97.1% of the sample size. On the other hand, majority of the respondents in this study are Bumiputera. 294 respondents are Bumiputera, which makes up 85.7% of the sample size. In Malaysia, the term

Bumiputera is used to describe Malay, Orang Asli or indigenous people. Based on the information in Table 4.5, majority of respondents in this study have a diploma. From the statistics, 111 respondents have a diploma which make up 42.4% of the sample size. There are multiple types of digital financial services that the respondents have used. From the statistics in Table 4.5, majority of the respondents have used Automated Teller Machines (ATMs).

An important finding from the demographic profile regarding the highest education qualification shows that 29.7% of the respondents are undergraduates. From this finding, this implies that graduating with a degree does not imply that their economic conditions will improve. As of 2018, DOSM reported that Malaysia has a total of 4.96 million graduates. Despite this, only 96.1% of the graduates are employed as part of the labour force. On the contrary, there are still 3.9% of graduates which are unemployed. This totals to 162,000 graduates being unemployed (DOSM 2019b).

From the previous statistics, despite being graduates, they still belong to the lowincome or B40 group. The undergraduates being part of the B40 or low-income households could possibily point to the lack of employability of Malaysian graduates and earning lower income in their jobs. The lack of employability refers to the gap between the skills that graduates possess and the industry expectation (Mohamad et al. 2018).

For the frequency of use for digital financial services, majority of the respondents use them from once daily to more than 10 times daily, which make up 47.8% of the respondents. Meanwhile, majority of the respondents have used digital financial services for less than 6 years, which make up 60% of the respondents. In the next section, details on the findings using the Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) method are provided.

#### 4.4 Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling

This study utilizes the Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) method to evaluate the conceptual framework. The software used for this study is the SmartPLS 3.0. There are three main steps to conducting research using PLS-SEM. Firstly, the measurement model assessment is conducted where the relationship between the latent variables and indicators in the outer model is assessed. The measurement model assessment is divided into two subsections which are reflective and formative measurement model assessment. Secondly, the structural model is assessed where the relationship between latent variables in the inner model are assessed. Thirdly, the moderator analysis assessment is conducted where the moderating relationship between the moderating variables and latent variables are investigated. Hence, the following subsections detail the process thoroughly.

#### 4.5 Measurement Model Assessment

#### 4.5.1 Reflective Measurement Model Assessment

To begin with the PLS-SEM analysis, the reflective measurement model is first assessed. There are three main steps in this process which are internal consistency reliability, convergent validity and discriminant validity. In this research, nearly all constructs are reflective constructs except for financial literacy. Explanation on the justification for the classification of constructs as reflective constructs is detailed in Chapter 3. The subsequent subsections explain the steps and findings for the reflective measurement model in detail.

#### a) Internal Consistency Reliability

Internal consistency reliability is assessed through composite reliability. This method of measuring internal consistency reliability is recommended by Gefen, Straub, and Boudreau (2000). There are two threshold values for composite reliability depending on the type of research. Firstly, if the research is an exploratory study values above 0.60 are accepted. Secondly, studies apart from exploratory research require values between 0.70 to 0.90.

#### b) Convergent Validity

In the next step, convergent validity which is the extent that individual indicators reflect a construct compared to the indicators of other constructs is assessed (Urbach and Ahlemann 2010). Firstly, the outer loadings for each indicator are assessed. The threshold value for outer loadings is that it must either be equal to or greater than 0.5, provided that the AVE scores are above 0.5 (Byrne 2016).

		Factor		
Variables	Indicators	Loadings	CR	AVE
	BI1	0.906		
<b>Behavioral Intention</b>	BI2	0.908	0.914	0.781
	BI3	0.835		
	FC1	0.829		
Facilitating Conditions	FC2	0.831	0.841	0 574
i ucilitating contactoris	FC3	0.780	0.011	0.071
	FC4	0.557		
	HM1	0.794		
Hedonic Motivation	HM2	0.858	0.872	0.695
	HM3	0.846	]	

 Table 4. 6 Factor Loadings, Composite Reliability and Average Variance Extracted for Reflective Variables

	IC1	0.568		
	IC2	0.618		
Collectivism	IC3	0.745	0.850	0.489
Concentration	IC4	0.810	0.050	0.407
	IC5	0.728		
	IC6	0.700		
Power Distance	PD1	0.801		
	PD2	0.737	0.853	0.593
	PD3	0.788	0.055	
	PD4	0.752		
	PE1	0.850		
Performance Expectancy	PE2	0.796	0.895	0.692
	PE3	0.789	0.075	0.002
	PE4	0.866		
Price Value	PV1	0.832		
	PV2	0.884	0.884	0.718
	PV3	0.825		

Table 4.6 shows the values for composite reliability of each construct. The composite reliability for the variables in this study range from 0.841 to 0.914. The value of 0.914 belongs to behavioral intention. Although the value of 0.914 exceeds the threshold value of 0.90, this composite reliability is still acceptable as Diamantopoulos et al. (2012) and Drolet and Morrison (2001) stated that only values of 0.95 or higher are problematic as this shows that the items are redundant which negatively impacts the construct validity. As the composite reliability is 0.914, it is still acceptable, and the items are retained. From these results, it can be concluded that the internal consistency reliability of the constructs in the conceptual framework of this study is satisfactory.

Next is the indicator reliability. The factor loadings of the indicators range from 0.557 to 0.908. Therefore, these factor loadings are acceptable according to the threshold values by Byrne (2016).

The next measure is convergent validity. The unit of measurement used is the Average Variance Extracted (AVE). Hence, the threshold value is the AVE must be equal to or

greater than 0.50 for an indicator to achieve adequate convergent validity (Byrne 2016). From Table 4.6, the AVE values for all constructs range from 0.489 to 0.781. From Table 4.6, the values meet the threshold value of 0.5 except for Collectivism with an AVE value of 0.489. However, Malhotra (2010) stated that in the case where the AVE value is below 0.5, but, with composite reliability greater than 0.6, the construct can be concluded to have adequate convergent validity on the basis of composite reliability alone. Furthermore, the AVE is considered as a more conservative and strict measurement of the validity for the measurement model. In a study conducted by Lam (2012), the AVE results for several constructs did not meet 0.5. However, based on composite reliability alone, the constructs were concluded to have established convergent validity.

#### c) Discriminant Validity

The last step in reflective measurement model assessment is discriminant validity. This is defined as the extent to which a construct measures distinct concepts (Ramayah et al. 2018). Consequently, there are three steps to measure discriminant validity which are cross loadings, Fornell and Larcker Criterion and Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations (HTMT). The following explains in brief about the measures for discriminant validity. For cross loadings, it is expected that the loadings of the assigned latent variable should be the highest compared to the loadings on other latent variables. Next, Fornell and Larcker criterion posits that the AVE of a latent variable should be higher compared to the squared correlation between the latent variable and other variables. Lastly, HTMT measures the 'ratio of correlations within constructs to correlation between constructs (Ramayah et al. 2018). There are two threshold values for HTMT which are values greater than 0.85 (Kline 2011) or 0.90 (Gold, Malhotra, and Segars 2001) indicating possible issues with discriminant validity. As each of the steps under discriminant validity has been explained, the following sections detail the results for each step.

### i. Cross Loadings

The first step to assess discriminant validity is through cross loadings. The threshold value for this step is that the loadings of the latent variable itself should be higher compared to the loadings of the latent variable on other latent variables. Moreover, the difference between loadings for different variables should not be less than 0.1 (Chin 1998a; Snell and Dean 1992). Table 4.7 shows the cross-loading values for all the constructs.

	Behavio						
	ral						
	Intentio						
	n to						
	Digital						
	Financi	Facilitat	Hedonic		Power	Performa	Price
	al	ing	Motivat		Distan	nce	Valu
	Services	Conditio	ion	Collectivi	ce	Expectan	e
	(BI)	ns (FC)	(HM)	sm (C)	(PD)	cy (PE)	(PV)
BI1	0.906	0.538	0.479	0.211	0.264	0.579	0.372
BI2	0.908	0.523	0.450	0.189	0.266	0.544	0.347
BI3	0.835	0.465	0.458	0.183	0.254	0.491	0.384
FC1	0.500	0.829	0.523	0.135	0.191	0.662	0.318
FC2	0.518	0.831	0.501	0.154	0.202	0.555	0.338
FC3	0.419	0.780	0.507	0.169	0.181	0.481	0.477
FC4	0.250	0.557	0.335	0.307	0.192	0.333	0.413
HM1	0.390	0.452	0.794	0.183	0.156	0.409	0.366
HM2	0.412	0.533	0.858	0.113	0.193	0.475	0.393
HM3	0.494	0.564	0.846	0.150	0.204	0.484	0.412
IC1	0.108	0.171	0.120	0.568	0.316	0.103	0.197
IC2	0.096	0.124	0.135	0.618	0.314	0.089	0.115
IC3	0.157	0.167	0.093	0.745	0.228	0.164	0.039

Table 4. 7 Cross Loadings Values

IC4	0.194	0.168	0.120	0.810	0.326	0.162	0.053
IC5	0.177	0.168	0.153	0.728	0.187	0.098	0.099
IC6	0.160	0.150	0.137	0.700	0.342	0.159	0.035
PD1	0.256	0.258	0.223	0.260	0.801	0.231	0.184
PD2	0.248	0.157	0.194	0.359	0.737	0.140	0.142
PD3	0.201	0.189	0.120	0.264	0.788	0.180	0.063
PD4	0.192	0.144	0.128	0.334	0.752	0.176	0.110
PE1	0.555	0.596	0.479	0.186	0.242	0.850	0.323
PE2	0.487	0.557	0.458	0.229	0.177	0.796	0.287
PE3	0.429	0.510	0.390	0.099	0.198	0.789	0.241
PE4	0.532	0.605	0.478	0.102	0.166	0.866	0.320
PV1	0.290	0.400	0.355	0.122	0.132	0.280	0.832
PV2	0.365	0.421	0.390	0.077	0.206	0.323	0.884
PV3	0.387	0.413	0.439	0.094	0.091	0.302	0.825

From Table 4.7, the loadings of indicators on each assigned latent variable is the highest in comparison to loadings for other latent variables. Moreover, it was confirmed that the difference between loadings for different variables are all more than 0.1. Hence, these results confirm that the discriminant validity through cross loadings has been satisfied.

#### ii. Fornell and Larcker Criterion

The second step under discriminant validity is the Fornell and Larcker criterion. The threshold value for this step is that the square root of AVE for a construct should be higher compared to the correlations between the construct and other constructs (Ramayah et al. 2018). From past research, the use of Fornell and Larcker and cross loadings as methods to test discriminant validity has been shown to provide unreliable results in common research situations. Therefore, the next method which is the Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations (HTMT) is recommended as the superior approach to measure discriminant validity (Henseler, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2015).

Table 4.8 shows the Fornell and Larcker criterion results for all the constructs in this study.

	BI	С	FC	HM	PE	PD	PV
Behavioral							
Intention to Accept	0 884						
<b>Digital Financial</b>	0.004						
Services (BI)							
Collectivism (C)	0.220	0.699					
Facilitating	0.577	0.225	0.758				
Conditions (FC)	0.077	0.220					
Hedonic	0 523	0 177	0.623	0.833			
Motivation (HM)	0.020	525 0.177 0.		0.000			
Performance	0.610	0 188	0.689	0 549	0 826		
Expectancy (PE)	0.010	0.100	0.009	0.577	0.020		
Power Distance	0 296	0 395	0 247	0 223	0 237	0 770	
(PD)	0.270	0.575	0.277	0.225	0.237	0.770	
Price Value (PV)	0.416	0.113	0.486	0.470	0.357	0.168	0.847

Table 4. 8 Fornell & Larcker Criterion Results

Based on the results in Table 4.8, the square root of AVE for each latent variable is higher compared to the correlation on the off-diagonal. Therefore, these results confirm that the discriminant validity through the Fornell and Larcker criterion has been satisfied.

### iii. Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations (HTMT)

The third and final step to assess discriminant validity is the Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations (HTMT). There are two threshold values for this step. Values above 0.85 (Kline 2011) and 0.90 (Gold, Malhotra, and Segars 2001) indicate that there may be issues with discriminant validity. Table 4.9 shows the HTMT results for all the constructs.

	BI	С	FC	HM	PE	PD	PV
Behavioral Intention to							
Accept Digital							
Financial Services (BI)							
Collectivism (C)	0.256						
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	0.693	0.331					
Hedonic Motivation							
(HM)	0.633	0.228	0.799				
Performance	0.711	0.223	0.838	0.670			
Expectancy (PE)	5.7.21			5.67.5			
Power Distance (PD)	0.357	0.518	0.325	0.275	0.291		
Price Value (PV)	0.494	0.161	0.656	0.584	0.428	0.205	

Table 4. 9 HTMT Results

Based on the findings in Table 4.9, all the HTMT values are below 0.85. Additionally, the confidence interval bias corrected is also reported under HTMT. This method utilizes the bootstrapping feature in the SmartPLS software and is also known as the HTMT inferential. Table 4.10 shows the corresponding results for the confidence interval bias corrected.

	5%	95%
Collectivism (C)	-0.048	0.092
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	0.021	0.227
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	0.033	0.228
Performance Expectancy (PE)	0.229	0.427
Power Distance (PD)	0.006	0.153
Price Value (PV)	0.036	0.190

Table 4. 10 Confidence Interval Bias Corrected Results

From Table 4.10, the value of 1 does not appear between the interval for confidence interval bias corrected. In conclusion, these results confirm that the discriminant validity through the Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations criterion and confidence interval bias corrected has been satisfied.

#### 4.5.2 Formative Measurement Model Assessment

Once the reflective measurement model assessment has been completed, the formative measurement model assessment is conducted. This section proceeds to present the findings of data analysis for the only formative construct in this study, which is financial literacy. Justification for the classification of this construct as a formative construct can be found in Chapter 3. Under the formative measurement model, there are two main steps. The first step is multicollinearity issue assessment. In formative measurement models, high multicollinearity is not expected because the indicators are essentially non-interchangeable. The presence of high multicollinearity can negatively impact weight estimations and statistical significance (Ramayah et al. 2018). The second step is to assess the significance and relevance of the formative indicators. In this step, values of outer weights are obtained through a process called bootstrapping. This step is vital because it measures the relative contribution of each formative

indicators to the formation of the latent variable. Hence, the following subsections present the threshold values and findings in detail.

#### a) Multicollinearity Issue Assessment

In this step, the multicollinearity between indicators is assessed. Multicollinearity issues are problematic for formative constructs because they can increase standard errors which negatively impacts the statistical significance generated. Hence, the measurement criteria for this step is the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). There are two threshold values for this step. Firstly, VIF values of 5 or above indicates a potential multicollinearity problem (Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2011). Secondly, VIF values of 3.3 or above indicates a potential multicollinearity problem (Diamantopoulos and Siguaw 2006). The following Table 4.11 shows the outer VIF values results.

Variable	Indicators	Outer VIF values
	FL1	1.205
	FL2	1.526
	FL3	1.471
Financial	FL4	1.308
Literacy	FL5	1.373
Literacy	FL6	1.275
	FL7	1.361
	FL8	1.455
	FL9	1.257

Table 4. 11 Outer VIF values Results

From Table 4.11, the VIF values are all below 3.3 which means that there are no multicollinearity issues among the formative indicators.

#### b) Significance and Relevance of Formative Indicators

The second and final step in formative measurement model assessment is investigating the significance and relevance of formative indicators. In this final stage, the measure used is outer weights. According to Hair et al. (2017), outer weights is an important measure because it measures the contribution of each indicator towards the formation of the construct. The outer weights from this step are obtained using the bootstrapping technique. The threshold value for an outer weight to be considered as significant is to have values above 0.50. However, there are several other considerations that must be taken before a researcher deletes the indicator. For instance, if the outer weight is non-significant, but outer loading is high (above 0.50), the formative indicator should be retained. If both outer weight and outer loading are non-significant (below 0.50), then the formative measure should be deleted with consideration for theoretical and statistical significance. Furthermore, a formative measure can be retained even if the statistical results do not support retaining it, given that there is a strong theory-based justification to retain the indicator. Therefore, Table 4.12 indicates the outer weights for formative indicators.

	Original		Standard		
	Sample	Sample	Deviation	T Statistics	Р
	(0)	Mean (M)	(STDEV)	( O/STDEV )	Values
FL1 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.014	0.006	0.106	0.130	0.448
FL2 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.050	0.058	0.114	0.437	0.331
FL3 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.442	0.429	0.124	3.574	0.000
FL4 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.112	0.094	0.128	0.872	0.192
FL5 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	-0.123	-0.113	0.115	1.074	0.142

Table 4. 12 Outer Weights Summary for Formative Indicators

FL6 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.422	0.397	0.125	3.368	0.000
FL7 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	-0.014	-0.007	0.124	0.116	0.454
FL8 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.431	0.415	0.111	3.902	0.000
FL9 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.115	0.112	0.122	0.942	0.173

In Table 4.12, all the outer weights do not meet the threshold value of above 0.50. In this case, Hair (2017) stated that the next step is to assess the p-values of the formative constructs. A p-value of less than 0.05 indicates that the construct is significant although the outer weights are not significant. From Table 4.12, the constructs FL3, FL6 and FL8 are found to be significant as their p-values are less than 0.05. This method is known as the relative contribution method. As there are still remaining indicators that do not meet both the threshold values for outer weights and p-values, the next step is to assess the outer loadings for the formative indicators.

Original		Sample	Standard Deviation	T Statistics	Р	
	Sample (O)	Mean (M)	(STDEV)	( O/STDEV )	Values	
FL1 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.261	0.253	0.097	2.697	0.004	
FL2 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.446	0.426	0.100	4.454	0.000	
FL3 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.715	0.685	0.088	8.142	0.000	
FL4 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.506	0.478	0.103	4.896	0.000	
FL5 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.364	0.347	0.106	3.433	0.000	
FL6 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.692	0.664	0.080	8.663	0.000	
FL7 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.337	0.324	0.104	3.239	0.001	
FL8 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.736	0.702	0.072	10.211	0.000	
FL9 ->						
Financial						
Literacy (FL)	0.367	0.356	0.107	3.431	0.000	

Table 4. 13 Outer Loadings Summary for Formative Indicators

In this step, the threshold values are outer loadings where they must be higher than 0.50 and the t-value results must be more than 1.645. From the remaining indicators, only FL4 meets the threshold values with 0.506 outer loadings and 4.896 t-value. Hence, this indicator is retained. The remaining indicators after this step are FL1, FL2, FL5, FL7, and FL9. Although these indicators do not meet any of the threshold values in the formative measurement model assessment, these indicators are still retained. The removal of formative indicators on the basis of bootstrap outer loadings may cause poor content validity. Furthermore, these indicators are retained because they have strong theoretical evidence. The financial literacy indicators were developed based on the definition from OECD (2011). Three main elements were selected to measure financial literacy: financial knowledge, financial behavior and financial attitudes.

Furthermore, the financial literacy indicators were also developed based on the Big Three questions by Mitchell and Lusardi (2015) which has been widely used to measure financial literacy around the world. As the remaining indicators were developed based on theoretically driven aspects, the remaining financial literacy indicators were retained. This is further supported by Ramayah et al. (2018) which stated that formative indicators can be retained if there is strong conceptual support for the indicators. Furthermore, the financial literacy indicators are the contribution of the study denoting that retaining these items allow for further testing in different context that may validate its significance. Therefore, no formative indicators are removed from the measurement model and the retaining of each indicator has been justified through statistics and theory-driven conceptualization.

#### 4.6 Structural Model Assessment

As the measurement model assessment has been completed, the second step in the PLS-SEM analysis is the structural model assessment. There are five steps in conducting the structural model assessment: a) multicollinearity issues assessment, b) significance and relevance of structural model relationships, c) coefficient of determination  $R^2$ , d) effect size  $(f^2)$  and e) predictive relevance. The following subsections show the findings from the data analysis.

#### 4.6.1 Multicollinearity Issues Assessment

The first step in structural model assessment is multicollinearity issues assessment. In the reflective measurement model, the discriminant validity was assessed. However, Kock and Lynn (2012) stated that measuring discriminant validity alone is insufficient because lateral multicollinearity issues may mask the strong causal effect in the model. The threshold values for this step follow the same values for the criteria set in the multicollinearity issues assessment for formative measurement model. Hence, there are two threshold values for this step. Firstly, VIF values equal to or higher than 3.3 indicate a potential multicollinearity issue (Diamantopoulos and Siguaw 2006). Secondly, VIF values equal to or higher than 5 indicate a potential multicollinearity issue (Hair, Ringle, and Sarstedt 2011). The results of the analysis are presented in Table 4.14.

	Behavioral Intention to
	Accept Digital
	Financial
	Services (BI)
<b>Behavioral Intention to</b>	
Accept Digital Financial	
Services (BI)	
Collectivism (C)	1.214
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	2.461
Financial Literacy (FL)	1.373
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	1.847
Performance Expectancy	2.075
(PE)	,
Power Distance (PD)	1.287
Price Value (PV)	1.409

Table 4. 14 Inner VIF Values Summary

From Table 4.14, the inner VIF values for all the independent variables are less than 3.3 and 5. Therefore, it indicates that there are no multicollinearity issues in the structural model (Hair et al. 2017).

### 4.6.2 Significance and Relevance of Structural Model Relationships

The second step in structural model assessment is investigating the significance and relevance of the structural model relationships. In this step, the bootstrapping technique is conducted. This is because PLS is a non-parametric technique which does not make any assumptions about data distribution (Ramayah et al. 2018). Therefore, this can impact the estimation of t-values as it can either be inflated or deflated. The bootstrapping procedure is key towards solving this issue because it takes 5000 subsamples from the original sample to provide t-values in determining the significance testing of the structural paths. In this step, the measure is path coefficients which have a standardized value from -1 to +1. Accordingly, values close to -1 indicate strong negative relationships. Conversely, values close to +1 signify strong positive relationships.

Most importantly, the findings from this step can either confirm or reject the hypothesis developed for the study. From the process of bootstrapping, values for path coefficient, t-values and p-values are obtained.

Discussion on the results of hypotheses testing are provided in section 4.11 of this chapter.

#### a) Coefficient of Determination $(R^2)$

The second step in structural model assessment is coefficient of determination. Under this step, the predictive accuracy of the model is assessed using the determination score which is symbolized as  $R^2$ . This measure predicts the predictive accuracy of the model by combining the effect of exogenous variables on endogenous variables. The range of value for this measure is from 0 to 1. Accordingly, the greater the value, the greater the predictive accuracy. Based on past literature, there are three recommended values for the  $R^2$ . For each threshold value, there are three classifications: substantial, moderate or weak. Therefore, the first threshold values recommended by Cohen (1988) are 0.26, 0.13 and 0.02. Secondly, Chin (1998) recommended 0.67, 0.33 and 0.19. Lastly, Hair et al. (2017) recommended values of 0.75, 0.50 and 0.25 respectively.

#### b) Effect Size $(f^2)$

The third step is assessing the effect size of predictor constructs. This is done by using Cohen's  $f^2$  which measures the impact of a predictor variable on an endogenous construct (Cohen 1988). In simpler words, it investigates the contribution of an exogenous construct on an endogenous construct in terms of  $R^2$ . The threshold values recommended by Cohen (1988) are 0.35, 0.15 and 0.02 which are classified as substantial, medium and small effect size respectively.

#### c) Predictive Relevance

The last step in structural model assessment is investigating predictive relevance of the path model. The measure for this step is Stone Geisser  $Q^2$  Predictive relevance was developed by Geisser (1974) and Stone (1974). This process assesses predictive relevance through the blindfolding procedure. This procedure systematically deletes and predicts every data point of indicators in the reflective measurement model of endogenous constructs. The threshold value for this step is that the resulting  $Q^2$  value should be greater than 0 for the exogenous construct to be considered to have acceptable predictive relevance (Fornell and Cha 1994).

#### 4.7 Moderator Analysis Assessment

In the moderator analysis assessment, the method being used in this study is the twostage approach. This method of analysis was first created by Chin, Marcolin, and Newsted (2003). The use of the two-stage approach is most suitable when any of the constructs are classified as a formative construct (Henseler and Chin 2010). It does not matter if either the exogenous or endogenous is a formative construct. The most important reason for using a two-stage approach as stated by Hair et al. (2017) and Henseler and Chin (2010), is when the aim of the analysis is to investigate whether the moderator exerts a significant effect on the relationship. In fact, the use of the two-stage approach yields more accurate estimates and has a higher statistical power (Ramayah et al. 2018).

### a) Change in $R^2$

In the moderator analysis, Ramayah et al. (2018) stated that analyzing the change in  $R^2$  is an important task. The new  $R^2$  must be assessed after the moderating interaction is added to the path model.

#### b) Effect Size $(f^2)$

The next step in moderator analysis is to analyze the effect size or  $f^2$ . In this step, the threshold value follows the suggestion by Kenny (2016) which stated that the values of 0.005, 0.01 and 0.025 are classified as small, medium and large effect size respectively.

#### 4.8 Results of Hypotheses Testing

In the final step for data analysis, the proposed hypotheses in this research are tested. The method of assessment to test a hypothesis is through path coefficient. There are three threshold values suggested by Hair et al. (2017). Firstly, p value must be lesser than 0.01 or 0.001 and t value is more than 2.33 for one-tailed or more than 2.58 for two-tailed. Secondly, p value must be lesser than 0.05 and t value is more than 1.645 for one-tailed or more than 1.96 for two-tailed. Thirdly, p value must be lesser than 0.10 and t value is more than 1.28 or more than 1.96 for two-tailed. Therefore, this study adopts the threshold value where p value must be lesser than 0.05 and t value more than 1.645.

Apart from the path coefficient, confidence interval bias is also reported. According to Ramayah et al. (2018), the reporting of t-values and p-values is insufficient for a dissertation. Hence, the confidence interval bias must also be reported because it indicates the precision of the estimate and the uncertainty of the estimate. If 0 does not appear between the lower and upper bound of confidence interval bias, it can be concluded that there is a significant result. Based on an analysis of all the hypotheses proposed in this research, it was found that nearly all the hypotheses are supported with the exception for Hypothesis 6 and 7. The following section summarizes the results for each hypothesis. Table 4.15 summarizes all the structural measurement findings.

# H1: There is a positive relationship between performance expectancy (PE) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services.

Performance expectancy (PE) strongly and positively influences the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H1 is supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = 0.307$ , t-value = 4.749, p-value = <0.001, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.229; 0.427].

# H2: There is a positive relationship between facilitating conditions (FC) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Facilitating condition (FC) strongly and positively influences the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H2 is supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = 0.133$ , t-value = 2.097, p-value = 0.018, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.021; 0.227].

## H3: There is a positive relationship between hedonic motivation (HM) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hedonic motivation (HM) strongly and positively influences the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H3 is supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = 0.127$ , t-value = 2.189, p-value = 0.015, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.033; 0.228].

## H4: There is a positive relationship between price value (PV) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Price value (PV) strongly and positively influences the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H4 is supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = 0.109$ , t-value = 2.190, p-value = 0.014, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.036; 0.189].

# H5: There is a positive relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Financial literacy (FL) strongly and positively influences the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H5 is supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = 0.186$ , t-value = 3.838, p-value = <0.001, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.087; 0.239].

# H6: Power Distance (PD) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Power Distance (PD) does not moderate the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H6 is not supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = 0.039$  and t-value = 0.949. The  $R^2$  change from 0.494 to 0.498 also indicates that with the addition of two interaction terms, the  $R^2$  has changed about 0.4% (additional variance). From this value, there is very minimal change to the additional variance. Furthermore, the f square of this moderating construct is 0.002 which is classified as a very small effect

size. This hypothesis is not supported because the t-value does not meet the threshold value of 1.645.

## H7: Collectivism (C) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Collectivism (C) does not moderate the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. H6 is not supported because it has the following values, which are  $\beta = -0.064$  and t-value = 1.474. The  $R^2$  change from 0.494 to 0.498 also indicates that with the addition of two interaction terms, the  $R^2$  has changed about 0.4% (additional variance). From this value, there is very minimal change to the additional variance. Furthermore, the f square of this moderating construct is 0.007 which is classified as a small effect size. The hypothesis is not supported as the standard beta is negative and the t-value does not meet the threshold of 1.645.

No	Relationship	Path Coefficient (β)	Standard Error	t-value	p- value	5% Confidence Interval	95% Confidence Interval	Decision	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> before	R <sup>2</sup> after	$f^2$	$Q^2$
H1	PE -> BI (+)	0.307	0.065	4.749***	0.000	0.229	0.427	Supported			0.090	
H2	FC -> BI (+)	0.133	0.063	2.097*	0.018	0.021	0.227	Supported			0.014	
H3	HM -> BI (+)	0.127	0.058	2.189*	0.015	0.033	0.228	Supported	0.494	0.498	0.017	0.369
H4	PV -> BI (+)	0.109	0.050	2.190*	0.014	0.036	0.190	Supported			0.017	
H5	FL -> BI (+)	0.186	0.049	3.838***	0.000	0.087	0.239	Supported			0.050	

Table 4. 15 Summary of Hypotheses Testing Results

Note: \* p < 0.05 \*\* p < 0.01 \*\*\* p <0.001

From Table 4.15, the significance and relevance of the structural paths was first assessed using path coefficient. The path coefficient values in Table 4.15 indicate that the most important determinant in predicting digital financial services acceptance is performance expectancy as it has the highest path coefficient which is 0.307. The second most important determinant is financial literacy with a path coefficient of 0.186. This is followed by facilitating conditions (0.133), hedonic motivation (0.127) and price value (0.109).

The confidence interval bias is also reported for each construct. From the results, all the determinants show positively significant results because 0 does not appear in the interval bias.

The next step was to assess the coefficient of determination, denoted by  $R^2$ . From Table 4.15, the value of  $R^2$  prior to the moderating interaction effect is 0.494. This means that the combined effect of the independent variables on the dependent variable is 0.494 or 49.4%. According to Chin (1998b), this effect can be considered as a moderate effect as it is more than 0.33.

Then, the effect size or  $f^2$  was investigated. From Table 4.15, hedonic motivation (0.017) and price value (0.017) exhibit medium effect size. Meanwhile, performance expectancy (0.090), facilitating conditions (0.014) and financial literacy (0.050) exhibit small effect size respectively.

Following that, the predictive relevance,  $Q^2$  is investigated. From Table 4.15,  $Q^2$  is 0.369. Hence, this value meets the threshold value as it is greater than 0. Therefore, it can be concluded that exogenous constructs can adequately predict the endogenous constructs in this study as they achieve acceptable predictive relevance.

Once the structural model assessment has been completed, the moderator analysis assessment was conducted. The first step was to assess the change in  $R^2$ . Previously,  $R^2$  without the interaction effect was 0.494. After the moderating interaction was added to the path model, the new  $R^2$  is 0.498. This indicates that there is a  $R^2$  change of 0.004. Therefore, this means that with the addition of one interaction term at a time,  $R^2$  has changed about 0.4% (additional variance).

The final step in moderator analysis assessment is effect size  $f^2$ . The results for  $f^2$  of the moderating constructs were obtained after the moderating interactions are added. From Table 4.15, the effect size for the interaction effects for collectivism is 0.007. Meanwhile, the effect size for power distance is 0.002. As the value of  $f^2$  for collectivism is 0.007, this effect size can be classified as a small effect size. However, the effect size for power distance which is 0.002 does

not meet the threshold value of 0.005 by Kenny (2016). Therefore, the moderating construct of power distance is classified as having very small effect on the relationship between financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. On the other hand, the moderating construct of collectivism is classified as having a small effect on the relationship between financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.

	Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial Services (BI)
<b>Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital</b>	
Financial Services (BI)	
<b>Collectivism * Financial Literacy</b>	0.007
<b>Power Distance * Financial Literacy</b>	0.002

Table 4. 16 F Square for Moderating Constructs

Hypothesis	Relationshin	Path	Standard	t_vəluq	Decision	
Trypothesis	Kelationship	Coefficient	Error	t-value	Decision	
H6	Financial Literacy (FL) * Power Distance (PD) -> Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial Services	0.039	0.042	0.949	Not supported	
H7	Financial Literacy (FL) * Collectivism (C) -> Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial Services	-0.064	0.044	1.474	Not supported	

Table 4. 17 Results of Moderator Analysis

The path coefficient for the moderating variable of power distance is 0.039 with a standard error of 0.042. The t-value is 0.949. Although the path coefficient is positive, the t-value does not meet the threshold value of 1.645. From these two values, it can be concluded that the moderating hypothesis of H6 is not supported.

Meanwhile, the standard beta for the moderating variable of collectivism is -0.064 with a standard error of 0.044. The t-value is 1.474. It can be concluded that the moderating hypothesis of H7 is not supported because the path coefficient is negative, and the t-value does not meet the threshold value of 1.645.

#### 4.9 Summary

This chapter provides results obtained from data analysis which was performed using SPSS and SmartPLS 3.0. Data analysis was conducted to investigate two main objectives of the research which are to identify the determinants of the behavioural intention to accept digital financial services (i.e.: performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value, and financial literacy) and to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services (i.e.: power distance and collectivism). This section summarizes the key points from the data analysis.

First, results from preliminary data screening showed that data from this research meets the statistical assumptions required to carry out multivariate analysis. The preliminary data analysis tests conducted are missing data, statistical outliers, normality check and common method bias. A total of 37 questionnaires were removed due to missing data which resulted in 343 questionnaires utilized for data analysis. No statistical outliers were found. Normality check through skewness and kurtosis concluded that this research has a non-normal distribution. Therefore, this justifies the use of Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) as a statistical method for data analysis as it fulfills the non-normal data assumption. Common method bias was tested using Harman's single-factor test and full multicollinearity test. No multicollinearity issues were found.

Second, the measurement model assessment demonstrated satisfactory results as the constructs meet the threshold values of three main tests. In this research, nearly all indicators are reflective constructs except for financial literacy. Nearly all constructs met the composite reliability threshold of 0.70 to 0.90 except for behavioral intention with a value of 0.914. However, research by Diamantopoulos et al. (2012) and Drolet and Morrison (2001) supported the value. All AVE values were at least 0.5. Discriminant validity tests through three distinct tests which are cross loadings, Fornell and Larcker criterion and Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations (HTMT) all meet the threshold values confirmed that the indicators are unique from each other.

Third, the formative measurement model assessment is conducted on financial literacy, which is the only formative construct in the study. No multicollinearity issues were detected as the outer Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) values were all above 3.3. Besides, the significance and relevance were measured using outer weights and outer loadings. Although some of the indicators did not meet the threshold values of both tests, the indicators were retained on the basis of strong theoretical evidence.

Third, the validation of the structural model yielded satisfactory results as the  $R^2$  showed a moderate effect at 0.494 before moderation and 0.498 after moderation. Taken collectively with moderation results, 5 out of 7 hypotheses were supported. In particular, the roles of the two moderating hypotheses were not supported. Path coefficient values ranged from -0.064 to 0.307 and were significant at the minimum of 0.05 for p-value. Moreover, tests for predictive relevance  $(Q^2)$ , with a threshold value of above 0 showed that predictive relevance was achieved with a value of 0.369. The assessment of effect size  $(f^2)$  yielded satisfactory results as values ranged from 0.014 to 0.090 for non-moderating hypotheses and 0.002 to 0.007 for moderating hypotheses.

Data analysis revealed that all the determinants in the framework have a positive relationship with digital financial services acceptance among low-income households in Miri, Sarawak. This is demonstrated through the non-moderating hypotheses measuring determinants of digital financial services acceptance which are H1, H2, H3, H4, and H5. Based on the path coefficient results, the most important determinant in predicting digital financial services acceptance was performance expectancy with a value of 0.307. This is followed by the second most important determinant which is financial literacy with a path coefficient of 0.186. As financial literacy is a contribution of this study, its role as a determinant for digital financial services acceptance has been empirically validated through this finding. Consequently, other determinants have also been empirically validated with the following path coefficient values: facilitating conditions (0.133), hedonic motivation (0.127), and price value (0.109).

However, the roles of the two moderating hypotheses H6 and H7 which measures the moderating roles of cultural dimensions were not supported in this research. In particular, H6 was not supported because the t-value does not meet the threshold value of 1.645 although the path coefficient is positive. Meanwhile, H7 was not supported because the path coefficient was negative at -0.064. Although the negative path coefficient signified an opposite relationship, the t-value which does not meet 1.645 implied that discussion of the opposite relationship is unnecessary. Instead, a discussion on the unsupported relationship is sufficient. Detailed discussions on the justifications for each hypothesis are provided in Chapter 5.

In summary, measurement model, structural model, and moderator analysis were conducted to test the hypotheses proposed in this study. The roles of non-moderating hypotheses which are H1 to H5 were supported. Meanwhile, the roles of moderating hypotheses which are H6 to H7 that measures the moderating roles of cultural dimensions were not supported. Hence, this section concludes Chapter 4 accordingly.

#### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS**

#### **5.1 Introduction**

This chapter begins by providing a chapter summary for the thesis. Then, a recap of the results for the research hypotheses is done. Consequently, this chapter details the discussion of research results by explaining each hypothesis. Then, this chapter commences by detailing the theoretical and managerial implications of the study findings. Then, the limitations of study, recommendations and future research opportunities are stated. Lastly, the thesis is deduced in the conclusions section.

#### 5.2 Summary of Research

In this research, there are two main objectives. The first is to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The second objective is to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Hence, this study aims to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services with consideration for the moderating role of cultural dimensions.

This thesis begins with the introductory chapter which provides the background context for the study. Brief definitions of major terms in the study are also introduced. More importantly, this chapter details the importance of investigating digital financial services in Miri, Sarawak especially on low-income households. The problem statement of the study was laid out to establish the context of the study. Consequently, key elements such as the research questions, research objectives and research hypotheses are detailed. The two main objectives of this study are also presented. The significance of the study was also elaborated. The operational definition of key terms was also presented to improve understanding of key terms in relation to the context of the study. Lastly, the organization of dissertation was presented.

Chapter 2 is the literature review chapter. This chapter details in-depth information about key research areas in the study. The focus on bank-led digital financial services in this research was presented with detailed examples. Furthermore, low-income households were thoroughly defined

based on the Malaysian context. Then, a history of digital financial services acceptance in Malaysia was detailed. The chapter also provides literature support to justify the focus on low-income households in Malaysia. Similar studies conducted in Malaysia were also detailed. Additionally, the chapter details an overview of key technology acceptance theories. With consideration for all the technology acceptance theories, a justification for the selection of United Theory of Technology Acceptance (UTAUT2) and the Hofstede National Culture Theory was elaborated. Past studies examining financial literacy and digital financial services were detailed. Moving on, the moderating variables of this research which are power distance and collectivism were also detailed. As the key variables in this research were elaborated, the theoretical framework of the study was illustrated and laid out. At the end of the chapter, the literature gaps of the study were identified based on the literature review.

Chapter 3 presents the methodology of the study. First, the purpose of the study was recapped again to set the context for the methodology. The research type was defined as quantitative, crosssectional, prospective and non-experimental. Next, the research design was presented through elements such as population, sample, data collection and data analysis. The sample inclusion criteria were also stated with justification provided for each criterion. More specifically, the inclusion criteria for this study are individuals of age 18 years old or older, married or unmarried, main income earner in the family, employed with income from labor or self-employment, lives in Miri City and has a household income from RM1,070 to RM3,459 per month. A sample size of 343 households was derived through the Krejcie and Morgan (1970) table. Then, a justification for the selection of Miri, Sarawak as a sampling location was done. The non-probability sampling methods utilized in this study are purposive and snowball sampling. The instrument utilized for data collection is self-administered questionnaire. The development of the questionnaire was detailed through the instrumentation section. Findings of the pilot test were presented through the internal reliability of the instrument which is Cronbach alpha. Control variables were elaborated. Moving on, data analysis methods using SPSS and PLS-SEM were elaborated in the subsequent sections. Towards the end of the chapter, ethical considerations and a summary of the chapter were presented.

The fourth chapter describes the findings of the data analysis. From the analysis, a summary of the hypotheses is detailed below in relation to the research questions.

RQ 1: What are the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?

**RQ 2:** How do cultural dimensions moderate financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?

This fifth and concluding chapter details the summary of each chapter. Furthermore, the theoretical and practical implications of the study are also presented. Then, the limitations of the study are presented. Recommendations for future research are also provided. Lastly, a conclusion section summarizes the chapter.

#### **5.3 Findings Summary**

Findings from this research found that performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation, price value and financial literacy have a positive relationship with the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Meanwhile, the moderating role of power distance on financial literacy and behavioral intention was not supported. Similarly, the moderating role of collectivism on financial literacy and behavioral intention was also not supported.

Table 5.1 summarizes the findings of the study and the results for each hypothesis. In total, there are seven hypotheses being investigated in this research. Five out of seven hypotheses are supported.
Research	Research	Descent Here there	Research Findings	
Questions	Objectives	Research Hypotheses		
	RO 1: To identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial	H1	There is a positive relationship between performance expectancy (PE) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services	This hypothesis is supported because it has the following values, which are $\beta = 0.307$ , t- value = 4.749, p-value = <0.001, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.229; 0.427].
RQ 1: What are the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial		H2	There is a positive relationship between facilitating conditions (FC) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services	This hypothesis is supported because it has the following values, which are $\beta = 0.133$ , t- value = 2.097, p-value = 0.018, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.021; 0.227].
services?	services	H3 H4	There is a positiverelationshipbetweenhedonicmotivation (HM)and the behavioral intention(BI)toacceptdigitalfinancial servicesThere is a positive	This hypothesis is supported because it has the following values, which are $\beta = 0.127$ , t- value = 2.189, p-value = 0.015, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.033; 0.228]. This hypothesis is
			relationship between price	supported because it has

Table 5. 1 Summary of Research Hypotheses and Findings

		H5	value (PV) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services There is a positive relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services	the following values, which are $\beta = 0.109$ , t- value = 2.190, p-value = 0.014, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.036; 0.189]. This hypothesis is supported because it has the following values, which are $\beta = 0.186$ , t- value = 3.838, p-value = <0.001, and 95% confidence interval bias = [0.087; 0.239].
RQ 2: How do cultural dimensions moderate financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?	RO 2: To investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services	H6	Power Distance (PD) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services	This hypothesis is not supported because it has the following values, which are $\beta = 0.039$ and t-value = 0.949. The $R^2$ change from 0.494 to 0.498 also indicates that with the addition of one interaction term at a time, the $R^2$ has changed about 0.4% (additional variance). From this value, there is very minimal change to the additional variance. Furthermore, the f

			square of this
			moderating construct is
			0.002 which is
			classified as a very
			small effect size.
	H7	Collectivism (C) positively	This hypothesis is not
		moderates the relationship	supported because it has
		between financial literacy	the following values,
		(FL) and the behavioral	which are $\beta = -0.064$
		intention (BI) to accept	and t-value = $1.474$ .
		digital financial services.	The $R^2$ change from
			0.494 to 0.498 also
			indicates that with the
			addition of one
			interaction term at a
			time, the $R^2$ has
			changed about 0.4%
			(additional variance).
			From this value, there is
			very minimal change to
			the additional variance.
			Furthermore, the f
			square of this
			moderating construct is
			0.007 which is
			classified as a small
			effect size.

### 5.4 Discussion of Findings

This study seeks to reframe the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2) model to predict the behavioral intention of low-income households in Miri, Sarawak towards the acceptance of digital financial services. The UTAUT2 model is the most accepted theoretical model for consumers' adoption of technology, which was developed as an integrated framework of eight technology acceptance theories. This study utilizes four original determinants from the UTAUT2 model which are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation and price value. Apart from the determinants adopted from the UTAUT2 theory, another determinant which is financial literacy was incorporated into the theoretical framework. In this study, financial literacy is a key contribution to the study. This study is the first to propose financial literacy in the UTAUT2 framework. The role of financial literacy is especially more pronounced for low-income households as it equips the latter with basic financial knowledge which leads to an increased capacity to evaluate the right digital financial services for their needs (Atkinson and Messy 2013). Consequently, the role of financial literacy as a determinant for the acceptance of digital financial services has also been established. This is evident as it emerged as the second most important determinant for digital financial services acceptance.

Meanwhile, two moderating variables which are power distance and collectivism were obtained from the Hofstede National Culture Theory. This section discusses the individual results of each hypothesis in relation to the body of literature to contextualize the findings with the research questions and objectives.

With reference to the problem statement, this research seeks to answer several research questions which align with the research objectives and hypotheses proposed. The following details the findings for each research question, which will be explained through each research hypothesis.

# H1: There is a positive relationship between performance expectancy (PE) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Aligned with the research objective 1 (RO1) which seeks to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services, hypothesis 1 proposes that there is a positive relationship between performance expectancy (PE) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. With reference to Table 5.1, it was found that performance expectancy has a positive impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The research findings show that the path coefficient is 0.307 with a p value of 0.000 (p<0.001), which confirm this hypothesis. From the path coefficient, it was found that performance expectancy is the most powerful determinant of digital financial services acceptance as it has the highest path coefficient. This finding is expected as Venkatesh et al. (2003) stated that performance expectancy is the strongest determinant regardless of whether the study is conducted in a voluntary or non-voluntary context.

The positive relationship between performance expectancy and behavioral intention also aligns with past studies which investigated the acceptance of digital finance (Baptista and Oliveira 2015; Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014; Morosan and DeFranco 2016; Rahi, Ghani, and Ngah 2019; Savic and Pesterac 2019). Similarly, past studies examining the acceptance of mobile banking, as an aspect of digital financial services found that performance expectancy has a significantly positive impact on behavioral intention (Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018; Rahi and Ghani 2018; Sarfaraz 2017).

The positive relationship between performance expectancy and behavioral intention indicates that low-income households are more likely to use digital financial services if they believe that it is beneficial for them. This relates to the two main ways that low-income households can benefit from the use of digital financial services which was mentioned earlier in this research. In the context of low-income households, some of the most prominent benefits of digital financial services include being able to conduct financial transactions anywhere, anytime (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Williams 2016; Ngugi et al. 2020), high level of accessibility (Tan and Lau 2016b) and secure payment systems (Bongomin et al. 2018). All these benefits increase the efficiency of financial services which help low-income households fight against poverty. In fact, the use of digital financial services through formal banking accounts has been proven to increase the level of financial inclusion for low-income households (Dancey 2013). The ability to make essential dayto-day financial transactions using digital financial services help reduce the vulnerability and inequality in the marketplace for low-income households (Kamran and Uusitalo 2016; Kempson and Collard 2012).

The convenience of digital financial services is evident in a recent policy released by the Malaysian government. Recognizing the benefits of digital financial services as a strategic tool for Malaysia's transition to a high-income economy, the government has rolled out several initiatives to improve the level of convenience and access to digital financial services. These initiatives are outlined in the Financial Sector Blueprint 2011-2020 by the Malaysian government (Bank Negara Malaysia 2011). The key priorities of the blueprint include making mobile banking the forefront channel to encourage greater participation in the formal financial market. Some features introduced to encourage the use of mobile banking include introducing online Electronic Bills Payments Portal which increases the convenience of paying bills through one channel instead of using multiple channels. Another key priority of the Blueprint is to improve the electronic payments' infrastructure by increasing the number of Point of Sale (POS) terminals, especially at smaller merchants. Wider acceptance of PIN-based debit cards among merchants is also among the initiatives. A good incentive infrastructure is also introduced to encourage the use of debit cards (Bank Negara Malaysia 2011).

The second way that low-income households benefit from digital financial services also relates to performance expectancy. This is because they perceive that the use of digital financial services will help them build their wealth by connecting them to providers of credit, insurance and investment (Ozili 2018). Hence, it can be said that low-income households believe that the use of digital financial services provide them access to secure credit providers (Ozili 2018) and insurance which helps reduce their vulnerability to risks such as economic, political, natural disasters or lifecycle-related (Radermacher, Ralf, and Brinkmann 2011).

Aligned with this, the Malaysian government is committed to expand the range of financial services to meet the distinct needs of the underserved population, such as low-income households. Under the Financial Sector Blueprint 2011-2020, the government strengthens the institutional arrangement with formal financial institutions to provide micro savings products that require low periodical savings commitments while also providing favorable returns to low-income households.

The use of these micro savings products can be accessed online and this encourages low-income households to save for long-term goals such as education, small business and retirement (Bank Negara Malaysia 2011).

Given these financially inclusive initiatives done by the Malaysian government, they will lead lowincome households to be more likely to accept digital financial services as they believe that their quality of life will improve.

# H2: There is a positive relationship between facilitating conditions (FC) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hypothesis 2 proposes that there is a positive relationship between facilitating conditions (FC) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. With reference to Table 5.1, it was found that facilitating conditions has a positive impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The research findings show that the path coefficient is 0.133 with a p value of 0.018 (p<0.05) which confirms this hypothesis. This finding is consistent with past studies which found that facilitating conditions is positively correlated to behavioral intention (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Rahi, Abd. Ghani, and Ngah 2019; Savic and Pesterac 2019).

Past studies have also established empirical support that facilitating conditions has a positive impact on different technologies of digital financial services such as mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018) and internet banking (Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič 2014). The confirmation of facilitating conditions as a determinant indicates that low-income households use digital financial services as they believe that the necessary facilities, resources and support to use the services are available. One of the main reasons that low-income households in Miri, Sarawak accept digital financial services can be attributed to the high level of mobile phone ownership. This is supported by DOSM (2017) which stated that ownership of mobile phones for the B40 group is at 92.70% compared to home internet subscription which is 22.70%. The high level of mobile phone ownership even among low-income households is caused by several key factors such as the affordability of mobile phones and low-cost communication

networks (Hinson 2011). Therefore, this means that low-income households can make use of their experience with mobile phones and apply it in the usage of digital financial services.

More importantly, the variety of mobile phones means that low-income households can obtain one which suits their capability to use them. In relation to this, the convenient nature of using a mobile phone is related to facilitating conditions because Martins, Oliveira, and Popovič (2014) stated that digital financial service users need to know how to use computers and connect it to the internet to use it. In addition, low-income households also accept digital financial services because they perceive it as compatible with the digital devices that they use.

Another important factor which supports the role of facilitating conditions is accessibility to the internet. This is mainly driven by the level of Internet coverage within Malaysia. In 2010, Malaysia introduced the National Broadband Initiative (NBI) which aims to expand the coverage of Internet connection throughout Malaysia. This policy aims to address issues with the supply and demand of internet within Malaysia that has been a pressing concern. Relevant to low-income households in this study, some of the key initiatives include expanding the coverage for mobile broadband 3G and LTE, suburban broadband (SUBB) coverage and rural broadband (RBB) coverage. These initiatives have proven to be effective as it increased broadband penetration from 25% in 2006 to 66.6% in 2013 (MAMPU 2020).

Furthermore, another notable initiative by the government to increase internet accessibility is providing a one-off discount of RM200 for the purchase of a 3G smartphone from verified Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission (MCMC) representatives. As a majority of Malaysians who use the internet are youths, this initiative aims to raise the standard of living for youths and encourage youths to contribute to the nation's economy through e-commerce. Moreover, this also aligns with the demographic statistics of the respondents for this study which also primarily comprises of youths where 44% of the respondents are from 26-33 years old. According to the Malaysian government, youths are defined as individuals from age 15 to 30.

Given the ease of access to the internet through affordable mobile phones and increased internet coverage, this causes low-income households to perceive that they have adequate facilities, resources, and support to accept digital financial services.

# H3: There is a positive relationship between hedonic motivation (HM) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hypothesis 3 proposes that there is a positive relationship between hedonic motivation (HM) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. With reference to Table 5.1, it was found that hedonic motivation has a positive impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The research findings show that the path coefficient is 0.127 with a p value of 0.015 (p<0.05) which confirm this hypothesis. This finding is consistent with past studies which found that hedonic motivation is positively correlated to behavioral intention.

For instance, past studies on the technology acceptance of digital financial services have shown that hedonic motivation positively impacts behavioral intention such as internet banking (Rahi, Ghani, and Ngah 2020) and mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018). The confirmed role of hedonic motivation in digital financial services indicates that low-income households perceive the use of digital financial services intrinsic utilities which are non-functional and emotional in nature (Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018). As the target sample in this study are low-income households, this relates to early use of technology as they are most likely to have limited experience with using this service.

For low-income households, their decision to accept digital financial services is attributed to the novelty of digital financial services (Holbrook and Hirschman 1982). This attracts low-income households to use them. Formal banking institutions have created mobile applications and websites which utilize appealing visuals. For instance, banks are now incorporating game mechanisms in digital financial services which attracts low-income households to use their services. Additionally, gamification can be seen in the MAE app, which is an e-wallet created by Malayan Banking Berhad (Maybank). A gamification feature in the MAE app is available through the 'Money MAE-Hem' which encourages users to use the app by playing a game which gives them opportunities to earn money by winning the game.

As appealing visuals have been proven to invoke the feelings of pleasure and entertainment, lowincome households are more likely to use and recommend the use of digital financial services to others (Arcand et al. 2017; Sahoo and Pillai 2017). Given these reasons, it is evident that lowincome households are motivated by intrinsic utilities such as novelty of digital financial services and appealing visuals, which are represented by hedonic motivation.

# H4: There is a positive relationship between price value (PV) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hypothesis 4 proposes that there is a positive relationship between price value (PV) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. With reference to Table 5.1, it was found that price value has a positive impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The research findings show that the path coefficient is 0.109 with a p value of 0.014 (p<0.05) which confirm this hypothesis. This finding is consistent with past studies which found that price value is positively correlated to behavioral intention.

In fact, price value has been shown to positively impact the behavioral intention to adopt mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Arenas-Gaitán, Peral-Peral, and Ramón-Jerónimo 2015; Baptista and Oliveira 2017). From the positive relationship between price value and behavioral intention, it is evident that low-income households believe the benefits they obtain from digital financial services is greater than the price incurred to access the service. Some of the price that low-income households must pay to access digital financial services are cost of digital device, internet bills, initial service setup costs, annual card fees and transaction fees. As low-income households have limited financial resources, these costs may hinder them from using digital financial services.

Although there are costs incurred with the use of digital financial services, low-income households believe that they benefit in many ways from the use of these services. One of the most prominent benefits is increasing the level of financial inclusion for low-income households in the society (Sassi and Goaied 2013). This manifests through several advantages such as being able to keep their money through secure channels of digital financial services such as online banking, mobile wallet and electronically enabled cards. Compared to keeping cash with non-bank digital financial services provider, bank-led digital financial services enable secure transactions which reduce the risk of theft or robbery (Chen et al. 2020).

A key area where the benefit of digital financial services is prominent for low-income households is government social cash transfers. Examples of these government social cash transfers are Bantuan Rakyat 1 Malaysia (BR1M), Bantuan Prihatin Nasional (BPN) and Bantuan Sarawakku Sayang (BSS). These government social cash transfers often involve low-income households nationwide, be it in urban or rural areas. By transferring this money through digital financial services, this leads to an increase in financial inclusion for low-income households because they participate directly in the formal financial system (Dancey 2013). More importantly, distribution through digital financial services enables low-income households to receive payments in a timely, secure and efficient manner. Without digital financial services, low-income households must travel to designated pick up areas to obtain their government cash aid. Apart from increased financial services include improved functionality, enjoyment, service quality, usefulness, interactivity and accessibility (Arcand et al. 2017).

Secondly, the positive relationship between price value and behavioral intention is also driven by the lowered cost of use for digital financial services. In the past, the issue of price distortion is apparent within the formal financial market, causing digital financial services to be more expensive compared to paper-based instruments. In fact, the online transfer of money using the Interbank GIRO (IBG) used to be above RM2 per transaction. Recognizing this price distortion, the Malaysian government introduced the Pricing Reform Framework which lowered the cost of use for online transfer of money via IBG (Bank Negara Malaysia 2014). As an impact of the policy, the cost of online money transfers is now RM1.00 at Automated Teller Machines (ATM) and RM0.10 for internet banking. In fact, there are banks in Malaysia that offer completely free interbank cash transfers. The reduction in the cost of transferring money online leads to a positive outlook about price value, especially among low-income households.

Thirdly, the low cost in internet access is a driving feature of price value as a determinant. According to a report by World Bank (2018), Malaysia is a mobile-first country. This means that Malaysian consumers mainly access the internet through their mobile devices. Furthermore, Malaysia is the most connected country among its peers in the ASEAN region. For every 100 individuals, Malaysians have 92 active mobile Internet subscriptions. The burgeoning growth of mobile internet has benefitted four major players in the mobile market that together takes up 95%

of the market shares. Despite this, Malaysian consumers pay higher prices to access the internet compared to its ASEAN peers for similar mobile and fixed broadband plans albeit having slower download speeds. High prices and lower affordability can hinder the adoption of digital financial services especially among low-income households in Malaysia. In 2018, a major regulatory reform through the introduction of the Mandatory Standard on Access Pricing (MSAP) by the country's telecommunications regulator, the Malaysian Communications and Media Communication (MCMC). This policy has significant positive impact as the average speed for fixed broadband has tripled within a year. More importantly, the price of fixed broadband connection is now over 40% cheaper (World Bank Group 2019). Consequently, this had led to an increase in subscription and affordability.

Based on these justifications, low-income households believe that the collective benefits that they receive from the use of digital financial services outweigh the cost incurred to use the technology.

### H5: There is a positive relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hypothesis 5 proposes that there is a positive relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services. With reference to Table 5.1, it was found that financial literacy has a positive impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The research findings show that the path coefficient is 0.186 with a p value of 0.000 (p<0.001) which confirm this hypothesis. It is also important to note that financial literacy is the second most powerful determinant after performance expectancy.

This determinant was derived from literature and has never been tested in the context of a UTAUT2 framework. However, there have been past evidence which show that financial literacy leads to positive financial behaviors (Nguyen and Doan 2020). In the context of this study, the acceptance of digital financial services is a positive financial behavior because it leads to numerous benefits for low-income households such as enabling them to fight against poverty by increasing the efficiency of basic financial services (Ozili 2018; Rizwan and Catherine 2016). Furthermore, access to digital financial services also empowers low-income households to build their wealth by

being connected to advanced digital financial services through credit, insurance and investment (Ozili 2018).

Financial literacy is imperative for low-income households because it builds their capacity to apply a combination of knowledge, awareness, skill, attitude and behavior in their financial decisions. In fact, this determinant is highly relevant for this study because it implies that access to digital financial services alone is insufficient. Hence, low-income households must be equipped with financial literacy to ensure that the level of financial inclusion among Malaysians increases. This is even more important in the context of low-income households as many Malaysians have poor financial literacy which is evident through the excessive amount of debt and poor retirement planning choices. In this regard, the role of financial literacy is imperative for low-income households because it empowers them to make optimal decisions such as accepting digital financial services (Bongomin et al. 2017).

From the descriptive statistics of this study, it shows that the highest educational qualification for majority of the research participants is a diploma. This is expected as many low-income households often forgo pursuing higher educational qualifications due to financial constraints and limited access to credit (Mustapa, Al Mamun, and Ibrahim 2018). Although so, this study shows that financial literacy for low-income households leads to the acceptance of digital financial services. Interestingly, this seems to oppose a notion by Huston (2010) which stated that majority of low-income households have low levels of financial literacy. A closer look at the demographics of the research participants revealed that majority of them only have a diploma as the highest education qualification. Despite this, low-income households can still develop financial literacy through a combination of informal and formal experience. This is supported by Worthington (2016) which stated that financial literacy can be taught to lead towards positive financial behaviors.

In the context of Malaysia, the development of good financial literacy among low-income households is possible through several efforts. Murugiah (2016) detailed several noteworthy efforts to encourage financial literacy by the Malaysian government.

From a formal education context, the Malaysian government recently introduced comprehensive financial education components in the educational curriculum for students from Primary 3 until

secondary school in 2016. Some of the financial literacy aspects being taught include money management, savings, planning and investment.

Meanwhile, there are numerous noteworthy efforts done by the government to introduce informal financial education in Malaysia. One of the most noteworthy efforts was launched by Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) to establish the Credit Counseling and Debt Management Agency (AKPK). Under this agency, there are multiple initiatives that can benefit low-income households. Several key services that AKPK provide are financial education, financial counselling and debt management program. Throughout the year, AKPK organizes public programs which aim to educate the public about financial education through fun weekend activities. Additionally, AKPK also provides free financial courses which are accessible through their online learning portal. There are different courses that individuals can access for free such as cashflow management during festive seasons, emergencies, property purchase and marriage (AKPK 2020).

Furthermore, Malaysia recently introduced the National Strategy for Financial Literacy 2019-2023 which aspires to elevate the level of financial literacy among Malaysians. This policy recognizes that inculcating financial literacy among Malaysians requires a sustained and coordinated approach to encourage long-term behavioral change. Therefore, this policy identifies several key priorities to inculcate financial literacy among Malaysians. Relevant to low-income households in this study, the strategic priority under this policy is to increase access to basic financial education tools. Furthermore, financial education campaigns are also held at a greater scale nationwide. Next, the strategic policy is to foster positive financial behavior among targeted groups. Financial knowledge will be imparted among the youths, which make up most of the respondents for this study. Meanwhile, employees are also targeted to receive financial education at their workplace. Additionally, community-based financial education and financial knowledge for the self-employed are also emphasized. Moving on, another strategic priority under the policy is educating the public on the importance of building long-term wealth and retirement planning. This is done through providing guidelines, tools and channels which promote income diversification (Financial Education Network 2019).

Hence, it is reasonable to conclude that to the extent that these initiatives are effective in improving financial literacy, they will contribute to people making better financial decisions. Aligned with

the objectives of this study, this means that it can also lead to low-income households making better financial decisions such as accepting the use of digital financial services.

## H6: Power Distance (PD) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hypothesis 6 proposes that power distance positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. It proposes that the direct relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention is expected to be stronger for individuals with high power distance values. With reference to Table 5.1, the path coefficient is 0.039 with a t value of 0.949. The  $R^2$  change from 0.494 to 0.498 also indicates that with the addition of an interaction term,  $R^2$  has changed about 0.4% (additional variance). From this value, there is very minimal change to the additional variance. Furthermore, the f square of this moderating construct is 0.002. From these results, it can be concluded that power distance does not have a moderating impact on the direct relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Hence, the hypothesis is not supported.

Power distance has never been tested to moderate the relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention in past studies. However, past studies have shown that individuals which come from high-power distance societies are often obliged to follow instructions from authoritative figures or their superiors to take up digital financial services (Shane 1995; Ansari, Ahmad, and Aafaqi 2004). Hence, the unsupported hypothesis shows that the latter notion contradicts the hypothesized relationship. However, there are past studies that state that power distance doe not play a moderating role in technology acceptance (Alshare et al. 2011; Goularte and Zilber 2019; Mutlu and Ergeneli 2012; Udo and Bagchi 2011). There are two possible reasons as to why this hypothesis is not supported.

First and foremost, information technology is less likely to be used in high power distance societies because control stifles creative pursuits. Under the premise of high power distance, individuals are subjected to authoritative measures which dictate knowledge sharing and exchange (Shane 1995). A study conducted by Straub, Keil, and Brenner (1997) found that managers and employees which are separated by high power distance are less likely to use computer-based media. This is further

supported by Luo, Wang, and Tong (2020) which found that individuals in high power distance societies are negatively correlated to innovative behaviors. This can be attributed to ineffective interactions among individuals (Nembhard and Edmondson 2006), low amount of information sharing (Luo et al. 2020) and the weak autonomy that individuals have in innovation processes (Banerjee and Srivastava 2012). Moreover, past literature have shown that the use of technology is most effective when it empowers individuals (Harris 1997; Panko and Panko 1988). However, in the context of low-income households, this situation is unlikely because they have low levels of financial literacy. Therefore, they rely on instructions from higher levels of authority. In the society today, the government and banks are the primary stakeholders in increasing the access of digital financial services for low-income households. The dependency of low-income households to these stakeholders creates a major flaw because the authority lacks the technology knowledge to provide to the end users' needs of low-income households. This is evident in the lack of digital financial services that are compatible to the needs of low-income households (Bongomin, Yourougou, and Munene 2019; Mhlanga 2020). In fact, this is more prominent in the fact that financial exclusion exists because there is a gap in the current types of digital financial services offered and the ones that low-income households need to improve their financial situation (Koku 2015). Although other stakeholders such as non-profit organizations and academics have necessary information on the digital financial services needs of low-income households, the high levels of power distance hinder the major stakeholders such as the government and the bank from taking advice from other stakeholders due to the rigid power structure in place.

For instance, the Malaysian government offers the Credit Counseling and Debt Management Agency (AKPK) for the residents of Sarawak. Although this program is available for free, it is a voluntary program. Furthermore, the major shortcoming of this program is that it primarily focuses on debt management for people with serious financial issues (AKPK 2020). The credit counseling program is also not comprehensive to address the needs of low-income households and there is a lack of awareness about this program. The effectiveness of this program is also unknown for low-income households. Using this logic, making major decisions without consulting those that have more technological knowledge and understanding of the end users' needs can lead to unsuccessful results especially in digital financial services acceptance. Consequently, this does not engage low-income households to use their financial literacy to accept digital financial services.

Secondly, the multiplicity of normative influences which encourages financial literacy could confound the moderating influence of power distance. According to Joe et al. (2017), normative influence refers to the influence exerted on an individual to conform to the norms of the reference group. The normative influence in this hypothesis relates to the stakeholders that play a role in building financial literacy among low-income households. Bongomin and Munene (2020) stated that normative influence is a key component of the institutional framework that can promote financial literacy among low-income households. Under the premise of high power distance, low-income households accept the hierarchy in place. In this study, the hierarchy manifests through the bank as this study focuses on bank-led digital financial services.

However, the relationship between the bank and low-income households is not the same as the traditional superior-subordinate relationship which power distance implies (Irangani, Liu, and Gunesekera 2020). This is because multiple hierarchies exist in the inculcation of financial literacy among low-income households. The hierarchy in this study exists among banks and low-income households, the government and low-income households (Bank Negara Malaysia 2011), and non-profit organizations and low-income households. These hierarchies exist because these stakeholders all play a key role in promoting financial literacy among low-income households. In this research, only the level of financial literacy among low-income households was measured. The impact that each influence has on the level of financial literacy among low-income households was not measured individually. For instance, the impact of the hierarchy between the government and low-income households may be stronger compared to the hierarchy which involves the bank and non-profit organizations. Hence, the multiplicity of these relationships could dampen the moderating effect that power distance has on the direct relationship.

# H7: Collectivism (C) positively moderates the relationship between financial literacy (FL) and the behavioral intention (BI) to accept digital financial services

Hypothesis 7 proposes that collectivism can moderate the relationship between financial literacy and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. It proposes that the direct relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention is expected to be stronger for individuals with collectivism values. With reference to Table 5.1, it was found that collectivism has a negative impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.

The research findings show that the path coefficient is -0.064 with a t value of 1.474 which rejects this hypothesis. The  $R^2$  change from 0.494 to 0.498 also indicates that with the addition of two interaction terms,  $R^2$  has changed about 0.4% (additional variance). From this value, there is very minimal change to the additional variance. The f square of this moderating construct is 0.007. From the negative path coefficient, this indicates that the hypothesis is not supported. From past literature, there are studies which also did not support the moderating role of collectivism for technology acceptance (Ganguly et al. 2010; Tarhini et al. 2017). There are several possible reasons as to why this hypothesis is not supported.

Firstly, a possible reason to the rejection is that the in-groups for low-income households do not adopt digital financial services. The collectivism construct relates to the knowledge sharing for financial literacy. More importantly, collectivist individuals differentiate people into two groups which are in-group members and out-group members (Chow, Deng, and Ho 2000). When it comes to sharing knowledge, individuals with collectivist values need to identify others as their in-group members before they share (Bao, Zhang, and Chen 2015). Examples of in-group members in this study are immediate relatives and members of the local community, which include low-income households. Meanwhile, out-group members are members of a different community such as middle or high-income individuals and people who they have less frequent contact with.

As a collectivistic individual is associated with shared pursuits based on the collective interest of the in-group, it is therefore imperative to understand the current norms of their ingroup. In the community that low-income households live in, people primarily transact in a cash-based economy. This is supported by the findings of BNM (2017) which stated that majority of the two million adults in Malaysia which are unbanked comprise of low-income individuals. Furthermore, a study by UN Capital Development Fund (2019) revealed that the majority of low-income

households are not aware of the potential that digital financial services hold. Hence, the in-group members of low-income households clearly do not propagate the belief that the acceptance of digital financial services is important to change their financial situation. Therefore, low-income households are likely to follow the beliefs of their in-groups due to the cohesive nature of collectivistic societies. This is further supported by Van Everdingen and Waarts (2003) which found that the uptake of new technologies is more challenging in collectivistic societies as there is often a delay due to the collective decision process. The reluctance to accept digital financial services in collectivist societies can also be attributed to the fact that face-to-face media is preferred as it transmits situational cues which are deemed as desirable for collectivists (Straub and Karahanna 1998).

Secondly, this hypothesis is not supported because Sarawak may not have an extremely collectivistic culture. In the context of South East Asian countries, Malaysia scores higher on this index compared to Singapore (20), Thailand (20), and Indonesia (14) (Hofstede Insights 2019). Higher scores on this index denote that individuals have a higher tendency to possess individualistic cultural values. Given that the values were tabulated 40 years ago, there is a likelihood that Malaysians have been exposed to recent and instrumental cultural exchange events that may cause deviation from the previous collectivistic values. These instrumental events include cultural exchange with other countries in the form of students studying abroad (Borneo Post Online 2019; Sarawak Voice 2019), transfer of foreign labor experts into Malaysia (Jordaan 2018) and many events that involve international interaction with Malaysian counterparts. More importantly, Malaysia is also becoming increasingly dependent on migrant workers in which Thuraisamy (2018) posited that thes workers are becoming permanent residents in Malaysia. These cultural exchange events have exposed Malaysia to outside influences at a large scale. Therefore, this exposure impacts the moderation of collectivism on the direct relationship of financial literacy and behavioral intention, in which the collectivistic values within the Malaysian society may have reduced over the years due to exposure to external influences. Moreover, the data from this study are collected primarily from young adults in Miri, Sarawak, which may show more deviation from the traditional Malaysian culture.

### 5.5 Implications of The Study

In this section, two different implications are discussed. Firstly, the theoretical implications are discussed. Then, the managerial implications of the study are elaborated.

### 5.5.1 Theoretical Implications

This research has several theoretical implications. The following section details the key theoretical implications.

First and foremost, this study added to the body of knowledge by being the first UTAUT2 study to incorporate the use financial literacy as one of its determinants. By investigating the role of financial literacy towards behavioral intention, this provides an opportunity for researchers to understand the impact of this determinant. The study findings provide evidence that financial literacy has a significant impact on the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Although the role of financial literacy has been empirically established to lead to positive financial behaviors, the impact of this determinant has never been tested in the UTAUT2 theory. The importance of financial literacy to help individuals develop and utilize their financial knowledge has been reiterated by several scholars (Huston 2010; World Bank 2008; 2009). Most of the past studies investigating the role of financial literacy only assessed some areas of finance. For instance, Astuti and Trinugroho (2016) investigated the relationship between financial literacy and engagement in banking among the low-income households in Indonesia. This study empirically found that financial literacy has a positive relationship with banking engagement. Meanwhile, another financial literacy study was conducted by Henager and Cude (2016). It assessed the relationship between financial literacy and financial behavior which was classified into short-term and long-term behavior. The role of financial literacy was also confirmed in this study. Similarly, Königsheim, Lukas, and Nöth (2017) conducted a study which investigated the relationship between financial knowledge and risk preferences on the demand for non-bank digital financial services. This study also confirmed the role of financial literacy towards the demand for non-bank digital financial services. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to ever investigate

the role of financial literacy towards bank-led digital financial services using the UTAUT2 framework. This can add to the body of knowledge for technology acceptance by examining the impact of this role towards low-income households.

The second theoretical implication of this study is to empirically confirm the direct relationship between the determinants of UTAUT2 to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. These determinants are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, price value and hedonic motivation. One of the research objectives is to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Past studies that utilized the UTAUT2 studies have linked the determinants to behavioral intention (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Arshad, Mat, and Ibrahim 2018; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018; Rahi and Abd. Ghani 2018; Sarfaraz 2017). From the findings of this study, the roles of all the determinants from the UTAUT2 study positively impact behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. From these findings, it adds to the body of knowledge by confirming the role of these determinants from an Eastern context. Although past studies have utilized the UTAUT2 theoretical framework, many of them only study a subsection of digital financial services such as mobile banking (Alalwan, Dwivedi, and Rana 2017; Gharaibeh and Mohd Arshad 2018; Farah, Hasni, and Abbas 2018). In comparison, this study investigates all the services included under digital financial services, such as mobile phones, electronically enabled cards, tablets, point of sale (POS) terminals, automated teller machines (ATM) or any other digital systems (Alliance for Financial Inclusion 2016). This study only links four main determinants from the UTAUT2 framework which are performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, price value and hedonic motivation. Other UTAUT2 determinants such as effort expectancy, social influence and habit are not considered as they are not relevant for this study. The exclusion of these factors contributes to the UTAUT2 theory as it demonstrates that performance expectancy, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivation and price value are sufficient to lay a strong foundation for the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households.

Lastly, this research is among the few technology acceptances studies that investigated the moderating role of Hofstede national cultural dimensions towards financial literacy and behavioral intention. Two Hofstede national culture dimensions were selected for this study which are power distance and collectivism. The moderating impacts of cultural dimensions are considered in this

study as culture remains fairly unchanged in a society (Guiso, Sapienza, and Zingales 2006). Hence, culture can impact economic outcomes such as the acceptance of digital financial services. The investigation on the moderating role of cultural moderators was motivated by past studies which stated that the diverse cultural background of individual users impact their thinking patterns and behaviors (Hofstede 2001; Rooney 2013). The findings from the moderator hypothesis found that power distance does not have an impact on the relationship between financial literacy to behavioral intention. Meanwhile, collectivism inversely impacts the relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention. The unsupported relationships of these moderating variables contribute to the UTAUT2 theory because this could be a plausible cause to reconsider the role of cultural moderators in technology acceptance. In fact, a study by Goularte and Zilber (2019) have rejected the role of power distance and showed very weak significance for collectivism in the adoption of mobile banking. More importantly, this could also point to the possibility that an individual may not possess the same level of cultural dimensions although they live in the same country. In fact, the Hofstede National Culture Theory was designed in a way that assigns the Hofstede cultural dimensions equally among the respondents based on the national index. However, Minkov and Hofstede (2011) posits that the cultural moderators may not correlate meaningfully across individuals. This can be attributed to the fact that Malaysia is a heterogenous population as it is a multi-cultural society. Given this fact, individuals may develop different cultural dimensions as their upbringing differs according to their culture.

Moreover, this issue is more prominent in multi-cultural societies which are present in Asian countries, such as Malaysia which is the location of this study. This is supported by Minkov and Hofstede (2011) which posited that the cultural moderators may not correlate meaningfully across individuals.

### 5.5.2 Managerial Implications

The results from this study bear managerial implications to different stakeholders of digital financial services in Sarawak. More specifically, the findings of this study will impact the Malaysian government, non-governmental organizations, policy makers, banks and mobile banking application developers. The empirical findings of this study can provide value to these stakeholders to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of digital financial services. Through the findings of this study, the following section details the key managerial implications of this study.

From the study, it was empirically established that performance expectancy is the strongest determinant of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Therefore, stakeholders such as banks and bank application developers must ensure that digital financial services are tailored to the needs of low-income households. By meeting the digital financial needs of lowincome households, this will increase the perceived value of the application for low-income households. For instance, Bank Negara Malaysia announced that it will waive the RM0.50 interbank transfer fee for transactions up to RM5,000 (The Star 2017). This change is vital as it will incentivize low-income households to use digital financial services to store their money and transfer them at no cost. Consequently, the use of digital financial services will be the preferred choice as it is a safe avenue to store and transfer money. More importantly, the government and banks should focus on creating awareness about the practical benefits of digital financial services for low-income households. The marketing of these services should highlight and educate lowincome households about the convenience, benefits and efficiency of digital financial services. By highlighting the benefits of digital financial services, this can potentially increase the acceptance rate among low-income households. The digital footprint obtained from the use of digital financial services can be used to further understand which area of benefit or convenience in digital financial services low-income households prefer most.

Facilitating conditions is also a determinant of behavioral intention. This finding indicates that stakeholders such as banks should ensure that help should be made available and accessible to low-income households in assisting them with the use of digital financial services (Ozili 2018). As low-income households often lack mobility, banks should ensure that there are enough branches or agent coverage available for this subpopulation. As low-income households are more likely to

visit physical branches, employees should be equipped with the skills to help them to set up and use digital financial services. From the perspective of the Malaysian government, it is important that they invest in providing sufficient, accessible and affordable internet connection for low-income households. Without a stable and affordable internet connection, the effort to encourage the acceptance of digital financial services will not be highly successful. This is also supported by the Sarawak Digital Economy Strategy 2018-2022 which included digital infrastructure as part of its key areas to establish a digital economy in Sarawak (Jabatan Ketua Menteri Sarawak 2018). Under digital infrastructure, there are several propositions to improve internet connectivity such as establishing fiber connection, setting up low-power wide-area network (LPWAN) and improving the current 3G and 4G connection. Additionally, clear and easy step-by-step instructions must be provided for low-income households to begin using digital financial services. This is available through the digital literacy program under the digital inclusivity aspect. Therefore, these are the facilitating conditions that the stakeholders must consider.

Hedonic motivation is also an important determinant towards behavioral intention. In the early stages of technology usage, hedonic motivation plays a key role in increasing the level of acceptance. Therefore, banking application developers should consider incorporating features which enhance the level of entertainment, excitement and fun that low-income households experience from using digital financial services. A prime example of a feature which embodies hedonic motivation is gamification. This term is defined as the use of game mechanisms and design techniques on digital financial services to make the experience more enjoyable (Baptista and Oliveira 2017). Ultimately, this leads to increased audience engagement and compels low-income households to continue using digital financial services. One of the key examples of gamification in digital financial services is shown by the MAE app, created by Malayan Banking Berhad (Maybank). The MAE app is an e-wallet which enables users to pay easily at retail stores by scanning a unique QR code, sending and requesting money, or splitting bills with friends (Maybank 2020). The gamification feature is introduced through 'Money MAE-Hem' where users stand a chance to earn free money by playing an interactive game. Features such as gamification invokes the feeling of entertainment and enjoyment among users. This is especially relevant for low-income households which are in the early stages of digital financial services usage because hedonic motivation has been shown to increase levels of technology acceptance (Alalwan et al. 2015).

Moving on, price value is another determinant of behavioral intention. Given that this study deals with low-income households, the confirmed role of price value is not unexpected. Therefore, the government, banks, policymakers and non-governmental organizations should consider the impact of price value on the acceptance of digital financial services. From the findings, low-income households perceive that the benefits they receive are greater than the price they pay to access digital financial services. Hence, banks should constantly look into more ways to improve how they develop, operate and manage digital financial services. It is important to investigate into the overall aspects of digital financial services such as functionality, enjoyment, service quality, usefulness, interactivity and accessibility to improve the perception of low-income households towards these services (Arcand et al. 2017).

In this study, another determinant of behavioral intention is financial literacy. This determinant is central to this study as it is a key contribution to the study. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first study to propose the use of financial literacy as a determinant of technology acceptance using the UTAUT2 framework. The contribution of this study is further strengthened by the empirical findings from the data analysis which established the role of financial literacy as the second most important determinant of behavioral intention. In relation to the target population of this study, financial literacy is instrumental for low-income households as it leads to good financial behaviors such as accepting the use of digital financial services. The significance of financial literacy points to the role of policymakers, government and non-governmental organizations towards inculcating financial literacy among low-income households. Without strong financial literacy, low-income households will get overwhelmed with the variety of digital financial services available today that they may end up not using it at all (Hauff et al. 2020; Lotto 2020). Therefore, the government and policymakers must introduce policies that build financial literacy across all walks of life. A key development towards improving the level of financial literacy in Malaysia is evident through the National Strategy for Financial Literacy 2019-2023. This financial literacy strategy is the first holistic strategy which outlines five key areas to elevate this skill. These key areas are nurturing values from young, increasing access to financial tools and resources, encouraging positive behavior, inculcating long-term financial planning and building wealth (Financial Education Network 2019). Some of the efforts which are relevant to low-income households include simplifying basic financial education for all, increasing the awareness of financial education initiatives and equipping the self-employed with knowledge to sustain and

build wealth. Apart from the government and policymakers, non-governmental organizations also play an important role in reaching out to low-income households by conducting regular financial literacy programs in areas with a high concentration of low-income households.

On the other hand, the moderating role of power distance has been rejected in relation to financial literacy and behavioral intention. More specifically, power distance does not have a moderating impact on the direct relationship between power distance and the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. This is because information technology is less likely to be used in high power distance societies because innovation stifles creative pursuits. Another reason could possibly be due to the confounding normative influences present in the community. Therefore, an important way to encourage digital financial services acceptance among low-income households is for the government to encourage a positive perception towards digital financial services (Alshare et al. 2011). To do this, low-income households need to be equipped with financial literacy that will equip them with the awareness, knowledge and capability to make good financial decisions. Aligned with this, the roles of the government, policymakers, banks and non-governmental organizations are highlighted in the National Financial Literacy Strategy 2019-2023. In relation to the national strategy, an important strategic approach being highlighted is increasing access towards financial management information, tools and measures. Under this approach, basic financial education is simplified and made accessible for everyone. The level of awareness for financial education initiatives are done through nationwide campaigns (Financial Education Network 2019). With this level of awareness and accessibility, different stakeholders can work together to empower low-income households with better financial literacy.

Lastly, the moderating role of collectivism has also been rejected in relation to financial literacy and behavioral intention. More specifically, collectivism has been rejected because the in-groups of the low-income households do not adopt digital financial services. Also, Sarawak may not be an extremely collectivistic culture. With this in mind, the marketing strategy for bank should focus on individual benefits instead of community benefits. As low-income households may not be extremely collectivistic, they place a higher importance in their personal values compared to the opinions of their friends, family and peers. Additionally, financial literacy measures done by the government or non-governmental organizations need to focus on persuading individuals about the benefits of digital financial services. This is because the norms of the in-groups can change if they believe that digital financial services can cause a positive impact in their life. This relates to the third strategic priority under the National Financial Literacy Strategy 2019-2023 which is to inculcate positive behavior among targeted groups (Financial Education Network 2019). Under this strategic priority, financial education is disseminated through various channels in different settings such as the workplace, community and approaching individuals who are self-employed. These measures can promote increased financial resilience among low-income households and consequently lead to better financial behaviors such as the acceptance of digital financial services.

#### 5.6 Research Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

In any research, recognizing the limitations of a study helps readers to understand the findings, context, and interpret the validity and credibility of a study (Ioannidis 2007). More importantly, disclosing the limitations in a study reveal future opportunities for improvements by other researchers. There are a few main limitations in this study.

The first limitation of the study exists in the ethnicity of the respondents. It is clear through the descriptive statistics that the ethnicity for majority of the respondents is Bumiputera. Non-Bumiputera respondents only make up 14.3% of the sample size. As data was collected through purposive and snowball sampling, which resulted in the researcher approaching many Bumiputera respondents. The lack of non-Bumiputera respondents may hinder a meaningful comparison to be done between the two ethnicities to identify the differences in the digital financial services acceptance. Hence, this research has a limitation in the form of lack of opinions from non-Bumiputera respondents.

Secondly, this study also experiences limitations due to the use of equivalized household income. The limitation exists because different households consist of different number of people. Therefore, the impact of the household income received differs according to the number of people in the household. In future studies, the process of population weighting suggested by United Nations (2012) should be conducted to obtain a better estimate of income distribution among the households.

Given the research limitations, the following are suggestions for future research. Future research should consider including a balanced number of Bumiputera and non-Bumiputera respondents to analyze a more representative sample. This will enable future research to make a meaningful comparison between Bumiputera and non-Bumiputera respondents in terms of their acceptance for digital financial services. Furthermore, the process of population weighting suggested by United Nations (2012) should be conducted to obtain a better estimate of income distribution among the households. Next, future studies should consider expanding the scope of this research to also include emerging financial technology (FinTech) in Malaysia which are divided into five main categories which are payments, investment management, capital raising, insurance, and market support (Financial Stability Board 2017). As emerging FinTech in Malaysia are increasingly dominated by non-bank entrants (IMF 2020; BNM 2021), assessing the roles of both bank and non-bank can yield more comprehensive findings as it takes into account a diverse range of digital financial services.

Lastly, future studies on the technology acceptance of low-income households should consider testing two other cultural dimensions which are uncertainty avoidance and long-term orientation. From the feedback of the respondents, low-income households tend to avoid any technology they are not familiar with due to fear that they will be scammed. Additionally, low-income households also tend to have a short-term orientation as they prefer to gratify themselves due to the lack of knowledge on tools to help them improve their financial situation such as digital financial services (Stewart 2011; Bongomin, Munene, Ntayi, et al. 2018). Therefore, future research can consider including other cultural dimensions as it could be more useful in providing a better understanding of the behavioral intention of low-income households to accept digital financial services.

### 5.7 Conclusions

This study presents vital empirical findings to the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households in Miri, Sarawak. In this study, digital financial services are defined as bank-led digital financial services which can be accessed through digital channels such as the internet, mobile phones, electronically enabled cards, tablets, phablets, POS terminals and ATM machines. This study has two main research objectives. The first objective is to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. The second objective is to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.

From an analysis of the current digital financial services acceptance rate in Malaysia, the target population of study is the low-income households. Aligned with the national definition, low-income households in Miri, Sarawak are defined as households with a gross monthly household income from RM1,070 to RM3,459. The focus on low-income households in this study is strengthened by the fact that only 52.2% of Malaysians use digital financial services. A study conducted by the United Nations showed that the overall awareness of digital financial services among low-income households. Firstly, it enables them to keep their money in the formal financial market which leads to a decreased vulnerability and inequality in the marketplace as they can store their earnings in a safe platform. Secondly, digital financial services to advanced digital financial services. Being connected to formal financial institutions links low-income households to providers of credit, insurance and investment. These financial tools empower low-income households to make beneficial long-term financial decisions for their households.

To investigate the objectives, this study utilizes the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 (UTAUT2) as the key theoretical framework to investigate the research objectives. The UTAUT2 model is the most accepted theoretical model for consumers' adoption of technology, which was developed as an integrated framework of eight technology acceptance theories. A total of five determinants are investigated in this study which are performance

expectancy, facilitating conditions, price value, hedonic motivation and financial literacy. All these determinants are derived from the UTAUT2 framework except financial literacy.

In this study, the role of financial literacy is a key contribution as this study is the first to use financial literacy as a determinant in the UTAUT2 framework. The motivation to introduce financial literacy in this study is driven by the needs of the low-income households. As this subpopulation has been identified as an underserved population in the acceptance of digital financial services, financial literacy has been identified from past studies as a potential key determinant. Moreover, majority of low-income households in Malaysia are unaware of the potential that digital financial services hold. As low-income households are continuously challenged from several aspects such as social and economical resources, financial literacy is vital to equip low-income households with financial knowledge and the practical ability to implement this knowledge in daily financial inclusion which is the equitable provision and access to digital financial services to the underserved population, the low-income households. Financial literacy can lead to an increased level of financial inclusion because it equips low-income households with knowledge on the importance of digital financial services. Hence, financial literacy can strengthen the impact of bank-led digital financial services for low-income households.

In addition to identifying the determinants of digital financial services acceptance, this study aims to investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services. Hence, the Hofstede National Culture Theory is incorporated in this study to investigate the second objective. Furthermore, this theory was also utilized in this study to address a shortcoming in the UTAUT2 framework, which is the inability to measure the impact of culture in technology acceptance. The theory originally comprised of five cultural dimensions which distinguish the members of a country from another. The concept of culture is considered in this study as culture is an important reflection of the rules and social norms within a society which affects thinking patterns and behavior. In relation to digital financial services, this indicates that low-income households also view the technology from their perspective which is impacted by cultural values, norms, and beliefs. Aligned with the objectives of this research, two moderating variables were adopted from this theory which are power distance and collectivism. More importantly, the role of culture is considered in this study because there is

past literature evidence which indicates that culture is related to the effectiveness of information systems.

This study is a quantitative study. The sample size of this study is 343 households. Paper-based questionnaires were distributed to low-income households in Miri, Sarawak. The sampling method is a non-probability sampling method which are purposive and snowball sampling. Initially, a pilot study was conducted with 25 participants that fulfill the inclusion criteria of the study. The questionnaire was determined as reliable through the pilot study findings. Hence, the large-scale data collection was conducted on 343 participants. The method of data analysis employs the Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) method. The software used for this study is the SmartPLS 3.0.

From the data analysis process, the findings concluded that five out of the seven hypotheses were supported. The five hypotheses concluded that all five determinants proposed in the study framework play a significant role towards the acceptance of digital financial services. Meanwhile, the moderating roles of the two cultural dimensions were rejected. From these findings, it resonates the findings of past studies which stated that the determinants from the UTAUT2 framework are reliable to measure the acceptance of technologies. For instance, performance expectancy has been shown to be the strongest determinant for acceptance of digital financial services in this study. Another notable finding is that the role of financial literacy as the determinant of digital financial services acceptance has been validated. In this study, it is the second most important determinant. This further highlights the role of financial literacy as a contribution to this study as no other UTAUT2 study has utilized this construct as a determinant.

As Malaysia has taken an interest in the importance of financial literacy similar to many other countries, the findings will be important to guide the acceptance of digital financial services especially among underserved communities such as low-income households. The established role of financial literacy indicates that low-income households can develop financial literacy through a combination of informal and formal experience. The status quo in Malaysia indicates that there are multiple noteworthy efforts by the government to develop financial literacy. This includes the introduction of financial education components in the educational curriculum and establishing the Credit Counseling and Debt Management Agency (AKPK). More importantly, the National Strategy for Financial Literacy 2019-2023 is an important development as this policy aims to

inculcate financial literacy among Malaysians which requires a sustained and coordinated approach to encourage long-term behavioral change. The finding on the confirmed role of financial literacy also signifies the importance of the role for policymakers, government and non-governmental organizations towards inculcating financial literacy among low-income households. Additionally, the confirmed role of the other determinants can provide valuable insights for stakeholders in Sarawak which are seeking to improve the level of financial inclusion within the country. As for the rejected roles of cultural dimensions, this could possibly point to the need to study a target population with a balanced number of respondents from different ethnicities.

As the Sarawak state also aims to establish a digital economy within the state, the interest of the low-income households should not be left behind. Therefore, the findings from this research are key towards the interest of banks, governments, policymakers and non-governmental organizations to increase the acceptance of digital financial services among low-income households.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbasi, Muhammad Sharif, Ali Tarhini, Tariq Elyas, and Farwa Shah. 2015. "Impact of Individualism and Collectivism over the Individual's Technology Acceptance Behaviour: A Multi-Group Analysis between Pakistan and Turkey." *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-12-2014-0124.
- Abd Ghani, Mazuri, Samar Rahi, Majeed mansour, Hussein Abed, and Feras MI Alnaser. 2017.
  "The Impact of SERVQUAL Model and Subjective Norms on Customer?S Satisfaction and Customer Loyalty in Islamic Banks: A Cultural Context." *International Journal of Economics* & Management Sciences. https://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000455.
- Abdullah, Shahmir Sivaraj;, Haim; Hilman, Rajoo; Ramanchandram, Abdullahi Hassan; Gorundutse, and Nek Kamal Yeop Yunus. 2019. "The Moderating Effect of Electronic Strategy (e-Strategy) on the Relationship between Perceived Usefullness and the Intention to Adopt Online Banking in Malaysia." *Journal of Business & Retail Management Research*. https://doi.org/10.24052/jbrmr/v13is03/art-12.
- Abrahão, Ricardo de Sena, Stella Naomi Moriguchi, and Darly Fernando Andrade. 2016. "Intention of Adoption of Mobile Payment: An Analysis in the Light of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT)." *RAI Revista de Administração e Inovação*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rai.2016.06.003.
- Abroud, Alireza, Yap Voon Choong, Saravanan Muthaiyah, and David Yong Gun Fie. 2013. "Adopting E-Finance: Decomposing the Technology Acceptance Model for Investors." *Service Business*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11628-013-0214-x.
- Abushanab, E., and J. M. Pearson. 2007. "Internet Banking in Jordan: The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) Perspective." *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1108/13287260710817700.
- Aeria, Andrew. 2016. "Economic Development via Dam Building: The Role of the State Government in the Sarawak Corridor of Renewable Energy and the Impact on Environment and Local Communities." 373 Southeast Asian Studies. https://doi.org/10.20495/seas.5.3\_373.

- Aggarwal, Charu C. 2013. *Outlier Analysis*. *Outlier Analysis*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-6396-2.
- Ahmed, E. M., and G. S. Phin. 2016. "Factors Influencing the Adoption of Internet Banking in Malaysia." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00005.
- Ajzen, Icek. 1991. "The Theory of Planned Behavior." Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T.
- Ajzen, Icek, and Martin Fishbein. 1980. "Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior." *Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.*
- AKPK. 2020. "AKPK Debt Management." 2020. https://www.akpk.org.my/debt-management.
- Akram, Naeem. 2016. "Do Financial Sector Activities Affect Tax Revenue in Pakistan?" *THE LAHORE JOURNAL OF ECONOMICS*. https://doi.org/10.35536/lje.2016.v21.i2.a6.
- Al-Ajam, Ali, and Khalil Md. Nor. 2013. "EVALUATION OF INTERNET BANKING SERVICE ADOPTION AMONG YEMENI CUSTOMERS." *Kuwait Chapter of the Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review* 2 (6): 39–48.
- Al-Gahtani, Said S., Geoffrey S. Hubona, and Jijie Wang. 2007. "Information Technology (IT) in Saudi Arabia: Culture and the Acceptance and Use of IT." *Information and Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2007.09.002.
- Al-Mamun, Abdullah, Mohammad Nurul Huda Mazumder, and C. A. Malarvizhi. 2014. "Measuring the Effect of Amanah Ikhtiar Malaysia's Microcredit Programme on Economic Vulnerability among Hardcore Poor Households." *Progress in Development Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464993413504351.
- Al-Okaily, Manaf, Abdalwali Lutfi, Abdallah Alsaad, Abdallah Taamneh, and Adi Alsyouf. 2020.
  "The Determinants of Digital Payment Systems' Acceptance under Cultural Orientation Differences: The Case of Uncertainty Avoidance." *Technology in Society*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101367.
- Alalwan, Ali A., Yogesh K. Dwivedi, Nripendra P. Rana, Banita Lal, and Michael D. Williams. 2015. "Consumer Adoption of Internet Banking in Jordan: Examining the Role of Hedonic

Motivation, Habit, Self-Efficacy and Trust." In *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1057/fsm.2015.5.

- Alalwan, Ali Abdallah, Yogesh K. Dwivedi, and Nripendra P. Rana. 2017. "Factors Influencing Adoption of Mobile Banking by Jordanian Bank Customers: Extending UTAUT2 with Trust." *International Journal of Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.01.002.
- Alalwan, Ali Abdallah, Yogesh K. Dwivedi, and Michael D. Williams. 2016. "Customers' Intention and Adoption of Telebanking in Jordan." *Information Systems Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10580530.2016.1155950.
- AlAnazi, Amer, Faridahwati Mohd. Shamsudin, and Johanim Johari. 2016. "Linking Organisational Culture, Leadership Styles, Human Resource Management Practices and Organisational Performance: Data Screening and Preliminary Analysis." *American Journal of Management*.
- Alazzam, Malik Bader, Abd Samad Hasan Basari, Abdul Samad Sibghatullah, Yousif Monadhil Ibrahim, Mohamad Raziff Ramli, and Mohd Hariz Naim. 2016. "Trust in Stored Data in EHRs Acceptance of Medical Staff: Using UTAUT2." *International Journal of Applied Engineering Research*.
- Alekam, Jamal Mohammed Esmail, Madya Salniza bt Md Salleh, and Sany Sanuri bin Mohd Mokhtar. 2018. "The Effect of Family, Peer, Behavior, Saving and Spending Behavior on Financial Literacy among Young Generations." *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*. https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2018.60258.
- Alhirz, Hisham, and A. S.M. Sajeev. 2015. "Do Cultural Dimensions Differentiate ERP Acceptance? A Study in the Context of Saudi Arabia." *Information Technology and People*. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2013-0127.
- Ali, Siti Rapidah Omar, Wan Nur Khadijah Wan Marzuki, Nur Shafini Mohd Said, Suhaily Maizan, Abdul Manaf, and Nur Dalila Adenan. 2020. "Perceived Ease of Use and Trust Towards Intention to Use Online Banking in Malaysia." *Jurnal Intelek* 15 (1).
- Alliance for Financial Inclusion. 2016. "DIGITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BASIC

TERMINOLOGY."

- Alshare, Khaled A., Hani I. Mesak, Elizabeth E. Grandon, and Masood A. Badri. 2011. "Examining the Moderating Role of National Culture on an Extended Technology Acceptance Model." *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/1097198X.2011.10856542.
- Amin, Muslim. 2016. "Internet Banking Service Quality and Its Implication on E-Customer Satisfaction and e-Customer Loyalty." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-10-2014-0139.
- Anderson, James C., and David W. Gerbing. 1988. "Structural Equation Modeling in Practice: A Review and Recommended Two-Step Approach." *Psychological Bulletin*. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411.
- Ansari, Mahfooz A., Zainal A. Ahmad, and Rehana Aafaqi. 2004. "Organizational Leadership in the Malaysian Context." In *Leading in High Growth Asia: Managing Relationship for Teamwork and Change*. https://doi.org/10.1142/9789812562135\_0005.
- Arcand, Manon, Sandrine PromTep, Isabelle Brun, and Lova Rajaobelina. 2017. "Mobile Banking Service Quality and Customer Relationships." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-10-2015-0150.
- Arenas-Gaitán, Jorge, Begoña Peral-Peral, and Maria Angeles Ramón-Jerónimo. 2015. "Elderly and Internet Banking: An Application of UTAUT2." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*.
- Arshad, Yusri bin, Nurulasma B. Che Mat, and Sharifah N. B. Syed Ibrahim. 2018. "The Adoption of Innovative Mobile Banking Services Among Users: Evidence from Klang Valley." *Journal* of Economic & Management Perspectives 12 (1).
- Arunkumar, S. 2008. "A Study on Attitude and Intention towards Internet Banking with Reference to Malaysian Consumers in Klang Valley Region." *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*.
- Asiamah, Nestor, Henry Kofi Mensah, and Eric Fosu Oteng-Abayie. 2017. "General, Target, and Accessible Population: Demystifying the Concepts for Effective Sampling." *Qualitative*
Report.

- Astuti, Paramita Her, and Irwan Trinugroho. 2016. "Financial Literacy and Engagement in Banking." Journal of Economics and Economic Education Research.
- Atkinson, A. C., and D. M. Hawkins. 1980. "Identification of Outliers." *Biometrics*. https://doi.org/10.2307/2530182.
- Atkinson, Adele;, and Flore-Anne. Messy. 2013. "Promoting Financial Inclusion through Financial Education." *OECD Publishing/NFE Evidence, Policies and Practice*.
- Atkinson, Rowland, and John Flint. 2001. "Social Research Update 33: Accessing Hidden and Hard-to-Reach Populations." *Social Research Update*.
- Attorney General Chamber. 1971. "Age of Majority Act." *The Commissioner Law of Revision*. https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.2007.54.1.23.
- Baabdullah, Abdullah M., Ali Abdallah Alalwan, Nripendra P. Rana, Hatice Kizgin, and Pushp Patil. 2019. "Consumer Use of Mobile Banking (M-Banking) in Saudi Arabia: Towards an Integrated Model." *International Journal of Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.09.002.
- Babajic, Amra, and Meldina Kokorovic Jukan. 2016. "Role of the State in Financial Sector Development and Achieving Pro-Poor Growth: Evidence from Bosnia and Herzegovina." *Journal of Economic and Social Studies*. https://doi.org/10.14706/jecoss16621.
- Bagozzi, Richard P., and Youjae Yi. 1988. "On the Evaluation of Structural Equation Models." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02723327.

——. 1991. "Multitrait-Multimethod Matrices in Consumer Research." Journal of Consumer Research. https://doi.org/10.1086/208568.

- Bâlici, Mihnea. 2018. "The Emergence of Quantitative Studies. Actual Functionalities and the Romanian Case." *Metacritic Journal for Comparative Studies and Theory*. https://doi.org/10.24193/mjcst.2018.6.04.
- Banerjee, Sayan, and Dinesh K. Srivastava. 2012. "Power Distance: A Deterrent or a Facilitator for Innovation." *International Journal of Business Excellence*.

https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBEX.2012.049541.

Bank Negara Malaysia. 2011. "Financial Sector Blueprint 2011-2020." *Strengthening Our Future*. https://doi.org/10.1080/00346764.2011.592329.

https://www.bnm.gov.my/guidelines/08\_agent\_banking/01\_agent\_banking\_20150430.pdf.

- Bao Duong, Pham, and Yoichi Izumida. 2002. "Rural Development Finance in Vietnam: A Microeconometric Analysis of Household Surveys." World Development. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00112-7.
- Bao, Gongmin, Zhongyuan Zhang, and Jin Chen. 2015. "The Mediation of In-Group Identification between Collectivism and Knowledge Sharing." *Innovation: Management, Policy and Practice*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2015.1054605.
- Baptista, Goncalo, and Tiago Oliveira. 2015. "Understanding Mobile Banking: The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology Combined with Cultural Moderators." *Computers in Human Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.04.024.
- ———. 2017. "Why so Serious? Gamification Impact in the Acceptance of Mobile Banking Services." *Internet Research*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-10-2015-0295.
- Baskerville, Rachel F. 2003. "Hofstede Never Studied Culture." *Accounting, Organizations and Society*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-3682(01)00048-4.
- Becker, Gary Stanley. 1996. "Preferences and Values." In Accounting for Tastes.
- Beebe, Lora Humphrey. 2007. "What Can We Learn from Pilot Studies?" *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6163.2007.00136.x.
- Beebee, K.R., R. J. Pell, and M. B. Seasholtz. 1998. *Chemometrics: A Practical Guide*. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Belkhamza, Zakariya, and Syed Azizi Wafa Wafa. 2009. "Cultural Interpretation of E-Commerce Acceptance in Developing Countries: Empirical Evidence from Malaysia and Algeria."

*Emerging Markets and ECommerce in Developing Economies.* 

- Bikorimana, Gerard;, and Shengmin Sun. 2019. "Lessons Learnt for Rwanda from China's Poverty Reduction Strategies: Policy Analysis Review." *Journal of Economics Bibliography* 6 (2): 52–98.
- BNM. 2017. "Malaysia Experience in Financial Inclusion: Unlocking Shared Benefits for All through Inclusive Finance." Bank Negara Malaysia.
- ———. 2019. "Internet Banking and Mobile Banking Subscribers." http://www.bnm.gov.my/index.php?ch=34&pg=163&ac=4&bb=file.
- ———. 2021. "List of Non-Bank E-Money Issuers." https://www.bnm.gov.my/non-bank-emoney-issuers.
- Bongomin, George Okello Candiya, and John C. Munene. 2020. "Examining the Role of Institutional Framework in Promoting Financial Literacy by Microfinance Deposit-Taking Institutions in Developing Economies: Evidence from Rural Uganda." *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-12-2018-0158.
- Bongomin, George Okello Candiya, John C. Munene, Joseph Mpeera Ntayi, and Charles Akol Malinga. 2017. "Financial Literacy in Emerging Economies: Do All Components Matter for Financial Inclusion of Poor Households in Rural Uganda?" *Managerial Finance*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MF-04-2017-0117.
  - ——. 2018. "Nexus between Financial Literacy and Financial Inclusion: Examining the Moderating Role of Cognition from a Developing Country Perspective." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-08-2017-0175.
- Bongomin, George Okello Candiya, John C Munene, Joseph Mpeera Ntayi, and Charles Akol Malinga. 2018. "Financial Intermediation and Financial Inclusion of the Poor: Testing the Moderating Role of Institutional Pillars in Rural Uganda." *International Journal of Ethics* and Systems 34 (2): 146–65. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOES-07-2017-0101.
- Bongomin, George Okello Candiya, Pierre Yourougou, and John C. Munene. 2019. "Digital Financial Innovations in the Twenty-First Century." *Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1108/jeas-01-2019-0007.

- Bono, Roser, María J. Blanca, Jaume Arnau, and Juana Gómez-Benito. 2017. "Non-Normal Distributions Commonly Used in Health, Education, and Social Sciences: A Systematic Review." *Frontiers in Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01602.
- Bookwalter, Jeffrey T., Brandon S. Fuller, and Douglas R. Dalenberg. 2006. "Do Household Heads Speak for the Household? A Research Note." *Social Indicators Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-005-4925-9.
- Borgers, Matthias J. 2009. "Regulating and Combating Underground Banking." *Criminal Law Forum*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10609-008-9089-2.
- Borneo Post. 2018a. "Improving Internet Coverage," May 15, 2018. https://www.theborneopost.com/2018/05/15/improving-internet-coverage/.
- ———. 2018b. "East M'sia's Mobile Internet Usage Highest in the Country," December 10, 2018. https://www.theborneopost.com/2018/12/10/east-msias-mobile-internet-usage-highest-inthe-country/.
- Borneo Post Online. 2019. "International Cultural Exchanges Good for State's Development, Says Karim," 2019. https://www.theborneopost.com/2019/09/26/international-cultural-exchanges-good-for-states-development-says-karim/.
- Botticini, Maristella, and Zvi Eckstein. 2005. "Jewish Occupational Selection: Education, Restrictions, or Minorities?" *Journal of Economic History*. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022050705000355.
- Braunstein, Sandra, and Carolyn Welch. 2002. "Financial Literacy: An Overview of Practice, Research, and Policy." *Federal Reserve Bulletin*.
- Broeck, Jan Van Den, Solveig Argeseanu Cunningham, Roger Eeckels, and Kobus Herbst. 2005. "Data Cleaning: Detecting, Diagnosing, and Editing Data Abnormalities." *PLoS Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0020267.
- Byrne, B. M. 2016. *Structural Equation Modeling with AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications and Programming.* Routledge.
- Cameron, Michael P., Richard Calderwood, Ashleigh Cox, Steven Lim, and Michio Yamaoka.

2014. "Factors Associated with Financial Literacy among High School Students in NewZealand."InternationalReviewofEconomicsEducation.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iree.2014.07.006.

- Cassel, Claes, Peter Hackl, and Anders H. Westlund. 1999. "Robustness of Partial Least-Squares Method for Estimating Latent Variable Quality Structures." *Journal of Applied Statistics*. https://doi.org/10.1080/02664769922322.
- CGAP. 2015. "What Is Digital Financial Inclusion and Why Does It Matter?" 2015.
- Chen, Chao C., Chen Xiao-Ping, and James R. Meindl. 1998. "How Can Cooperation Be Fostered? The Cultural Effects of Individualism-Collectivism." *Academy of Management Review* 23 (2).
- Chen, Pih-Shuw, Jia-Jan Lee, Sheng-Ju Huang, and Che Liang Lin. 2020. "A Study on Consumers Usage Behavior of the Bank s Mobile Payment APPs in Taiwan." *Business and Economics Research Journal*. https://doi.org/10.20409/berj.2020.282.
- Chin, Lai Poey, and Zainal Arffin Ahmad. 2015. "Consumers' Intention to Use a Single Platform e-Payment System: A Study among Malaysian Internet and Mobile Banking Users." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*.
- Chin, Wynne W. 1998a. "Issues and Opinion on Structural Equation Modeling." *MIS Quarterly: Management Information Systems*.
- Chin, Wynne W., Barbara L. Marcolin, and Peter R. Newsted. 2003. "A Partial Least Squares Latent Variable Modeling Approach for Measuring Interaction Effects: Results from a Monte Carlo Simulation Study and an Electronic-Mail Emotion/Adoption Study." *Information Systems Research*. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.14.2.189.16018.
- Chin, Wynne W. 1998b. "The Partial Least Squares Approach for Structural Equation Modeling." In *Modern Methods for Business Research*.
- Choi, Jaewon, Hong Joo Lee, Farhana Sajjad, and Habin Lee. 2014. "The Influence of National Culture on the Attitude towards Mobile Recommender Systems." *Technological Forecasting* and Social Change. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2013.08.012.

- Chow, Chee W., F. Johnny Deng, and Joanna L. Ho. 2000. "The Openness of Knowledge Sharing within Organizations: A Comparative Study of the United States and the People's Republic of China." *Journal of Management Accounting Research*. https://doi.org/10.2308/jmar.2000.12.1.65.
- Cohen J. 1988. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Science (2nd Edition). Statistical Power Anaylsis for the Behavioral Sciences.
- Cole, Shawn, Thomas Sampson, and Bilal Zia. 2011. "Prices or Knowledge? What Drives Demand for Financial Services in Emerging Markets?" *Journal of Finance*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2011.01696.x.
- Collis, Jill, and Roger Hussey. 2013. Business Research A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students 3rd Edition. Palgrave. https://doi.org/10.1038/142410a0.
- Coltman, Tim, Timothy M. Devinney, David F. Midgley, and Sunil Venaik. 2008. "Formative versus Reflective Measurement Models: Two Applications of Formative Measurement." *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2008.01.013.
- Cope, D. G. 2015. "Conducting Pilot and Feasibility Studies." Oncology Nursing Forum 42 (2).
- Cronbach, Lee J., and Paul E. Meehl. 1955. "Construct Validity in Psychological Tests." *Psychological Bulletin*. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0040957.
- Curran, James M., and Matthew L. Meuter. 2007. "Encouraging Existing Customers to Switch to Self-Service Technologies: Put a Little Fun in Their Lives." *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*. https://doi.org/10.2753/mtp1069-6679150401.
- Damghanian, Hossein, Azim Zarei, and Mohammad Ali Siahsarani Kojuri. 2016. "Impact of Perceived Security on Trust, Perceived Risk, and Acceptance of Online Banking in Iran." *Journal of Internet Commerce*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2016.1191052.
- Dancey, K. 2013. "Why Payment Systems Matter to Financial Inclusion: Examining the Role of Social Cash Transfers." *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems*.
- Davis, Fred D., Richard P. Bagozzi, and Paul R. Warshaw. 1989. "User Acceptance of Computer Technology: A Comparison of Two Theoretical Models." *Management Science*.

https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982.

- Davis, Fred D. 1985. "A Technology Acceptance Model for Empirically Testing New End-User Information Systems: Theory and Results." *Doctoral Dissertation Sloan School of Management MIT*. https://doi.org/oclc/56932490.
- ———. 1989. "Davis F. Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology. MIS Quart. 1989;13:319-340." *MIS Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.2307/249008.
- Dawson, Jeremy F. 2014. "Moderation in Management Research: What, Why, When, and How." *Journal of Business and Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-013-9308-7.
- Deans, P. Candace, Kirk R. Karwan, Martin D. Goslar, David A. Ricks, and Brian Toyne. 1991.
  "Identification of Key International Information Systems Issues in U.S.-Based Multinational Corporations." *Journal of Management Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1991.11517902.
- Degross, Janice I, Wynne W Chin, and Barbara L Marcolin. 1996. "A PARTIAL LEAST SQUARES LATENT VARIABLE MODELING APPROACH FOR MEASURING INTERACTION EFFECTS: RESULTS FROM A MONTE CARLO SIMULATION STUDY AND VOICE MAIL EMOTION / ADOPTION STUDY." In *Proceedings of the XXIII ISPIM Conference*.
- Dehghan, Fariba, and Amirhossein Haghighi. 2015. "E-Money Regulation for Consumer Protection." *International Journal of Law and Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLMA-06-2014-0042.
- Deursen, Alexander J.A.M. Van, and Jan A.G.M. Van Dijk. 2014. "The Digital Divide Shifts to Differences in Usage." *New Media and Society*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444813487959.
- Devi Juwaheer, Thanika, Sharmila Pudaruth, and Priyasha Ramdin. 2012. "Factors Influencing the Adoption of Internet Banking: A Case Study of Commercial Banks in Mauritius." World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development. https://doi.org/10.1108/20425941211250552.

Diamantopoulos, Adamantios, and Petra Riefler. 2011. "Using Formative Measures in

International Marketing Models: A Cautionary Tale Using Consumer Animosity as an Example." *Advances in International Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1474-7979(2011)0000022004.

- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios, Marko Sarstedt, Christoph Fuchs, Petra Wilczynski, and Sebastian Kaiser. 2012. "Guidelines for Choosing between Multi-Item and Single-Item Scales for Construct Measurement: A Predictive Validity Perspective." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 40 (3).
- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios, and Judy A. Siguaw. 2006. "Formative versus Reflective Indicators in Organizational Measure Development: A Comparison and Empirical Illustration." *British Journal of Management*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8551.2006.00500.x.
- Dodds, William B., Kent B. Monroe, and Dhruv Grewal. 1991a. "Effects of Price, Brand, and Store Information on Buyers' Product Evaluations." *Journal of Marketing Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224379102800305.
- ———. 1991b. "Effects of Price, Brand, and Store Information on Buyers' Product Evaluations." Journal of Marketing Research. https://doi.org/10.2307/3172866.
- Doody, Owen, and Catriona M. Doody. 2015. "Conducting a Pilot Study: Case Study of a Novice Researcher." *British Journal of Nursing*. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2015.24.21.1074.

DOSM. 2010. "2010 Population and Housing Census of Malaysia."

------. 2017a. "HOUSEHOLD INCOME AND BASIC AMENITIES SURVEY REPORT."

———. 2017b. "HOUSEHOLD INCOME AND BASIC AMENITIES SURVEY REPORT BY STATE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DISTRICT."

\_\_\_\_\_. 2018. "Statistics: Sarawak." 2018.

———. 2019a. "Demographic Statistics First Quarter 2019, Malaysia." 2019.

2019b. "Graduates Statistics 2018." 2019.
 https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=476&bul
 \_id=cDJkZjM5b2hjdjJZMDlvNDlueU54Zz09&menu\_id=Tm8zcnRjdVRNWWlpWjRlbmtl
 aDk1UT09#:~:text=In 2018%2C number of graduates,from 4.61 million in 2017.&text=On

the contrary%2C graduate.

- Drolet, Aimee L., and Donald G. Morrison. 2001. "Do We Really Need Multiple-Item Measures in Service Research?" *Journal of Service Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/109467050133001.
- Du, Yunfei. 2011. "A Measurement Model of Students' Behavioral Intentions to Use Second Life Virtual Environments." *Journal of Education for Library and Information Science*.
- Dunham, C. R. 2001. "The Role of Banks and Nonbanks in Serving Low and Moderate-Income Communities."
- Eldridge, Sandra M., Gillian A. Lancaster, Michael J. Campbell, Lehana Thabane, Sally Hopewell, Claire L. Coleman, and Christine M. Bond. 2016. "Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework." *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150205.
- Elliott, D. J. 2010. Tax Policy and Bank Regulation. Brookings. Washington, DC.
- Everdingen, Yvonne M. Van, and Eric Waarts. 2003. "The Effect of National Culture on the Adoption of Innovations." *Marketing Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1027452919403.
- Fall, François Seck, Luis Orozco, and Al Mouksit Akim. 2020. "Adoption and Use of Mobile Banking by Low-Income Individuals in Senegal." *Review of Development Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1111/rode.12658.
- Farah, Maya F., Muhammad Junaid Shahid Hasni, and Abbas Khan Abbas. 2018. "Mobile-Banking Adoption: Empirical Evidence from the Banking Sector in Pakistan." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-10-2017-0215.
- Farooq, Muhammad Shoaib, Maimoona Salam, Norizan Jaafar, Alain Fayolle, Kartinah Ayupp, Mirjana Radovic-Markovic, and Ali Sajid. 2017. "Acceptance and Use of Lecture Capture System (LCS) in Executive Business Studies." *Interactive Technology and Smart Education* 14 (4).
- Ferrata, Luigi. 2019. "Digital Financial Inclusion an Engine for 'Leaving No One Behind."" *Public Sector Economics*. https://doi.org/10.3326/pse.43.4.6.

- Financial Education Network. 2019. "National Strategy for Financial Literacy." https://www.fenetwork.my/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/National-Strategy-ENG-F.pdf.
- Financial Stability Board. 2017. Financial Stability Implications from Fintech: Supervisory and Regulatory Issues That Merit Authorities' Attention. Financial Stability Board.
- Fishbein, M, and I Ajzen. 1975. Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research. Philosophy Rhetoric. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.26402.
- Flory, Jeffrey A. 2018. "Formal Finance and Informal Safety Nets of the Poor: Evidence from a Savings Field Experiment." *Journal of Development Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2018.07.015.
- Forbes. 2019. "The 11 Biggest Fintech Companies In America 2019." 2019. https://www.forbes.com/sites/jeffkauflin/2019/02/04/the-10-biggest-fintech-companies-inamerica-2019/#65849ba32b98.
- Fornell, C., and J. Cha. 1994. "Partial Least Squares. Advanced Methods of Marketing Research." *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csda.2004.03.005.
- Fornell, Claes, and David F. Larcker. 1981. "Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error." *Journal of Marketing Research*. https://doi.org/10.2307/3151312.
- Fraser, Joy, Dorothy Fahlman, Jane Arscott, and Isabelle Guillot. 2018. "Pilot Testing for Feasibility in a Study of Student Retention and Attrition in Online Undergraduate Programs." *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i1.3326.
- Ganesan, Yuvaraj, Anwar Bin Allah Pitchay, and Mohd Aliff Mohd Nasser. 2020. "Does Intention Influence the Financial Literacy of Depositors of Islamic Banking? A Case of Malaysia." *International Journal of Social Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-01-2019-0011.
- Ganguly, Boudhayan, Satya Bhusan Dash, Dianne Cyr, and Milena Head. 2010. "The Effects of Website Design on Purchase Intention in Online Shopping: The Mediating Role of Trust and the Moderating Role of Culture." *International Journal of Electronic Business*. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijeb.2010.035289.

- Gefen, David, Detmar Straub, and Marie-Claude Boudreau. 2000. "Structural Equation Modeling and Regression: Guidelines for Research Practice." *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.17705/1cais.00407.
- Geisser, Seymour. 1974. "A Predictive Approach to the Random Effect Model." *Biometrika*. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/61.1.101.
- Gharaibeh, Malik Khlaif, and Muhammad Rafie Mohd Arshad. 2018. "Determinants of Intention to Use Mobile Banking in the North of Jordan: Extending UTAUT2 with Mass Media and Trust." Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences. https://doi.org/10.3923/jeasci.2018.2023.2033.
- Ghiță-Mitrescu, Silvia, Cristina Duhnea, Ionut Antohi, and Andreea-Daniela Moraru. 2016. "NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS - ACTORS IN THE SHADOW BANKING SYSTEM." Economic Science Serie 25 (1): 763–71.
- Gibson, Evan, Federico Lupo-Pasini, and Ross P. Buckley. 2017. "Regulating Digital Financial Services Agents in Developing Countries to Promote Financial Inclusion." SSRN. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2973806.
- Giovanis, Apostolos N, Spyridon Binioris, and George. Polychronopoulos. 2012. "An Extension of TAM Model with IDT and Security/Privacy Risk in the Adoption of Internet Banking Services in Greece." *EuroMed Journal of Business* 7 (1): 24–53.
- Glavee-Geo, Richard, Aijaz Ahmed Shaikh, and Heikki Karjaluoto. 2017. "Mobile Banking Services Adoption in Pakistan: Are There Gender Differences?" *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-09-2015-0142.
- Goh, Tiong Thye, and Susan Sun. 2014. "Exploring Gender Differences in Islamic Mobile Banking Acceptance." *Electronic Commerce Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10660-014-9150-7.
- Goi, Mei Teh, Mohd Rizal Palil, Nor Hazila Mohd Zain, and Nor Hasikin Mamat. 2019. "Predicting Private Saving within Malay Community." Asian Academy of Management Journal. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2019.24.s1.1.
- Gold, Andrew H., Arvind Malhotra, and Albert H. Segars. 2001. "Knowledge Management: An

Organizational Capabilities Perspective." *Journal of Management Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2001.11045669.

- Gomber, Peter, Jascha Alexander Koch, and Michael Siering. 2017. "Digital Finance and FinTech: Current Research and Future Research Directions." *Journal of Business Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11573-017-0852-x.
- Goularte, Alexandre da C., and Silvia Novaes Zilber. 2019. "The Moderating Role of Cultural Factors in the Adoption of Mobile Banking in Brazil." *International Journal of Innovation Science*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJIS-11-2017-0119.
- Gray, Tricia J., Jason Gainous, and Kevin M. Wagner. 2017. "Gender and the Digital Divide in Latin America"." *Social Science Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssqu.12270.
- Greif, Avner. 2006. Institutions and the Path to the Modern Economy: Lessons from Medieval Trade. Institutions and the Path to the Modern Economy: Lessons from Medieval Trade. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511791307.
- Grohmann, Antonia, Theres Klühs, and Lukas Menkhoff. 2018. "Does Financial Literacy Improve Financial Inclusion? Cross Country Evidence." World Development. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.06.020.
- Guiso, Luigi, Paola Sapienza, and Luigi Zingales. 2006. "Does Culture Affect Economic Outcomes?" *Journal of Economic Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.20.2.23.
- Gunasinghe, Asanka, Junainah Abd Hamid, Ali Khatibi, and S. M.Ferdous Azam. 2019. "The Adequacy of UTAUT-3 in Interpreting Academician's Adoption to e-Learning in Higher Education Environments." *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-05-2019-0020.
- Gupta, Jasmine. 2018. "Mobile Banking and the PMJDY: Evidence from an Indian State." *The IUP Journal of Bank Management* 17 (2).
- Haddon, Leslie. 2003. "Machines That Become Us: The Social Context of Personal Communication Technology." In *Machines That Become Us: The Social Context of Personal Communication Technology*.

- Haenlein, Michael, and Andreas M. Kaplan. 2004. "A Beginner's Guide to Partial Least Squares Analysis." *Understanding Statistics*. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328031us0304\_4.
- Hair, J. F., T. M. Hult, C. M. Ringle, and M. Sarstedt. 2017. *A Primer on Partial Least Square Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM)*. Sage Publications.
- Hair, Joe F., Christian M. Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2011. "PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet." *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*. https://doi.org/10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202.
- Hair, Joe F., Marko Sarstedt, Lucas Hopkins, and Volker G. Kuppelwieser. 2014. "Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM): An Emerging Tool in Business Research." *European Business Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-10-2013-0128.
- Hair, Joe F., Marko Sarstedt, Christian M. Ringle, and Jeannette A. Mena. 2012. "An Assessment of the Use of Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling in Marketing Research." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-011-0261-6.
- Hair, Joe, Carole L. Hollingsworth, Adriane B. Randolph, and Alain Yee Loong Chong. 2017. "An Updated and Expanded Assessment of PLS-SEM in Information Systems Research." *Industrial Management and Data Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-04-2016-0130.
- Hair, Joseph, William Black, Barry Babin, and Rolph Anderson. 2010. "Multivariate Data Analysis: A Global Perspective." In *Multivariate Data Analysis: A Global Perspective*.
- Hair, Joseph F. 2007. "Research Methods for Business20072 Research Methods for Business . New York, NY: Wiley 2007. , ISBN: 0 470 03404 0." *Education + Training*. https://doi.org/10.1108/et.2007.49.4.336.2.
- Hair, Joseph F., Christian M. Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2012. "Partial Least Squares: The Better Approach to Structural Equation Modeling?" *Long Range Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2012.09.011.
- Hair Jr., Joe F., Lucy M. Matthews, Ryan L. Matthews, and Marko Sarstedt. 2017. "PLS-SEM or CB-SEM: Updated Guidelines on Which Method to Use." *International Journal of Multivariate Data Analysis*. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijmda.2017.10008574.
- Hall, E. T. 1976. Beyond Culture. New York: Anchor Press.

Hall, Edward Twitchell. 1989. Beyond Culture. Anchor.

- Harrell, Lydia. 2016. "A Critical Review on the Different Perspectives of Cross-Cultural Management." *Splint International Journal of Professionals* 3 (4).
- Harris, Roger W. 1997. "Teaching, Learning and Information Technology: Attitudes towards Computers among Hong Kong's Faculty." *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02948780.
- Hauff, J C, A Carlander, T Garling, and G Nicolini. 2020. "Retirement Financial Behaviour: How Important Is Being Financially Literate?" *Journal of Consumer Policy* 43 (3).
- Henager, Robin, and Brenda J. Cude. 2016. "Financial Literacy and Long- and Short-Term Financial Behavior in Different Age Groups." *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1891/1052-3073.27.1.3.
- Henseler, Jörg. 2010. "On the Convergence of the Partial Least Squares Path Modeling Algorithm." *Computational Statistics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00180-009-0164-x.
- Henseler, Jörg, and Wynne W. Chin. 2010. "A Comparison of Approaches for the Analysis of Interaction Effects between Latent Variables Using Partial Least Squares Path Modeling." *Structural Equation Modeling*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705510903439003.
- Henseler, Jörg, Christian M. Ringle, and Marko Sarstedt. 2015. "A New Criterion for Assessing Discriminant Validity in Variance-Based Structural Equation Modeling." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8.
- Henseler, Jörg, Christian M. Ringle, and Rudolf R. Sinkovics. 2009. "The Use of Partial Least Squares Path Modeling in International Marketing." *Advances in International Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1474-7979(2009)0000020014.
- Hillier, Mathew. 2003. "The Role of Cultural Context in Multilingual Website Usability." In *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1567-4223(03)00005-X.
- Hinson, Robert E. 2011. "Banking the Poor: The Role of Mobiles." *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1057/fsm.2010.29.

- Hofstede, Geert. 1980a. Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values. Beverly Hills, California: SAGE.
- ———. 1980b. "Motivation, Leadership, and Organization: Do American Theories Apply Abroad?" *Organizational Dynamics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(80)90013-3.
- ——. 2001. "Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions, and Organizations across Nations (2nd Ed.)." In *Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions, and Organizations across Nations (2nd Ed.).*
- ——. 2011. "Dimensionalizing Cultures: The Hofstede Model in Context." Online Readings in Psychology and Culture. https://doi.org/10.9707/2307-0919.1014.
- ——. 2014. "The Hofstede Centre: Cultural Tools and Country Comparison." 2014.
- Hofstede, Geert, Gert Jan Hofstede, and Michael Minkov. 2010. *Cultures and Organizations*. *McGraw Hill*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11569-007-0005-8.
- Hofstede Insights. 2019. "Hofstede Insights: Country Comparison." 2019.
- Hogarth, Jeanne M., and Chris E. Anguelov. 2003. "Can The Poor Save?" Association for Financial Counseling and Planning Education 14 (1): 1–18.
- Holbrook, Morris B., and Elizabeth C. Hirschman. 1982. "The Experiential Aspects of Consumption: Consumer Fantasies, Feelings, and Fun." *Journal of Consumer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1086/208906.
- Holmbeck, Grayson N. 1997. "Toward Terminological, Conceptual, and Statistical Clarity in the Study of Mediators and Moderators: Examples from the Child-Clinical and Pediatric Psychology Literatures." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.65.4.599.
- Hornikx, Jos, and Rob le Pair. 2017. "The Influence of High-/Low-Context Culture on Perceived
  Ad Complexity and Liking." *Journal of Global Marketing*.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/08911762.2017.1296985.
- Hossain, Gahangir. 2017. "Rethinking Self-Reported Measure in Subjective Evaluation of Assistive Technology." *Human-Centric Computing and Information Sciences*.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13673-017-0104-7.

- Hulland, John. 1999. "Use of Partial Least Squares (PLS) in Strategic Management Research: A Review of Four Recent Studies." *Strategic Management Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0266(199902)20:2<195::aid-smj13>3.3.co;2-z.
- Huston, Sandra J. 2010. "Measuring Financial Literacy." Journal of Consumer Affairs. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6606.2010.01170.x.
- IMF. 2020. "Malaysia: A Flourishing Fintech Ecosystem." International Monetary Fund. https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2020/02/27/na022820-malaysia-a-flourishingfintech-ecosystem.
- Ioannidis, John P.A. 2007. "Limitations Are Not Properly Acknowledged in the Scientific Literature." *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.09.011.
- Iosif, Dana Catalina, and Simona Vasilache. 2013. "Comparative Analysis of Organizational Behaviours in CFR and Deutsche Bahn." *Management Şi Marketing (Bucureşti)*.
- Irangani, B K Sagarika, Zhiqiang Liu, and Asela Gunesekera. 2020. "THE MODERATION EFFECTS OF EMPLOYEE LOYALTY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LOW POWER DISTANCE AND JOB PERFORMANCE." International Journal of Information, Business and Management.
- IRS.2019."HeadofHousehold."2019.https://apps.irs.gov/app/withholdingcalculator/helpdocs/hoh.htm.2019.
- Isaacson, Jeffrey Ian, Yolanda Jordaan, and Gené van Heerden. 2018. "The Relationship between Individual-Level Culture and Consumer Decision-Making Styles through Consumer Involvement." Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.12.003.
- Ismail, Noor Azina, and Halimah Awang. 2008. "Differentials in Mathematics Achievement among Eighth-Grade Students in Malaysia." *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-007-9109-4.

Jabatan Ketua Menteri Sarawak. 2018. Sarawak Digital Strategy 2018-2022: An Overview

Booklet. Kuching, Sarawak: State Service Modernisation Unit Chief Minister's Department.

- Jahan, Nasrin, Md Julfikar Ali, and Ahmed Al Asheq. 2020. "Examining the Key Determinants of Customer Satisfaction Internet Banking Services in Bangladesh." *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*.
- Jamshidi, Dariyoush, and Nazimah Hussin. 2018. "An Integrated Adoption Model for Islamic Credit Card: PLS-SEM Based Approach." Journal of Islamic Accounting and Business Research. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIABR-07-2015-0032.
- Jana, Debabrata, Abhijit Sinha, and Arindam Gupta. 2019. "Determinants of Financial Literacy and Use of Financial Services: An Empirical Study amongst the Unorganized Sector Workers in Indian Scenario." *Iranian Journal of Management Studies* 12 (4).
- Jarvis, Cheryl Burke, Scott B. MacKenzie, and Philip M. Podsakoff. 2003. "A Critical Review of Construct Indicators and Measurement Model Misspecification in Marketing and Consumer Research." *Journal of Consumer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1086/376806.
- Joe, Sheng Wuu, Yuan Hui Tsai, Chieh Peng Lin, Hwa Chun Ma, and Chou Kang Chiu. 2017. "Assessing Perceived Value: Moderating Effects of Susceptibility to Brand Prestige and Susceptibility to Normative Influence." *Review of Managerial Science*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-016-0203-2.
- Johns, Gary. 1994. "How Often Were You Absent? A Review of the Use of Self-Reported Absence Data." *Journal of Applied Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.4.574.
- Johns, Sharon K., L. Murphy Smith, and Carolyn A. Strand. 2003. "How Culture Affects the Use of Information Technology." *Accounting Forum*. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6303.00097.
- Joo, So Hyun, and John E. Grable. 2004. "An Exploratory Framework of the Determinants of Financial Satisfaction." Journal of Family and Economic Issues. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JEEI.0000016722.37994.9f.
- Jordaan, Jacob A. 2018. "Foreign Workers and Productivity in an Emerging Economy: The Case of Malaysia." *Review of Development Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1111/rode.12334.

Kalaiarasi, H, and V Srividya. 2012. "A STUDY ON FACTORS INFLUENCING YOUNG

USER'S ONLINE BANKING CHANNEL USAGE IN INDIA." Journal of Commerce & Accounting Research.

- Kamran, Sohail, and Outi Uusitalo. 2016. "Vulnerability of the Unbanked: Evidence from a Developing Country." *International Journal of Consumer Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12277.
- Kansal, Purva. 2016. "Factors Affecting Adoption of Mobile Banking at the Bottom of the Pyramid in India." *International Journal of Marketing & Business Communication*.
- Kapadia, Sunil B, and Venu V Madhav. 2020. "The Impact of Digitization on Banking and Financial Services Industry in India." *IUP Journal of Bank Management* 19 (2).
- Kassim, Normalini Md, and Sulaiman Haruna. 2020. "Assessing Trust and Intention to Continue Using Internet Banking through Security Dimension Impact: A Partial Least Squares Analysis." *International Journal of Enterprise Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJEIS.2020040108.
- Kempson, Elaine, and Sharon Collard. 2012. "Developing a Vision for Financial Inclusion."
- Kenny, D. A. 2016. "Moderation." 2016. http://davidakenny.net/cm/moderation.htm.
- Kerlinger, F. N. 1986. Foundations of Behavioral Research (3rd Ed). New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Kesharwani, Ankit, and Shailendra Singh Bisht. 2012. "The Impact of Trust and Perceived Risk on Internet Banking Adoption in India: An Extension of Technology Acceptance Model." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321211236923.
- Khan, I U, Z Hameed, and S U Khan. 2017. "Understanding Online Banking Adoption in a Developing Country: UTAUT2 with Cultural Moderators." *Journal of Global Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.4018/JGIM.2017010103.
- Khatimah, Husnil, Perengki Susanto, and Nor Liza Abdullah. 2019. "Hedonic Motivation and Social Influence on Behavioral Intention of E-Money: The Role of Payment Habit as a Mediator." *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*.

Kim, Sung S., and Naresh K. Malhotra. 2005. "A Longitudinal Model of Continued IS Use: An

Integrative View of Four Mechanisms Underlying Postadoption Phenomena." *Management Science*. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1040.0326.

- Kissi, Philip, Mustapha Oluwatobiloba, and Amankwah Berko. 2017. "Factors Affecting University Students Intentions to Use Debit Card Services: An Empirical Study Based on UTAUT." *Business, Management and Education*. https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2017.378.
- Kleijnen, Mirella, Martin Wetzels, and Ko de Ruyter. 2004. "Consumer Acceptance of Wireless Finance." *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.fsm.4770120.
- Kline, Rex B. 2011. Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling: Third Edition. Structural Equation Modeling. https://doi.org/10.1038/156278a0.
- Knack, Stephen, and Philip Keefer. 1997. "Does Social Capital Have an Economic Payoff? A Cross-Country Investigation." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355300555475.
- Kock, Ned, and Gary S. Lynn. 2012. "Lateral Collinearity and Misleading Results in Variance-Based SEM: An Illustration and Recommendations." *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00302.
- Koenaite, Moshele;, Tinashe; Chuchu, and Marike Venter de Villiers. 2019. "The Impact of Mobile Banking on the Adoption of Banking Products and Services in South Africa, Using the Technology Acceptance Model." *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research* 13 (3): 93–103.
- Koenaite, Moshele, Tinashe Chuchu, and Marike Venter de Villiers. 2019. "The Impact of Mobile Banking on the Adoption of Banking Products and Services in South Africa, Using the Technology Acceptance Model." *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research* 13 (3): 93–103.
- Koku, Paul Sergius. 2015. "Financial Exclusion of the Poor: A Literature Review." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-09-2014-0134.
- Königsheim, Christian, Moritz Lukas, and Markus Nöth. 2017. "Financial Knowledge, Risk Preferences, and the Demand for Digital Financial Services." *Schmalenbach Business*

*Review*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41464-017-0040-0.

- Kramer, Marc M. 2016. "Financial Literacy, Confidence and Financial Advice Seeking." *Journal* of Economic Behavior and Organization. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2016.08.016.
- Kraus, Michael W., Paul K. Piff, Rodolfo Mendoza-Denton, Michelle L. Rheinschmidt, and Dacher Keltner. 2012. "Social Class, Solipsism, and Contextualism: How the Rich Are Different from the Poor." *Psychological Review*. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028756.
- Krejcie, Robert V., and Daryle W. Morgan. 1970. "Determining Sample Size for Research Activities." *Educational and Psychological Measurement*. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316447003000308.
- Krishanan, Darmesh, Aye Aye Khin, Kevin Low Lock Teng, and Karuthan Chinna. 2016. "Consumers' Perceived Interactivity and Intention to Use Mobile Banking in Structural Equation Modeling." *International Review of Management and Marketing*.
- Kumar, Ranjit. 2011. Research Methodology; A Step-by-Step for Beginners. Sage Publications.
- Kwateng, Kwame Owusu, Kenneth Afo Osei Atiemo, and Charity Appiah. 2018. "Acceptance and Use of Mobile Banking: An Application of UTAUT2." *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-03-2018-0055.
- Lajuni, Nelson, Noraini Abdullah, Imbarine Bujang, and Yusman Yacob. 2018. "Examining the Predictive Power of Financial Literacy and Theory of Planned Behavior on Intention to Change Financial Behavior." *International Journal of Business and Management Invention* (IJBMI) 7 (3).
- Lam, Long W. 2012. "Impact of Competitiveness on Salespeople's Commitment and Performance." *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.10.026.
- Laven, Mike. 2013. "Money Evolution: How the Shift from Analogue to Digital Is Transforming Financial Services." *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems*.
- Lee, Hyun Joo, Hyeon Jeong Cho, Wenwen Xu, and Ann Fairhurst. 2010. "The Influence of Consumer Traits and Demographics on Intention to Use Retail Self-Service Checkouts." *Marketing Intelligence and Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1108/02634501011014606.

- Lee, Sangjae, and Kun Chang Lee. 2020. "Comparative Study of Service Quality on VIP Customer Satisfaction in Internet Banking: South Korea Case." Sustainability. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12166365.
- Lenka, Sanjaya Kumar, and Rajesh Barik. 2018. "Has Expansion of Mobile Phone and Internet Use Spurred Financial Inclusion in the SAARC Countries?" *Financial Innovation*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40854-018-0089-x.
- Levin, Kate Ann. 2006. "Study Design III: Cross-Sectional Studies." *Evidence-Based Dentistry*. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ebd.6400375.
- Likert, Rensis. 1932. "A Technique for the Measurement of Attitudes." Archives of Psychology.
- Limayem, Hirt, and Cheung. 2017. "How Habit Limits the Predictive Power of Intention: The Case of Information Systems Continuance." *MIS Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148817.
- Limon, Yonca, Lynn R. Kahle, and Ulrich R. Orth. 2009. "Package Design as a Communications Vehicle in Cross-Cultural Values Shopping." *Journal of International Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1509/jimk.17.1.30.
- Lin, Feng Teng, Hsin Ying Wu, and Thi Nguyet Nga Tran. 2015. "Internet Banking Adoption in a Developing Country: An Empirical Study in Vietnam." *Information Systems and E-Business Management*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10257-014-0268-x.
- Lin, Hsien Cheng. 2014. "An Investigation of the Effects of Cultural Differences on Physicians' Perceptions of Information Technology Acceptance as They Relate to Knowledge Management Systems." *Computers in Human Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.05.001.
- Lin, Wan Rung, Yi Hsien Wang, and Yi Min Hung. 2020. "Analyzing the Factors Influencing Adoption Intention of Internet Banking: Applying DEMATEL-ANP-SEM Approach." *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227852.
- Lissitz, Robert W., and Samuel B. Green. 1975. "Effect of the Number of Scale Points on Reliability: A Monte Carlo Approach." *Journal of Applied Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076268.

- Liu, Chengwei, and Kevin Lu. 2017. "Research on Regulation of Internet Finance in China." *Management* & *Engineering*, no. 28: 43–48. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.dbgw.lis.curtin.edu.au/10.5503/J.ME.2017.28.006.
- Liu, Yansui, Yuanzhi Guo, and Yang Zhou. 2018. "Poverty Alleviation in Rural China: Policy Changes, Future Challenges and Policy Implications." *China Agricultural Economic Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/CAER-10-2017-0192.
- Loke, Yiing Jia. 2016. "Living beyond One's Means: Evidence from Malaysia." *International Journal of Social Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-11-2013-0248.
- Lotto, Josephat. 2020. "Towards Improving Households' Investment Choices in Tanzania: Does Financial Literacy Really Matter?" *International Journal of Financial Studies*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs8020029.
- Low, Yun Min, Chin Fei Goh, Owee Kowang Tan, and Amran Rasli. 2017. "Users' Loyalty Towards Mobile Banking in Malaysia." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*.
- Luo, Shiwen, Jie Wang, and David Yoon Kin Tong. 2020. "Does Power Distance Necessarily Hinder Individual Innovation? A Moderated-Mediation Model." *Sustainability (Switzerland)*. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12062526.
- Luo, Shiwen, Jie Wang, Yuchun Xiao, and David Yoon Kin Tong. 2020. "Two-Path Model of Information Sharing in New Product Development Activities." *Information Development* 36 (3): 312–26.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. 2011. "Financial Literacy around the World: An Overview." Journal of Pension Economics and Finance. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474747211000448.
- Ma, Zhenzhong. 2010. "The SINS in Business Negotiations: Explore the Cross-Cultural Differences in Business Ethics Between Canada and China." *Journal of Business Ethics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-010-0571-5.
- Madan, Khushbu, and Rajan Yadav. 2016. "Behavioural Intention to Adopt Mobile Wallet: A Developing Country Perspective." Journal of Indian Business Research. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-10-2015-0112.

- Mago, Stephen, and Sibert Chitokwindo. 2014. "The Impact of Mobile Banking on Financial Inclusion in Zimbabwe: A Case for Masvingo Province." *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n9p221.
- Mahad, Murat, Shahimi Mohtar, Rushami Zein Yusoff, and Abdul Aziz Othman. 2015. "Factor Affecting Mobile Adoption Companies in Malaysia." *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*.
- Mahfuz, Mohammad Abdullah;, Liza; Khanam, and Wang Hu. 2017. "MOBILE BANKING SERVICES ADOPTION: INSIGHT FROM BRAND NAME PERSPECTIVES BASED ON UTAUT2 MODEL." *Independent Business Review* 10 (1/2): 21–42.
- Mahomed, Anuar Shah Bali, Michael G. McGrath, and Bong Zhi Yuh. 2017. "The Role of National Culture on Email Usage among Non- Academic Staff in Malaysian Public Universities." *International Journal of Economics and Management*.
- Malhotra, N.K. 2007. "Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation, 5th Edition." *Prentice-Hall, Inc, New Jersey, USA.*
- Malhotra, Naresh K. 2010. Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation, 6th Edition.
- MAMPU, THE MALAYSIAN ADMINISTRATIVE MODERNISATION AND MANAGEMENT PLANNING UNIT. 2020. "High Speed Broadband." 2020. https://www.malaysia.gov.my/portal/content/30046.
- Mangal, S. K. 2002. STATISTICS IN PSYCHOLOGY AND EDUCATION. PHI Learning Pvt. Ltd.
- Manyika, James, Susan Lund, Marc Singer, Olivia White, and Chris Berry. 2016. "Digital Finance for All : Powering Inclusive Growth in Emerging Economies." *McKinsey Global Institute*.
- Marshall, Gill, and Leon Jonker. 2010. "A Concise Guide to... Descriptive Statistics." *Synergy*, 22–25.
- Marshall, Michael, and Oma Coke. 2016. "A Sectoral Analysis of E-Money Consumption and Growth." *Social and Economic Studies* 65 (2/3).
- Martins, Carolina, Tiago Oliveira, and Aleš Popovič. 2014. "Understanding the Internet Banking Adoption: A Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology and Perceived Risk

Application."InternationalJournalofInformationManagement.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2013.06.002.

- Matita, Mirriam Muhome, and Takondwa Chauma. 2020. "Does Financial Literacy Influence Use of Mobile Financial Services in Malawi? Evidence from Malawi Household Survey Data." *African Economic Resort Consortium*.
- Maybank. 2020. "It's Gotta Be MAE." 2020. https://www.maybank2u.com.my/maybank2u/malaysia/en/personal/services/digital\_bankin g/MAE.page.
- Mbrokoh, Alfred Sekyere. 2016. "Exploring the Factors That Influence the Adoption of Internet Banking in Ghana." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*.
- McCoy, Scott, Dennis F. Galletta, and William R. King. 2007. "Applying TAM across Cultures: The Need for Caution." In *European Journal of Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000659.
- . 2018. "Integrating National Culture into IS Research: The Need for Current Individual Level Measures." *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.17705/1cais.01512.
- McHugh, Mary L. 2003. "Descriptive Statistics, Part II: Most Commonly Used Descriptive Statistics." Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing: JSPN. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1088-145X.2003.00111.x.
- McIver, John P., and Edward G. Carmines. 1981. Unidimensional Scaling. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications.
- MCMC. 2018. "Internet Users Survey 2018: Statistical Brief Number Twenty-Three." Internet Users Survey 2018.
- McSweeney, Brendan. 2002. "Hofstede's Model of National Cultural Differences and Their Consequences: A Triumph of Faith - A Failure of Analysis." *Human Relations*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726702551004.

Mhlanga, David. 2020. "Industry 4.0 in Finance: The Impact of Artificial Intelligence (Ai) on

Digital Financial Inclusion." *International Journal of Financial Studies*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs8030045.

MIDA. 2019. "Key Economic Indicators." Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

- Ministry of Finance. 2017. "Shaping the Future Starts Now by Deputy Governor's Bank Negara Malaysia." 2017. https://www.treasury.gov.my/index.php/en/galleryactivities/speech/item/2603-shaping-the-future-starts-now-by-deputy-governor-s-banknegara-malaysia.html.
- Minkov, Michael, and Geert Hofstede. 2011. "The Evolution of Hofstede's Doctrine." CrossCulturalManagement:AnInternationalJournal.https://doi.org/10.1108/13527601111104269.
- ———. 2012. "Is National Culture a Meaningful Concept? Cultural Values Delineate Homogeneous National Clusters of In-Country Regions." Cross-Cultural Research. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069397111427262.
- Minto, Yuwono, Rita Nurmalis, Budi Suharjo, and Bunasor Sanim. 2016. "Strategies to Increase Farmers' Financial Inclusion." *The South East Asian Journal of Management*. https://doi.org/10.21002/seam.v10i2.7732.
- Mishra, Prabhaker, Chandra M. Pandey, Uttam Singh, Anshul Gupta, Chinmoy Sahu, and Amit Keshri. 2019. "Descriptive Statistics and Normality Tests for Statistical Data." *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*. https://doi.org/10.4103/aca.ACA\_157\_18.
- Mishra, Vishal, and Shailendra Singh Bisht. 2013. "Mobile Banking in a Developing Economy: A Customer-Centric Model for Policy Formulation." *Telecommunications Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2012.10.004.
- Mitchell, Olivia S., and Annamaria Lusardi. 2015a. "Financial Literacy and Economic Outcomes: Evidence and Policy Implications ." *The Journal of Retirement*. https://doi.org/10.3905/jor.2015.3.1.107.
- ———. 2015b. "Financial Literacy and Economic Outcomes: Evidence and Policy Implications." SSRN. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2568732.

- Mohamad, Mafuzah, Hamiza Jamaludin, Zuraini Abdullah Zawawi, and Wan Noordiana Wan Hanafi. 2018. "Determinants Influencing Employability Skills: Undergraduate Perception." *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal.*
- Mooi, Erik, and Marko Sarstedt. 2011. A Concise Guide to Market Research. A Concise Guide to Market Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-12541-6.
- Moore, Charity G., Rickey E. Carter, Paul J. Nietert, and Paul W. Stewart. 2011. "Recommendations for Planning Pilot Studies in Clinical and Translational Research." *Clinical and Translational Science*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-8062.2011.00347.x.
- Morosan, Cristian, and Agnes DeFranco. 2016. "It's about Time: Revisiting UTAUT2 to Examine Consumers' Intentions to Use NFC Mobile Payments in Hotels." *International Journal of Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.11.003.
- Morris, Michael G., Viswanath Venkatesh, and Phillip L. Ackerman. 2005. "Gender and Age Differences in Employee Decisions about New Technology: An Extension to the Theory of Planned Behavior." *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*. https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2004.839967.
- Mosteanu, Narcisa Roxana, and Alessio Faccia. 2020. "Digital Systems and New Challenges of Financial Management Fintech, XBRL, Blockchain and Cryptocurrencies." *Quality Access to Success*.
- Mulken, M. Van, R. Le Pair, and C. Forceville. 2010. "The Impact of Perceived Complexity, Deviation and Comprehension on the Appreciation of Visual Metaphor in Advertising across Three European Countries." *Journal of Pragmatics* 42 (12).
- Muñoz-Leiva, F., S. Climent-Climent, and F. Liébana-Cabanillas. 2017. "Determinants of Intention to Use the Mobile Banking Apps: An Extension of the Classic TAM Model." *Spanish Journal of Marketing - ESIC*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjme.2016.12.001.
- Murugiah, Logasvathi. 2016. "The Level of Understanding and Strategies to Enhance Financial Literacy among Malaysian." *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*.
- Mustapa, Wan Nurulasiah binti Wan, Abdullah Al Mamun, and Mohamed Dahlan Ibrahim. 2018. "Economic Impact of Development Initiatives on Low-Income Households in Kelantan,

Malaysia." Social Sciences. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci7070118.

- Mutlu, Savaş, and Azize Ergeneli. 2012. "Electronic Mail Acceptance Evaluation by Extended Technology Acceptance Model and Moderation Effects of Espoused National Cultural Values Between Subjective Norm and Usage Intention." *Intellectual Economics*.
- N. Alkhaldi, Ayman. 2020. "A Proposed Model for Determining the Customer's Use of Mobile Banking Services in Saudi Arabia: Toward the Differential Role of Gender." *International Journal of Business & Information* 14 (1): 85–118.
- Nahapiet, Janine, and Sumantra Ghoshal. 1998. "Social Capital, Intellectual Capital, and the Organizational Advantage." Academy of Management Review. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1998.533225.
- Nandru, Prabhakar, Byram Anand, and Satyanarayana Rentala. 2015. "Financial Inclusion in Pondicherry Region: Evidence from Accessibility and Usage of Banking Services." *TSM Business Review*.
- Nelson, Klara G., and Clark Jr, Thomas D. 1994. "Cross-Cultural Issues in Information Systems Research: A Research Program." *Journal of Global Information Management* 2 (4): 19–29.
- Nembhard, Ingrid M., and Amy C. Edmondson. 2006. "Making It Safe: The Effects of Leader Inclusiveness and Professional Status on Psychological Safety and Improvement Efforts in Health Care Teams." *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.413.
- Ngugi, Daniel George, Everlyn Sawe, Do Nguyen, and Andy Bertsch. 2020. "Modelling and Measuring Acceptance and Use of Internet Banking: The Systematic Development of an Instrument." *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research* 9 (2).
- Nguyen, Huu Thu, and Duong, Pham Bao. 2018. "Impact of Formal Credit on the Living Standards of Poor Households in Mountainous Northern Vietnam." *Enterprise Development & Microfinance* 29 (3/4): 244–61.
- Nguyen, Van Tuong, and Minh Duc Doan. 2020. "The Correlation between Financial Literacy and Personal Saving Behavior in Vietnam." *Asian Economic and Financial Review* 10 (6).

Niehaves, Björn, and Ralf Plattfaut. 2014. "Internet Adoption by the Elderly: Employing IS

Technology Acceptance Theories for Understanding the Age-Related Digital Divide." *European Journal of Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2013.19.

- Normalini, M.K., T. Ramayah, and Muhammad Salman Shabbir. 2019. "Investigating the Impact of Security Factors In E-Business and Internet Banking Usage Intention among Malaysians." *Industrial Engineering & Management Systems*. https://doi.org/10.7232/iems.2019.18.3.501.
- Normalini MK. 2019. "Revisiting the Effects of Quality Dimensions, Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use on Internet Banking Usage Intention." *Global Business and Management Research*.
- Nustini, Yuni; Fadhillah, Nurul. 2020. "Factors That Influence the Use of E-Banking and the Effect on Consumptivism." *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research* 9.
- Obeidat, Mohammad, Whitney Puckett, Larry Jackson, and Hani AbuSalem. 2020. "Mobile Technology Innovation." *International Management Review* 16 (1).
- OECD. 2011. "Measuring Financial Literacy: Core Questionnaire." *Measuring Financial Literacy: Questionnaire and Guidance Notes for Conducting an Internationally Comparable Survey of Financial Literacy.*
- Ogbuabor, Jonathan E., and Cynthia A. Nwosu. 2017. "The Impact of Deposit Money Bank's Agricultural Credit on Agricultural Productivity in Nigeria: Evidence from an Error Correction Model." *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*.
- Oliveira, Tiago, Manoj Thomas, Goncalo Baptista, and Filipe Campos. 2016. "Mobile Payment: Understanding the Determinants of Customer Adoption and Intention to Recommend the Technology." *Computers in Human Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.030.
- Oluwatayo, Isaac. 2013. "Banking the Unbanked in Rural Southwest Nigeria: Showcasing Mobile Phones as Mobile Banks among Farming Households." *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1057/fsm.2013.2.
- Omar, Mohamed Zaini, Che Supian, Mohamad Noor, and Norziani Dahalan. 2012. "The Economic Performance of the Amanah Ikhtiar Malaysia Rural Microcredit Programme : A Case Study in Kedah." *World Journal of Social Sciences*.

- Oshio, Takashi, and Mari Kan. 2014. "Multidimensional Poverty and Health: Evidence from a Nationwide Survey in Japan." *International Journal for Equity in Health*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-014-0128-9.
- Ouellette, Judith A., and Wendy Wood. 1998. "Habit and Intention in Everyday Life: The Multiple Processes by Which Past Behavior Predicts Future Behavior." *Psychological Bulletin*. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.124.1.54.
- Ouma, Shem Alfred, Teresa Maureen Odongo, and Maureen Were. 2017. "Mobile Financial Services and Financial Inclusion: Is It a Boon for Savings Mobilization?" *Review of Development Finance*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rdf.2017.01.001.
- Ozili, Peterson K. 2018. "Impact of Digital Finance on Financial Inclusion and Stability." *Borsa Istanbul Review*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bir.2017.12.003.
- Pagell, Mark, Jeffrey P. Katz, and Chwen Sheu. 2005. "The Importance of National Culture in Operations Management Research." *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570510585552.
- Pallant, Julie. 2013. SPSS Survival Manual 5th Ed. Allen & Unwin.
- Panko, Raymond R., and R. R. Panko. 1988. End User Computing: Management, Applications, Technology. New York: Wiley.
- Park, Cyn-Young, and Rogelio Jr Mercado. 2015. "Financial Inclusion, Poverty, and Income Inequality in Developing Asia." SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2558936.
- Park, J.-K., S.-J. and Yang, and X. Lehto. 2007. "Adoption of Mobile Technologies for Chinese Consumers." *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*. https://doi.org/10.1.1.92.2520.
- Patel, Kiran J., and Hiren J. Patel. 2018. "Adoption of Internet Banking Services in Gujarat: An Extension of TAM with Perceived Security and Social Influence." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-08-2016-0104.
- Patel, Taran. 2007. "The Role of Dynamic Cultural Theories in Explaining the Viability of International Strategic Alliances: A Focus on Indo-French Alliances." *Management Decision*

45 (10).

- Peng, Chao-Ying Joanne, Michael Harwell, Show-Mann Liou, Lee H. Ehman, and others. 2006. "Advances in Missing Data Methods and Implications for Educational Research." *Real Data Analysis*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-10-67.
- Peric, Kosta. 2015. "Digital Financial Inclusion Journal." Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems.
- Peterson, Mark F., and Peter B. Smith. 2008. "Social Structures and Processes in Cross-Cultural Management." In *The Handbook of Cross-Cultural Management Research*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412982764.n3.
- Pettus-Davis, Carrie, Melissa D. Grady, Gary S. Cuddeback, and Anna Scheyett. 2011. "A Practitioner's Guide to Sampling in the Age of Evidence-Based Practice: Translation of Research into Practice." *Clinical Social Work Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-011-0345-2.
- Pierce, Tamra P., Christopher Willy, Robert Roncace, and John Bischoff. 2014. "Extending The Technology Acceptance Model: Policy Acceptance Model (PAM)." *American Journal of Health Sciences (AJHS)*. https://doi.org/10.19030/ajhs.v5i2.8963.
- Pikkarainen, Tero, Kari Pikkarainen, Heikki Karjaluoto, and Seppo Pahnila. 2004. "Consumer Acceptance of Online Banking: An Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model." *Internet Research*. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240410542652.
- Pinsonneault, Alain, and Kenneth L. Kraemer. 1993. "Survey Research Methodology in Management Information Systems: An Assessment." *Journal of Management Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1993.11518001.
- Podsakoff, Philip M., Scott B. MacKenzie, Jeong Yeon Lee, and Nathan P. Podsakoff. 2003. "Common Method Biases in Behavioral Research: A Critical Review of the Literature and Recommended Remedies." *Journal of Applied Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879.
- Podsakoff, Philip M., Scott B. MacKenzie, and Nathan P. Podsakoff. 2012. "Sources of Method Bias in Social Science Research and Recommendations on How to Control It." *Annual Review of Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452.

- Podsakoff, Philip M., and Dennis W. Organ. 1986. "Self-Reports in Organizational Research:ProblemsandProspects."JournalofManagement.https://doi.org/10.1177/014920638601200408.
- Posel, D. R. 2001. "Who Are the Heads of Household, What Do They Do, and Is the Concept of Headship Useful? An Analysis of Headship in South Africa." *Development Southern Africa*. https://doi.org/10.1080/03768350120097487.
- Püschel, Júlio, José Afonso Mazzon, and José Mauro C. Hernandez. 2010. "Mobile Banking: Proposition of an Integrated Adoption Intention Framework." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321011064908.
- Qasim, Huda, and Emad Abu-Shanab. 2016. "Drivers of Mobile Payment Acceptance: The Impact of Network Externalities." *Information Systems Frontiers*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-015-9598-6.
- Radcliffe, Daniel, and Rodger Voorhies. 2012. "A Digital Pathway to Financial Inclusion." SSRN. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2186926.
- Radermacher, Ralf, and Brinkmann, Johannes. 2011. "Insurance for the Poor?" Journal of Business Ethics 103.
- Radermacher, Ralf, and Johannes Brinkmann. 2011. "Insurance for the Poor?" *Journal of Business Ethics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1223-8.
- Radford, Marilyn. 2003. "Personal Financial Services in a Digital Age." *Journal of Consumer Behaviour* 2 (3).
- Rahi, Samar, and Mazuri Abd. Ghani. 2018. "The Role of UTAUT, DOI, Perceived Technology Security and Game Elements in Internet Banking Adoption." World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development. https://doi.org/10.1108/wjstsd-05-2018-0040.
- Rahi, Samar, Mazuri Abd. Ghani, and Abdul Hafaz Ngah. 2019. "Integration of Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology in Internet Banking Adoption Setting: Evidence from Pakistan." *Technology in Society*, 1–10.

Rahi, Samar, and Mazuri Abd Ghani. 2017. "THE INFLUENCE OF E-CUSTOMER SERVICES

AND PERCEIVED VALUE ON BRAND LOYALTY OF BANKS AND INTERNET BANKING ADOPTION: A STRUCTURAL EQUATION MODEL (SEM)." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce.* 

- Rahi, Samar, Mazuri Abd Ghani, and Fatin Jamilah Muhamad. 2017. "Inspecting the Role of Intention to Trust and Online Purchase in Developing Countries." *Journal of Socialomics*. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0358.1000191.
- Rahi, Samar, Mazuri Abd Ghani, and Abdul Hafaz Ngah. 2020. "Factors Propelling the Adoption of Internet Banking: The Role of e-Customer Service, Website Design, Brand Image and Customer Satisfaction." *International Journal of Business Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBIS.2020.105870.
- Ramayah, Thurasamy, Jacky Cheah, Francis Chuah, Hiram Ting, and Mumtaz Ali Memon. 2018. Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) Using SmartPLS 3.0: An Updated and Practical Guide to Statistical Analysis. Handbook of Market Research. https://doi.org/10.1213/01.ane.0000105862.78906.3d.
- Rana, Nripendra P., Sunil Luthra, and H. Raghav Rao. 2019. "Key Challenges to Digital Financial Services in Emerging Economies: The Indian Context." *Information Technology and People*. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-05-2018-0243.
- Raza, Syed Ali, Nida Shah, and Muhammad Ali. 2019. "Acceptance of Mobile Banking in Islamic Banks: Evidence from Modified UTAUT Model." *Journal of Islamic Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIMA-04-2017-0038.
- Redmayne, Mary, Euan Smith, and Michael J. Abramson. 2013. "A Forecasting Method to Reduce Estimation Bias in Self-Reported Cell Phone Data." *Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2012.70.
- Reinartz, Werner, Michael Haenlein, and Jörg Henseler. 2009. "An Empirical Comparison of the Efficacy of Covariance-Based and Variance-Based SEM." *International Journal of Research in Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2009.08.001.
- Reio, Thomas G. 2016. "Nonexperimental Research: Strengths, Weaknesses and Issues of Precision." *European Journal of Training and Development*. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-

07-2015-0058.

- Rhine, Sherrie L.W., and William H. Greene. 2013. "Factors That Contribute to Becoming Unbanked." Journal of Consumer Affairs. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6606.2012.01244.x.
- Rigdon, Edward E. 2014. "Rethinking Partial Least Squares Path Modeling: Breaking Chains and Forging Ahead." *Long Range Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2014.02.003.
- Ringle, Christian M., Marko Sarstedt, and Lorenz Zimmermann. 2011. "Customer Satisfaction with Commercial Airlines: The Role of Perceived Safety and Purpose of Travel." *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*. https://doi.org/10.2753/mtp1069-6679190407.
- Risher, Jeff, and Joe F. Hair. 2017. "The Robustness of PLS Across Disciplines." Academy of Business Journal 1.
- Rizwan, Mushtaq, and Bruneau Catherine. 2016. "MICROFINANCE, FINANCIAL INCLUSION AND ICT: IMPLICATIONS FOR POVERTY AND INEQUALITY." In 18th International Scientific Conference on Economic and Social Development.
- Rogers, Everett M. 1995. Diffuison of Innovations. Elements of Diffusion 3rd. Edition. https://doi.org/citeulike-article-id:126680.
- Rondovic, Biljana, Zdenka Dragasevic, and Svetlana Rakocevic. 2016. "RANKING OF USER EXPECTATIONS WHICH INFLUENCE THE LEVEL OF ADOPTION AND USE OF INTERNET BANKING SERVICE." In *Economic and Social Development: Book of Proceedings*.
- Rooney, Richard. 2013. "Introducing Intercultural Communication, Global Cultures and Contexts." *Global Media Journal African Edition*. https://doi.org/10.5789/6-2-111.
- Rowley, Jenny. 2014. "Designing and Using Research Questionnaires." *Management Research Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-02-2013-0027.
- Sabri, Mohamad Fazli, and Eugene Cheng Xi Aw. 2019. "Financial Literacy and Related Outcomes: The Role of Financial Information Sources." *International Journal of Business and Society*.

- Sadoulet, Elisabeth, and Alain de Janvry. 1996. "Quantitative Development Policy Analysis." *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. https://doi.org/10.2307/1243800.
- Sahoo, Debjani, and Sreejesh S. Pillai. 2017. "Role of Mobile Banking Servicescape on Customer Attitude and Engagement: An Empirical Investigation in India." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-09-2015-0144.
- Saksonova, Svetlana, and Irina Kuzmina-Merlino. 2017. "Fintech as Financial Innovation The Possibilities and Problems of Implementation." *European Research Studies Journal*.
- Salim, Badreldin F., Mohamed H. Mahmoud, and Hatim M. Khair. 2016. "Perceived Factors Affecting the Internet Banking Implementation in Sudan: An Application of (UTAUT2)." *International Journal of Applied Business and Economic Research*.
- Samer, Sayed, Izaidin Majid, Syaiful Rizal, M.R. Muhamad, Sarah-Halim, and Nlizwa Rashid. 2015. "The Impact of Microfinance on Poverty Reduction: Empirical Evidence from Malaysian Perspective." *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.343.
- Sánchez-Torres, Javier A., Francisco Javier Arroyo Canada, Alexander Varon Sandoval, and James Ariel Sánchez Alzate. 2018. "E-Banking in Colombia: Factors Favouring Its Acceptance, Online Trust and Government Support." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-10-2016-0145.
- Saranya, Kamala. 2014. "Influence of Job Satisfaction on Employees' Performance-A General Perspective." International Journal on Global Business Management & Research.
- Sarawak Biodiversity Centre. 2018. "Sarawak Digital Economy Strategy 2018-2022." Sarawak.
- Sarawak Voice. 2019. "Enriching Experience for UNIMAS Students at Thaksin University." 2019. https://sarawakvoice.com/2019/07/16/enriching-experience-for-unimas-students-at-thaksinuniversity/.
- Sarfaraz, Javed. 2017. "UNIFIED THEORY OF ACCEPTANCE AND USE OF TECHNOLOGY (UTAUT) MODEL-MOBILE BANKING." *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce* 22 (3): 1–21.

- Sarstedt, Marko, Christian M. Ringle, Jörg Henseler, and Joseph F. Hair. 2014. "On the Emancipation of PLS-SEM: A Commentary on Rigdon (2012)." *Long Range Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2014.02.007.
- Sarstedt, Marko, and Matthias Peter Schloderer. 2009. "Developing a Measurement Approach for Reputation of Non-Profit Organizations." *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1002/nvsm.389.
- Sassi, Seifallah, and Mohamed Goaied. 2013. "Financial Development, ICT Diffusion and Economic Growth: Lessons from MENA Region." *Telecommunications Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2012.12.004.
- Saunders, Mark, Philip Lewis, and Adrian Thornhill. 2016. Research Methods For Business Students. Pearson.
- Savic, Jovana, and Aleksandra Pesterac. 2019. "ANTECEDENTS OF MOBILE BANKING UTAUT MODEL." *European Journal of Applied Economics* 16 (1): 20–29.
- Schafer, Joseph L., and Maren K. Olsen. 1998. "Multiple Imputation for Multivariate Missing-Data Problems: A Data Analyst's Perspective." *Multivariate Behavioral Research*. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr3304 5.
- Schafer, Josepn L., and John W. Graham. 2002. "Missing Data: Our View of the State of the Art." *Psychological Methods*. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.7.2.147.
- Schillewaert, Niels, Michael J. Ahearne, Ruud T. Frambach, and Rudy K. Moenaert. 2005. "The Adoption of Information Technology in the Sales Force." *Industrial Marketing Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2004.09.013.
- Schmitt, Neal. 1994. "Method Bias: The Importance of Theory and Measurement." *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030150504.
- Shane, Scott. 1995. "Uncertainty Avoidance and the Preference for Innovation Championing<br/>Roles." Journal of International Business Studies.<br/>https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490165.
- Shao, Lian, and Sheila Webber. 2006. "A Cross-Cultural Test of the 'Five-Factor Model of

Personality and Transformational Leadership."" *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.02.005.

- Sharma, Purma Prasad, Shah Ahmad Khan, and Prabha Thoudam. 2020. "PERCEPTION OF BANKING PRODUCTS AMONG PEOPLE: EVIDENCE FROM BHUTAN." *Delhi Business Review* 21 (1).
- Sharma, Rashmini, Gurmeet Singh, and Shavneet Sharma. 2020. "Modelling Internet Banking Adoption in Fiji: A Developing Country Perspective." *International Journal of Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102116.
- Sharma, Sujeet Kumar, Srikrishna Madhumohan Govindaluri, and Shahid M. Al Balushi. 2015. "Predicting Determinants of Internet Banking Adoption: A Two-Staged Regression-Neural Network Approach." *Management Research Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-06-2014-0139.
- Shih, Ya Yueh, and Kwoting Fang. 2004. "The Use of a Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior to Study Internet Banking in Taiwan." *Internet Research*. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240410542643.
- Shin, Seungjae, and Won Jun Lee. 2014. "The Effects of Technology Readiness and Technology Acceptance on NFC Mobile Payment Services in Korea." *Journal of Applied Business Research*.
- Siddik, Md., Sajal Kabiraj, and Shanmugan Joghee. 2017. "Impacts of Capital Structure on Performance of Banks in a Developing Economy: Evidence from Bangladesh." *International Journal of Financial Studies*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs5020013.
- Silong, Asenath Kotugan Fada, and Yiorgos Gadanakis. 2019. "Credit Sources, Access and Factors Influencing Credit Demand among Rural Livestock Farmers in Nigeria." *Agricultural Finance Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/AFR-10-2018-0090.
- Singh, Sindhu, and R. K. Srivastava. 2018. "Predicting the Intention to Use Mobile Banking in India." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-12-2016-0186.

SMA-TEGAS. 2019. "ABOUT SMA-TEGAS DIGITAL INNOVATION HUB." 2019.
- Snell, Scott A., and James W. Dean. 1992. "Integrated Manufacturing and Human Resource Management: A Human Capital Perspective." Academy of Management Journal. https://doi.org/10.5465/256484.
- Srite, Mark. 2006. "Culture as an Explanation of Technology Acceptance Differences: An Empirical Investigation of Chinese and US Users." *Australasian Journal of Information Systems*. https://doi.org/10.3127/ajis.v14i1.4.
- Srite, Mark, and Elena Karahanna. 2006. "The Role of Espoused National Cultural Values in Technology Acceptance." *MIS Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148745.
- Staschen, Stefan. 2018. "Bank-Led Digital Finance: Who's Really Leading?" 2018.
- Stavseth, Marianne Riksheim, Thomas Clausen, and Jo Røislien. 2019. "How Handling Missing Data May Impact Conclusions: A Comparison of Six Different Imputation Methods for Categorical Questionnaire Data." SAGE Open Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312118822912.
- Stewart, Tom. 2011. "Addressing Financial Exclusion among Families Living in Poverty." Journal of Poverty and Social Justice. https://doi.org/10.1332/175982710x513830.
- Stone, M. 1974. "Cross-Validation and Multinomial Prediction." *Biometrika*. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/61.3.509.
- Straub, Detmar, and Elena Karahanna. 1998. "Knowledge Worker Communications and Recipient Availability: Toward a Task Closure Explanation of Media Choice." Organization Science. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.9.2.160.
- Straub, Detmar, Mark Keil, and Walter Brenner. 1997. "Testing the Technology Acceptance Model across Cultures: A Three Country Study." *Information and Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(97)00026-8.
- Straub, Detmar, Karen Loch, Roberto Evaristo, Elena Karahanna, and Mark Srite. 2002. "Toward a Theory-Based Measurement of Culture." *Journal of Global Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.4018/jgim.2002010102.

Sun, Sunny, Patrick Lee, and Rob Law. 2019. "Impact of Cultural Values on Technology

Acceptance and Technology Readiness." *International Journal of Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.06.017.

- Tabachnick, Barbara G., and Linda S. Fidell. 2007. Using Multivariate Statistics 5. Boston: Pearson Allyn and Bacon. https://doi.org/10.1037/022267.
- Taft, Marzieh Kalantarie, Zare Zardeini Hosein, and Seyyed Mohammad Tabatabaei Mehrizi. 2013. "The Relation between Financial Literacy, Financial Wellbeing and Financial Concerns." *International Journal of Business and Management*. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v8n11p63.
- Tai, Yi-ming;, and Yi- Ku. 2013. "Will Stock Investors Use Mobile Stock Trading? A Benefit-Risk Assessment Based on a Modified UTAUT Model." *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*.
- Tan, Evon, and Jasmine Leby Lau. 2016a. "Behavioural Intention to Adopt Mobile Banking among the Millennial Generation." Young Consumers. https://doi.org/10.1108/YC-07-2015-00537.
- ——. 2016b. "Behavioural Intention to Adopt Mobile Banking among the Millennial Generation." *Young Consumers*. https://doi.org/10.1108/YC-07-2015-00537.
- Tarhini, Ali, Kate Hone, Xiaohui Liu, and Takwa Tarhini. 2017. "Examining the Moderating Effect of Individual-Level Cultural Values on Users' Acceptance of E-Learning in Developing Countries: A Structural Equation Modeling of an Extended Technology Acceptance Model." *Interactive Learning Environments*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2015.1122635.
- Taylor, Shirley, and Peter A. Todd. 1995. "Understanding Information Technology Usage: A Test of Competing Models." *Information Systems Research*. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.6.2.144.
- Tehseen, Shehnaz, Sulaiman Sajilan, Kamisan Gadar, and T. Ramayah. 2017. "Assessing Cultural Orientation as a Reflective- Formative Second Order Construct -A Recent PLS-SEM Approach." *Review of Integrative Business and Economics ResearchOnlineCDROM*.
- Teo, Timothy. 2014. "Unpacking Teachers' Acceptance of Technology: Tests of Measurement Invariance and Latent Mean Differences." *Computers and Education*.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.01.014.

- Teo, Timothy, and Fang Huang. 2018. "Investigating the Influence of Individually Espoused Cultural Values on Teachers' Intentions to Use Educational Technologies in Chinese Universities." *Interactive Learning Environments*, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1489856.
- Teo, Timothy, Fang Huang, and Cathy Ka Weng Hoi. 2018. "Explicating the Influences That Explain Intention to Use Technology among English Teachers in China." *Interactive Learning Environments*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2017.1341940.
- The Official Portal of Sarawak Government. 2010. "Sarawak Population." 2010.
- The Star. 2017. "Malaysia Moving towards Cashless Society." 2017. https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2017/12/09/malaysia-moving-towards-cashless-society/.
  - ——. 2018. "Looking Ahead: EPF Advocates Saving for the Future." 2018. https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2018/08/18/looking-ahead.
- TheWorldBank.2019."MEASURINGPOVERTY."2019.https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/measuringpoverty.
- Thien, Lei Mee, Ramayah Thurasamy, and Nordin Abd Razak. 2014. "Specifying and Assessing a Formative Measure for Hofstede's Cultural Values: A Malaysian Study." *Quality and Quantity*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9959-5.
- Thomas, Asha E. 2016. "Driving Financial Inclusion in India: A Study on Mobile Wallet Services Offered by Banks in Kerala." *Splint International Journal of Professionals* 3 (7): 7–11.
- Thompson, Cheryl Bagley, and Edward A. Panacek. 2007. "Research Study Designs: Non-Experimental." *Air Medical Journal* 26 (1): 18–22.
- Thuraisamy, Aananthi a/p. 2018. "THE ETHNOGRAPHIC DESCRIPTIONS OF INDONESIAN DOMESTIC WORKERS IN SELECTED MALAYSIAN MIDDLE CLASS HOMES: CASE STUDY IN KLANG, SELANGOR." *E-Bangi : Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*.

Tourangeau, Roger, Lance J. Rips, and Kenneth Rasinski. 2000. The Psychology of Survey

Response. The Psychology of Survey Response. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511819322.

- Trompenaars, F., and C. Hampden-Turner. 1998. *Riding the Waves of Culture*. New York: MacGraw-Hill.
- Tung, Rosalie L. 2008. "The Cross-Cultural Research Imperative: The Need to Balance Cross-National and Intra-National Diversity." *Journal of International Business Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8400331.
- Udo, Gj, and K Bagchi. 2011. "Understanding the Influence of Espoused Culture on Acceptance of Online Services in a Developing Country." *Journal of Information Technology Theory and* ....
- UN Capital Development Fund. 2019. "HOW DO LOW- AND MIDDLEINCOME PEOPLE IN MALAYSIA EXPERIENCE AND USE DIGITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES?"
- United Nations. 2012. Canberra Group Handbook on Household Income Statistics, 2nd Edition. http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/stats/publications/Canberra\_Group\_Handbook\_2nd\_ edition.pdf.
- Urbach, N., and F. Ahlemann. 2010. "Structural Equation Modeling in Information Systems Research Using Partial Least Squares." *JITTA: Journal of Information Technology Theory and Application* 11 (2).
- Valaei, Naser, Sajad Rezaei, Wan Khairuzzaman Wan Ismail, and Yoke Moi Oh. 2016. "The Effect of Culture on Attitude towards Online Advertising and Online Brands: Applying Hofstede's Cultural Factors to Internet Marketing." *International Journal of Internet Marketing and Advertising*. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJIMA.2016.081346.
- Valerio, Melissa A., Natalia Rodriguez, Paula Winkler, Jaime Lopez, Meagen Dennison, Yuanyuan Liang, and Barbara J. Turner. 2016. "Comparing Two Sampling Methods to Engage Hard-to-Reach Communities in Research Priority Setting." *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0242-z.
- Venkatesh, Morris, Davis, and Davis. 2003. "User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View." MIS Quarterly. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540.

- Venkatesh, Thong, and Xu. 2012. "Consumer Acceptance and Use of Information Technology: Extending the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology." *MIS Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.2307/41410412.
- Venkatesh, Viswanath, and Susan A. Brown. 2005. "Model of Adoption of Technology in Households: A BAseline Model Test and Extension Incorporating Household Life Cycle." *MIS Quarterly*.
- Venkatesh, Viswanath, and Michael G. Morris. 2000. "Why Don't Men Ever Stop to Ask for Directions? Gender, Social Influence, and Their Role in Technology Acceptance and Usage Behavior." *MIS Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.2307/3250981.
- Venkatesh, Viswanath, James Y L Thong, Business Statistics, Xin Xu, and Technology Acceptance. 2016. "Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology: A Synthesis and the Road Ahead." *Journal of the Association Information System*.
- Vijver, Van De, and J. R. Fons. 2016. "Cross-Cultural Perspective in Romanian I/O Psychology." *Psihologia Resurselor Umane* 14 (2).
- Volkema, Roger J. 2004. "Demographic, Cultural, and Economic Predictors of Perceived Ethicality of Negotiation Behavior: A Nine-Country Analysis." *Journal of Business Research.* https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(02)00286-2.
- Wagner III, John A. 1995. "Studies of Individualism-Collectivism: Effects on Cooperation." Academy of Management Journal 38 (1).
- Wandhöfer, Ruth. 2017. "The Future of Digital Retail Payments in Europe: A Place for Digital Cash?" *Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems*.
- Wang, May, Stella Cho, and Trey Denton. 2017. "The Impact of Personalization and Compatibility with Past Experience on E-Banking Usage." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-04-2015-0046.
- Wang, Xue, and Guangwen He. 2020. "Digital Financial Inclusion and Farmers' Vulnerability to Poverty: Evidence from Rural China." Sustainability (Switzerland). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041668.

- Wang, Yi Shun, Yu Min Wang, Hsin Hui Lin, and Tzung I. Tang. 2003. "Determinants of User Acceptance of Internet Banking: An Empirical Study." In *International Journal of Service Industry Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/09564230310500192.
- Warshaw, Paul R., and Fred D. Davis. 1985. "Disentangling Behavioral Intention and Behavioral Expectation." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1031(85)90017-4.
- Werts, C.E., R.L. Linn, and K.G. Jöreskog. 1974. "Intraclass Reliability Estimates: Testing Structural Assumptions." *Educational and Psychological Measurement*. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316447403400104.
- White, Nicholas J. 2015. "The New Economic Policy in Malaysia: Affirmative Action, Ethnic Inequalities and Social Justice." JOURNAL OF SOUTHEAST ASIAN STUDIES. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022463414000745.
- Willits, Fern K, Gene L Theodori, and A E Luloff. 2016. "ANOTHER LOOK AT LIKERT SCALES \*." Journal of Rural Social Sciences.
- Wong, KKK Ken Kwong-Kay. 2013. "28/05 Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) Techniques Using SmartPLS." *Marketing Bulletin*.
- Woo, Jun Jong, and Lee Hyung-Seok. 2007. "Cultural Differences in Brand Designs and Tagline Appeals." *International Marketing Review*. https://doi.org/10.1108/02651330710761035.
- World Bank. 2008. "Finance for All? Policies and Pitfalls in Expanding Access: A World Bank Policy Research Report." *The World Bank*.
- ——. 2009. "The Case for Financial Literacy in Developing Countries." *Education*.
  - ——. 2018a. "Malaysia's Digital Economy: A New Driver of Development." https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/30383/129777.pdf?sequence =1&isAllowed=y.
- ——. 2018b. Measuring Financial Inclusion and the Fintech Revolution. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1259-0.
- World Bank Group. 2017. "Financial Inclusion in Malaysia: Distilling Lessons for Other

Countries."

- ——. 2019. "Malaysia Economic Monitor, June 2019: Re-Energizing the Public Service." https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/31968/MalaysiaEconomicM onitorJune2019.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y.
- Worthington, Andrew C. 2016. "Financial Literacy and Financial Literacy Programmes in Australia." In *Financial Literacy and the Limits of Financial Decision-Making*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-30886-9\_14.
- Yadav, Rambalak, Vikas Chauhan, and Govind Swaroop Pathak. 2015. "Intention to Adopt Internet Banking in an Emerging Economy: A Perspective of Indian Youth." *Marketing Intelligence and Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-06-2014-0075.
- Yanagawa, Eiichiro. 2018. "Digital Transformation in Japan's Banking Industry." Journal of Payments Strategy & Systems 12 (4): 351–64.
- Yaseen, Saad Ghaleb, and Ihab Ali El Qirem. 2018. "Intention to Use E-Banking Services in the Jordanian Commercial Banks." *International Journal of Bank Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-05-2017-0082.
- Yawe, Bruno L, and Jaideep Prabhu. 2015. "Innovation and Financial Inclusion: A Review of the Literature." *Journal of Pyaments Strategy & Systems*.
- Yoon, Cheolho. 2009. "The Effects of National Culture Values on Consumer Acceptance of E-Commerce: Online Shoppers in China." *Information & Management* 46: 294–301.
- Yu, Chian-Son. 2012. "Factors Affecting Individuals to Adopt Mobile Banking: Empirical Evidence from the UTAUT Model." *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*.
- ———. 2014. "CONSUMER SWITCHING BEHAVIOR FROM ONLINE BANKING TO MOBILE BANKING." International Journal of Cyber Society and Education. https://doi.org/10.7903/ijcse.1108.
- Yu, Pay Ling;, M. S.; Balaji, and Kok Wei Khong. 2015. "Building Trust in Internet Banking: A Trustworthiness Perspective." *Industrial Management and Data Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-09-2014-0262.

- Yuen, Yee Yen, Paul H.P. Yeow, and Nena Lim. 2015. "Internet Banking Acceptance in the United States and Malaysia: A Cross-Cultural Examination." *Marketing Intelligence and Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-08-2013-0126.
- Yusof, Selamah Abdullah, Rohaiza Abd Rokis, and Wan Jamaliah Wan Jusoh. 2015. "Financial Fragility of Urban Households in Malaysia." Jurnal Ekonomi Malaysia. https://doi.org/10.17576/JEM-2015-4901-02.
- Zak, Paul J., and Stephen Knack. 2001. "Trust and Growth." *Economic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0297.00609.
- Zeithaml, Valarie A. 1988. "Consumer Perceptions of Price, Quality, and Value: A Means-End Model and Synthesis of Evidence." *Journal of Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224298805200302.
- Zhang, Yun, Qingxiong Weng, and Nan Zhu. 2018. "The Relationships between Electronic Banking Adoption and Its Antecedents: A Meta-Analytic Study of the Role of National Culture." *International Journal of Information Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.01.015.
- Zhao, Fang, Jie Sun, Raj Devasagayam, and Gary Clendenen. 2018. "Effects of Culture and Financial Literacy among Chinese-Americans on Participating in Financial Services." *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41264-018-0044-y.
- Zhou, Tao, Yaobin Lu, and Bin Wang. 2010. "Integrating TTF and UTAUT to Explain Mobile Banking User Adoption." *Computers in Human Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.013.
- Zikmund, W.G. 2000. Business Research Methods. 6th editio. The Dryden Press.
- Zyphur, Michael J., and Dean C. Pierides. 2017. "Is Quantitative Research Ethical? Tools for Ethically Practicing, Evaluating, and Using Quantitative Research." *Journal of Business Ethics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8.

"Every reasonable effort has been made to acknowledge the owners of copyright material. I would be pleased to hear from any copyright owner who has been omitted or incorrectly acknowledged."

#### **APPENDIX**

#### a) Appendix 1: Ethics Approval Letter



Research Office at Curtin

GPO Box U1987

Perth Western Australia 6845

Telephone +61 8 9266 7863 Facsimile +61 8 9266 3793 Web research curtin edu au

18-Dec-2019

Name: Dhanuskodi Rengasamy Department/School: Curtin University Email: Dhanuskodi.Rengasamy@curtin.edu.au

Dear Dhanuskodi Rengasamy

**RE: Ethics Office approval** Approval number: HRE2019-0837

Thank you for submitting your application to the Human Research Ethics Office for the project DIGITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES ACCEPTANCE AMONG LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLDS IN MIRI, SARAWAK: THE ROLE OF CULTURAL DIMENSIONS.

Your application was reviewed through the Curtin University Negligible risk review process.

The review outcome is: Approved.

Your proposal meets the requirements described in the National Health and Medical Research Council's (NHMRC) National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007).

Approval is granted for a period of one year from 18-Dec-2019 to 17-Dec-2020. Continuation of approval will be granted on an annual basis following submission of an annual report.

Personnel authorised to work on this project:

Name	Role
Rengasamy, Dhanuskodi	CI
Badeeb, Ramez	Supervisor
Dockery, Michael	Supervisor
Ngau, Christine Mening	

Approved documents:

Document

#### Standard conditions of approval

- 1. Research must be conducted according to the approved proposal
- 2. Report in a timely manner anything that might warrant review of ethical approval of the project including:
  - proposed changes to the approved proposal or conduct of the study
    unanticipated problems that might affect continued ethical acceptability of the project
  - · major deviations from the approved proposal and/or regulatory guidelines · serious adverse events

- Amendments to the proposal must be approved by the Human Research Ethics Office before they are implemented (except where an amendment is undertaken to eliminate an immediate risk to participants)
- An annual progress report must be submitted to the Human Research Ethics Office on or before the anniversary of approval and a completion report submitted on completion of the project
- 5. Personnel working on this project must be adequately qualified by education, training and experience for their role, or supervised
- Personnel must disclose any actual or potential conflicts of interest, including any financial or other interest or affiliation, that bears on this project
- 7. Changes to personnel working on this project must be reported to the Human Research Ethics Office
- Data and primary materials must be retained and stored in accordance with the Western Australian University Sector Disposal Authority (WAUSDA) and the Curtin University Research Data and Primary Materials policy
- 9. Where practicable, results of the research should be made available to the research participants in a timely and clear manner
- Unless prohibited by contractual obligations, results of the research should be disseminated in a manner that will allow public scrutiny; the Human Research Ethics Office must be informed of any constraints on publication
- Approval is dependent upon ongoing compliance of the research with the <u>Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research</u>, the <u>National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research</u>, applicable legal requirements, and with Curtin University policies, procedures and governance requirements
- 12. The Human Research Ethics Office may conduct audits on a portion of approved projects.

#### Special Conditions of Approval

COA - If you make any changes to the questionnaire after the pilot study is completed please make sure you submit the updated questionnaire as an amendment request.

This letter constitutes low risk/negligible risk approval only. This project may not proceed until you have met all of the Curtin University research governance requirements.

Yours sincerely

Amy Bowater Ethics, Team Lead

## b) Appendix 2: Participant Information Sheet

HREC Project Number:	HRE2019-0837
Project Title:	Digital Financial Services Acceptance among Low-Income Households in Miri, Sarawak: The Role of Cultural Dimensions
Chief Investigator:	Dr. Dhanuskodi Rengasamy
Version Number:	Participant Information Statement, Version 2
Version Date:	December 2019

## PARTICIPANT INFORMATION STATEMENT

You are invited to participate in this research.

## What is the Project About?

Entitled, "Digital Financial Services Acceptance among Low-Income Households In Miri, Sarawak: The Role of Cultural Dimensions.", this research aims to identify the determinants of the behavioural intention to accept digital financial services and investigate the moderating role of cultural dimensions on financial literacy to the behavioural intention to accept digital financial services. The findings of this study seek to contribute to the study of technology acceptance by understanding the perspective of low-income households in DFS acceptance, which is hoped to assist the government, policymakers, educators, the banking sector and non-governmental organizations towards achieving complete financial inclusion within Malaysia.

This project will examine the following research questions:

- 1. What are the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?
- 2. How do cultural dimensions moderate financial literacy to the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services?

#### Who is doing the Research?

This is a Master of Philosophy (Finance) project conducted by Christine Mening Ngau. This project is supervised by Dr Dhanuskodi Rengasamy (Curtin University Malaysia), Dr Ramez Abubakr Abdulrazzaq Ba Deeb (Curtin University Malaysia) and Associate Professor Michael Dockery (Curtin University Perth).

#### Why am I being asked to take part and what will I have to do?

You have been asked to take part in this research because you fulfil the criteria of respondents that we are researching. We would like to know your experience with digital financial services, financial literacy and cultural dimensions. This study will take place at a mutually convenient location. We will ask you questions about your demographic profile, digital financial services experience, determinants of digital financial services and cultural dimensions. The questionnaire only needs to be completed once. Furthermore, the questionnaire will be distributed in-person and will be collected immediately once you have completed it. Completing the questionnaire will only take approximately 10 minutes.

There will be no cost for taking part in this research and you will not be paid for taking part. The data which is obtained from you will be non-identifiable. You will not be identified by name on the questionnaire or on any other information collected about you. Anonymity and confidentiality will always be maintained. You will not be identified in any results published or presented in conference papers, academic journals or book chapters. Only the research team will have access to the information we collect in this research and, in the event of an audit or investigation, staff from the Curtin University Office of Research and Development.

#### Are there any benefits' to being in the research project?

There may be no direct benefit to you from participating in this research. We hope the results of this research will allow us to assist the government, policymakers, educators, the banking sector

and non-governmental organizations towards achieving complete financial inclusion within Malaysia.

# Are there any risks, side-effects, discomforts or inconveniences from being in the research project?

There are no foreseeable risks from this research project. We have been careful to make sure that the questions in the survey do not cause you any distress. However, if you feel anxious about any of the questions you do not need to answer them. Apart from giving up your time, we do not expect that there will be any risks or inconveniences associated with taking part in this study.

#### Who will have access to my information?

The information collected in this research will be non-identifiable (anonymous). This means that we do not need to collect individual names or information is anonymous and will not include a code number or name. No one, not even the research team will be able to identify your information. The following people will have access to the information we collect in this research: the research team and, in the event of an audit or investigation, staff from the Curtin University Office of Research and Development. Electronic data will be password-protected and hard copy data will be in locked storage. The information we collect in this study will be kept under secure conditions at Curtin University for 7 years after the research is published and then it will be destroyed.

**Do I have to take part in the research project?** Taking part in a research project is voluntary. It is your choice to take part or not. You do not have to agree if you do not want to. If you decide to take part and then change your mind, that is okay, you can withdraw from the project. You can choose to withdraw your participation prior to submitting your responses.

#### What happens next and who can I contact about the research?

At the start of the questionnaire there is a checkbox to indicate you have understood the information

provided here in the information sheet.

If you have any questions or concerns about the research, the following details the contact information of the Chief Investigator:

Chief Investigator: Dr Dhanuskodi Rengasamy Address: School of Business, Universiti Curtin, CDT 250, 98009 Miri, Sarawak Telephone No.: 60 85 630100 Email: dhanuskodi@curtin.edu.my

### **Concerns or complaints**

Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) has approved this study (HREC number HRE2019-0837). Should you wish to discuss the study with someone not directly involved, in particular, any matters concerning the conduct of the study or your rights as a participant, or you wish to make a confidential complaint, you may contact the Ethics Officer on (08) 9266 9223 or the Manager, Research Integrity on (08) 9266 7093 or email hrec@curtin.edu.au.

We would like to thank you in advance for your assistance with this research project.

c) Appendix 3: Questionnaire



**Research Topic:** 

## DIGITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES ACCEPTANCE AMONG LOW-INCOME

HOUSEHOLDS IN MIRI, SARAWAK: THE ROLE OF CULTURAL DIMENSIONS

Investigator:

### CHRISTINE MENING NGAU MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY (ECONOMICS AND FINANCE) Faculty of Business Curtin University, Malaysia

Dear Participant,

- 1. I would like to express my sincere thanks to you in advance, for contributing and giving feedback on my research questionnaire.
- This survey seeks to investigate the technology acceptance of Bank-led digital financial services [Example: Mobile banking, Internet banking, Automated Teller Machine (ATM), Point of sale (POS) terminals, electronically enabled cards (Viz. Debit card, credit card, Master card etc)
- 3. Two key characteristics of Bank-led financial services are
  - a. The bank provides financial services
  - b. Financial services must be acceptable through digital channels

4. All information provided will be kept **STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL** and used only for academic purposes.

## Please read and tick the following box if you agree to participate in this study.

□ I have received information regarding this research and had an opportunity to ask questions. I believe I understand the purpose, extent and possible risks of my involvement in this project and I voluntarily consent to take part.

**Brief description of digital financial services:** Digital financial services consist of a range of bank-led financial services which are delivered through digital channels. Examples of bank-led digital financial services are mobile banking, Internet banking, Automated Teller Machine (ATM), Point of Sale (POS) terminals and electronically enabled cards (Viz. Debit card, credit card, Master card, etc.). All these channels allow people to send, receive and invest money as long as they have access to a mobile device or computer with access to the Internet.



Curtin Ethical Number:

HRE2019-0837

**Dear Participant** 

If you fulfill *the following three criteria*, please continue. Otherwise, you can return the questionnaire.

- 1. A Malaysian citizen
- 2. Total Household income between RM1,070 and RM 3,459
- 3. Head of Household [ \* Age 18 years and above \* Married or unmarried \* Main income earner of the family \* income from employment or self-employment \* living in Miri ]

## SECTION A: DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE

Please put (  $\sqrt{}$  ) in the appropriate box that represents your answer.

1.	Gender
	Male
	Female
2.	Age
	18-25 years old
	26-33 years old
	34-41 years old
	42-49 years old
	50 years old and above
3.	State of origin
	Sarawak
	Other than Sarawak
4.	Ethnicity
	Bumiputera
	Non-Bumiputera
5.	Highest educational qualification
	Primary school education
	Secondary school education
	Diploma
	Undergraduate
	Postgraduate and above
	SECTION B: DIGITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES EXPERIENCE
6.	Which of the following digital financial service(s) do you currently use? You can choose more than one answer.

	Mobile banking
	Internet banking
	Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)
	Point of Sale (POS) terminals
	Electronically enabled cards (Debit/Credit cards)
	Others, please specify:
	I do not use digital financial services
7.	How many times do you use digital financial services?
	Once daily
	2-5 times daily
	6-10 times daily
	More than 10 times daily
	Once in a week
	Once in a month
	I do not use digital financial services
8.	How long have you used digital financial services?
	Less than 1 year
	1 to 2 years
	3 to 4 years
	5 to 6 years
	More than 6 years
	I do not use digital financial services
	i do not use digital financial services

# SECTION C: DETERMINANTS OF BEHAVIORAL INTENTION TO ACCEPT DIGITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES

- This section seeks to identify the determinants of the behavioral intention to accept digital financial services.
- Please put (  $\sqrt{}$  ) in the appropriate box that represents your answer.

	Strongly				Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
PERFORMANCE EXPECTANCY					
PE1. I think digital financial services					
are useful in my daily life.					
PE2. I think using digital financial					
services increases my chances of					
achieving things that are important to					
me.					
PE3. I think using digital financial					
services helps me to accomplish					
things faster.					
PE4. I think using digital financial					
services increases my productivity.					
FACILITATING CONDITIONS					
FC1. I think I have the resources					
necessary to use digital financial					
services					

FC2. I think I have the knowledge					
necessary to use digital financial					
services					
FC3. I think digital financial services					
are compatible with other					
technologies I use					
FC4. I think I can get help from others					
when I have difficulties using digital					
financial services.					
HEDONIC MOTIVATION					
HM1. I think the interactive features					
of digital financial services such as the					
ease of interface usage, game-based					
features and reward programs makes					
the experience fun.					
HM2. I think the personalized user					
experience that digital financial					
services provide makes the					
experience enjoyable.					
HM3. I think the overall experience of					
using digital financial services is very					
entertaining.					
	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree	(2)	(3)	(4)	Agree
	(1)				(5)
PRICE VALUE					
PV1. I think digital financial services					
are reasonably priced.					

PV2. I think digital financial services			
are worth the money.			
PV3. At the current price, spending on			
digital financial services is a good use			
of money.			
FINANCIAL LITERACY			
FL1. Financial institutions charge			
service fees on basic banking			
services.			
FL2. An investment with high return			
is likely to have high risks.			
FL3. High inflation rate means that			
cost of living also increases.			
FL4. I often compare and negotiate			
for lower prices before buying			
anything.			
FL5. When selecting a credit card, I			
choose the one with the lowest			
interest rate.			
FL6. I look for ways to increase and			
diversify my income.			
FL7. I have savings worth one-month			
salary that I can withdraw any time.			
FL8. I actively try to reduce my debts			
by paying it off regularly.			
FL9. In the last 12 months, my			
household income was enough to			
cover my living costs.			
BEHAVIORAL INTENTION			

BI1. I intend to use/continue using digital financial services in the future.			
BI2. I will always try to use/continue using digital financial services in my daily life.			
BI3. I plan to use/continue using digital financial services frequently.			

## SECTION D: CULTURAL DIMENSIONS

- This section wants to know your opinion about your cultural dimensions. (Your reflection on culture such as norms, values, rules and beliefs.)
- Please put (  $\sqrt{}$  ) in the appropriate box that represents your answer.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Neutral (3)	Agree (4)	Strongly Agree (5)
POWER DISTANCE					
PD1. Most of the decisions made by the head of the family should be done by consulting family members.					
PD2. The head of family should consult family members for advice, because it will make him/her seem powerful.					
PD3. The decision-making responsibility should be shared among family members.					

PD4. It is acceptable for family members to question the decisions made by the head of the family.			
INDIVIDUALISM/COLLECTIVISM			
IC1: Being accepted as a family member is more important than having autonomy.			
IC2: Being accepted as a family member is more important than having independence.			
IC3. Achieving success as a group is more important than achieving success individually.			
IC4. It is more important to be loyal to a group than achieving individual benefits.			
IC5. Individual benefits are not as important as the group welfare.			
IC6. The head of the family should encourage loyalty towards the family among family members instead of encouraging individual initiative.			

## d) Appendix 4: Permission to Use UTAUT2 Questionnaire

Papers-Permissions/Download

Inbox ×

e C

WordPress cmening@postgrad.curtin.edu.my via p3nwvpweb138.shr.prod.phx3.secureserver.net to me -

Fri, Oct 25, 2019, 11:59 AM 🙀 🔺 🗄

Thank you for your interest. Your permission to use content from the paper is granted. Please cite the work appropriately. Note that this permission does not exempt you from seeking the necessary permission from the copyright owner (typically, the publisher of the journal) for any reproduction of any materials contained in this paper.

Sincerely, Viswanath Venkatesh Distinguished Professor and George and Boyce Billingsley Chair in Information Systems Email: <u>vvenkatesh@vvenkatesh.us</u> Website: <u>http://vvenkatesh.com</u>



## e) Appendix 5: Path Model for PLS-SEM



# f) Appendix 6: Pilot Study Results

Constructs	Items	Outer Loadings
Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial Services (BI)	BI1	0.924
	BI2	0.934
	BI3	0.731
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	FC1	0.774
	FC2	0.892
	FC3	0.615
	FC4	0.35
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	HM1	0.824
	HM2	0.787
	HM3	0.802
Collectivism (I/C)	IC1	0.548
	IC2	0.876
	IC3	0.802
	IC4	0.744
	IC5	0.316
	IC6	0.437
<b>Power Distance (PD)</b>	PD1	0.637
	PD2	0.802
	PD3	0.836
	PD4	0.547
Performance Expectancy (PE)	PE1	0.931
	PE2	0.689
	PE3	0.914
	PE4	0.636
Price Value (PV)	PV1	0.86
	PV2	0.787
	PV3	0.864

## • Measurement model assessment for reflective measures

	Cronbach's Alpha	rho_A	Composite Reliability	Average Variance Extracted (AVE)
<b>Behavioral Intention to</b>				
Accept Digital Financial				
Services (BI)	0.833	0.877	0.900	0.753
Collectivism (C)	0.724	0.832	0.801	0.426
<b>Facilitating Conditions (FC)</b>	0.590	0.697	0.767	0.473
Financial Literacy (FL)		1.000		
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	0.739	0.738	0.846	0.647
Performance Expectancy				
(PE)	0.813	0.894	0.876	0.645
Power Distance (PD)	0.679	0.698	0.803	0.512
Price Value (PV)	0.810	0.898	0.876	0.701

## • Measurement model assessment for formative measures

Construct	Items	Outer Weights
Financial Literacy (FL)	FL1	-0.133
	FL2	0.473
	FL3	0.202
	FL4	-0.539
	FL5	0.431
	FL6	0.138
	FL7	-0.138
	FL8	0.483
	FL9	0.168

Construct	VIF
FL1	1.357
FL2	1.777
FL3	1.784
FL4	3.265
FL5	2.574
FL6	3.277
FL7	1.393
FL8	1.42
FL9	2.131

	Skewness		Kurtosis	
		Std.		Std.
	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error
PE1	-0.840	0.132	0.834	0.263
PE2	-0.862	0.132	1.650	0.263
PE3	-0.900	0.132	0.346	0.263
PE4	-0.712	0.132	0.384	0.263
FC1	-0.261	0.132	-0.053	0.263
FC2	-0.356	0.132	0.246	0.263
FC3	-0.413	0.132	0.543	0.263
FC4	-0.753	0.132	1.069	0.263
HM1	-0.380	0.132	0.116	0.263
HM2	-0.576	0.132	1.052	0.263
HM3	-0.446	0.132	0.110	0.263
PV1	-0.599	0.132	0.897	0.263
PV2	-0.325	0.132	0.501	0.263
PV3	-0.212	0.132	-0.024	0.263
FL1	-0.433	0.132	-0.113	0.263
FL2	-0.397	0.132	-0.024	0.263
FL3	-0.536	0.132	0.213	0.263
FL4	-0.456	0.132	-0.658	0.263
FL5	-0.718	0.132	0.461	0.263
FL6	-0.382	0.132	-0.840	0.263
FL7	-0.366	0.132	0.089	0.263
FL8	-0.677	0.132	0.484	0.263
FL9	-0.318	0.132	-0.155	0.263
BI1	-0.289	0.132	-0.572	0.263
BI2	-0.536	0.132	0.379	0.263
BI3	-0.491	0.132	0.236	0.263
PD1	-0.520	0.132	-0.246	0.263
PD2	-0.624	0.132	-0.133	0.263
PD3	-0.616	0.132	0.391	0.263
PD4	-0.698	0.132	0.809	0.263
IC1	-0.667	0.132	0.790	0.263
IC2	-0.502	0.132	-0.078	0.263
IC3	-0.382	0.132	-0.190	0.263

# • Normality Test: Skewness and Kurtosis Values (SPSS)

IC4	-0.214	0.132	-0.598	0.263
IC5	-0.314	0.132	-0.233	0.263
IC6	-0.389	0.132	-0.223	0.263

• Mean and standard deviation (SPSS)

<b>Descriptive Statistics</b>					
	N	Mean	Std. Deviation		
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic		
PE1	343	4.318	0.706		
PE2	343	4.032	0.796		
PE3	343	4.385	0.699		
PE4	343	4.181	0.766		
FC1	343	3.988	0.684		
FC2	343	3.959	0.724		
FC3	343	4.032	0.694		
FC4	343	3.927	0.793		
HM1	343	3.656	0.874		
HM2	343	3.895	0.726		
HM3	343	4.023	0.757		
PV1	343	3.729	0.823		
PV2	343	3.767	0.732		
PV3	343	3.773	0.792		
FL1	343	3.420	0.936		
FL2	343	3.904	0.820		
FL3	343	4.079	0.759		
FL4	343	4.090	0.820		
FL5	343	4.090	0.835		
FL6	343	4.152	0.765		
FL7	343	3.612	0.923		
FL8	343	4.102	0.771		
FL9	343	3.566	0.921		
BI1	343	4.181	0.673		
BI2	343	4.134	0.721		
BI3	343	3.930	0.828		
PD1	343	4.239	0.698		
PD2	343	3.851	0.957		
PD3	343	4.207	0.718		

PD4	343	3.994	0.806
IC1	343	3.971	0.802
IC2	343	3.883	0.867
IC3	343	3.907	0.815
IC4	343	3.904	0.794
IC5	343	3.434	0.965
IC6	343	3.915	0.788

# • Demographic Data (SPSS)

GENDER					
					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	1	118	34.4	34.4	34.4
	2	225	65.6	65.6	100.0
	Total	343	100.0	100.0	

	AGE					
		1	<b>D</b>	V. 11 1 D	Cumulative	
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent	
Valid	1	69	20.1	20.1	20.1	
	2	151	44.0	44.0	64.1	
	3	70	20.4	20.4	84.5	
	4	31	9.0	9.0	93.6	
	5	22	6.4	6.4	100.0	
	Total	343	100.0	100.0		

	STATE					
					Cumulative	
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent	
Valid	1	333	97.1	97.1	97.1	
	2	10	2.9	2.9	100.0	
	Total	343	100.0	100.0		

	ETHNICITY		
			Cumulative
Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent

Valid	1	294	85.7	85.7	85.7
	2	49	14.3	14.3	100.0
	Total	343	100.0	100.0	

	HIGHESTEDU					
		Fraguanay	Paraant	Valid Parcont	Cumulative	
Valid	1	12	3.5	3.5	3.5	
	2	103	30.0	30.0	33.5	
	3	111	32.4	32.4	65.9	
	4	102	29.7	29.7	95.6	
	5	15	4.4	4.4	100.0	
	Total	343	100.0	100.0		

MBANKING						
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	0	124	36.2	36.2	36.2	
	1	219	63.8	63.8	100.0	
	Total	343	100.0	100.0		

INTBANKING							
		<b>F</b>	Damaant	V-1:1 Demonst	Cumulative		
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent		
Valid	0	97	28.3	28.3	28.3		
	1	246	71.7	71.7	100.0		
	Total	343	100.0	100.0			

	ATMS							
					Cumulative			
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent			
Valid	0	96	28.0	28.0	28.0			
	1	247	72.0	72.0	100.0			
	Total	343	100.0	100.0				

	POS							
		Fraguarau	Doroont	Valid Darcont	Cumulative			
		riequency	Percent	valid Fercent	reicem			
Valid	0	289	84.3	84.3	84.3			
	1	54	15.7	15.7	100.0			
	Total	343	100.0	100.0				

EECARDS						
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	0	128	37.3	37.3	37.3	
	1	215	62.7	62.7	100.0	
	Total	343	100.0	100.0		

OTHERS					
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	343	100.0	100.0	100.0

NOUSEDFS						
					Cumulative	
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent	
Valid	0	336	98.0	98.0	98.0	
	1	7	2.0	2.0	100.0	
	Total	343	100.0	100.0		

FREQUSE							
					Cumulative		
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent		
Valid	1	48	14.0	14.0	14.0		
	2	92	26.8	26.8	40.8		
	3	19	5.5	5.5	46.4		
	4	5	1.5	1.5	47.8		
	5	112	32.7	32.7	80.5		
	6	60	17.5	17.5	98.0		
	7	7	2.0	2.0	100.0		
	Total	343	100.0	100.0			

PERIODUSE							
		Frequency	Dercent	Valid Percent	Cumulative		
		ricquency	Tercent	Valiu I cicciii	Tercent		
Valid	1	20	5.8	5.8	5.8		
	2	43	12.5	12.5	18.4		
	3	88	25.7	25.7	44.0		
	4	55	16.0	16.0	60.1		
	5	130	37.9	37.9	98.0		
	6	7	2.0	2.0	100.0		
	Total	343	100.0	100.0			

# • Harman's Single Factor Test Results (SPSS)

Total Variance Explained						
				Extraction Sums of Squared		
	I	nitial Eigen	values		Loading	gs
		% of	Cumulative		% of	Cumulative
Factor	Total	Variance	%	Total	Variance	%
1	9.077	25.214	25.214	8.394	23.318	23.318
2	3.270	9.083	34.297			
3	2.011	5.586	39.883			
4	1.937	5.379	45.262			
5	1.704	4.734	49.997			
6	1.415	3.929	53.926			
7	1.220	3.389	57.315			
8	1.170	3.251	60.565			
9	1.053	2.926	63.491			
10	0.934	2.594	66.086			
11	0.851	2.364	68.450			
12	0.837	2.325	70.774			
13	0.771	2.142	72.916			
14	0.724	2.012	74.928			
15	0.676	1.878	76.806			
16	0.645	1.793	78.599			

17	0.609	1.692	80.291				
18	0.568	1.577	81.868				
19	0.547	1.519	83.387				
20	0.531	1.474	84.861				
21	0.510	1.416	86.277				
22	0.496	1.379	87.656				
23	0.447	1.243	88.899				
24	0.437	1.214	90.113				
25	0.407	1.129	91.242				
26	0.389	1.079	92.322				
27	0.358	0.996	93.317				
28	0.343	0.953	94.271				
29	0.336	0.934	95.205				
30	0.312	0.866	96.070				
31	0.287	0.797	96.867				
32	0.254	0.707	97.574				
33	0.252	0.700	98.275				
34	0.233	0.647	98.921				
35	0.215	0.598	99.520				
36	0.173	0.480	100.000				
Extracti	Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring.						

• Full Multicollinearity Test: Outer and Inner VIF Values for Common Method Bias

	OUTER	
	VIF	INNER VIF
BI1	2.665	
BI2	2.787	NA
BI3	1.754	
FC1	1.674	
FC2	1.642	2 461
FC3	1.561	2.401
FC4	1.221	
FL1	1.205	
FL2	1.526	
FL3	1.471	
FL4	1.308	1.373
FL5	1.373	
FL6	1.275	
FL7	1.361	

FL8	1.455				
FL9	1.257				
HM1	1.57				
HM2	1.874	1.847			
HM3	1.573				
IC1	1.75				
IC2	1.867				
IC3	1.74	1 214			
IC4	1.98	1.214			
IC5	1.444				
IC6	1.407				
PD1	1.55				
PD2	1.317	1 207			
PD3	1.783	1.287			
PD4	1.617				
PE1	1.998				
PE2	1.843	2.075			
PE3	1.95	2.073			
PE4	2.301				
PV1	2.023				
PV2	2.204	1.409			
PV3	1.476				

# g) Appendix 7: PLS-SEM Outputs

# • Outer loadings

	Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial Services (BI)	Collectivism (C)	Facilitating Conditions (FC)	Financial Literacy (FL)	Hedonic Motivation (HM)	Performance Expectancy (PE)	Power Distance (PD)	Price Value (PV)
BI1	0.906							
BI2	0.908							
BI3	0.835							
FC1			0.829					
FC2			0.831					
FC3			0.78					
FC4			0.557					
FL1				0.261				
FL2				0.446				
FL3				0.715				
FL4				0.506				
FL5		0.364						
-----	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------	-------		
FL6		0.692						
FL7		0.337						
FL8		0.736						
FL9		0.367						
HM1			0.794					
HM2			0.858					
HM3			0.846					
IC1	0.568							
IC2	0.618							
IC3	0.745							
IC4	0.81							
IC5	0.728							
IC6	0.7							
PD1					0.801			
PD2					0.737			
PD3					0.788			
PD4					0.752			
PE1				0.85				
PE2				0.796				
PE3				0.789				
PE4				0.866				
PV1						0.832		
PV2						0.884		
PV3						0.825		

## • Composite reliability and Average Variance Extracted

				Average
				Variance
	Cronbach's		Composite	Extracted
	Alpha	rho_A	Reliability	(AVE)
Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital				
Financial Services (BI)	0.859	0.863	0.914	0.781
Collectivism (C)	0.793	0.814	0.85	0.489
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	0.751	0.795	0.841	0.574
Financial Literacy (FL)		1		
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	0.781	0.792	0.872	0.695
Performance Expectancy (PE)	0.844	0.852	0.895	0.682
Power Distance (PD)	0.772	0.778	0.853	0.593
Price Value (PV)	0.805	0.815	0.884	0.718

### • Cross loading values

	Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial	Facilitating	Financial	Hedonic		Power	Performance	Price
	Services (BI)	Conditions (FC)	Literacy (FL)	Motivation (HM)	Collectivism (C)	Distance (PD)	Expectancy (PE)	Value (PV)
BI1	0.906	0.538	0.459	0.479	0.211	0.264	0.579	0.372
BI2	0.908	0.523	0.402	0.450	0.189	0.266	0.544	0.347
BI3	0.835	0.465	0.418	0.458	0.183	0.254	0.491	0.384
FC1	0.500	0.829	0.355	0.523	0.135	0.191	0.662	0.318
FC2	0.518	0.831	0.351	0.501	0.154	0.202	0.555	0.338
FC3	0.419	0.780	0.304	0.507	0.169	0.181	0.481	0.477
FC4	0.250	0.557	0.175	0.335	0.307	0.192	0.333	0.413
HM1	0.390	0.452	0.299	0.794	0.183	0.156	0.409	0.366
HM2	0.412	0.533	0.319	0.858	0.113	0.193	0.475	0.393
HM3	0.494	0.564	0.342	0.846	0.150	0.204	0.484	0.412
IC1	0.108	0.171	0.135	0.120	0.568	0.316	0.103	0.197
IC2	0.096	0.124	0.134	0.135	0.618	0.314	0.089	0.115
IC3	0.157	0.167	0.156	0.093	0.745	0.228	0.164	0.039
IC4	0.194	0.168	0.205	0.120	0.810	0.326	0.162	0.053
IC5	0.177	0.168	0.078	0.153	0.728	0.187	0.098	0.099
IC6	0.160	0.150	0.187	0.137	0.700	0.342	0.159	0.035
PD1	0.256	0.258	0.314	0.223	0.260	0.801	0.231	0.184
PD2	0.248	0.157	0.165	0.194	0.359	0.737	0.140	0.142
PD3	0.201	0.189	0.287	0.120	0.264	0.788	0.180	0.063
PD4	0.192	0.144	0.215	0.128	0.334	0.752	0.176	0.110
PE1	0.555	0.596	0.406	0.479	0.186	0.242	0.850	0.323
PE2	0.487	0.557	0.323	0.458	0.229	0.177	0.796	0.287
PE3	0.429	0.510	0.316	0.390	0.099	0.198	0.789	0.241
PE4	0.532	0.605	0.359	0.478	0.102	0.166	0.866	0.320
PV1	0.290	0.400	0.264	0.355	0.122	0.132	0.280	0.832
PV2	0.365	0.421	0.266	0.390	0.077	0.206	0.323	0.884
PV3	0.387	0.413	0.253	0.439	0.094	0.091	0.302	0.825

### • Fornell and Larcker Criterion

	Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital Financial Services (BI)	Collectivism (C)	Facilitating Conditions (FC)	Hedonic Motivation (HM)	Performance Expectancy (PE)	Power Distance (PD)	Price Value (PV)
Behavioral							
Intention to							
Accept							
Digital							
Financial	0 884						
Callactiviam	0.004						
(C)	0.22	0.699					
Facilitating							
Conditions							
(FC)	0.577	0.225	0.758				
Hedonic							
Motivation	0.522	0 177	0 (22	0.022			
(HM)	0.523	0.1//	0.623	0.833			
Performance							
Expectancy	0.61	0 100	0.690	0.540	0.026		
(PE)	0.01	0.188	0.089	0.549	0.820		
Power							
(D)	0 206	0 305	0 247	0 223	0 237	0.77	
(PD)	0.290	0.393	0.247	0.225	0.237	0.77	
(PV)	0.416	0.113	0.486	0.47	0.357	0.168	0.847

# • Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlations (HTMT)

	Behavioral					
	Intention					
	to Accept					
	Digital					
	Financial		Facilitating	Hedonic	Performance	Power
	Services	Collectivism	Conditions	Motivation	Expectancy	Distance
	(BI)	(C)	(FC)	(HM)	(PĒ)	(PD)
Behavioral						
Intention to						
Accept						
Digital						
Financial						
Services						
(BI)						
Collectivism						
(C)	0.256					
Facilitating						
Conditions						
(FC)	0.693	0.331				
Hedonic						
Motivation						
(HM)	0.633	0.228	0.799			
Performance						
Expectancy						
(PE)	0.711	0.223	0.838	0.67		
Power						
Distance						
(PD)	0.357	0.518	0.325	0.275	0.291	
Price Value						
(PV)	0.494	0.161	0.656	0.584	0.428	0.205

• Outer VIF Values for Financial Literacy

	OUTER
	VIF
FL1	1.205
FL2	1.526
FL3	1.471
FL4	1.308
FL5	1.373
FL6	1.275
FL7	1.361
FL8	1.455
FL9	1.257

## • Outer Weights of Formative Indicators

			Standard		
	Original	Sample Mean	Deviation	T Statistics	
	Sample (O)	(M)	(STDEV)	( O/STDEV )	P Values
FL1 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.014	0.006	0.106	0.130	0.448
FL2 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.050	0.058	0.114	0.437	0.331
FL3 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.442	0.429	0.124	3.574	0.000
FL4 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.112	0.094	0.128	0.872	0.192
FL5 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	-0.123	-0.113	0.115	1.074	0.142
FL6 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.422	0.397	0.125	3.368	0.000
FL7 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	-0.014	-0.007	0.124	0.116	0.454
FL8 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.431	0.415	0.111	3.902	0.000
FL9 -> Financial					
Literacy (FL)	0.115	0.112	0.122	0.942	0.173

		Sample	Standard		
	Original	Mean	Deviation	T Statistics	
	Sample (O)	(M)	(STDEV)	( O/STDEV )	P Values
FL1 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.261	0.253	0.097	2.697	0.004
FL2 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.446	0.426	0.100	4.454	0.000
FL3 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.715	0.685	0.088	8.142	0.000
FL4 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.506	0.478	0.103	4.896	0.000
FL5 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.364	0.347	0.106	3.433	0.000
FL6 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.692	0.664	0.080	8.663	0.000
FL7 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.337	0.324	0.104	3.239	0.001
FL8 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.736	0.702	0.072	10.211	0.000
FL9 -> Financial Literacy (FL)	0.367	0.356	0.107	3.431	0.000

# • Outer Loadings of Formative Indicators

#### • Inner VIF Values

	Behavioral
	Intention to
	Accept Digital
	Financial
	Services (BI)
Behavioral Intention to Accept	
Digital Financial Services (BI)	
Collectivism (C)	1.214
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	2.461
Financial Literacy (FL)	1.373
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	1.847
Performance Expectancy (PE)	2.075
Power Distance (PD)	1.287
Price Value (PV)	1.409

### • Structural Model Results

	Original	Sample	Standard		
	Sample	Mean	Deviation	T Statistics	Р
	(0)	(M)	(STDEV)	( O/STDEV )	Values
Collectivism (C) -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept Digital					
Financial Services (BI)	0.030	0.038	0.042	0.711	0.239
Facilitating Conditions (FC) ->					
Behavioral Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial Services (BI)	0.133	0.139	0.063	2.097	0.018

Financial Literacy (FL) ->					
Behavioral Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial Services (BI)	0.186	0.215	0.049	3.838	0.000
Hedonic Motivation (HM) ->					
Behavioral Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial Services (BI)	0.127	0.123	0.058	2.189	0.015
Performance Expectancy (PE) ->					
Behavioral Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial Services (BI)	0.307	0.290	0.065	4.749	0.000
Power Distance (PD) ->					
Behavioral Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial Services (BI)	0.072	0.067	0.046	1.576	0.058
Price Value (PV) -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept Digital					
Financial Services (BI)	0.109	0.107	0.050	2.190	0.014

#### Confidence Bias Interval Bias Corrected Results

	Original	Sample			
	Sample	Mean	Bias	5.00%	95.00%
	(0)	(M)			
Collectivism (C) ->					
Behavioral					
Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial					
Services (BI)	0.030	0.038	0.008	-0.048	0.092
Facilitating					
Conditions (FC) ->					
Behavioral					
Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial					
Services (BI)	0.133	0.139	0.006	0.021	0.227
Financial Literacy					
(FL) -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial					
Services (BI)	0.186	0.215	0.029	0.087	0.239
Hedonic Motivation					
(HM) -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial					
Services (BI)	0.127	0.123	-0.004	0.033	0.228
Performance					
Expectancy (PE) ->					
Behavioral					
Intention to Accept	0.307	0.290	-0.018	0.229	0.427

Digital Financial					
Services (BI)					
Power Distance					
(PD) -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial					
Services (BI)	0.072	0.067	-0.005	0.006	0.153
Price Value (PV) ->					
Behavioral					
Intention to Accept					
Digital Financial					
Services (BI)	0.109	0.107	-0.002	0.036	0.190

## • R Square

uare	Adjusted
101	0.484
)	.494

## • F Square

	Behavioral
	Intention
	to Accept
	Digital
	Financial
	Services
	(BI)
Behavioral Intention to Accept	
Digital Financial Services (BI)	
Collectivism (C)	0.001
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	0.014
Financial Literacy (FL)	0.050
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	0.017
Performance Expectancy (PE)	0.090
Power Distance (PD)	0.008
Price Value (PV)	0.017

#### • Q Square

			Q² (=1-
	SSO	SSE	SSE/SSO)
Behavioral Intention to Accept			
Digital Financial Services (BI)	1029	649.717	0.369
Collectivism (C)	2058	2058	
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	1372	1372	
Financial Literacy (FL)	3087	3087	
Hedonic Motivation (HM)	1029	1029	
Performance Expectancy (PE)	1372	1372	
Power Distance (PD)	1372	1372	
Price Value (PV)	1029	1029	

• New R Square with Addition of Moderation Effect

		R
	R	Square
	Square	Adjusted
Behavioral		
Intention		
to Accept		
Digital		
Financial		
Services		
(BI)	0.498	0.484

• F Square of Moderating Constructs

	Behavioral Intention to	
	Accept Digital Financial	
	Services (BI)	
Behavioral Intention to Accept Digital		
Financial Services (BI)		
C * FL	0.007	
PD * FL	0.002	

# • Interaction Effects for Moderating Constructs

	Original	Sample	Standard		
	Sample	Mean	Deviation	T Statistics	Р
	(0)	(M)	(STDEV)	( O/STDEV )	Values
C * FL -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept Digital					
Financial Services (BI)	-0.064	-0.060	0.044	1.474	0.071
PD * FL -> Behavioral					
Intention to Accept Digital					
Financial Services (BI)	0.039	0.045	0.042	0.949	0.172